E-ISSN: 2636-7467

Volume 8 Issue 1 2025



International Journal of MAPS IN MATHEMATICS

www.journalmim.com

International Journal of Maps in Mathematics is a fully refereed journal devoted to publishing recent result obtaioned in the research areas of maps in mathematics

International Journal of Maps in Mathematics



Editor-in-Chief

Bayram Sahin Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Ege University, Izmir, Türkiye journalofmapsinmathematics@gmail.com

Managing Editor

Arif Gursoy Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Ege University, Izmir, Türkiye arif.gursoy@ege.edu.tr

Editorial Board

Syed Ejaz Ahmed	Kamil Rajab Ayda-zade
Brock University, Canada	Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences, Azerbaijan
Erdal Ekici	Arif Gursoy
Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Türkiye	Ege University, Türkiye
Zulfiqar Habib	Vatan Karakaya
COMSATS Institute of Information Technology, Pakistan	Yildiz Technical University, Türkiye
Andrey L. Karchevsky	Selcuk Kutluay
Sobolev Mathematical Institute, Russia	Inonu University, Türkiye
Jae Won Lee	Jung Wook Lim
Gyeongsang National University, Republic of Korea	Kyungpook National University, Republic of Korea
Takashi Noiri	Aldo Figallo Orellano
Yatsushiro College of Technology, Japan	Universidad Nacional del Sur, Argentina
Bayram Sahin	Ibrahim Senturk
Ege University, Türkiye	Ege University, Türkiye
Ali Taghavi	Adnan Tercan
University of Mazandaran, Iran	Hacettepe University, Türkiye
Gabriel Edua	ard Vilcu
Petroleum-Gas University	v of Ploiesti, Romania

Technical Assistants

Deniz Poyraz¹

Özlem Deniz ¹

Dursun Demiroz ¹

Umut Selvi²

¹ Ege University, Izmir, Türkiye ² Ankara Hacı Bayram Veli University, Ankara, Türkiye

Contents

1. <u>Shape stability of a quadrature surface problem in infinite Riemannian manifolds</u>	2.24
Ababacai Sadikile Djite, Dialai Seck	2-34
2. <u>On I-concurrent class of sequences</u> Debjani Rakshit, Prasenjit Bal	35-42
3. <u>Properties of divisor prime graph</u> Sanjoy Kalita, Mridul Dutta	43-54
4. <u>Study of bi-f-harmonic curves and helices along Riemannian map</u> Buddhadev Pal, Mahendra Kumar, Santosh Kumar	55-73
5. <u>Principal normal indicatrix (N) of curves according to their alternative frames in Euclid</u> Hüseyin Kocayiğit, Canan Adsoy, Mehmet Aydınalp	lean 3-space 74-84
6. <u>Null hypersurface normalized by the structure vector field in a para-Sasakian manifold</u> Theophile Kemajou Mbiakop, Ferdinand Ngakeu	<u>1</u> 85-105
7. <u>Investigation of \$\ast\$-Yamabe conformal soliton on LP-Kenmotsu manifolds</u> Shashikant Pandey, Priyanka Almia, Jaya Upreti	106-124
8. Stability of a microtemperatures damped porous-elastic system with nonlinear dissipation dissipation of a microtemperature damped porous-elastic system with nonlinear dissipation dissipation descent desc	ation and nonlin-
<u>ear distributed delay</u> Mohamed Houasni, Abdelkarim Kelleche	125-149
9. Inextensible flows of curves with quasi-frame in G3 Murat Turan, Hülya Gün Bozok, Mahmut Ergüt	150-159
10. <u>Study of some harmonicity problems concerning the rescaled Sasaki metric</u> Abderrahim Zagane, Fethi Latti	160-176
11. Exploring the reciprocal functional equations: Approximations in diverse spaces Idir Sadani	177-191
12. On ultrametric pseudospectra of direct sum of linear operator pencils Jawad Ettayb	192-207
13. <u>On lacunary A^{I}-statistical convergence of fuzzy triple sequences of order y</u> Işıl Açık Demirci, Ömer Kişi, Mehmet Gürdal	208-226
14. Lorentzian \$\beta\$-Kenmotsu manifold admitting generalized Tanaka-Webster conner Abhishek Singh, Rajendra Prasad, Lalit Kumar	ection 227-246
15. <u>A class of indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds</u> Sunitha Devi, Kothuri Lakshmi Sai Prasad	247-257
16. <u>Some inequalities on submanifold of a complex space forms endowed with complex s</u>	emi-symmetric
<u>metric connection</u> Burçin Doğan, Nergiz Poyraz, Erol Yaşar	258-273

17. Sharp inequalities for quasi hemi-slant Riemannian submersions (\$\mathcal{QHSS}\$)	
Mehmet Akif Akyol, Nergiz (Önen) Poyraz, Ramazan Demir	274-296
18. <u>Morphisms and algebraic points on the quotients of Fermat curves and Hurwitz curves</u> Moussa Fall, Moustapha Camara	297-308
 19. <u>Riemannian CR manifolds and ρ-Einstein solitons: a geometric analysis and applications</u> M S Siddesha, Swapna Sangeetha P 	309-325
20. Unit tangent sphere bundles with the Kaluza-Klein metric satisfying some commutative con	ditions

Journal of Maps

Murat Altunbaş

<u>nditions</u> 326-333



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:1-1 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

EDITORIAL

BAYRAM ŞAHIN *

Our International Journal of Maps in Mathematics journal has completed its 7th year and we are here with the first issue of the 8th year. Our journal continues to develop and gain recognition. After MathSci.net and Scopus databases, International Journal of Maps in Mathematics journal has started to be indexed by EBSCO database, which is a leading provider of research databases, e-journal and e-package subscription management, book collection development and acquisition management for universities, colleges, hospitals, corporations, governments, K12 schools and public libraries worldwide, as well as a major provider of library technology, e-books and clinical decision solutions. This important development will contribute significantly to further recognition of International Journal of Maps in Mathematics journal. We would like to thank our authors, editors, technical editors and our readers who contributed to the development and quality of our journal

EGE UNIVERSITY, FACULTY OF SCIENCE, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, 35100, İZMIR-TÜRKIYE

 $^{^{\}ast}$ Editor in Chief

Bayram Şahin \diamond bayram.sahin@ege.edu.tr .



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8. Issue 1. 2025. Pages:2-34

> E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

SHAPE STABILITY OF A QUADRATURE SURFACE PROBLEM IN INFINITE RIEMANNIAN MANIFOLDS

ABABACAR SADIKHE DJITE 💿 * AND DIARAF SECK

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we revisit a quadradure surface problem in shape optimization. With tools from infinite-dimensional Riemannian geometry, we give simple control over how an optimal shape can be characterized. The framework of the infinite-dimensional Riemannian manifold is essential in the control of optimal geometric shape. The covariant derivative plays a key role in calculating and analyzing the qualitative properties of the shape hessian. Control only depends on the mean curvature of the domain, which is a minimum or a critical point. In the two-dimensional case, Gauss-Bonnet's theorem gives a control within the framework of the algorithm for the minimum.

Keywords: Stability, quadrature surface, shape optimization, Riemannian manifold, Gauss-Bonnet theorem

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 49Q10, Secondary 53B20.

1. INTRODUCTION

The search for the notion of quadratures made a prodigious leap forward (1669-1704) thanks to Leibniz and Newton who, with the infinitesimal calculus, made the link between quadrature and derivative. An interesting reminder could be to explain the link with shape optimization. Regarding, a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ with regular boundary, for instance C^2 , μ a signed measure compactly supported in Ω , it is well known there is a measure σ called a balayage measure carried by the surface $\partial\Omega$ and having the same potential as μ outside $\overline{\Omega}$,

Received:2024.02.20 Revised:2024.04.23

Accepted:2024.08.15

^{*} Corresponding author

Ababacar Sadikhe Djite \diamond ababacar-sadikhe.djite.1@ulaval.ca \diamond https://orcid.org/0009-0002-7275-4445 Diaraf Seck \diamond diaraf.seck@ucad.edu.sn .

see for instance [19], [22] for more details about this topic. And in this case, by a classical approximation technique, one has the following relation:

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} h d\sigma = \langle h, \mu \rangle \qquad \forall h \in \mathcal{H}(\bar{\Omega})$$
(1.1)

where $\mathcal{H}(\bar{\Omega})$ denotes the set of harmonic functions in a neighborhood of $\bar{\Omega}$. And we say that $\partial\Omega$ is a quadrature surface with respect to μ if (1.1) is satisfied.

This notion is closely linked with the overdetermined Cauchy elliptic problem. And one can claim that $\partial\Omega$ is a quadrature surface if and only if there is a solution to the following overdetermined Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases}
-\Delta u_{\Omega} = \mu \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \\
u_{\Omega} = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega, \\
-\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = 1 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega.
\end{cases}$$
(1.2)

The above quadrature surface free boundary problem has some physical motivations and can be related to many areas such as free streamlines, jets, Hele-show flows, electromagnetic shaping, gravitational problems etc. It has been intensively studied at least during the last forty years, see for example [33], [15] and the references therein for more details. Among these works, some authors have established an intimate link between the existence of quadrature surfaces and the solution of free boundary problems governed by overdetermined partial differential equations, see for instance [17], [32], [31], [13] and references therein.

The quadrature surface problem (1.2) can be tackled by a shape optimization approach when μ is regular enough, for instance by taking it in $L^2(\Omega)$, $supp(\mu) \subset \Omega$. Fore more details see for instance [3] and [13].

Before proceeding further, let us remind that in optimisation or in the study of minimal action, one of the essential questions is the characterization of an optimum if it exists. When one is in a differentiable environment, i.e. if the objective function is differentiable as well as its constraints, if any, the first derivative and second one (hessian) play a fundamental role. In finite dimensions, the characterization results are very well known even when we are in Banach spaces.

On the other hand, when we have to deal with admissible sets of regular openings of $\mathbb{R}^N, N \geq 2$ containing the optimum to be characterized, the question is to be treated in a more delicate way. Indeed, if we consider a shape optimization problem where the variable is a regular open subset of class \mathcal{C}^2 and in which a boundary value problem of partial differential equations is posed, there is the computation of the second derivative. Added to this,

the equivalence of norms is to be handled if any exist. In this paper, we aim at studying these issues of characterization of critical or optimal domains in the case where the minimum of the considered shape functional exists, in infinite dimensional Riemannian structures. To do so, it is crucial to find a space of forms and associated metrics.

Finding a shape space and an associated metric is a challenging task and different approaches lead to various models. One possible approach is to do as in [25], [24]. These authors proposed, a survey of various suitable inner products is given, e.g., the curvature weighted metric and the Sobolev metric. There are various types of metrics on shape spaces, e.g., inner metrics [4], [24] like the Sobolev metrics, outer metrics [6], [20], [24], metamorphosis metrics [35], the Wasserstein or Monge-Kantorovic metric on the shape space of probability measures [2], [7], the Weil-Petersson metric [21], current metrics [14], and metrics based on elastic deformations [16], [26]. However, it is a challenging task to model both, the shape space and the associated metric. There does not exist a common shape space or shape metric suitable for all applications. The suitability of an approach depends on the requirements in a given situation. In recent works, it has been shown that PDE constrained shape optimization problems can be embedded in the framework of optimization on shape spaces. E.g., in [28], shape optimization is considered as optimization on a Riemannian shape manifold, the manifold of smooth shapes. Moreover, an inner product, which is called Steklov- Poincaré metric, for the application of finite element (FE) methods, is proposed in [29].

As pointed out in [27], shape optimization can be viewed as optimization on Riemannian shape manifolds and the resulting optimization methods can be constructed and analyzed within this framework. This combines algorithmic ideas from [1] with the Riemannian geometrical point of view established in [4]

In [25], [24], a geometric structure of two-dimensional C^{∞} shapes was introduced and subsequently generalized to shapes in higher dimensions in [23], [4], [5]. Essentially, closed curves (and closed higher-dimensional surfaces) are identified with mappings of the unit sphere to any shape under consideration. In two dimensions, this can be naturally motivated by Riemannian mapping theorem. In this work, we focus on two-dimensional shapes as subsets. And considering [3], [13], we think that it is possible to write our work in high dimensions and even if Ω is an open set with boundary of a compact N-dimensional Riemannian manifolds noted \mathcal{M} . One of our main question is the following:

Is it possible to express the Hessian of a shape functional to get sufficient conditions so that the critical domain of the functional J assumes its minimum? To answer this question, we study the positiveness of the quadratic form of the functional J which is related to the quadrature surface that is nothing but the following free boundary problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u_{\Omega} = f \text{ in } \Omega \\ u_{\Omega} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \\ -\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = k \text{ on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

k is a positive constant, and $f \in L^2(\Omega)$, $supp f \subset \Omega$, $\vec{\nu}$ is the exterior unit normal vector. The above quadrature surface can be formulated as the following shape optimization problem:

$$\min_{\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2} J(\Omega)$$

under the following partial differential equations contraints

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u_{\Omega} = f \text{ in } \Omega \\ u_{\Omega} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

where

optimization tools.

$$J(\Omega) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\Omega}|^2 dx + \frac{k^2}{2} |\Omega|$$
(1.3)

is a real valued shape differentiable objective function, with $|\Omega| = \int_{\Omega} dx$. In [3], [13], there are all details on existence results of quadrature surface by using shape

And the second question is the computation problem of the Hessian in the infinite Riemannian framework and how it can be related to the second shape derivative to deduce qualitative properties when the minimum of a regular enough shape functional exists or when Ω is a critical point the latter property means, that the first derivative of $J(\Omega)$ is equal to zero.

The paper is organized as follows:

In section 2, we give a brief survey, based on works in [25], [24], about the characterization of the tangent space in a framework of Riemannian manifolds of infinite dimensions.

Section 3 deals with the optimality condition of first order for the shape optimization and

the computation of the covariant derivative. The latter plays a key role in our final result. We shall give a direct way to compute it which appears as a simplified expression.

In section 4, we shall recall some technical but classical computations of shape second derivative and establish a result (stated as a proposition) giving the expression of the quadratic form associated to the quadrature surface problem.

Section 5 which contains our main contributions, is devoted to the positiveness of the shape hessian in a Riemannian point of view of infinite dimensions. And, we shall propose a simple control which allows to get key information on the optimal shape domains when the latter are strict local minimum or critical points of the considered shape functional.

2. Characterization of tangent space at a point of B_e

The aim is to analyze the correlation of the Riemannian geometry on infinite dimensional maniolds B_e with shape optimization.

The authors would like to stress, what follows has been already done in pioneering works, see [25], [24], [23]. We only reproduce some fundamental steps related to our work.

Let Ω be a simply connected and compact subset of \mathbb{R}^2 with $\Omega \neq \emptyset$ and \mathcal{C}^{∞} boundary $\partial \Omega$. As is always the case in shape optimization, the boundary of the shape is all that matters. Thus we can identify the set of all shapes with the set of all those boundaries.

Let $Emb(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)$ be the set of all smooth embeddings on \mathbb{S}^1 in the plan \mathbb{R}^2 , its elements are the injective mappings $c : \mathbb{S}^1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$. Let $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$ stands for the set of all \mathcal{C}^{∞} diffeomorphism on \mathbb{S}^1 which acts differentiably on $Emb(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)$. Let us consider B_e as the quotient

$$Emb(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)/Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).$$

In terms of sets, we have

$$B_e(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2) := \{ [c] / c \in Emb \} \text{ where } [c] := \{ c' \in Emb / c' \sim c \}.$$
(2.4)

To characterize the tangent space to B_e we start with the characterization of the tangent space to Emb denoted T_cEmb and the tangent space to the orbit of c by $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$ at c denoted by $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$. Thus the tangent space to B_e is then identified with a suplementary subspace of $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$ in T_cEmb .

6

Proposition 2.1. Let $c \in Emb$, then the tangent space at c to Emb is given by:

$$T_c Emb = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2).$$
(2.5)

Proof. Let $h \in T_c Emb$, then h is obtained by looking at a path of embeddings which passes through c. Let $c : I \times \mathbb{S}^1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$ be an embedding path such that $c(t, \theta) = c(\theta) + th(\theta)$ where $h : \mathbb{S}^1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$ is \mathcal{C}^∞ , we have : $\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}c(t, \theta) = h(\theta)$. Since $c(t, \theta)$ is an embedding path then $c(t, \theta)$ is an immersion, thus

$$T_c Emb = Im(T_0c(t,\theta)) = \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2).$$
(2.6)

Proposition 2.2. The tangent space to the orbit of c by $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$, is the subspace of $T_c Emb$ formed by vectors $m(\theta)$ of the type $c_{\theta}(\theta) = c'(\theta)$ times a function.

Proof. We have $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c \subset Emb$ because these are all the bijective reparametrizations of the same curve $c(\theta)$ therefore $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c) \subset T_cEmb$. Let $m \in T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$ then mis obtained by looking at a family of parametrizations $c(t,\theta) := c(\phi(t,\theta))$ of the curve $c(\theta)$ where

$$\phi(t,.):\mathbb{S}^1\longrightarrow\mathbb{S}^1$$

is a diffeomorphism of \mathbb{S}^1 and t is the parameter of the variation of the reparametrization $\phi(t,s)$ of \mathbb{S}^1 . We have $\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}c(t,\theta) = c'(\theta)\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\phi(0,\theta)$ since, $c(t,\theta)$ is a parametrization of the curve $c(\theta)$ so it is an immersion. Thus we have

$$T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c) = Im(T_0c(t,\theta)) = c'(\theta)\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\phi(0,\theta).$$
(2.7)

Remark 2.1. The choice of the supplementary must abide by the action of $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$ i.e we choose a supplementary of $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$ in T_cEmb stable by the action of $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$. For that it suffices to define a metric on Emb for which $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$ acts isometrically and define the supplementary of $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$ as its orthogonal with respect to this metric.

Definition 2.1. Let G^0 be metric invariant by the action of $Diff(\mathbb{S}^1)$ on the manifold $Emb(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)$, defined by the application:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} G^{0} & : & T_{c}Emb \times T_{c}Emb & \rightarrow & \mathbb{R} \\ & & (h,m) & \mapsto & \int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} \left\langle h(\theta), m(\theta) \right\rangle | c'(\theta) | d\theta \end{array}$$

where $\langle h(\theta), m(\theta) \rangle$ is the ordinary scalar product of $h(\theta)$ and $m(\theta)$ in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Proposition 2.3. Let $c \in B_e$ then $T_c B_e$ is colinear to the outer unit normal of Ω where Ω is a simply connected and compact subset of \mathbb{R}^2 and $\vec{\nu}$ is the outer unit normal of the domain Ω . In other words

$$T_c B_e \simeq \{h \mid h = \alpha \vec{\nu}, \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R})\}.$$

Proof. From the results shown above the orthogonal of $T_c(Diff(\mathbb{S}^1).c)$ in T_cEmb is the set of $h(\theta)$ in T_cEmb which are orthogonal for the metric G^0 to all $m(\theta) = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\phi(0,\theta)c'(\theta)$ this means that $h(\theta)$ must be perpendicular to $c'(\theta)$. So $h(\theta) = \alpha(\theta)\vec{\nu}(\theta)$ where $\alpha(\theta) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R})$. Therefore we have

$$T_c B_e \simeq \{ h | h = \alpha \vec{\nu}, \ \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^\infty(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}) \}$$

where $\vec{\nu}$ is the outer unit normal of the form Ω defined at the boundary by $\partial \Omega = c$ such that $\vec{\nu}(\theta) \perp c'(\theta)$ for all $\theta \in S^1$ and c' defines the circumferential derivative.

Now let us consider the following terminology:

$$ds = |c_{\theta}| d\theta$$
 arc length.

Definition 2.2. A Sobolev-type metric on the manifold $B_e(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)$ is map:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} G^A & : & T_c B_e \times T_c B_e & \to & \mathbb{R} \\ & & (h,m) & \mapsto & \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} (1 + A K_c^2(\theta)) \left\langle h(\theta), m(\theta) \right\rangle |c'(\theta)| d\theta \end{array}$$

where K_c is the curvature of c and A a positive real.

Remark 2.2. (1) By setting $h = \alpha \vec{\nu}$, $m = \beta \vec{\nu}$ and by parametrizing c(s) by arc length we have

$$G^{A}(h,m) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2}(\theta)) \alpha\beta ds$$

- (2) If A > 0, G^A is a Riemannian metric.
 - 3. Optimality condition of first order and covariant derivative

The shape optimization problem that we have, consists in finding the solution of the following optimization problem:

$$\min_{\Omega} J(\Omega)$$

where

$$J(\Omega) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\Omega}|^2 dx + \frac{k^2}{2} |\Omega|$$

is a shape functional. We seek the shape derivative associated with the functional $J(\Omega)$ following the direction of the vector field $V : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$, \mathcal{C}^{∞} class :

$$dJ(\Omega)[V] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2 \right) \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma.$$

If $V_{|\partial\Omega} = \alpha \vec{\nu}$ we can still write

$$dJ(\Omega)[V] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2 \right) \alpha d\sigma.$$
(3.8)

It should noted that there is a link between the shape derivative of J and the gradient in Riemannian structures see [27] and [37]. To illustrate our claim, let us consider the Sobolev metric G^A to ease the understanding of the computations. We think that it is quite possible to generalize this study in higher dimensions and even with other metrics.

Our purpose is to calculate the gradient of $J: B_e \to \mathbb{R}$ then we have :

$$dJ(\Omega)[V] = G^A(gradJ(\Omega), V)$$
(3.9)

if $V_{\mid \partial \Omega} = h$ we have

$$dJ_c(h) = G^A(gradJ(\Omega), h)$$

$$dJ_c(h) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_c^2) gradJ\alpha$$

But from (3.9),

$$dJ_{c}(h) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^{2}\right) \alpha d\sigma$$

and thus

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2 \right) \alpha d\sigma = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_c^2 \right) gradJ \alpha d\sigma$$

so that

$$gradJ = \frac{1}{1 + AK_c^2} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2 \right)$$

The next step is to compute the explicit form of the covariant derivative $\nabla_h m \in T_c B_e$ with $h, m \in T_c B_e$.

Definition 3.1. Let \mathcal{M} be a set. A chart of \mathcal{M} is a triplet $(\mathcal{U}, \psi, \mathcal{E})$ where \mathcal{U} is a subset of \mathcal{M} , \mathcal{E} is a Banach space, and ψ is a bijection from \mathcal{U} to an open set \mathcal{E} . We say that two charts $(\mathcal{U}_1, \psi_1, \mathcal{E}_1)$ and $(\mathcal{U}_2, \psi_2, \mathcal{E}_2)$ are \mathcal{C}^r -compatible if:

• $\psi_1(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$ (respectively $\psi_2(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$) is an open set in \mathcal{E}_1 (respectively \mathcal{E}_2).

A. DJITE AND D. SECK

• The map $\psi_1 \circ \psi_2^{-1}$ (respectively $\psi_2 \circ \psi_1^{-1}$) of $\psi_2(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$ in $\psi_1(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$ (respectively $\psi_1(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$ in $\psi_2(\mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2)$ is of class \mathcal{C}^r .

A C^r -atlas of \mathcal{M} is a set of charts that are two by two C^r -compatible and whose domains cover \mathcal{M} . Two atlases are C^r -equivalent if their union is still a C^r -atlas. A Banach manifold of class C^r is a set \mathcal{M} equipped with a class of equivalence of C^r -atlases.

Definition 3.2. Let \mathcal{M} be a real (smooth) Banach manifold and g be a section of the bundle $T\mathcal{M}^* \times T\mathcal{M}^*$ of symmetric bilinear forms on $T\mathcal{M}$. We say that g is a weak Riemannian metric on \mathcal{M} if and only if, for every $p \in \mathcal{M}$, g_p is a positive definite bilinear map on $T_p\mathcal{M}$, ie. if and only if:

- $g_p(X, X) \ge 0$, for all $X \in T_p\mathcal{M}$,
- $g_p(X, X) = 0$ if and only if X = 0.

Definition 3.3. Let \mathcal{M} be a real (smooth) Banach manifold and g be a section of the bundle $T\mathcal{M}^* \times T\mathcal{M}^*$ of symmetric bilinear forms on $T\mathcal{M}$. We say that g is a strongly Riemannian metric on \mathcal{M} if, for every $p \in \mathcal{M}$, the injection from $T_p\mathcal{M}$ to $T_p\mathcal{M}^*$ defined by

$$\tilde{g}_p: \left| \begin{array}{ccc} T_p\mathcal{M} & \longrightarrow & T_p\mathcal{M}^* \\ \\ X & \mapsto & \{i_Xg_p: Y \mapsto g_p(X,Y)\} \end{array} \right.$$

induces an isomorphism between $T_p\mathcal{M}$ and $T_p\mathcal{M}^*$.

Proposition 3.1. Given a Banach manifold \mathcal{M} equipped with a strongly Riemannian metric g, there exists a unique linear connection ∇ on the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{M}^*$ preserving g and having zero torsion. It is called the Levi-Civita connection of g.

For the proof of this proposition, see Proposition A.2.6 in [36].

The following results (Propositions 3.2; 3.3 and Theorem 3.1) have been already established in a pioneering work, see [27]. We only bring a new proof and additional details in the computations of the covariant derivative. In the last part of the paper containing our main contributions, the covariant derivative plays a key role in the study of the positiveness of the quadratic form. We shall come back to this fact.

Proposition 3.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ where Ω is a simply connected and compact subset of \mathbb{R}^2 and be at least of class \mathcal{C}^2 , and $\vec{\nu}$ is the outer unit normal of the domain Ω and $V, W, Z \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ vector fields which are orthogonal to the boundaries *i.e*

$$V_{|\partial\Omega} = \alpha \vec{\nu}$$

10

$$W_{|\partial\Omega}=\beta\vec{\nu}$$

with $\beta := \langle W_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ and

$$Z_{|\partial\Omega} = \gamma \vec{\nu}$$

with $\gamma := \langle Z_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ such that $V_{|\partial\Omega} = h := \alpha \vec{\nu}$, $W_{|\partial\Omega} = m =: \beta \vec{\nu}$ and $Z_{|\partial\Omega} = l := \gamma \vec{\nu}$ belongs to the tangent space of B_e . Then the shape derivative $h(G^A(m, l))$ associated with the Riemannian metric G^A can be expressed as follows:

$$h(G^{A}(m,l)) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(2AK_{c}^{3}\alpha\beta\gamma + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha \right) ds + \int_{\partial\Omega} \left((1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha + K_{c}(1+AK_{c}^{2})\alpha\beta\gamma \right) ds.$$

Proof. We set

$$F(c_t(\theta)) = (1 + AK_c^2(\theta)) \langle m(\theta), l(\theta) \rangle$$

so that $G^A(m,l) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} F(c_t(\theta)) |c'_t(\theta)| d\theta$. Then we calculate the following expression

$$h(G^{A}(m,l)) = \frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} F(c_{t}(\theta)) |c_{t}'(\theta)| d\theta \right) [V],$$

where $c_t(\theta)$ denotes a family of (parameterized) curves with $c_0(\theta) = c(\theta)$ and $c'_t(\theta)$ denotes the derivative with respect to θ of the curve $c_t : \theta \longrightarrow c_t(\theta)$. We have

$$\begin{split} h(G^{A}(m,l)) &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} \left(\frac{\partial [(1+AK_{c}^{2})\beta\gamma]}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \alpha |c_{t}'(\theta)| + \frac{\partial (|c_{t}'(\theta)|)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} (1+AK_{c}^{2})\beta\gamma\alpha) \right) d\theta \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} \left(2AK_{c}(\frac{\partial K_{c}}{\partial \vec{\nu}})\alpha\beta\gamma + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha \right) d\theta \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}} \frac{\partial |c_{t}'(\theta)|}{\partial \vec{\nu}} (1+AK_{c}^{2})\beta\gamma\alpha d\theta. \end{split}$$

Now let us calculate $\frac{\partial K_c}{\partial \vec{\nu}}$. We have

$$\frac{\partial K_c}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = \frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, c_\theta \right\rangle}{|c_\theta|^2} K_\theta + \frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_\theta \right\rangle}{|c_\theta|} K^2 + \frac{1}{|c_\theta|} \left(\frac{1}{|c_\theta|} \left(\frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_\theta \right\rangle}{|c_\theta|} \right)_\theta \right)_\theta.$$

Then we have $\left< \vec{\nu}, c_{\theta} \right> = 0$ because $\vec{\nu} \perp c_{\theta}$ and moreover,

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \right\rangle}{\left| c_{\theta} \right|} &= \left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{ic_{\theta}}{\left| c_{\theta} \right|} \right\rangle \\ & \frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \right\rangle}{\left| c_{\theta} \right|} &= \left\langle \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ & \frac{\left\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \right\rangle}{\left| c_{\theta} \right|} &= \left\| \vec{\nu} \right\|^{2} = 1. \end{split}$$

Hence, we obtain that:

$$\frac{\partial K_c}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = K_c^2 + \frac{1}{|c_\theta|} \left(\frac{1}{|c_\theta|} \left(\frac{\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_\theta \rangle}{|c_\theta|} \right)_{\theta} \right)_{\theta}.$$

Let us compute step by step the above last term in the right hand side. First, we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|}\right)_{\theta} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \left(\frac{\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|}\right) \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle |c_{\theta}| - \frac{\partial |c_{\theta}|}{\partial \theta} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|^{2}} \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle |c_{\theta}| \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|^{2}} \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|}\right)_{\theta} &= \frac{\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial \theta}, ic_{\theta} \rangle + \langle \vec{\nu}, i\frac{\partial c_{\theta}}{\partial \theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \\ &= \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), ic_{\theta} \rangle + \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), ic_{\theta\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \\ &= \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} + \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), ic_{\theta\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \\ &= \langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), \frac{ic_{\theta}}{|c_{\theta}|} \rangle + \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), ic_{\theta\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \\ &= \langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \rangle + \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), ic_{\theta\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|}. \end{split}$$

Note that $\|\vec{\nu}\|^2 = 1$ which is nothing $\langle \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \rangle = 1$. Therefore, by differentiation, we get

$$\langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \rangle + \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), \vec{\nu}'(\theta) \rangle = 0$$

$$2 \langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \rangle = 0$$

$$\langle \vec{\nu}'(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \rangle = 0.$$

Indeed, proceeding further the computation, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle \\ |c_{\theta}| \end{pmatrix}_{\theta} = \frac{\langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), ic_{\theta\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|}$$

$$= \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), \frac{ic_{\theta\theta}}{|c_{\theta}|} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), \frac{-K_{c}|c_{\theta}|c_{\theta}}{|c_{\theta}|} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), -K_{c}c_{\theta} \rangle$$

$$= -K_{c} \langle \vec{\nu}(\theta), c_{\theta} \rangle = 0$$

Finally, from all the above steps, we have $\frac{1}{|c_{\theta}|} \left(\frac{1}{|c_{\theta}|} \left(\frac{\langle \vec{\nu}, ic_{\theta} \rangle}{|c_{\theta}|} \right)_{\theta} \right)_{\theta} = 0$ and we get

$$\frac{\partial K_c}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = K_c^2.$$

Therefore, we have

$$h(G^{A}(m,l)) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(2AK_{c}(\frac{\partial K_{c}}{\partial \vec{\nu}})\alpha\beta\gamma + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha \right) d\theta + \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial |c_{t}'(\theta)|}{\partial \vec{\nu}} (1+AK_{c}^{2})\beta\gamma\alpha d\theta = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(2AK_{c} \times K_{c}^{2}\alpha\beta\gamma + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha \right) d\theta + \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial |c_{t}'(\theta)|}{\partial \vec{\nu}} (1+AK_{c}^{2})\beta\gamma\alpha d\theta.$$
(3.10)

Let us calculate now the following expression

$$\frac{\partial(|c_t'(\theta)|)}{\partial\vec{\nu}}.$$

To do this we parametrize $c(\theta)$ by arc length i.e $|c'(\theta)| = 1$. Since

$$\langle c'(\theta), c'(\theta) \rangle = 1$$

and differentiating it, we have

$$\left\langle c''(\theta), c'(\theta) \right\rangle = 0.$$

Then $c''(\theta) = c_{\theta\theta}(\theta)$ is proportional to $\vec{\nu}(s)$ so $c''(\theta) = K_c(\theta)\vec{\nu}(\theta)$ (this is the definition of the curvature of the curve c).

Let us compute now $\frac{d}{dt}(|c'_t(\theta)|)$ at t = 0, where

$$\begin{aligned} |c_t'(\theta)| &= \left| \frac{d}{d\theta} (c(\theta) + t\vec{\nu}(\theta)) \right| \\ &= \left| c'(\theta) + t\vec{\nu}'(\theta) \right| \\ &= \left(|c'(\theta)|^2 + t^2 |\vec{\nu}'(\theta)|^2 + 2t \left\langle c'(\theta), \vec{\nu}'(\theta) \right\rangle \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$
(3.11)

From the Taylor's expansion of the previous expression in t, we see that

$$\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}|c_t'(\theta)| = \left\langle c'(\theta), \vec{\nu}'(\theta) \right\rangle$$

and since

$$\left\langle c'(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \right\rangle = 0$$

by differentiating we have

$$\left\langle c'(\theta), \vec{\nu}'(\theta) \right\rangle = -\left\langle c''(\theta), \vec{\nu}(\theta) \right\rangle = K_c$$

and hence $\frac{d}{dt}(|c'_t(\theta)|) = K_c$.

One can conclude that

$$\begin{split} h(G^{A}(m,l)) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(2AK_{c}^{3}\alpha\beta\gamma + (1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha \right) ds \\ &+ \int_{\partial\Omega} \left((1+AK_{c}^{2})\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha + K_{c}(1+AK_{c}^{2})\alpha\beta\gamma \right) ds. \end{split}$$

Proposition 3.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ where Ω is a simply connected and compact subset of \mathbb{R}^2 and be at least of class \mathcal{C}^2 , and $\vec{\nu}$ is the outer unit normal of the domain Ω and $V, W, Z \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ vector fields which are orthogonal to the boundaries *i.e*

 $V_{\mid \partial \Omega} = \alpha \vec{\nu}$

with $\alpha := \langle V_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$,

 $W_{\mid\partial\Omega} = \beta \vec{\nu}$

with $\beta := \langle W_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ and

 $Z_{|\partial\Omega} = \gamma \vec{\nu}$

with $\gamma := \langle Z_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ such that $V_{|\partial\Omega} = h := \alpha \vec{\nu}$, $W_{|\partial\Omega} = m =: \beta \vec{\nu}$ and $Z_{|\partial\Omega} = l := \gamma \vec{\nu}$ belongs to the tangent space of B_e . Then the expression $G^A(\nabla_h m, l) + G^A(m, \nabla_h l)$ associated with the Riemannian metric G^A for all $l \in T_C B_e$, can be expressed as follows:

$$G^{A}(\nabla_{h}m,l) + G^{A}(m,\nabla_{h}l) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2}) \left(\nabla_{V}W\gamma + \beta\nabla_{V}Z\right) ds.$$

Proof. By using the definition of the Riemannian metric G^A we have

$$G^{A}(\nabla_{h}m, l) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\nabla_{h}m\gamma$$
$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\nabla_{V}W\gamma \qquad (3.12)$$

and

$$G^{A}(m, \nabla_{h}l) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\beta\nabla_{h}l$$

=
$$\int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\beta\nabla_{V}Z.$$
 (3.13)

Therefore, by adding up the equations (3.12) and (3.13) we have

$$G^{A}(\nabla_{h}m,l) + G^{A}(m,\nabla_{h}l) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\nabla_{V}W\gamma + \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})\beta\nabla_{V}Z$$
$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2})(\nabla_{V}W\gamma + \beta\nabla_{V}Z) \, ds.$$

Remark 3.1. We would like to find a linear connection that preserves the Riemannian metric G^A and if such a connection exists, it is such that $hG^A(m,l) = G^A(\nabla_h m,l) + G^A(m,\nabla_h l)$. By using the Propositions 3.2 and 3.3 we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_c^2) \left(\nabla_V W \gamma + \beta \nabla_V Z \right) ds &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(2AK_c^3 \alpha \beta \gamma + (1 + AK_c^2) \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \gamma \alpha \right) ds \\ &+ \int_{\partial\Omega} \left((1 + AK_c^2) \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \beta \alpha + K_c \alpha \beta \gamma + AK_c^3 \alpha \beta \gamma \right) ds. \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(3AK_c^3 + K_c \right) \alpha \beta \gamma + (1 + AK_c^2) \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \gamma \alpha \\ &+ \left(1 + AK_c^2 \right) \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \beta \alpha ds. \end{split}$$

From which, we get a simplified expression:

$$\nabla_{V}W\gamma + \beta\nabla_{V}Z = \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\beta\gamma + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\nu}\gamma\alpha + \frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\nu}\beta\alpha$$
$$\nabla_{V}W\gamma = \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\beta\gamma + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha + \frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\beta\alpha - \beta\nabla_{V}Z.$$

By pointing out that

$$\nabla_V Z = \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \alpha,$$

we have

$$\nabla_{V}W\gamma = \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\beta\gamma + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha + \beta\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha - \beta\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha$$
$$= \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\beta\gamma + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\gamma\alpha.$$
(3.14)

Finally, we have

$$\nabla_V W = \left(\frac{3AK_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2}\right)\alpha\beta + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha.$$
(3.15)

Now let us verify that the connection ∇ is linear

• Let $V, W, Z \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ be vector fields which are orthogonal to the boundary of Ω , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{V}(W+Z) &:= \nabla_{h}(m+l) = \frac{\partial(\beta+\gamma)}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha(\beta+\gamma) \\ &= \langle D_{V}(W+Z), \vec{\nu} \rangle + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W+Z, \vec{\nu} \rangle \\ &= \langle D_{V}W, \vec{\nu} \rangle + \langle D_{V}Z, \vec{\nu} \rangle + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \\ &+ \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle Z, \vec{\nu} \rangle \\ &= \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\beta + \frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3}+K_{c}}{1+AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\gamma + \frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha \\ \nabla_{V}(W+Z) &= \nabla_{V}W + \nabla_{V}Z. \end{aligned}$$
(3.16)

• Let f be a scalar field and $V, W \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ be vector fields which are orthogonal to the boundary of Ω , we have

$$\nabla_{fV}W = \nabla_{fh}m$$

$$\nabla_{fV}W = f\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha$$

$$\nabla_{fV}W = f\nabla_{V}W.$$
(3.17)

From the equations (3.16) and (3.17) one can conclude that ∇ is linear.

Remark 3.2. The map

$$\xi: \left| \begin{array}{ccc} T_c B_e & \longrightarrow & T_c B_e^* \\ \\ h & \mapsto & \{i_h G^A : m \mapsto G^A(h,m)\} \end{array} \right.$$

16

is linear, injective and also surjective. Indeed given G^A as defined above, for any $y \in T_c B_e^*$, we want to find a vector $h \in T_c B_e$ such that

$$\begin{split} \xi(h) &= y \\ \iff i_h G^A = y \\ \iff i_h G^A(m) = y(m), \qquad \forall m \in T_c B_e \\ \iff G^A(h,m) = y(m), \qquad \forall m \in T_c B_e. \end{split}$$
(3.18)

From the equation (3.18) we can write

$$G^{A}(h,m) = y(m) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2}) \cdot \frac{y(m)}{|\partial\Omega|(1 + AK_{c}^{2})} ds$$

$$G^{A}(h,m) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2}) \cdot \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}} \cdot \frac{1}{|\partial\Omega|} y ds$$
(3.19)

Using the definition above, we have

$$G^{A}(h,m) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (1 + AK_{c}^{2}) \langle h, m \rangle ds.$$
(3.20)

Then from the equations (3.19) and (3.20) we can show that

$$\langle h, m \rangle = \frac{y(m)}{|\partial \Omega|(1 + AK_c^2)} \qquad \forall m \in T_c B_e.$$
 (3.21)

Does there exist a $h = \alpha \vec{\nu}$ such that

$$\langle h, m \rangle = \frac{y(m)}{|\partial \Omega| (1 + AK_c^2)} \qquad \forall m \in T_c B_e \text{ with } m := \beta \vec{\nu} ?$$
 (3.22)

One can show that y(m) is linear with respect to m. Indeed $y(m) = G^A(h,m)$ and G^A is linear with m. Since $y(m) \in \mathbb{R}$ then we can write y(m) = k.m for $k \in T_c B_e$ with $k := \gamma \vec{\nu}$ and $\gamma \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R})$. Therefore from (3.22) we have

$$\alpha\beta = \frac{y(\beta\vec{\nu})}{|\partial\Omega|(1+AK_c^2)} \qquad \forall\beta\in\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1,\mathbb{R})$$
(3.23)

$$\alpha\beta = \frac{k.\beta\vec{\nu}}{|\partial\Omega|(1+AK_c^2)}$$
(3.24)

$$\alpha\beta = \frac{\gamma\beta}{|\partial\Omega|(1+AK_c^2)} \tag{3.25}$$

(3.26)

therefore

$$\alpha = \frac{\gamma}{|\partial \Omega| (1 + AK_c^2)}$$

then

18

$$h = \frac{\gamma}{|\partial \Omega|(1 + AK_c^2)}$$
$$\int_{\partial \Omega} ds = |\partial \Omega|.$$

Now we can conclude that for

$$h = \frac{\gamma}{|\partial \Omega| (1 + AK_c^2)}$$

then

$$\forall y \in T_c B_e^* \qquad \exists h \in T_c B_e : \xi(h) = y.$$

Therefore the map ξ induces an isomorphism between $T_c B_e$ and $T_c B_e^*$. Consequently, from the Definition 3.3 we can check that G^A is a strongly Riemannian metric and then by using the Proposition 3.1 one can deduce that ∇ exists, it is unique and coincides with the Levi-Civita connection.

And then we are now able to claim the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ where Ω is a simply connected and compact subset of \mathbb{R}^2 and be at least of class \mathcal{C}^2 , and $\vec{\nu}$ is the outer unit normal of the domain Ω and $V, W \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ vector fields which are orthogonal to the boundaries *i.e*

$$V_{|\partial\Omega} = \alpha \bar{\nu}$$

with $\alpha := \langle V_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ and

 $W_{\mid\partial\Omega} = \beta \vec{\nu}$

with $\beta := \langle W_{|\partial\Omega}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$ such that $V_{|\partial\Omega} = h := \alpha \vec{\nu}, W_{|\partial\Omega} = m =: \beta \vec{\nu}$ belongs to the tangent space of B_e . Then the covariant derivative associated with the Riemannian metric G^A can be expressed as follows:

$$\nabla_V W: = \nabla_h m = \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \alpha + \left(\frac{3AK_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2}\right) \alpha \beta$$
$$= \langle D_V W, \vec{\nu} \rangle + \left(\frac{3AK_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2}\right) \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle$$

where $D_V W$ is the directional derivative of the vector field W in the direction V.

Proof. It is a straight consequence of the above propositions and remarks.

Remark 3.3. It is quite possible to begin the proof of the above theorem by the application of shape calculus rules for volume and boundary functionals as in [12], [34], [18] on the following functional

$$\int_{\partial\Omega}(1+AK_c^2)\alpha\beta d\sigma.$$

The remaining computations are mostly similar. We only underline that, at the end, it is necessary to see that the local covariant derivative is $\nabla_{X_x}Y = \frac{d}{dt_{|t=0}}(Y(x+tX(x)))$ where $Y = X = \vec{\nu}$ and $D_{\vec{\nu}}\vec{\nu} = 0$ since $|\vec{\nu}|^2 = 1$, $D_{\vec{\nu}}$ being the Jacobian matrix.

4. Sufficient condition for the minimality of a shape functional

In this section, assuming at first that there is at least one critical point, we shall first present the sufficient condition on the existence of a local minimum for a functional $J(\Omega)$ given as follows:

$$J(\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} f_0(u_{\Omega}, grad(u_{\Omega}))$$
(4.27)

where f_0 is a function of $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ that we suppose to be smooth and u_{Ω} denotes a smooth solution of a boundary value problem.

And in the second part, in the case where $J(\Omega) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |grad(u_{\Omega})|^2 dx + \frac{k^2}{2} |\Omega|$, we compute the second shape derivative.

The fundamental question is then to study the existence of the local strict minima of this functional under possible constraints that Ω is a critical point. That means that the first order derivative with respect to the domain is equal to zero at the domain Ω . We shall examine, for that, how this solution u_{Ω} varies when its domain of definition Ω moves.

Let us recall the classical method of studying a critical point. Let $(B, \| . \|_1)$ be a Banach space and let $E : (B, \| . \|_1) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ be a function of class C^2 whose differential Df vanishes at 0. The Taylor-Young formula is then written as

$$E(u) = E(0) + D^{2} E(0) \cdot (u, u) + o(||u||_{1}^{2}).$$
(4.28)

In particular, if the Hessian form $D^2 E(0)$ is coercive in the norm $\| \cdot \|_1$, then the critical point 0 is a strict local minimum of E. The fundamental difficulty in the study of critical forms is caused by the appearance of a second norm $\| \cdot \|_2$ finer than $\| \cdot \|_1$ (*i.e.* $\| \cdot \|_2 \leq C \| \cdot \|_1$). The Hessian form, is not in general, coercive for the norm $\| \cdot \|_1$ but it is for the standard

norm $\| \cdot \|_2$. If these norms are not equivalent, which is generally the case, concluding that the minimum is strict is impossible, even locally for the strong norm. It is quite possible to give several examples. But let us reproduce a simple example of such a situation on the space $H_0^1(0, 1)$ that was presented in the thesis [8]. Let us consider the functional E defined by

$$E(u) = \|u\|_{L^2(0,1)}^2 - \|u\|_{H^1_0(0,1)}^4$$

We can check that E is twice differentiable on $H_0^1(0,1)$. Further more, one has at 0:

$$\begin{cases} E'(0) = 0\\ E''(0).(h,h) = 2||h||_{L^2(0,1)}^2 \end{cases}$$

For each direction, we find that 0 is a strictly local minimum. Indeed, for all nonzero $u_0 \in H_0^1(0,1)$ and for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$E(tu_0) = t^2 ||u_0||^2_{L^2(0,1)} - t^4 ||u_0||^4_{H^1_0(0,1)} > 0 \text{ if } t^2 < \frac{||u_0||^2_{L^2(0,1)}}{||u_0||^4_{H^1_0(0,1)}}.$$

However, 0 is not a local minimum even for the H_0^1 norm. Indeed, there is no r > 0 such that

$$\|u\|_{H^1_0(0,1)} < r \Longrightarrow E(u) > E(0) = 0 \quad \text{i.e} \quad \|u\|_{L^2(0,1)}^2 > \|u\|_{H^1_0(0,1)}^4,$$

since we can always build a sequence in $H_0^1(0,1)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \|u_n\|_{H_0^1(0,1)} = r/2, \\ \|u_n\|_{L^2(0,1)} \longrightarrow 0 \text{ when } n \longrightarrow +\infty \end{cases}$$

To solve this problem, we will use the Taylor's formula with an integral remainder, instead of (4.28) i.e

$$E(u) - E(0) = \int_0^1 (1-t) E''(tu)(u,u) dt.$$
(4.29)

This formula allows to express exactly the difference in energy between a critical form Ω_0 and a neighboring form Ω via an integral term that we can carefully estimate thanks to the study of the variations of the Hessian.

Theorem 4.1. Let $f_0 : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, $(s, v) \longmapsto f_0(s, v)$ be a function of class \mathcal{C}^3 and f a function in $C^{0,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}), \gamma \in (0, 1)$. Let $L_0 = div(Agrad(.))$ be strictly and uniformly elliptical operator with A in $\mathcal{C}^2(\mathbb{R}^N, M_N(\mathbb{R}^N))$. Let E be the defined shape functional on the class \mathcal{O} of open class $\mathcal{C}^{2,\gamma}$ as

$$J(\Omega) = \int_{\Omega} f_0(u_{\Omega}, \ grad(u_{\Omega})).$$

where $M_N(\mathbb{R}^N)$ stands for the space of square matrix of order N and u_{Ω} is the solution of the homogeneous Dirichlet problem

$$\begin{cases} L_0 u = f \quad in \quad \Omega, \\ u = 0 \quad on \quad \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Let $\Omega_0 \in \mathcal{O}$, then, there exist a real $\eta_0 > 0$ and an increasing function $\omega : (0, \eta_0] \longrightarrow (0, +\infty)$ with $\lim_{r \searrow 0} \omega(r) = 0$, which depend only on Ω_0 , L_0 , f_0 and f, such that for all $\eta \in (0, \eta_0]$ and for all $\theta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying

$$\|\theta - Id_{\mathbb{R}^N}\|_{2,\alpha} \le \eta,$$

we have the following estimate valid for all t in [0, 1],

$$\left| \frac{d^2}{dt^2} J(\Omega_t) - \frac{d^2}{dt^2}_{|t=0} J(\Omega_t) \right| \le \omega(\eta) || < V, \vec{\nu} > ||^2_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega_0)}$$
(4.30)

where $\Omega_t = \Phi_t(\Omega_0), t \in [0, 1]$ stands for the flow related to the vector field V.

This is exactly the Theorem 1 in [9] and for its proof the reader is invited to see this paper.

In the case where Ω_0 is a critical point for the functional J, to show that it is a strict local minimum, we have to study the positiveness of a quadratic form which we are going to denote by Q. This quadratic form is obtained by computing the second derivative of J with respect to the domain. So before proceeding, we need some hypothesis ;

let us suppose that:

- (i) Ω is a C^2 regular open domain.
- (ii) $V(x;t) = \alpha(x)\vec{\nu}(x), \ \alpha \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial\Omega), \ \forall t \in [0,\epsilon[.$

In [10], (see also [9], [8]), the authors showed that it is not sufficient to prove that the quadratic form is positive to claim that: a critical shape is a minimum. In fact most of the time people use the Taylor Young formula to study the positiveness of the quadratic form.

For $t \in [0, \epsilon[, j(t) := J(\Omega_t) = J(\Omega) + tdJ(\Omega, V) + \frac{1}{2}t^2d^2J(\Omega, V, V) + o(t^2).$

The quantity $o(t^2)$ is expressed with the norm of C^2 . The $H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial\Omega)$ norm appears in the expression of $d^2J(\Omega, V, V)$. And these two norms are not equivalent. The quantity $o(t^2)$ is not smaller than $||V||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\partial\Omega)}$, see the example in [10]. Then such an argument does not insure that the critical point is a local strict minimum.

In our study, we shall see that the main result in [10] can be satisfied in a simple way thanks to the hessian obtained via the Sobolev metric G^A in which the norm of $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ appears directly. And this overcomes the clasical issue. In fact the study of the sign of $\int_{\partial\Omega} Hd\sigma$ becomes the only control from which one can get information on the optimal domain and then on the optimal shape.

Proposition 4.1.

Let Ω be a critical point for the functional J, then

$$\begin{aligned} Q(\alpha) &= d^2 J(\Omega; V; V) \\ &= -(N-1) \int_{\partial \Omega} H \alpha^2 d\sigma + k^2 \int_{\Omega} |grad(\Lambda)|^2 dx \\ &= -(N-1)k^2 \int_{\partial \Omega} H \alpha^2 d\sigma + k^2 \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha L \alpha d\sigma, \end{aligned}$$

where Λ is a solution of the following boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta\Lambda = 0 & in \ \Omega\\ \Lambda = \alpha & on \ \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(4.31)

H is the mean curvature of $\partial \Omega$ and *L* is a pseudo differential operator which is known as the Steklov-Poincaré or capacity or Dirichlet to Neumann(see e.g [11]) operator, defined by $L\alpha = \frac{\partial \Lambda}{\partial \vec{\nu}}.$

Proof. We use the definition of the derivative with respect to the domain and we apply it to $dJ(\Omega, V)$.

Then we get

$$\begin{aligned} 2Q(\alpha) &= 2d^2 J(\Omega, V, V) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} (\operatorname{div}((k^2 - |grad(u)|^2)V(x, 0)))' dx + \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(V(x, 0)\operatorname{div}((k^2 - |grad(u)|^2)V(x, 0))) dx \\ 2Q(\alpha) &= \left[\int_{\partial\Omega} -2grad(u)grad(u')V(x, 0).\vec{\nu} + \operatorname{div}((k^2 - |grad(u)|^2)V(x, 0))V(x, 0).\vec{\nu} \right] d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Since Ω is solution of the quadradure surface problem then $-\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = k$ on $\partial \Omega$. By assumption, $\partial \Omega$ is of \mathcal{C}^2 class and since u = 0 on $\partial \Omega$,

we have

$$grad(u) = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \vec{\nu} = -k\vec{\nu}. \text{ Hence}$$
$$2Q(\alpha) = \left[\int_{\partial \Omega} 2kgrad(u') \cdot \vec{\nu} V(x,0) \cdot \vec{\nu} + \operatorname{div}((k^2 - |grad(u)|^2)V(x,0))V(x,0) \cdot \vec{\nu} \right] d\sigma.$$

A classical calculus in shape optimization leads to $u' = -\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{\nu}} V \cdot \vec{\nu}$ on $\partial \Omega$. Let us recall again that $-\frac{\partial u}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = k$ on $\partial \Omega$ and $V \cdot \vec{\nu} = \alpha$. Then, we have $u' = k\alpha$ on $\partial \Omega$ and

$$\vec{\nu}grad(u') = \frac{\partial u'}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = k \frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = kL\alpha$$

where L is a pseudo differential operator, defined by $L\alpha = \frac{\partial \Lambda}{\partial \vec{\nu}}$ and such that

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta \Lambda = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \Lambda = \alpha & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(4.32)

Λ is the extension of α in Ω.

Hence

$$2Q(\alpha) = \int_{\partial\Omega} (2k^2 \alpha L\alpha - \operatorname{div}((|\operatorname{grad}(u)|^2 - k^2)\alpha.\vec{\nu})\alpha)d\sigma.$$
(4.33)

Let us compute now $\operatorname{div}((|\operatorname{grad}(u)|^2 - k^2)\alpha.\vec{\nu})$ on $\partial\Omega$. Since $|\operatorname{grad}(u)| = k$ on $\partial\Omega$, we have

$$\operatorname{div}((|\operatorname{grad}(u)|^2 - k^2)\alpha.\vec{\nu}) = \alpha \operatorname{grad}(|\operatorname{grad}(u)|^2 - k^2).\vec{\nu} = \alpha \operatorname{grad}(|\operatorname{grad}(u)|^2).\vec{\nu}.$$

Since we have supposed that Ω of class C^2 , locally, $\partial\Omega$ can be described by a curve φ such that $x_N = \varphi(x'), x' \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ and $D\varphi(x') = 0$. Here, $D\varphi(x')$ is the Jacobian matrix of φ . Let us set $x_0 = (x', x_N) = (x', \varphi(x')) \in \partial\Omega$ then we have $u(x_0) = 0$.

By differentiating with respect to s_j for all $j \in \{1, \dots, N-1\}$, we have

$$\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial s_j} + \frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_j} \frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = 0,$$

since $\frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_j} = 0$, we get $\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial s_j} = 0$. Starting from the following equality

$$\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial s_j} + \frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_j} \quad \frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = 0, \tag{4.34}$$

and by differentiating it with respect to s_i for all $i \in \{1, \dots, N-1\}$, we have

$$\frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial s_i \partial s_j} + \frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_i} \quad \frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu} \partial s_j} + \frac{\partial^2 \varphi(x')}{\partial s_i \partial s_j} \quad \frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} + \frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_j} \quad \frac{\partial \varphi(x')}{\partial s_i} \quad \frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}^2} = 0.$$

Note that $u(x_0) = 0$ and $\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial s_j} = 0 \ \forall j \in \{1, \dots, N-1\}$ and summing over the indices i, j, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial s_j^2} + (N-1) H \frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = 0.$$
(4.35)

Since $\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial s_i} = 0 \ \forall i \in \{1, \cdots, N-1\}$, we have also

$$grad(|grad(u)|^{2}(x_{0})).\vec{\nu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left(\frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial s_{i}} \right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right]$$
$$= 2 \frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \frac{\partial^{2} u(x_{0})}{\partial\vec{\nu}^{2}}.$$

In addition, we can remark that: $\partial^2 u(x_0) = \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \partial^2 u(x_0)$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}^2} = -\sum_{i=1} \frac{\partial^2 u(x_0)}{\partial s_i^2} - f \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

Therefore, we have

Therefore, we have

$$grad(|grad(u)|^{2}(x_{0})).\vec{\nu} = 2 \frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(-\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \frac{\partial^{2} u(x_{0})}{\partial s_{i}^{2}} - f \right)$$
$$= 2 \frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left((N-1) H \frac{\partial u(x_{0})}{\partial \vec{\nu}} - f \right).$$

When the support of the function f is in Ω , then f = 0 on $\partial \Omega$. Finally we have

$$2Q(\alpha) = \int_{\partial\Omega} 2k^2 \alpha L \alpha - 2(N-1)H\alpha^2 \left(\frac{\partial u(x_0)}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2 d\sigma$$
$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} 2k^2 \alpha L \alpha - 2k^2(N-1)H\alpha^2 d\sigma.$$
(4.36)

And by the Green's formula we get

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \alpha L\alpha d\sigma = \int_{\Omega} |grad(\Lambda)|^2 dx.$$
(4.37)

5. Positiveness of the quadratic form in the infinite Riemannian point of view

Definition 5.1. Let $J : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ be an functional. One defines the hessian Riemannian shape as follows:

$$Hess J(\Omega)[V] := \nabla_V grad J$$

where ∇_V denotes the derivative following the vector field V.

Theorem 5.1. The hessian Riemannian shape defined by the Riemannian metric G^A verifies the following condition:

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V], W) = d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] - dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_{V}W].$$

Proof. Our purpose is to show that

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V], W) = d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] - dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_{V}W].$$

So let us use the compatibility of the metric G^A with the Levi-Civita connection. We have

$$V.G^{A}(gradJ,W) = G^{A}(gradJ,\nabla_{V}W) + G^{A}(\nabla_{V}gradJ,W),$$

$$G^{A}(\nabla_{V}gradJ,W) = V.G^{A}(gradJ,W) - G^{A}(gradJ,\nabla_{V}W).$$

Since $G^A(Hess J(\Omega)[V], W) = G^A(\nabla_V grad J, W)$, we have

$$\begin{split} &G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= V.G^{A}(gradJ,W) - G^{A}(gradJ,\nabla_{V}W), \\ &G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= V.(WJ) - (\nabla_{V}W).J), \\ &G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] - dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_{V}W] \end{split}$$

where $V, W \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ are vector fields normal to the boundary $\partial\Omega$ and $d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V]$ defines the standard Hessian shape.

Remark 5.1. In our quadrature surface case, for $W = m\vec{\nu}$ and $V = h\vec{\nu}$, we have

$$dJ(\Omega)[V] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2\right) \alpha d\sigma$$

and then,

$$d\left(dJ(\Omega)[W]\right)[V] = d\left(\int_{\partial\Omega} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2\right) m d\sigma\right)[V].$$

Setting

$$\psi := k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2,$$

then

$$\psi_t := k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega_t}}{\partial \vec{\nu}}\right)^2,$$

 $we\ have$

$$d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] = d\left(\int_{\partial\Omega_t} \psi_t m d\sigma\right)[h].$$
(5.38)

This is nothing but

$$d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial\psi_t}{\partial t}_{|t=0} m d\sigma + \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial(\psi m)}{\partial \vec{\nu}} h d\sigma + \int_{\partial\Omega} K_c \psi m h d\sigma$$
$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial\psi_t}{\partial t}_{|t=0} m + \left(\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial \vec{\nu}} + K_c \psi\right) m h + \psi \frac{\partial m}{\partial \vec{\nu}} h \right] d\sigma.$$

Let us compute

$$\frac{\partial \psi_{t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0}m = \frac{\partial \left[k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega_{t}}}{\partial \vec{\nu}_{t}}\right)^{2}\right]}{\partial t}_{|t=0}m,$$

$$\frac{\partial \psi_{t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0}m = -2m \left[\frac{\partial (grad(u_{\Omega_{t}})).\vec{\nu}}{\partial t}_{|t=0} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V.\vec{\nu} + grad(u_{\Omega}).\left(\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}_{t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0} + D_{\vec{\nu}}V\right)\right],$$

$$\frac{\partial \psi_{t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0}m = -2m \left[grad(u_{\Omega}').\vec{\nu} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V.\vec{\nu} + grad(u_{\Omega}).\left(\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}_{t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0} + D_{\vec{\nu}}V\right)\right],$$
(5.39)

where $D^2 u_{\Omega}$ is the hessian matrix and $D_{\vec{\nu}}$ the jacobian matrix of $\vec{\nu}$. Let us calculate now the following expression: $\frac{\partial \vec{v}_t}{\partial t}|_{t=0}$. We have

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu_t}}{\partial t}_{|t=0} = -grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{\nu}) - (D_{\vec{\nu_0}}.\vec{\nu})V.\vec{\nu} \quad on \quad \Gamma,$$

where $grad_{\Gamma}$ is the tangential gradient, $\Gamma = \partial \Omega$ and $\vec{\nu}_0 = \vec{\nu}$ hence

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}_t}{\partial t}_{|t=0} = -grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{\nu}) - (D_{\vec{\nu}}.\vec{\nu})V.\vec{\nu} \quad on \quad \Gamma.$$

Since $D_{\vec{\nu}}.\vec{\nu} \equiv 0$, then

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}_t}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} = -grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{\nu}) \quad on \quad \Gamma.$$

So

$$\frac{\partial \psi_t}{\partial t}_{|t=0} m = -2m \left[grad(u'_{\Omega}) \cdot \vec{\nu} + D^2 u_{\Omega} V \cdot \vec{\nu} + grad(u_{\Omega}) \cdot \left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V \cdot \vec{\nu}) + D_{\vec{\nu}} \cdot V \right) \right].$$

And finally, we get

$$d (dJ(\Omega)[W]) [V] = \int_{\partial \Omega} \left[-2m \Big(grad(u'_{\Omega}) \cdot \vec{\nu} + D^2 u_{\Omega} V \cdot \vec{\nu} \right. \\ \left. + grad(u_{\Omega}) \cdot \left(- grad_{\Gamma} (V \cdot \vec{\nu}) + D_{\vec{\nu}} V \right) \right) \\ \left. + \left(\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \vec{\nu}} + K_c \psi \right) mh + \psi \frac{\partial m}{\partial \vec{\nu}} h \right] d\sigma,$$

$$d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \Big(grad(u'_{\Omega}) \cdot \vec{\nu} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V \cdot \vec{\nu} + grad(u_{\Omega}) \cdot \big(-grad_{\Gamma}(V \cdot \vec{\nu}) + D_{\vec{\nu}}V \big) \Big) + \Big(\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}} + K_{c}\psi \Big) \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle + \psi \langle D_{V}W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \Big] d\sigma.$$

On the one hand, having the following Riemannian hessian formula

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) = d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] - dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_{V}W]$$
(5.40)

it is possible to bring additional details on its computation.

Proposition 5.1. We have

$$\begin{aligned}
G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \left(grad \left(u'_{\Omega} \right) . \vec{\nu} + D^{2} u_{\Omega} V . \vec{\nu} + grad \left(u_{\Omega} \right) . \left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V . \vec{\nu}) \right. \right. \\ &+ D_{\vec{\nu}} V) \right) \right] d\sigma \\
&+ \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) + K_{c} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \\ &- \frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \right] \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$
(5.41)

Proof.

$$\begin{split} G^{A}\left(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W\right) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \left(grad(u'_{\Omega}).\vec{v} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V.\vec{v} + grad(u_{\Omega}).\left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{v}) + D_{\vec{v}}V\right)\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \left(\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{v}} + K_{c}\psi\right) \left\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \left\langle V,\vec{v}\rangle + \psi \left\langle D_{V}W,\vec{v}\rangle \right\rangle \right] d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\Omega} \psi \left\langle \nabla_{V}W,\vec{v}\rangle d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \left(grad(u'_{\Omega}).\vec{v} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V.\vec{v} + grad(u_{\Omega}).\left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{v}) + D_{\vec{v}}V\right)\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \left(\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{v}} + K_{c}\psi\right) \left\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \left\langle V,\vec{v}\rangle + \psi \left\langle D_{V}W,\vec{v}\rangle \right\rangle \right] d\sigma \\ &- \int_{\partial\Omega} \psi \left[\left\langle D_{V}W,\vec{v}\rangle + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \left\langle V,\vec{v}\rangle \left\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \right\rangle \right] d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \left(grad\left(u'_{\Omega}\right).\vec{v} + D^{2}u_{\Omega}V.\vec{v} + grad\left(u_{\Omega}\right).\left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{v}) + D_{\vec{v}}V)\right) \right] d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{v}} + K_{c}\psi - \psi K_{c}\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{2} + 1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \right] \left\langle V,\vec{v}\rangle \left\langle W,\vec{v}\rangle \right| d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Replacing ψ by its expression, we have

$$\begin{aligned}
G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2\langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \left(grad \left(u'_{\Omega} \right) . \vec{\nu} + D^{2} u_{\Omega} V . \vec{\nu} + grad \left(u_{\Omega} \right) . \left(-grad_{\Gamma} \left(V . \vec{\nu} \right) \right. + D_{\vec{\nu}} V \right) \right) \right] d\sigma \\
&+ \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) + K_{c} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \right. \\
&- \left. \frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \right] \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma.
\end{aligned}$$
(5.42)

A. DJITE AND D. SECK

On the other hand, let us compute $G^A(Hess J(\Omega)[V], W)$ by using directly the Sobolevtype metric G^A . Then we have the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2.

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) + K_{c} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \right] \langle V,\vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W,\vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma.$$
(5.43)

Proof.

$$\begin{split} G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) HessJ(\Omega)[V]W, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \nabla_{V} gradJ(\Omega)W, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \nabla_{h} gradJ(\Omega)m. \end{split}$$

Since $grad J(\Omega) = \frac{1}{1 + AK_c^2} \psi$, we have

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{h}gradJ(\Omega) &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(gradJ(\Omega)\right) \alpha + \left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) gradJ(\Omega) \alpha, \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\right) \alpha + \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \alpha, \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left[(1 + AK_{c}^{2})^{-1} \right] \psi \alpha + \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \alpha + \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \alpha, \\ &= -2AK_{c}\frac{\partial K_{c}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right)^{-2}\psi \alpha + \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \alpha \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right) \alpha. \end{split}$$

Note that $\frac{\partial K_c}{\partial \vec{\nu}} = K_c^2$, which implies that:

$$\nabla_{h} gradJ(\Omega) = \frac{-2AK_{c}^{3}}{\left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right)^{2}}\psi\alpha + \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha + \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha.$$
(5.44)

Then, coming back to our hessian computation, we have

$$\begin{aligned} G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \left[\frac{-2AK_{c}^{3}}{(1 + AK_{c}^{2})^{2}}\psi\alpha + \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha \right. \\ &+ \left.\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\right]\beta d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{-2AK_{c}^{3}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\alpha + \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\alpha + \psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\alpha\right]\beta d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}} + \psi\left(\frac{AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\right]\alpha\beta d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}} + \psi K_{c}\left(\frac{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\right]\alpha\beta d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$
(5.45)

Replacing ψ by its expression, we have

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) + K_{c} \left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^{2} \right) \right] \langle V,\vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W,\vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma.$$
(5.46)

Remark 5.2. Let us note first that there is a symmetry relation with respect to the hessian which is in the case of our considered Riemannian structure a self adjoint operator with respect to the metric G^A .

And the second fact is that it is important to underline that the formulas (5.42) obtained from the formula in Theorem 5.1 and (5.46) computed by a direct method with the metric G^A in two different ways, have to give the same expression even if Ω is not a critical point. And then from these computations, one deduces that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \left[-2 \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle \left(grad(u'_{\Omega}).\vec{\nu} + D^2 u_{\Omega} V.\vec{\nu} + grad(u_{\Omega}). \left(-grad_{\Gamma}(V.\vec{\nu}) + D_{\vec{\nu}}V \right) \right) \right] d\sigma$$
$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{3AK_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^2 \right) \langle V, \vec{\nu} \rangle \langle W, \vec{\nu} \rangle d\sigma. \quad (5.47)$$

Remark 5.3. In this remark, we compute $G^A(V, Hess J(\Omega)[W])$ to show the symmetry relation with respect to the hessian with the computation of the direct method with the metric G^A .

$$G^{A}(V, HessJ(\Omega)[W]) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) HessJ(\Omega)[W]V,$$

$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \nabla_{W} gradJ(\Omega)V,$$

$$= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \nabla_{m} gradJ(\Omega)h \qquad (5.48)$$

where $V = h = \alpha \vec{\nu}$ and $W = m = \beta \vec{\nu}$. Since $grad J(\Omega) = \frac{1}{1 + AK_c^2} \psi$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_m gradJ(\Omega) &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(gradJ(\Omega) \right) \beta + \left(\frac{3Ak_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2} \right) gradJ(\Omega) \beta, \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_c^2} \psi \right) \beta + \frac{1}{1 + AK_c^2} \psi \left(\frac{3Ak_c^3 + K_c}{1 + AK_c^2} \right) \beta. \end{aligned}$$

As previously, by the same computations, we get

$$\nabla_m grad J(\Omega) = \frac{-2AK_c^3}{\left(1+AK_c^2\right)^2}\psi\beta + \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\left(\frac{1}{1+AK_c^2}\right)\beta + \frac{1}{1+AK_c^2}\psi\left(\frac{3Ak_c^3+K_c}{1+AK_c^2}\right)\beta.$$

And finally, we have

$$\begin{split} G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[W],V) &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right) \left[\frac{-2AK_{c}^{3}}{\left(1 + AK_{c}^{2}\right)^{2}}\psi\beta + \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\left(\frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\beta \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\psi\left(\frac{3AK_{c}^{3} + K_{c}}{1 + AK_{c}^{2}}\right)\beta\right]\alpha d\sigma, \\ &= \int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\right)^{2}\right) + K_{c}\left(k^{2} - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}}\right)^{2}\right)\right]\langle V,\vec{\nu}\rangle\langle W,\vec{\nu}\rangle d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Let us have a look at the two formulas of the second derivation when $V = W = \alpha \vec{\nu}$. On the one hand, by Proposition 4.1, we get

$$Q(\alpha) = d^{2}J(\Omega; V; V),$$

$$= -(N-1)\int_{\partial\Omega} H\alpha^{2}d\sigma + k^{2}\int_{\Omega} |grad(\Lambda)|^{2}dx,$$

$$= -(N-1)k^{2}\int_{\partial\Omega} H\alpha^{2}d\sigma + k^{2}\int_{\partial\Omega} \alpha L\alpha d\sigma.$$
 (5.49)

On the other hand by Theorem 5.1, we have

$$G^{A}(HessJ(\Omega)[V],W) = d(dJ(\Omega)[W])[V] - dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_{V}W].$$
(5.50)

Then for V = W we derive

$$d(dJ(\Omega)[V])[V] = d^2 J(\Omega; V; V) = G^A (Hess J(\Omega)[V], V) + dJ(\Omega)[\nabla_V V].$$
(5.51)

• If the quadrature surface problem has a solution Ω , then $d(dJ(\Omega)[V])[V] = G^A(HessJ(\Omega)[V], V)$.

30

• In previous works, the second author studied the stability and positiveness of the quadratic form, see [30] for more details. He established a proposition similar to Proposition 4.1 and gave necessary and sufficient qualitative properties in the theoretical point of view.

The one obtained involves the study of a generalized spectral Steklov problem that is reminded in the following corollary.

Corollary 5.1. Let us consider the following generalized spectral Steklov problem:

$$\begin{split} \Delta \phi_n &= 0 \quad in \ \Omega \backslash K \\ \phi_n &= 0 \quad on \ \partial K \\ (L + (N - 1)HI)\phi_n &= (\frac{1}{\mu_n} - \|H^-\|_{\infty})\phi_n \quad on \ \partial \Omega, \end{split}$$

where I is the identity map, H is the mean curvature of Ω , K is a compact regular enough subset of Ω , $H^- = max\{-H, 0\}$ and μ_n is a decreasing sequence of eigenvalues depending also on H which goes to 0. And one must have the sign of the first eigenvalue

$$\lambda_0 := \frac{1}{\mu_0} - \|H^-\|_{\infty} = \inf \left\{ (N-1) \int Hv^2 d\sigma + \int_{\Omega \setminus K} |grad(\Lambda)|^2 dx, v \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega), \int_{\partial\Omega} v^2 d\sigma = 1 \right\},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Delta \Lambda &= 0 \quad in \ \Omega \backslash K \\ \Lambda &= 0 \quad on \ \partial K \\ \frac{\partial \Lambda}{\partial \vec{\nu}} &= v \quad on \ \partial \Omega. \end{split}$$

And the minimum is reached for ϕ_0 satisfying

$$\begin{split} \Delta \phi_0 &= 0 \ in \ \Omega \backslash K \\ \phi_0 &= 0 \ on \ \partial K \\ (L + (N - 1)HI)\phi_0 &= \lambda_0 \phi_0 \ on \ \partial \Omega. \end{split}$$

From our work we can deduce the following conclusions as a corollary.

Corollary 5.2.
 What is obtained with the Riemannian hessian formula is easier to derive simple control for the characterization of the optimal shape in a number of ways.
• In the case of minimum, $G^A(Hess J(\Omega)[V], V) \ge 0$. And this inequality is equivalent to $\int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^2 \right) \right] \alpha^2 d\sigma \ge 0, \ \forall \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}) \cap H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega).$ This is reduced to $\int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_\Omega}{\partial \vec{\nu}} \right)^2 \right) d\sigma \ge 0.$ One can deduce also another control, since

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^2 \right) \right] \alpha^2 d\sigma = -2k^2(N-1) \int_{\partial\Omega} H \alpha^2 d\sigma = -2k^2(N-1) \int_{\partial\Omega} K_c \alpha^2 d\sigma.$$

Before proceeding further, let us underline that in two dimension $H = K_c$. And knowing that $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}) \cap H^{1/2}(\partial \Omega)$, the control becomes $\int_{\partial \Omega} K_c d\sigma = 2\pi \chi(\partial \Omega) \leq 0$ where $\chi(\partial \Omega)$ is the Euler- Poincaré characteristic. And from this, we can deduce that by Gauss- Bonnet theorem the control is done on the Euler-Poincaré characteristic. And from this, we have key information to set up algorithm in order to get a good approximation of the optimal shape.

• Now, when Ω is only a critical point, to get a strict local minimum, we need the following sufficient condition:

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \left(k^2 - \left(\frac{\partial u_{\Omega}}{\partial\vec{\nu}} \right)^2 \right) \right] \alpha^2 d\sigma = -2k^2(N-1) \int_{\partial\Omega} K_c \alpha^2 d\sigma \ge C_0 \|\alpha\|^2, C_0 > 0.$$

One can say also that there is $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$, $-2k^2(N-1)K_c(x_0)\int_{\partial\Omega}\alpha^2 d\sigma \geq C_0 \|\alpha\|^2$. And if $K_c(x_0) < 0$, then Ω is a strict local minimum. If the Euler-Poincaré characteristic is positive, then there is not a minimum.

Conflicts of interests. The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests.

References

- Absil, P.-A., Mahony, R., and Sepulchre, R. (2008). Optimization algorithms on matrix manifolds. Princeton University Press.
- [2] Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., & Savaré, G. (2004). Gradient flows with metric and differentiable structures, and applications to the wasserstein space. Atti della Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali. Rendiconti Lincei. Matematica e Applicazioni, 15(3-4):327–343.
- [3] Barkatou, M., Seck, D., & Ly, I. (2005). An existence result for a quadrature surface free boundary problem. Open Mathematics, 3(1):39–57.
- [4] Bauer, M., Harms, P., & Michor, P. W. (2010). Sobolev metrics on shape space of surfaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:1009.3616.
- [5] Bauer, M., Harms, P., & Michor, P. W. (2011). Sobolev metrics on shape space: Weighted sobolev metrics and almost local metrics. arXiv preprint arXiv:1109.0404.

32

- [6] Beg, M. F., Miller, M. I., Trouvé, A., & Younes, L. (2005). Computing large deformation metric mappings via geodesic flows of diffeomorphisms. International journal of computer vision, 61:139–157.
- [7] Benamou, J.-D. & Brenier, Y. (2000). A computational fluid mechanics solution to the monge-kantorovich mass transfer problem. Numerische Mathematik, 84(3):375–393.
- [8] Dambrine, M. (2000). Hessiennes de formes et Stabilité de formes Critiques. Ph.D. thesis, Université de Rennes 1, France.
- [9] Dambrine, M. (2002). On variations of the shape hessian and sufficient conditions for the stability of critical shapes. Racsam, 96:95–121.
- [10] Dambrine, M. and Pierre, M. (2000). About stability of equilibrium shapes. ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis, 34(4):811–834.
- [11] Dautray, R. & Lions, J.-L. (1985). Analyse mathématique et calcul numérique pour les sciences et les techniques. Collection du Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique. Serie Scientifique.
- [12] Delfour, M. C. & Zolésio, J.-P. (2011). Shapes and geometries: metrics, analysis, differential calculus, and optimization. SIAM.
- [13] Djité, A. S. & Seck, D. (2022). A riemannian point of view for a quadrature surface free boundary problem. Nonlinear Analysis, Geometry and Applications: Proceedings of the Second NLAGA-BIRS Symposium, Cap Skirring, Senegal, January 25–30, 2022, pages 339–374. Springer.
- [14] Durrleman, S., Pennec, X., Trouvé, A., & Ayache, N. (2009). Statistical models of sets of curves and surfaces based on currents. Medical image analysis, 13(5):793–808.
- [15] Ebenfelt, P., Gustafsson, B., Khavinson, D., & Putinar, M. (2006). Quadrature domains and their applications: the Harold S. Shapiro anniversary volume, volume 156. Springer Science & Business Media.
- [16] Fuchs, M., Jüttler, B., Scherzer, O., & Yang, H. (2009). Shape metrics based on elastic deformations. Journal of Mathematical Imaging and Vision, 35:86–102.
- [17] Henrot, A. (1994). Subsolutions and supersolutions in a free boundary problem. Arkiv för Matematik, 32(1):79-98.
- [18] Henrot, A. & Pierre, M. (2018). Shape variation and optimization. European Mathematical Society.
- [19] Kellogg, O. (1929). Foundations of potential theory, fred. Ungar Publ. Comp., New York.
- [20] Kendall, D. G. (1984). Shape manifolds, procrustean metrics, and complex projective spaces. Bulletin of the London mathematical society, 16(2):81-121.
- [21] Kushnarev, S. (2009). Teichons: Solitonlike geodesics on universal teichmüller space. Experimental Mathematics, 18(3):325-336.
- [22] Landkof, N. S. (2011). Foundations of modern potential theory. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg
- [23] Michor, P. W. & Mumford, D. (2004). Vanishing geodesic distance on spaces of submanifolds and diffeomorphisms. arXiv preprint math/0409303.
- [24] Michor, P. W. & Mumford, D. (2007). An overview of the riemannian metrics on spaces of curves using the hamiltonian approach. Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis, 23(1):74-113.
- [25] Mumford, D. B. & Michor, P. W. (2006). Riemannian geometries on spaces of plane curves. Journal of the European Mathematical Society, 8(1):1–48.

- [26] Rumpf, M. & Wirth, B. (2009). A nonlinear elastic shape averaging approach. SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 2(3):800–833.
- [27] Schulz, V. H. (2014). A riemannian view on shape optimization. Foundations of Computational Mathematics, 14:483–501.
- [28] Schulz, V. H., Siebenborn, M., & Welker, K. (2015). Structured inverse modeling in parabolic diffusion problems. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 53(6):3319–3338.
- [29] Schulz, V. H., Siebenborn, M., & Welker, K. (2016). Efficient pde constrained shape optimization based on steklov poincaré type metrics. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 26(4):2800–2819.
- [30] Seck, D. (2016). On an isoperimetric inequality and various methods for the bernoulli's free boundary problems. São Paulo Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 10:36–59.
- [31] Shahgholian, H. (1994). Existence of quadrature surfaces for positive measures with finite support. Potential Analysis, 3:245–255.
- [32] Shahgholian, H. (1994). Quadrature surfaces as free boundaries. Arkiv för Matematik, 32(2):475–492.
- [33] Shapiro, H. S. (1992). The Schwarz function and its generalization to higher dimensions, volume 4. A Wiley-Interscience Publication. John Wiley & Sons.
- [34] Sokolowski, J., & Zolesio, J.-P. (1992). Introduction to shape optimization. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- [35] Trouvé, A. & Younes, L. (2005). Metamorphoses through lie group action. Foundations of computational mathematics, 5:173–198.
- [36] Tumpach, A. B. (2005). Varietes kaehlériennes et hyperkaéleriennes de dimension infinie. Ph.D thesis, Ecole Polytechnique X.
- [37] Welker, K. (2017). Suitable spaces for shape optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1702.07579.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, FACULTY OF SCIENCE, U.C.A.D. DAKAR, SÉNÉGAL

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, FACULTY OF SCIENCE, U.C.A.D. DAKAR, SÉNÉGAL

34



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:35-42 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

ON $\mathcal I$ CONCURRENT CLASS OF SEQUENCES

DEBJANI RAKSHIT ⁽⁾ * AND PRASENJIT BAL ⁽⁾

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we demonstrate the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation between sequences and the equivalence relations produced from it. A few unique features of these equivalence classes are investigated. Finally, we show that the collection of all such equivalence classes of all \mathcal{I} -convergent sequences under the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation generates a metric space that is isometric with the set of all constant sequences. **Keywords**: \mathcal{I} -convergence, \mathcal{I} -Cauchy, \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 40A35, 40D25.

1. INTRODUCTION

Natural density, additionally referred to as asymptotic density, is a fundamental notion in number theory and analysis that measures how large a subset of natural number is relative to the set of all natural numbers. For $M \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, the natural density of M is denoted by $\delta(M)$ and is defined as

$$\delta(M) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|k \le n : k \in M|}{n}.$$

This notion holds significance not just in pure mathematics but also in disciplines such as statistical mechanics, probability theory and computer science, where understanding the distribution of numbers may reveal patterns and behaviors inside complex systems. Steinhaus

Received:2024.04.04 Revised:2024.05.21 Accepted:2024.08.11

* Corresponding author

Debjani Rakshit & debjanirakshit88@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8877-6484 Prasenjit Bal & balprasenjit177@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5047-7390. [18] and Fast [7] in 1951, developed the idea of statistical convergence independently by implementing the idea of natural density (also known as asymptotic density). The statistical convergence of a sequence $\langle x_n \rangle$ to x_0 is attained if, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, the set $\{k \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_k, x_0) \ge \varepsilon\}$ has a density of zero. Numerous mathematicians, such as Fridy [8, 9], Salat [15], Rath and Tripathy [14], Bal [2], Sarkar et al. [17] have conducted extensive research on this convergence. In 2000, Kostyrko et al. [11] raised the concept of \mathcal{I} -convergence, while \mathcal{I} Cauchy sequences was initially defined by Nabiev et al. [13]. \mathcal{I} -convergence is an extension of statistical convergence depending on the ideal's (\mathcal{I} 's) framework, where \mathcal{I} is a family of subsets of the set of natural numbers. Although there have been a lot of generalizations of statistical convergence, we found \mathcal{I} -convergence the most interesting one, where \mathcal{I} is an ideal. In the recent literature, there have been several publications on \mathcal{I} -convergence [3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 12, 3, 16], including some outstanding contributions by Bal [1].

In this study, we seek to establish a relationship between two sequences of the same nature by means of \mathcal{I} -convergence. In order to accomplish this, we introduce the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation, which establishes an equivalence relation on the collection of all sequences in a metric space. Also, the collection of all equivalence classes produced by that equivalence relation on the set of all \mathcal{I} -convergent sequences constructs a metric space.

2. Preliminaries

Prior to studying \mathcal{I} concurrent sequences in depth, it is important to provide some basic definitions and notions. In this section, we briefly discuss the fundamental instruments and mathematical concepts required to comprehend the key findings.

Definition 2.1. [13] A family \mathcal{I} of subsets of a non empty set X is called an ideal if and only if $\emptyset \in \mathcal{I}$, \mathcal{I} is closed under finite union and \mathcal{I} is closed under subset. Also a family \mathcal{F} of subsets of a non empty set X is called a filter if and only if $\emptyset \notin \mathcal{F}$, \mathcal{F} is closed under finite intersection and \mathcal{F} is closed under superset.

If $X \notin \mathcal{I}$ and $\mathcal{I} \neq \emptyset$, then the ideal \mathcal{I} is considered as an non-trivial ideal. If \mathcal{I} is an ideal, then the collection $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}) = \{X \setminus M : M \in \mathcal{I}\}$ is a filter and called the dual filter of the ideal \mathcal{I} . If \mathcal{I} is a non-trivial ideal which contains every singleton subset of X, then \mathcal{I} is considered to be an admissible ideal. \mathcal{I} will represent an admissible ideal throughout the paper.

Definition 2.2. [13] Let \mathcal{I} be an admissible ideal defined on the set \mathbb{N} of natural numbers and (X, d) be a metric space. For a sequence $\langle x_n \rangle$, if for each $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\{k \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_k, x_0) \ge \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{I},\$$

then $\langle x_n \rangle$ is considered to be \mathcal{I} -convergent to x_0 .

Definition 2.3. [13] Let \mathcal{I} be an admissible ideal defined on the set \mathbb{N} of natural numbers and (X, d) be a metric space. For a sequence $\langle x_n \rangle$, if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, x_m) \ge \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{I},\$$

then $\langle x_n \rangle$ is considered to be an *I*-Cauchy sequence in X.

3. On \mathcal{I} Concurrent Sequences

Using the concept of \mathcal{I} -convergence, we want to create an equivalence relation on the set of all sequences that will separate the sequence space into disjoint equivalence classes. These classes of sequences will have sequences that are similar in nature, making it easier to study each one freely.

Theorem 3.1. If the sequences $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ satisfy the \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria in a metric space (X, d), then the sequences $\langle z_n = d(x_n, y_n) : n \in \mathbb{N} \rangle$ will satisfy the \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria in a metric space (X, d_1) where $d_1(a, b) = |a - b|$.

Proof. Since $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ satisfies \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria, therefore, $A_1 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, x_{m_1}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$, for some $m_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $A_2 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(y_n, y_{m_2}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$, for some $m_2 \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let $m = max\{m_1, m_2\}$. Also, $(A_1 \cap A_2) \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$ and $\phi \notin \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$, so $(A_1 \cap A_2) \neq \phi$ and for all $n \in (A_1 \cap A_2)$, we have

$$d_1(z_n, z_m) \le d(x_n, x_m) + d(y_n, y_m) < \varepsilon,$$

i.e., $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : d_1(z_n, z_m) < \varepsilon\} \supseteq (A_1 \cap A_2) \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}).$

Therefore, $\langle z_n \rangle$ fulfills \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria in the metric space (X, d_1) .

Definition 3.1. A sequence $\langle x_n \rangle$ is said to be \mathcal{I} concurrent to another sequence $\langle y_n \rangle$ if the sequence $\langle z_n \rangle = \langle d(x_n, y_n) \rangle$ is such that $z_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{I}-lim} 0$. That is, $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : z_n = d(x_n, y_n) \ge \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{I}$.

Example 3.1. Let $X = \{0, 1\}$, equipped with the discrete metric $\sigma(x, y) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } x = y, \\ 1, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$.

Consider the ideal $\mathcal{I}_{\delta} = \{A : \delta(A) = 0\}$ and the sequences $\{a_n\}, \{b_n\}$ and $\{c_n\}$ where

D. RAKSHIT AND P. BAL

$$a_n = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } n = k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 1, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \quad b_n = 1 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } c_n = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } n = k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For every $\varepsilon > 0$, $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : \sigma(a_n, b_n) \ge \varepsilon\} = \{n = k^2 : k \in \mathbb{N}\} \in \mathcal{I}_{\delta}, \{n \in \mathbb{N} : \sigma(b_n, c_n) \ge \varepsilon\} = \{n \neq k^2 : k \in \mathbb{N}\} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\delta} \text{ and } \{n \in \mathbb{N} : \sigma(c_n, a_n) \ge \varepsilon\} = \mathbb{N} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\delta}.$ Thus, $\{a_n\}$ and $\{b_n\}$ are \mathcal{I} concurrent to each other; whereas $\{c_n\}$ is \mathcal{I} concurrent neither to $\{a_n\}$ nor to $\{b_n\}$.

Theorem 3.2. For two \mathcal{I} concurrent sequences $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$, if one sequence is \mathcal{I} Cauchy, then the other also satisfies the \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria.

Proof. Let $\langle x_n \rangle$ satisfy the \mathcal{I} Cauchy criteria. Therefore, $A_1 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, x_m) < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$. Since $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} concurrent, therefore $A_2 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, y_n) < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$.

Since $(A_1 \cap A_2) \neq \phi$ and for all $n \in (A_1 \cap A_2)$ there exists a $m \in (A_1 \cap A_2)$ so that

$$d(y_n, y_m) \le d(y_n, x_n) + d(x_n, x_m) + d(x_m, y_m) < \varepsilon,$$

i.e., $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(y_n, y_m) < \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$ as $(A_1 \cap A_2) \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}).$

Therefore, $\langle y_n \rangle$ also satisfies \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria.

Example 3.2. Two non \mathcal{I} -Cauchy sequences can be \mathcal{I} -Concurrent to each other. Let X = [0,2] and d(a,b) = |(a-b)| for all $a, b \in X$. Then (X,d) forms a metric space. Also consider the sequences $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ of (X,d) where

$$x_n = \frac{[1 + (-1)^{n+1}]}{2}$$

and

$$y_n = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } n \text{ is odd,} \\ \frac{1}{n}, & \text{for } n \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

Now take $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{fin}$, the ideal containing all finite subsets of \mathbb{N} , then neither $\langle x_n \rangle$ nor $\langle y_n \rangle$ satisfy \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria.

But
$$\langle z_n \rangle = \langle d(x_n, y_n) \rangle$$
 where $d(x_n, y_n) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } n \text{ is odd} \\ \frac{1}{n}, & \text{for } n \text{ is even} \end{cases}$ is \mathcal{I} -convergent to 0.
Since, $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : z_n \ge \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{I}$

Therefore, $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are not *I*-Cauchy but *I*-concurrent sequences.

Example 3.3. Again, if two sequences are \mathcal{I} -Cauchy sequences, it does not imply that they are \mathcal{I} -concurrent. For example,

Let X = [0,2] and d(a,b) = |(a-b)| for all $a, b \in X$. Then (X,d) forms a metric space. Also consider the sequences $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ of (X,d) where

$$x_n = \begin{cases} 2, & \text{for } n = k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 1 + \frac{1}{n}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$y_n = \begin{cases} 2, & for \ n = k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \frac{1}{n}, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Now, if we take $I = I_{\delta}$, the class of all subsets of \mathbb{N} whose natural density is 0, then $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} -Cauchy sequences.

But
$$\langle z_n \rangle = \langle d(x_n, y_n) \rangle$$
 where $d(x_n, y_n) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } n = k^2, k \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$ is not \mathcal{I} -convergent to

0.

That is, $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} -Cauchy but not \mathcal{I} -concurrent to each other.

Theorem 3.3. Two sequences are \mathcal{I} convergent to the same limit if and only if they are \mathcal{I} concurrent sequences, one of them being \mathcal{I} convergent.

Proof. Let $\langle x_n \rangle$ be \mathcal{I} -convergent to the limit ℓ . Therefore, $A_1 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, \ell) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}).$

Also, let $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ be \mathcal{I} -concurrent. Therefore, $A_2 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, y_n) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$. Since $(A_1 \cap A_2) \neq \phi$ and for all $n \in (A_1 \cap A_2)$ we have

$$d(y_n, \ell) \le d(y_n, x_n) + d(x_n, \ell) < \varepsilon,$$

i.e.,
$$\{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(y_n, \ell) < \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$$
 as $(A_1 \cap A_2) \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$

Therefore, $\langle y_n \rangle$ is also \mathcal{I} -convergent to the same limit ℓ .

Conversely, let $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ be two \mathcal{I} convergent sequences converging to the same limit ℓ . That is, $B_1 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, \ell) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I})$ and $B_2 = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(y_n, \ell) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\} \in \mathcal{F}(I)$. So $\forall n \in (A_1 \cap A_2) \subset \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$d(x_n, y_n) \le d(x_n, \ell) + d(y_n, \ell) < \varepsilon,$$

i.e., $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : d(x_n, y_n) < \varepsilon\} \supseteq (A_1 \cap A_2) \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}).$

Therefore, $\langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} -concurrent sequences.

39

Theorem 3.4. Let S_X be the collection of all sequences on the metric space (X, d). Then the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation $\approx_{\mathcal{I}-d}$ forms an equivalence relation on S_X .

Proof. Since for any $\langle x_n \rangle \in S_X$, $d(x_n, x_n) = 0$, $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $\langle d(x_n, x_n) \rangle$ is \mathcal{I} -convergent to 0. So every sequence is \mathcal{I} -concurrent to itself. That is, the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation ($\approx_{\mathcal{I}}$ -d) is a reflexive relation on S_X .

Since for any $\langle x_n \rangle, \langle y_n \rangle \in S_X$, $d(x_n, y_n) = d(y_n, x_n), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, if $\langle x_n \rangle$ is \mathcal{I} concurrent to $\langle y_n \rangle$ then $\langle y_n \rangle$ is also \mathcal{I} -concurrent to $\langle x_n \rangle$. That is, the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation $(\approx_{\mathcal{I}-d})$ is a symmetric relation on S_X .

Let $\langle x_n \rangle, \langle y_n \rangle, \langle v_n \rangle \in S_X$, Now, $d(x_n, v_n) \leq d(x_n, y_n) + d(y_n, v_n), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$. It implies that if $\langle d(x_n, y_n) \rangle$ and $\langle d(y_n, v_n) \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} -convergent to 0, then $\langle d(x_n, v_n) \rangle$ is also \mathcal{I} -convergent to 0.

So if $(x_n) \approx_{\mathcal{I}-d} (y_n)$ and $(y_n) \approx_{\mathcal{I}-d} (v_n) \implies (x_n) \approx_{\mathcal{I}-d} (v_n)$, i.e., the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation $(\approx_{\mathcal{I}-d})$ is a transitive relation on S_X .

: the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation ($\approx_{\mathcal{I}-d}$) forms an equivalence relation on S_X .

Corollary 3.1. The set S_X of all sequences of the space (X, d) splits into disjoint equivalent classes under the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation $(\approx_{\mathcal{I}-d})$, so that all the sequences of one class are

- (i) Either \mathcal{I} -convergent to the same limit or is not \mathcal{I} -convergent.
- (ii) Either *I*-Cauchy sequences or none of them are *I*-Cauchy.

Proof. This can be easily verified from the previous theorems. \Box

Let C_X be the collection of all \mathcal{I} -Convergent sequences of the metric space (X, d). Also let $\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^* = \{ \langle y_n \rangle \in C_X : \langle y_n \rangle \approx_{\mathcal{I} - d} \langle x_n \rangle \}$, where $\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*$ denotes the equivalence class of $\langle x_n \rangle$ under the \mathcal{I} -concurrent relation $(\approx_{\mathcal{I} - d})$.

We define $\sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*) = d'(\langle x_n \rangle, \langle y_n \rangle) = \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty}d(x_n, y_n)$

Let C_X^* denote the set of all equivalence classes $\langle x_n \rangle^*$, where $\langle x_n \rangle \in C_X$.

Theorem 3.5. The set of all equivalence classes C_X^* forms a metric space with the metric σ such that $\sigma(\langle x_n \rangle^*, \langle y_n \rangle^*) = \mathcal{I}\text{-lim}_{n \to \infty} d(x_n, y_n).$

Proof. Let $\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{z_n} \rangle^* \in \boldsymbol{C_X}^*$. So there is a $\langle x_n \rangle \in \langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle y_n \rangle \in \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*, \langle z_n \rangle \in \langle \boldsymbol{z_n} \rangle^*$. Now since d is a metric, $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$.

$$\begin{aligned} d(x_n, y_n) &\geq 0 \implies \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_n, y_n) \geq 0 \\ \implies \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*) \geq 0 \text{ for all } \langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*, \in \boldsymbol{C_X}^* \\ \text{Now } \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

$$\iff \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n\to\infty}d(x_n, y_n) = 0$$

 $\iff \langle x_n \rangle$ and $\langle y_n \rangle$ are \mathcal{I} -concurrent to each other. So they belong to the same equivalence class.

That is, $\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^* = \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*$. Again, $\sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*) = \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty}d(x_n, y_n) = \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty}d(y_n, x_n) = \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*)$ (Since *d* is symmetric).

 $\therefore \sigma$ is symmetric.

Since d is metric, we have
$$d(x_n, y_n) \leq d(x_n, z_n) + d(z_n, y_n), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$$
.
 $\therefore \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_n, y_n) \leq \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_n, z_n) + \mathcal{I}\text{-}lim_{n \to \infty} d(z_n, y_n)$.
 $\implies \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*) \leq \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{x_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{z_n} \rangle^*) + \sigma(\langle \boldsymbol{z_n} \rangle^*, \langle \boldsymbol{y_n} \rangle^*)$
Hence $(\boldsymbol{C_X}^*, \sigma)$ forms a metric space.

Theorem 3.6. Let $C'_X = \{\{x_n : x_n = x, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}\} : x \in X\}$. Then (C'_X, d') and (C_X^*, σ) are isometry.

Proof. Let $f: C'_X \to C_X^*$ is a function defined by $f(\langle x_n \rangle) = \langle x_n \rangle^*$ where $\langle x_n \rangle^* = \{\{z_n\} \in C_X : \langle z_n \rangle \approx_{\mathcal{I} - d} \langle x_n \rangle\}$. Now $\sigma(f(\langle x_n \rangle), f(\langle y_n \rangle)) = \sigma(\langle x_n \rangle^*, \langle y_n \rangle^*) = d'(\langle x_n \rangle, \langle y_n \rangle)$. Therefore, f is an isometry.

Again $f(\langle x_n \rangle) = f(\langle y_n \rangle) \implies \langle x_n \rangle = \langle y_n \rangle$ and for any equivalence class $\langle w_n \rangle^* \in C_X^*$ there exist a constant sequences $\langle w_n \rangle \in C'_X$, i.e., f is a bijective mapping. Hence (C'_X, d') and (C_X^*, σ) are isometry.

4. Conclusion

An equivalence relation that splits the sequence space into disjoint equivalence classes has been discovered on the set of all sequences. Sequences in these categories are of the same kind with respect to \mathcal{I} -convergence and \mathcal{I} -Cauchy criteria. Further, a metric space is obtained for the collection of all these equivalence classes. It is possible to study the classes of point-wise convergence, uniform convergence, etc. independently if this idea is extended to the sequences of functions.

DECLARATION ON DATA AVAILABILITY AND FINANCIAL SUPPORT:

No data set has been produced or analyzed for this article. Therefore, the sharing of data is not relevant here. The individuals who wrote it don't own any proprietary or financial stake in any of the content covered in this piece of writing.

D. RAKSHIT AND P. BAL

References

- Bal, P. (2023). On the class of *I*-γ-open cover and *I*-St-γ-open cover. Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 52(3), 630-639.
- [2] Bal, P., & Rakshit, D. (2023). A variation of the class of statistical γ covers. Topological Algebra and its Applications, 11(1), 20230101.
- [3] Das, P., & Ghosal, S. K. (2010). Some further results on *I*-Cauchy sequences and condition (AP). Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 59(8), 2597-2600.
- [4] Debnath, S., & Rakshit, D. (2018). On *I*-statistical convergence. Iranian Journal of Mathematical Sciences and Informatics, 13(2), 101-109.
- [5] Demirci, K. (2001). *I*-limit superior and limit inferior. *Mathematical communications*, 6(2), 165-172.
- [6] Dems, K. (2004). On *I*-Cauchy sequences. Real analysis exchange, 30(1), 123-128.
- [7] Fast, H. (1951). Sur la convergence statistique. In Colloquium mathematicae, 2(3-4), 241-244.
- [8] Fridy, J. A. (1993). Statistical limit points. Proceedings of the American mathematical society, 118(4), 1187-1192.
- [9] Fridy, J. A. (1985). On statistical convergence. Analysis, 5(4), 301-314.
- [10] Katětov, M. (1968). Products of filters. Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae, 9(1), 173-189.
- [11] Kostyrko, P., Wilczyński, W., & Šalát, T. (2000). *I*-convergence. Real Anal. Exchange, 26(2), 669-686.
- [12] Mursaleen, M., Debnath, S., & Rakshit, D. (2017). *I*-statistical limit superior and I-statistical limit inferior. *Filomat*, 31(7), 2103-2108.
- [13] Nabiev, A., Pehlivan, S., & Gürdal, M. (2007). On *I*-Cauchy sequences. *Taiwanese Journal of Mathe*matics, 11(2), 569-576.
- [14] Rath, D., & Tripathy, B. C. (1994). On statistically convergent and statistically Cauchy sequences. Indian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 25, 381-381.
- [15] Šalát, T. (1980). On statistically convergent sequences of real numbers. Mathematica slovaca, 30(2), 139-150.
- [16] Savas, E., & Das, P. (2011). A generalized statistical convergence via ideals. Applied mathematics letters, 24(6), 826-830.
- [17] Sarkar, S., Bal, P., & Rakshit, D. (2023). On Statistical Compactness. Iranian Journal of Mathematical Sciences and Informatics, (accepted).
- [18] Steinhaus, H. (1951). Sur la convergence ordinaire et la convergence asymptotique. In Colloq. math, (Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 73-74).

The ICFAI University Tripura, Department of Mathematics, Kamalghat, 799210 Agartala, India



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:43-54 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

PROPERTIES OF DIVISOR PRIME GRAPH

SANJOY KALITA \bigcirc AND MRIDUL DUTTA \bigcirc 2,*

ABSTRACT. Number theory is a mathematical discipline that uses concepts from graph theory. Recently, various graphs have been defined in relation to various number theoretic functions. One such graph is the divisor prime graph, which is associated with the positive divisors of a positive integer. Let n be a positive integer and D(n) be the set of all positive divisors of n. The divisor prime graph $PG_D(n)$ is defined as a graph whose vertex set is D(n) and any two vertices x and y are adjacent in $PG_D(n)$ iff gcd(x, y) = 1. In this study, families of divisor prime graphs for different positive integers are investigated, along with their graph theoretic characteristics such as adjacency, diameter, radius, clique number, chromatic number, planarity, connectivity, independence number and density. **Keywords:** Divisor, Prime factor, Greatest common divisor, Connectedness, Diameter, Girth, Radius, Isomorphism, Planar graph. **2010 Mathematics Subject Classification**: 05C38, 05C90, 05C4.

1. INTRODUCTION

In 2000, Singh and Santhosh [15] introduced the idea of divisor graphs. A divisor graph G is an ordered pair (V, E) where V is a subset of \mathbb{Z} and $uv \in E$ if and only if either u|v or v|u for all $u \neq v$. Many authors had studied an alternative construction of graphs by associating with algorithmic approach on MV-algebras[9], Zero divisor graphs[1, 2], total graphs, prime graphs[14]. Any graph isomorphic to a divisor graph is also called a divisor graph. Additionally, they have pointed out some of the graphs those which are divisor

Received:2024.04.24 Revised:2024.07.11

Accepted:2024.08.26

^{*} Corresponding author

Sanjoy Kalita \diamond sanjoykalita1@gmail.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9670-1578 Mridul Dutta \diamond mridulduttamc@gmail.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8692-2078.

graphs and also those which are not. Chartrand et al. [6] studied many more additional properties of divisor graph. Le Anh Vinh [17] also established the existence of a divisor graph of order n and size m for every pair of $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $0 \leq m \leq n$. Christopher Frayer [8] conducted research on the necessary conditions for a Cartesian product graph to be a divisor graph. Yu-ping Tsao [16] has examined several properties of D([n]) and its complement, including the vertex-chromatic number, the clique number, the cover number, and independence number, where $[n] = \{i : 1 \le i \le n, n \in N\}$. Nathanson [13] introduced the concepts and the notion of congruences from number theory in Graph Theory. He initiated the new way for the emergence of a new class of graphs, namely, arithmetic graphs. An arithmetic graph is one in which any two vertices a and b are adjacent if and only if $a + b \equiv c \pmod{n}$ where $c \in S$, a pre-assigned subset of V. Its vertex set V is the set of the first n positive integers $1, 2, 3, \ldots, n$. Let (G, \cdot) be a finite group and $S \subseteq G$ such that $s^{-1} \in S$ for all $s \in S$. S is called symmetric subset of G. A Cayley graph C(G,S) is the graph in which the vertex set V = G and the edge set $E = \{(a, b) : a^{-1}b \in S \text{ or } b^{-1}a \in S \}$ $S, \forall a, b \in G$. If $(G, \cdot) = (\mathbb{Z}_n, +)$ and the symmetric set S is associated with some arithmetic function, then such Cayley graphs are called arithmetic Cayley graphs. Dejter and Giudici [7], Berrizabeitia and Giudici [3] and others have studied the cycle structure of Cayley graphs associated with certain arithmetic functions. The circumference and girth of the arithmetic Cayley graphs are investigated by Madhavi and Maheswari [11], associated with the Euler totient function $\phi(n)$, and divisor function d(n). The cycle structure of these graphs has many applications in engineering and communication networks. Chalapati, Madhavi and Venkataramana [5] studied the enumeration of triangles in these graphs. The Divisor Prime graph was a novel idea developed by S. M. Nair and J. S. Kumar[12], who also looked into its structural characteristics. They integrated the concepts of prime graphs and divisor function graphs in this follow-up. In that study, maximum and minimum degrees, a null graph, an Euler graph, a cycle, a complete graph, and a bipartite graph are examined for a divisor prime graph.

In this paper, we have studied the properties of the divisor prime graph, its diameter, girth, colorability, planarity, density, etc. Any number theory or graph theory terms can be looked up in [4, 10], or any other standard literature.

2. Preliminaries

A graph is a set of objects represented graphically, with links connecting some pairs of objects. The points that represent the connected objects are referred to as vertices or points, and the links that join the vertices are called *edges or lines*. The majority of the definitions we have included here come from scholarly articles and standard literature.

A graph G is a pair of set G = (V, E), where V is a set of all vertices or points and E is a set of all edges or lines, connecting the vertices.

A graph is called *connected* if there is a path between every pair of vertices, otherwise, it is a *disconnected* graph.

In a graph, two vertices are said to be *adjacent* if they are connected by a common edge and two edges are said to be adjacent, if there is a common vertex between the two edges.

The *degree* of vertex in a graph is defined as the number of edges incident to the vertex, say v, or the number of vertices that is adjacent to the vertex v. It is denoted by deg(v). The minimum and maximum degrees of a graph G is denoted by $\delta(G)$ and $\Delta(G)$.

If all the vertices in the graph have the same degree, then the graph is called a *regular* graph. If k is the degree of the vertex, then the graph is called a k-regular graph. A connected 2-regular graph is also called a cycle graph.

A graph is said to be *complete* if each and every vertex is connected to each other. A complete graph of n vertices (i.e K_n) is a (n - 1)- regular graph. A graph G = (V, E) whose vertices can be partitioned into two disjoint and independent sets $V = V_1 \cup V_2$ such that every edge of E connects a vertex in V_1 to a vertex in V_2 is called a *bipartite* graph. A bipartite graph in which each vertex of the first set is connected to every vertex of the second set is called a *complete bipartite* graph. A *star* graph is a complete bipartite graph of the form $K_{1,n-1}$ with n-vertices, i.e., one set will have only one vertex and all the remaining vertices belong to the other set, and all these vertices are adjacent to that single vertex and not to each other. A star graph with n vertices is denoted by S_n . A graph where the degree of all its vertices is 0 is called a *null* graph and a graph where there is only one point (thus degree=0) is called a *trivial* graph.

A *walk* of a graph is an alternating sequence of points and lines beginning and ending with points, where each line is incident with the two points immediately preceding and following it. If all the lines of a walk are distinct, then it is called a *trail* and if all the points are distinct, then it is called a *path*.

S. KALITA AND M. DUTTA

The distance between the two vertices is the length of a geodesic between that pair of vertices. Distance between a pair of vertices u and v is denoted by d(u, v). The maximum distance of a vertex, say v, from all the other vertex is called the *eccentricity* of a vertex. It is denoted by e(v). The minimum eccentricity of all the vertices in the graph is considered the *radius* of the graph. It is denoted by r(G). The maximum eccentricity of all the vertices in the graph is considered the *diameter* of the graph. It is denoted by d(G).

Simple graphs G and H are called *isomorphic* if there is a bijection f from the vertices of G to the vertices of H such that (v, w) is an edge in G if and only if (f(v), f(w)) is an edge of H.

A simple, connected graph is called *planar* if there is a way to draw it on a plane so that no edges cross. Such a drawing is called an *embedding* of the graph in the plane.

The *Girth* of a simple graph is the shortest cycle contained in the graph and if there is no cycle in the graph then its girth is undefined. A complete subgraph in a graph is often called a *clique*. A clique having *n* number of vertices is called n - clique. The size of the largest clique of a graph *G* is called the *clique number* of *G*. It is denoted by cl(G).

A subset I of V is an independent set of a graph G = (V, E) if the vertices in I are not adjacent to each other. The independence number $\beta_0(G)$ is the size of a largest independent set in G.

The divisor function or Tau function, is a number-theoretic function that counts the positive divisors of an integer n. It is represented by the symbol $\tau(n)$. In the prime factorization of n, it can be written as the product of one and the exponent of each prime factor. The Tau function can be found mathematically for a positive integer n with prime factorization $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} \cdots p_k^{a_k}$, where p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_k are distinct prime numbers and a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_k are positive integers representing the exponents. Then $\tau(n) = (a_1 + 1)(a_2 + 1) \cdots (a_k + 1)$.

Numerous branches of number theory, such as the study of perfect numbers, integer sequences, and cryptography, employ the Tau function. In conclusion, the Tau function counts the number of prime factors, while prime factorization is the process of breaking down a positive integer into its prime factors.

3. Properties of Divisor Prime Graph

The divisior prime graph presents a pictorial view of the relation between the positive divisors of a natural number n. We expect that the investigation of the theoretical properties of these graphs can help to determine some number theoretic properties of these numbers.

In this section, we discuss some properties of the divisor prime graph $PG_D(n)$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ like diameter, girth, radius, clique number, planarity, etc.

Let us start the with the formal definition of the divisor prime graph PG_{D_n} .

Definition 3.1. (Divisor Prime Graph)[12]

Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and $D(n) = \{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+ : m|n\}$. The divisor prime graph $PG_D(n)$ is defined as a graph with the vertex set D(n) and any two vertices x and y are adjacent in $PG_D(n)$ if gcd(x, y) = 1.

Example 3.1. The divisor prime graphs for n = 10, 11, 12 are shown in figure 1.



FIGURE 1. (a) $PG_D(10)$ (b) $PG_D(11)$ (c) $PG_D(12)$

Theorem 3.1. [12] For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $PG_D(n)$ is connected.

Proof. Since for every $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $1 \in D(n)$ and gcd(1, d) = 1 for all $d \in D(n)$, so the vertex 1 is adjacent to every vertex d in D(n). Hence $PG_D(n)$ is connected for all n.

Theorem 3.2. [12] For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$,

 $\Delta(PG_D(n)) = \tau(n) - 1 \quad and \quad \delta(PG_D(n)) = 1.$

Moreover, $\Delta(PG_D(n)) = \delta(PG_D(n))$ if n = 1 or n is a prime.

Proof. For every $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, let $\tau(n)$ is the number of divisor of n. The vertex 1 is adjacent to all the vertices $d \neq 1$ of $PG_D(n)$ and we have $deg(1) = \tau(n) - 1$, which is maximum possible degree for any graph with $\tau(n)$ vertices. Thus $\Delta(PG_D(n)) = \tau(n) - 1$.

Also $gcd(n, d) \neq 1$ for all divisors $d \neq 1$ of n and gcd(n, 1) = 1, so n is adjacent only to 1 and since $PG_D(n)$ is connected so there is no isolated vertex. Thus $\delta(PG_D(n)) = 1$.

Since for *n* prime $PG_D(n) \cong K_2$, thus $\Delta(PG_D(n)) = \delta(PG_D(n))$.

Theorem 3.3. [12] $PG_D(n)$ is non-eulerian for all n.

Theorem 3.4. For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $Diam(PG_D(n)) \leq 2$.

Proof. If n = 1 then $PG_D(n) \cong K_1$ and $Diam(PG_D(n)) = 0$. If n is prime then $PG_D(n) \cong K_2$ and $Diam(PG_D(n)) = 1$.

It is clear from theorem **3.1** that for composite n, any two non adjacent vertices u and v in $PG_D(n), u - 1 - v$ is always the shortest u - v-path. So $Diam(PG_D(n)) = 2$. So we can conclude that $Diam(PG_D(n)) \leq 2$.

Theorem 3.5. For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $rad(PG_D(n)) = 1$.

Proof. Since $PG_D(n)$ is connected and $Diam(PG_D(n)) \leq 2$ by theorems **3.1** and **3.4**, the ecentricity $1 \leq e(v) \leq 2$, $\forall v \in V(PG_D(n))$, therefore $rad(PG_D(n)) = min\{e(v) : v \in V(PG_D(n))\} = 1$.

Theorem 3.6. For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, let k be the number of distinct prime divisors of n, then $cl(PG_D(n)) = k + 1.$

Proof. Let p_i , i = 1, 2, ..., k be the distinct prime divisors of n. Since for distinct i and j, $gcd(p_i, p_j) = 1$, so p_i adjacent p_j . Thus the vertices $1, p_1, p_2, ..., p_k$ induced a complete subgraph of order k + 1.

Let $v = p_i p_j$ be a vertex of $PG_D(n)$, then $gcd(v, p_i) \neq 1$, $gcd(v, p_j) \neq 1$ but $gcd(v, p_r) = 1$, $\forall r \neq i, j$ which implies that the vertex v adjacent to all $p_r, r \neq i, j$. So the vertices $1, p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_{i-1}, p_{i+1}, \ldots, p_{j-1}, p_{j+1}, \ldots, p_k, v$ will induce a complete subgraph of order k. That is any set of vertices more than k + 1 cannot induce a complete graph. Thus the complete subgraph induced by the vertices $1, p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_k$ is the maximal clique in $PG_D(n)$. Hence $cl(PG_D(n)) = k + 1$.

Theorem 3.7. For all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $girth(PG_D(n)) = 3$ or ∞ .

Proof. If n = 1 then $girth(PG_D(n)) = \infty$. If n is prime then $PG_D(n) \cong K_2$ and $girth(PG_D(n)) = \infty$. If $n = p^k$ where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, then $PG_D(n) \cong K_{1,\tau(n)-1}$ and so $girth(PG_D(n)) = \infty$. If n has more than one prime divisors, it is clear from theorem **3.6** that $PG_D(n)$ always contain a cycle of length 3. So $girth(PG_D(n)) = 3$. So we can conclude that $girth(PG_D(n)) = 3$ or ∞ . We obtained some counter examples to the statement in *Theorem 2.5* given by Nair and Kapur in [12]. So we modified the theorem and provided a proof and an example supporting our result.

Theorem 3.8. For any $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, if $n = p_1 p_2 \cdots p_k$, then $PG_D(n) - n$ can not be a complete graph.

Proof. For $n = p_1 p_2 \cdots p_k$,

 $D(n) = \{1, p_1, p_2, \cdots, p_k, p_1 p_2, \cdots p_1 p_k, p_1 p_2, \dots, p_{k-1}, p_1 p_2, p_1 p_2 \dots p_k\}.$ So $V(PG_D(n)) - n = \{1, p_1, p_2, \cdots, p_k, p_1 p_2, \cdots p_1 p_k, p_1 p_2 \dots, p_{k-1}, \cdots p_2, p_2 \dots p_k\}.$

The vertices $1, p_1, p_2, \dots, p_k$ will induce a complete subgraph. But the vertex set of the graph contains more vertices in the form of product of primes. These vertices are adjacent to vertex 1 as well as to some of the vertices of p_1, p_2, \dots, p_k but not to all. Hence $PG_D(n) - n$ is not a complete graph.



FIGURE 2. (a) $PG_D(30)$ (b) $PG_D(30) - 30$

Following the theorems **3.6 and 3.8** finally we can give the following result.

Theorem 3.9. Let $n_1 = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$ and $n_2 = q_1^{\alpha_1} q_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots q_k^{\alpha_k}$, then $PG_D(n_1) \cong PG_D(n_2)$. *Proof.* Since $n_1 = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$ and $n_2 = q_1^{\alpha_1} q_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots q_k^{\alpha_k}$, so $\tau(n_1) = \tau(n_2) = (\alpha_1 + 1)(\alpha_2 + 1) \cdots (\alpha_k + 1)$.

That is $|V(PG_D(n_1))| = |V(PG_D(n_2))|.$

Let us consider the mapping $f: D(n_1) \to D(n_2)$ defined by

$$f(p_1^{r_1}p_2^{r_2}\cdots p_k^{r_k}) = q_1^{r_1}q_2^{r_2}\cdots q_k^{r_k}$$

where $0 \leq r_i \leq \alpha_i$ for each $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$.

So f is a one-one correspondence from $D(n_1)$ onto $D(n_2)$, *i.e.* f is a one-one correspondence from $V(PG_D(n_1))$ onto $V(PG_D(n_2))$.

It is now sufficient to prove that f preserves the adjacency from $PG_D(n_1)$ to $PG_D(n_2)$ *i.e.* $(a,b) \in E(PG_D(n_1)) \Leftrightarrow (f(a), f(b)) \in E(PG_D(n_2)).$

If possible, let $(a, b) \in E(PG_D(n_1))$ but $(f(a), f(b)) \notin E(PG_D(n_2))$.

Then there exists at least one q_i such that $q_i | \operatorname{gcd}(f(a), f(b))$

 $\Rightarrow q_i | f(a) \text{ and } q_i | f(b)$ $\Rightarrow \exists p_i \text{ such that } f(p_i) = q_i \text{ and } p_i | a \text{ and } p_i | b$ $\Rightarrow p_i | \gcd(a, b)$

which is a contradiction to the fact that $(a, b) \in E(PG_D(n_1))$.

Thus $(a,b) \in E(PG_D(n_1)) \Leftrightarrow (f(a), f(b)) \in E(PG_D(n_2))$ for all $a, b \in V(PG_D(n_1))$. Hence $PG_D(n_1) \cong PG_D(n_2)$.

Theorem 3.10. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ then $PG_D(n)$ is planar if n is any one of the following form p^k , p^kq , p^2q^2 or pqr, where p, q, r are primes and k is nonzero positive integer.

Proof. If n = 1 then $PG_D(n)$ is trivial and so is planar.

If n is prime then $PG_D(n) \cong K_2$ and $PG_D(n)$ is planar.

If $n = p^k$ where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, then $PG_D(n) \cong K_{1,\tau(n)-1}$ and so $PG_D(n)$ is planar as shown in figure **3(a)**.

If $n = p^k q$, the vertices are $1, p, p^2, p^3, \dots p^{k-1}, p^k, q, pq, p^2q, p^3q, \dots p^{k-1}q, p^kq$ and the graph $PG_D(n)$ which is clearly a planar graph as shown in figure **3(b)**.

If $n = p^2 q^2$, $1, p, p^2, q, q^2, pq, p^2 q, pq^2, p^2 q^2$ are the only vertices and from the figure **4(a)** it is clear that the graph $PG_D(n)$ is planar graph.

If n = pqr, the vertices are 1, p, q, r, pq, qr, pr, and pqr and the graph $PG_D(n)$ which is clearly a planar graph as shown in figure **4(b)**.

If $n = p^3 q^2$, then the vertices $1, p, p^2, p^3, q, q^2$ together give $K_{3,3}$ as a induced subgraph of $PG_D(p^3q^2)$ because of which we can conclude that the graph $PG_D(p^3q^2)$ is not a planar graph. Thus for all $n = p^i q^j \forall i, j > 2$ the graph $PG_D(p^i q^j)$ is not a planar graph.

If $n = p^2 qr$, then the vertices $1, p, p^2, q, r$ together give the induce subgraph K_5 of $PG_D(p^2 qr)$ and so the graph $PG_D(p^2 qr)$ is not a planar graph. Thus for all $n = p^i q^j r^k \quad \forall i, j, k > 1$ the graph $PG_D(p^i q^j r^k)$ is not a planar graph.



FIGURE 4. (a) $PG_D(p^2q^2)$ (b) $PG_D(pqr)$

It is clear from theorem **3.6** that if *n* has more than 3 distinct prime factors than $PG_D(n)$ has a clique of order greater than 4. Which implies that $PG_D(n)$ for *n* with more than 3 prime factors is not planar.

Hence we can conclude that $PG_D(n)$ is planar only for the values $n = 1, p^k, p^k q, p^2 q^2$ and pqr, where p, q, r are distinct primes and k is a nonzero positive integer.

Theorem 3.11. For any $n = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$, $\chi(PG_D(n)) = k + 1$ where $\alpha_i \ge 0$.

Proof. We know that for any graph G, $cl(G) \leq \chi(G)$. From theorem **3.6** it is clear that $k+1 = cl(PG_D(n)) \leq \chi(PG_D(n)).$

Let us assign k + 1 colors to the vertices $1, p_1, p_2, \cdots p_k$ of the maximal clique. Any of the remaining vertices, say d, will have at least one of the primes $p_1, p_2, \cdots p_k$ as a factor, say p_i . Then $gcd(d, p_i) = p_i$ and so $(d, p_i) \notin E(PG_D(n))$. Thus d can be assigned with the same color assigned to p_i . Let d_i and d_j be any two vertices such that $p_i|d_i$ and $p_j|d_j$, then they can be assigned the colors of p_i and p_j respectively. Now let d be a vertex such that $p_i p_j | d$ then d is not adjacent to any of p_i , p_j , d_i and d_j , so we can assign any one color from these vertices to the vertex d. Proceeding with the same argument we can have a proper (k + 1)- coloring of $PG_D(n)$. Thus $\chi(PG_D(n)) \leq k+1$. Hence we can conclude that $\chi(PG_D(n)) = k+1$. \Box

Theorem 3.12. Let $n = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$ and $\alpha_r = max\{\alpha_i : 1 \le i \le k\}$. Then

$$\beta_0(PG_D(n)) = (\tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}) - 1)(\tau(n/p_r^{\alpha_r})).$$

Proof. Here $n = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$ and $\alpha_r = max\{\alpha_i : 1 \le i \le k\}$. It is easy to see that each of the sets $I_i = \{p_i^s d : 1 \le s \le \alpha_i, d | \Pi_{j \ne i} p_j\}$ is an independent set of $PG_D(n)$. The number of elements in I_i is given by

$$|I_i| = \tau(n) - (\tau(n/p_i^{\alpha_i})) = (\tau(p_i^{\alpha_i}) - 1)\tau(n/p_i^{\alpha_i}).$$

To prove the result it is sufficient to show that

$$|I_r| = max\{|I_i| : 1 \le i \le k\} = (\tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}) - 1)\tau(n/p_r^{\alpha_r}).$$
Now for $1 \le i \le k$ and $i \ne r$, $\tau(p_i^{\alpha_i}) < \tau(p_r^{\alpha_r})$
 $\Rightarrow \tau(p_i^{\alpha_i}n') < \tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}n')$, where $n' = \prod_{j \ne i,r} p_j$
 $\Rightarrow \tau(n) - \tau(p_i^{\alpha_i}n') > \tau(n) - \tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}n')$
 $\Rightarrow \tau(n) - \tau(n/p_r^{\alpha_r}) > \tau(n) - \tau(n/p_i^{\alpha_i})$
 $\Rightarrow (\tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}) - 1)\tau(n/p_r^{\alpha_r}) > (\tau(p_i^{\alpha_i}) - 1)\tau(n/p_i^{\alpha_i})$
 $\Rightarrow |I_r| > |I_i| \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le k \text{ and } i \ne r$
 $\Rightarrow |I_r| = max\{|I_i| : 1 \le i \le k\}$
Hence $\beta_0(PG_D(n)) = (\tau(p_r^{\alpha_r}) - 1)\tau(n/p_r^{\alpha_r}).$

Theorem 3.13. $PG_D(n)$ is non-hamiltonian for all n.

Proof. $PG_D(n)$ is non-hamiltonian as deg(n) = 1 in $PG_D(n)$ and there can not exists any hamiltonian cycle in $PG_D(n)$.

A subset D of V is a dominating set for a graph G = (V, E) if every vertex in V - D is adjacent to at least one member of D. The domination number $\gamma(G)$ is the size of a smallest dominating set for G.

Theorem 3.14. Domination number of $PG_D(n)$ is 1 for all n.

Proof. It is clear from the definition that for the set $D = 1 \subset V(PG_D(n))$, every vertex $v \in V(PG_D(n)) - 1$ is adjacent to 1. That is 1 is a dominating set for $PG_D(n)$ and is the smallest dominating set. Hence $\gamma(PG_D(n)) = 1$.

A subset C of V is a dominating cut vertex set for a graph G = (V, E) if G - C is either a disconnected graph or a trivial graph. The point connectivity $\kappa(G)$ is the size of a smallest cut vertex set for G. A subset C' of E is a cut set for a graph G = (V, E) if G - C' is a disconnected graph. The line connectivity $\lambda(G)$ is the size of a smallest cut set for G.

Theorem 3.15. Both point and line connectivity of $PG_D(n)$ is 1 for all n.

Proof. It is clear from the definition of $PG_D(n)$ that $PG_D(n) - 1$ is a disconnected graph, so $\kappa(PG_D(n)) = 1$. Also $PG_D(n) - (1, n)$ is always disconnected, so $\lambda(PG_D(n)) = 1$. \Box

Theorem 3.16. For all prime p, $Den(PG_D(p)) = 1$.

Proof. Since for every prime
$$p, PG_D(p) \cong K_2$$
 so $Den(PG_D(p)) = 1$.

Theorem 3.17. For all prime p and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \ge 0$, $Den(PG_D(p^k)) = \frac{2}{k+1}$.

Proof. For $n = p^k$, $PG_D(p^k)$ has k + 1 vertices and k edges. So $Den(PG_D(p^k)) = \frac{k}{k+1C_2} = \frac{k}{\{(k+1)k\}/2} = \frac{2}{k+1}$.

Theorem 3.18. Let $n = p_1^{\alpha_1} p_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots p_k^{\alpha_k}$ then $Den(PG_D(n)) = \frac{\sum_{d_i \mid n} \tau(\frac{n}{d_i})}{2 \cdot \tau^{(n)} C_2}$.

Proof. For each divisor d_i of n, $deg(d_i) = \tau(\frac{n}{d_i})$. So $o(E(PG_D(n))) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{d_i \mid n} \tau\left(\frac{n}{d_i}\right)$. Hence $Den(PG_D(n)) = \frac{\sum_{d_i \mid n} \tau(\frac{n}{d_i})}{2 \cdot \tau^{(n)} C_2}$.

4. CONCLUSION

In this study, we have investigated the nature and characteristics of the divisor prime graph. The adjacency, diameter, radius, clique number, chromatic number, planarity, connectivity, independence number, and domination number features of the divisor prime graph have also been investigated. Since this is a preliminary investigation of divisor prime graphs, the reader may be thinking about various issues. Studying the energy and distance eigenvalues of the divisor prime graph can reveal some potential problems.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank the referee for their useful comments and their helpful suggestions that have helped to improve the quality of this paper.

S. KALITA AND M. DUTTA

References

- Anderson, D. D., & Naseer, M. (1993). Beck's coloring of a commutative ring. Journal of Algebra, 159(2), 500–514.
- [2] Anderson, D. F., & Livingston, P. S. (1999). The zero-divisor graph of a commutative ring. Journal of Algebra, 217(2), 434–447.
- Berizbeitia P. & Giudici R. E.(1996). Counting pure k-cycles in sequences of Cayley graphs, Discrete Math., 149, 11–18.
- [4] Burton D. M. (2006). Elementary number theory. McGraw-Hill Education.
- [5] Chalapathi T., Madhavi L. & Venkataramana.(2013). Enumeration of Triangles in a Divisor Cayley Graph. Momona Ethiopian Journal of Science, 5(1), 163–173.
- [6] Chartrand G., Muntean R., Saenpholphat V. & Zhang P. (2001). Which Graphs Are Divisor Graphs?. Congr. Numer., 151, 189–200.
- [7] Dejter I. & Giudici R. E. (1995). On unitary Cayley graphs, JCMCC, 18, 121-124.
- [8] Frayer C. (2003). Properties of Divisor graphs. Rose-Hulman Undergraduate Mathematics Journal, 4(2),article id: 2.
- [9] Gursoy A., Kircali Gursoy N., Oner T., & Senturk I. (2021). An alternative construction of graphs by associating with algorithmic approach on MV-algebras. Soft Computing, 25(21), 13201-13212.
- [10] Harary F., (1969). Graph Theory. Addison Wesley Publishing Company.
- [11] Madhavi L. & Maheswari B.(2010). Enumeration of Hamilton cycles and Triangles in Euler Totient Cayley graphs., Graph Theory Notes of NewYork, LIX, 28–31.
- [12] Nair S. M., Kumar J. S. (2022). Divisor Prime Graph. J. Math. Comput. Sci., 12, Article ID: 112
- [13] Nathanson & Melvyn B.(1980). Connected components of arithmetic graphs, Monat. fur. Math, 29, 219-220.
- [14] Patra K., Kalita S. (2014) Prime graph of the commutative ring Z_n. Malays. J. Ind. Appl. Math. 30, 59-67.
- [15] Singh G. S. & Santhosh G., Divisor Graphs I. Preprint.
- [16] Tsao Yu-ping, A Simple Research of Divisor Graphs. The 29th Workshop on Combinatorial Mathematics and Computation Theory.
- [17] Vinh L. A. (2006) . Divisor graphs have arbitrary order and size, AWOCA, .

¹Department of Mathematics, Assam Don Bosco University, Tapesia Garden, Sonapur - 782402, Kamrup, Assam, India

²Department of Mathematics, Dudhnoi College, Dudhnoi-783124, Goalpara, Assam, India



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:55-73 E-ISSN: 2636-7467

www.simadp.com/journalmim

STUDY OF BI-F-HARMONIC CURVES ALONG RIEMANNIAN MAP

BUDDHADEV PAL D*, MAHENDRA KUMAR D, AND SANTOSH KUMAR D

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we study bi-f-harmonic curves and helices along the Riemannian map. We find that, if a totally umbilical Riemannian map takes a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve to bi-f-harmonic curve, then the map is totally geodesic. Then, we discuss the mean curvature vector field for horizontal bi-harmonic curves through Riemannian maps. In addition, we obtain the condition for the curvature of helix along isotropic Riemannian map. **Keywords**: Bi-f-harmonic curve, bi-harmonic curve, helix, Riemannian map, totally geodesic Riemannian map.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53B20, 53C42, 53C43, 58E20.

1. INTRODUCTION

In 1964, J. Eells and J. H. Sampson [5], introduced the concept of bi-harmonic maps by generalizing the harmonic maps. Harmonic maps are the generalization of geodesics, minimal surfaces and harmonic functions. Harmonic maps have important applications in different fields of mathematics and physics with nonlinear partial differential equations. A harmonic map $\alpha : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ between the Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) is a critical point of the energy functional,

$$E(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_M} |d\alpha|^2 v_{g_M},$$

Received:2024.04.24

Revised:2024.06.22

Accepted:2024.09.09

Buddhadev Pal & pal.buddha@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1407-1016 Mahendra Kumar & mahenderabhu@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9700-3619 Santosh Kumar & thakursantoshbhu@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0571-9631.

^{*} Corresponding author

where Γ_M is some compact domain of M and $\tau(\alpha) = Trace_{g_M} \nabla d\alpha$ is tension field of α . The harmonic map equation is an Euler-Lagrange equation of the functional $\tau(\varphi) \equiv Trace_{g_M} \nabla d\varphi = 0$, where $\tau(\varphi) = Trace_{g_M} \nabla d\varphi$ is a tension field of φ [5]. A bi-harmonic map α between the Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) is a critical point of the bi-energy functional, $E_2(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_M} |\tau(\alpha)|^2 v_{g_M}$, where Γ_M is a compact domain of M. The bi-harmonic map equation is an Euler-Lagrange equation of the functional,

$$\tau_2(\alpha) \equiv Trace_{g_M}(\nabla^{\alpha}\nabla^{\alpha} - \nabla^{\alpha}_{\nabla^M})\tau(\alpha) - Trace_{g_M}R^N(d\alpha, \tau(\alpha))d\alpha = 0,$$

where $R^N = [\nabla_X^N, \nabla_Y^N]Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]}^N Z$, is a Riemann curvature tensor (N, g_N) [10]. In 1991 [4], the author introduced the bi-harmonic submanifolds of Euclidean space and stated a conjecture " any bi-harmonic submanifold of Euclidean space is harmonic, thus minimal". If the definition of bi-harmonic maps for Riemannian immersion in Euclidean space is used, then the Chen's definition of a bi-harmonic submanifold coincides with the definition given by the bi-energy functional.

Bi-f-harmonic maps are the generalization of harmonic maps, f-harmonic maps and biharmonic maps. There are two methods to formalize the link between bi-harmonic maps and f-harmonic maps. For the first type of formalization, the authors extended the bi-energy functional in [20, 26] to the bi-f-energy functional and obtained bi-f-harmonic maps. For the second formalization, the f-energy functional is extended to the f-bi-energy functional. In [13], the author introduced the f-bi-harmonic maps by generalizing the bi-harmonic maps. A smooth map between Riemannian manifolds is an f-bi-harmonic map if it is a critical point of the f-bi-energy function defined by the integral of f-times the square norm of the tension field, where f is a smooth function on the domain.

In 1992 [7], the author introduced the Riemannian maps between Riemannian manifolds. Isometric immersions and Riemannian submersions are particular cases of Riemannian maps. The theory of isometric immersions is one of the active research areas in differential geometry [1, 2, 3]. In [6], authors studied the characterization of submanifold by taking the hyperelastic curves along an immersion. The basic properties of Riemannian submersions were studied in [8, 15]. Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds such that $0 < rank\vartheta < min\{m, n\}$, where dimM = m and dimN = n. Then kernel space $(Ker\vartheta_*)$ of differential map ϑ_* and g_M -orthogonal component $((Ker\vartheta_*)^{\perp})$ at a point $p \in M$, are known as horizontal and vertical spaces, respectively. Thus, the tangent space T_pM of M at point p can be decomposed as $T_pM = Ker\vartheta_{*p} \oplus (Ker\vartheta_{*p})^{\perp}$. The range of ϑ_* and g_2 -orthogonal component at F(p) on N, are denoted by $range\vartheta_*$ and $(range\vartheta_*)^{\perp}$, respectively. Hence, the tangent space at F(p) on N, follows the decomposition

$$T_{F(p)}N = \operatorname{Range} \vartheta_{*p} \oplus (\operatorname{Range} \vartheta_{*p})^{\perp}.$$

A Riemannian map at a point $p \in M$ is a horizontal restriction

$$\vartheta^{h}_{*p}: \left((Ker\vartheta_{*p})^{\perp}, g_{M}(p)|_{(Ker\vartheta_{*p})^{\perp}} \right) \to (range\vartheta_{*p}) \,,$$

of smooth map $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$, such that $g_M(\vartheta_*S, \vartheta_*K) = g_N(S, K)$, where S and K are smooth sections of $\Gamma(Ker\vartheta_{*p})^{\perp}$ [7]. In [11, 12, 14, 18, 19, 22, 25], authors studied various types of curves such as circles, hyperelastic curves and proper curves with various maps such as immersion, embedding, Riemannian map and Clairaut Riemannian map.

We organize our paper as follows: Section 2 of this paper contains basic concepts about bi-f-harmonic curves and Riemannian maps. In section 3, we study the bi-f-harmonic curves and bi-harmonic curves through the Riemannian maps. We show that, if a totally umbilical Riemannian map takes a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve to bi-f-harmonic curves, then the map is totally geodesic. In the same section, conditions for the mean curvature vector field are obtained by taking horizontal bi-harmonic curves through Riemannian maps. In the final section, we study helix along the Riemannian maps.

2. Preliminaries

A bi-f-harmonic map $\alpha : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) is a critical point of bi-f-energy functional, $E_{2,f}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_M} |\tau_f(\alpha)|^2 v_{g_M}$, where Γ_M is a compact domain of M and an Euler-Lagrange equation of the functional is defined by

$$\tau_f^2(\alpha) \equiv f J^{\alpha}(\tau_f(\alpha)) - \nabla_{grad\alpha}^{\alpha} \tau_f(\alpha) = 0$$

where $\tau_f(\alpha)$ is the *f*-tension field of α and J^{α} is the Jacobi operator of the map defined by $J^{\alpha}(X) = -(Trace_{g_M} \nabla^{\alpha} \nabla^{\alpha} X - \nabla^{\alpha}_{\nabla^M} X - R^N(d\alpha, X)d\alpha)$ [17, 20]. A curve $\alpha : I \to M$ on (M, g_M) is a bi-f-harmonic curve if and only if α satisfies the condition

$$(ff''' + f'f'')X_1 + (3ff'' + 2f'^2)\nabla_{X_1}X_1 + 4ff'\nabla^2_{X_1}X_1 + f^2\nabla^3_{X_1}X_1 + f^2R(\nabla_{X_1}X_1, X_1)X_1 = 0,$$
(2.1)

where $f : I \to (0, \infty)$ is a smooth function, ∇ is a Levi-Civita connection and R is a Riemannian curvature tensor on M.

Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . Then a curve α on M is a horizontal curve if $\dot{\alpha}(t) \in (ker\vartheta_*)^{\perp}$ for every $t \in I$. If ∇^N is the Levi-Civita connection on (N, g_N) and $p_2 = \vartheta(p_1) \in N$, then the second fundamental form of ϑ is given by

$$(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,Y) = \nabla^N_X \vartheta_*(Y) - \vartheta_*(\nabla^M_X Y), \quad \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM),$$
(2.2)

where ∇^{ϑ} is the pullback connection of ∇^{N} [16]. The second fundamental form of a Riemannian map is symmetric and has no components in $range\vartheta_{*}$, that is $(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X,Y) \in (range\vartheta_{*})^{\perp}$, $\forall X, Y \in \Gamma((ker\vartheta_{*})^{\perp})$ [23]. The scalar product of the second fundamental form is

$$g_N((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,Y),\vartheta_*(Z)) = 0, \qquad (2.3)$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma((ker\vartheta_*)^{\perp})$. Now, if $X, Y \in \Gamma((kerV_*)^{\perp})$ and $V \in \Gamma((range\vartheta_*)^{\perp})$, then

$$\nabla^{N}_{\vartheta_{*}(X)}V = -S_{V}\vartheta_{*}(X) + \nabla^{F^{\perp}}_{X}V, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $S_V \vartheta_*(X)$ is the tangential component of $\nabla^N_{\vartheta_*(X)} V$. Since $(\nabla \vartheta_*)$ is symmetric and S_V is a symmetric linear transformation of $range \vartheta_*$, therefore

$$g_N(S_V\vartheta_*(X),\vartheta_*(Y)) = g_N(V,(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,Y)).$$
(2.5)

From equations (2.2) and (2.4), we get

$$R^{N}(\vartheta_{*}(X),\vartheta_{*}(Y))\vartheta_{*}(Z) = -S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(Y,Z)}\vartheta_{*}X + S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X,Z)}\vartheta_{*}Y + \vartheta_{*}(R^{M}(X,Y)Z) + (\tilde{\nabla}_{X}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(Y,Z) - (\tilde{\nabla}_{Y}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X,Z),$$
(2.6)

where $\tilde{\nabla}$ is the covariant derivative of the second fundamental form. The covariant derivative of $\nabla \vartheta_*$ and S are, respectively

$$(\tilde{\nabla}_X(\nabla\vartheta_*))(Y,Z) = \nabla_X^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(Y,Z) - (\nabla\vartheta_*)(\nabla_X^M Y,Z) - (\nabla\vartheta_*)(Y,\nabla_X^M Z),$$
(2.7)

and

$$(\tilde{\nabla}_X S)_V \vartheta_*(Y) = \vartheta_*(\nabla_X^M * \vartheta_*(S_V \vartheta_*(Y))) - S_{\nabla_X^{\vartheta^\perp} V} \vartheta_*(Y) - S_V Q \nabla_X^{\vartheta} \vartheta_*(Y),$$
(2.8)

where Q is a projection morphism on $range\vartheta_*$ and $*\vartheta_*$ is an adjoint map of ϑ_* . From (2.7) and (2.8), we obtain

$$g_N((\tilde{\nabla}_X(\nabla\vartheta_*))(Y,Z),V) = g_N((\tilde{\nabla}_XS)_V\vartheta_*(Y),\vartheta_*(Z)).$$
(2.9)

Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . Then ϑ is an umbilical Riemannian map if and only if

$$(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,Y) = g_M(X,Y)H_2, \qquad (2.10)$$

where $X, Y \in \Gamma((ker\vartheta_*)^{\perp})$ and H_2 is non zero vector field on $(range\vartheta_*)^{\perp}$ [21]. The Riemannian map $\vartheta: (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ is h-isotropic at $p \in M$ if

$$\mu(X) = \frac{||(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X, X)||}{||\vartheta_* X||^2}.$$
(2.11)

If the map is h-isotropic at every point, then the map is called h-isotropic. The map ϑ is h-isotropic at $p \in M$ if and only if $\nabla \vartheta_*$ satisfies the condition

$$g_N((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,X),(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X,Y)) = 0, \qquad (2.12)$$

for all orthogonal pair $X, Y \in \Gamma((ker\vartheta_*)^{\perp})$.

3. Characterization of bi-f-harmonic curves

Let $\alpha : I \to M$ be a curve in an *m*-dimensional Riemannian manifold M with an orthonormal frame $\{W_0, W_1, \dots, W_{m_1-1}\}$ in $\Gamma T M_1$, where $W_0 = T$, $W_1 = N$ and $W_2 = U$ are the unit tangent vector, the unit normal vector and the unit binormal vector of α , respectively. Then the Frenet equations are given by

$$\nabla_T W_j = -\kappa_j W_{j-1} + \kappa_{j+1} W_{j+1}, \qquad 0 \le j \le m-1, \tag{3.13}$$

where $\kappa_0 = \kappa_m = 0$, $\kappa_1 = \kappa = ||\nabla_T T||$ is curvature and $\tau = \kappa_2 = -\langle \nabla_T W_1, W_2 \rangle$ is torsion of α on M, respectively.

Next, we introduce the concept horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve

Definition 3.1. Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . Then a horizontal curve on M with (2.1) is said to be a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve on M.

Lemma 3.1. : Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a curve on N, where α is a horizontal curve

on M, then

$$\begin{aligned} (i) \qquad \bar{\nabla}^{3}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) &= -(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) + \vartheta_{*}(\nabla^{3}_{X_{1}}X_{1}) \\ &- \vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}{}^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - S_{\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) \\ &- S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) \\ &+ (\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}})^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1}) + (\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla^{2}_{X_{1}}X_{1}), \end{aligned}$$
(3.14)

$$(ii) \qquad \bar{R}(\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1))\vartheta_*(X_1) = -S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1) +S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(\nabla_{X_1}X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + \vartheta_*(R(\nabla_{X_1}X_1,X_1)X_1) +(\tilde{\nabla}_{\nabla_{X_1}X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1) - (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(\nabla_{X_1}X_1,X_1), \qquad (3.15)$$

where ∇ and $\overline{\nabla}$ are the Levi-Civita connections of M and N.

Proof. Let α be a horizontal curve with curvature κ on Riemannian manifold M and $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a curve with curvature $\bar{\kappa}$ on N. Then a vector field $\vartheta_*(X_1)$ along $\bar{\alpha}$ is defined by

$$\vartheta_*(X_1) = \vartheta_{*\alpha} X_1, \tag{3.16}$$

for all vector field $X_1(s) = X_1$ along $\alpha(s) = \alpha$.

(i) From (2.2) and (2.4), we have

$$\bar{\nabla}^{2}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) = \bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}((\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1}) + \vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1})) \qquad (3.17)$$

$$= -S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})$$

$$+ (\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + \vartheta_{*}(\nabla^{2}_{X_{1}}X_{1}). \qquad (3.18)$$

Taking covariant derivative of (3.18) and using (2.2) and (2.4), we get the required condition. (*ii*) From (2.6) and (2.2), we get the required equation.

Lemma 3.2. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a bi-f-harmonic curve on N, where α is a horizontal curve on M, then $(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) = 0$ and

$$ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2 = 4ff'||(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2 + \frac{3}{2}f^2\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}||(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2.$$

Proof. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map such that α is a horizontal curve on M and $\bar{\alpha}$ is a bi-f-harmonic curve on N, then we have

$$(ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_*(X_1) + (3ff'' + 2f'^2)\bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + 4ff'\bar{\nabla}^2_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + f^2\bar{\nabla}^3_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + f^2\bar{R}(\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1))\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0.$$
(3.19)

From Lemma 3.1 and (3.19), we have

$$(ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) + (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + f^{2}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) - f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) - 4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'\nabla_{X_{1}}^{F^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + 4ff'\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) - f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, ^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - f^{2}S_{\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) + f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{3}X_{1}) - f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}, X_{1})X_{1}) + f^{2}(\nabla\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) - f^{2}(\nabla\nabla_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}, X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.20)

The range ϑ_* , component of (3.20) is

$$f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{3}X_{1}) - f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}F_{*}(X_{1}))) - f^{2}S_{\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta_{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$

+
$$f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}) + (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + (ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$

-
$$4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) - f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.21)

From (2.8) and (2.7), we get

$$\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) = (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$

+
$$S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^F\vartheta_*(X_1),$$
(3.22)

and

$$(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) = \nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) - 2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1).$$
(3.23)

Substituting (3.22) and (3.23) in (3.21), we have

$$f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{3}X_{1}) - f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - 2f^{2}S_{\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta_{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) -f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_{1}}^{F}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}) + (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + (ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - 4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) -f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.24)

Using (2.7) in (3.24), we obtain

$$f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{3}X_{1}) - f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - 2f^{2}S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) -4f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}) +(3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + (ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - 4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) +4ff'\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) - f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.25)

Using Serret-Frenet equations of α in (3.25), we have

$$(ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2)\vartheta_*(X_1) + (\kappa''f^2 - \kappa^3f^2 - \kappa\tau^2f^2 + 3ff''\kappa +2f'^2\kappa + 4ff'\kappa')\vartheta_*(W_1) + f^2\vartheta_*(R(\kappa W_1, X_1)X_1) - 4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) -f^2S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(\kappa W_1) + (2\kappa'\tau f^2 + \kappa\tau'f^2 + 4ff'\kappa\tau)\vartheta_*(U_1) + \kappa\tau f^2\kappa_3\vartheta_*(W_3) -f^2(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - 2f^2S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) -4f^2S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \kappa W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - f^2S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0.$$
(3.26)

Taking inner product of (3.26) with $\vartheta_*(X_1)$, we get

$$ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2 - 6\kappa f^2 g_N((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1), (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)) -4ff'g_N((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1), (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)) = 2f^2 g_N(S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1), \vartheta_*(X_1)) -4f^2\kappa g_N(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1), \vartheta_*(X_1)) + f^2 g_N((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1), \vartheta_*(X_1)).$$
(3.27)

From equations (2.5), (2.7) and (2.9), we have

$$ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2 = 4ff'g_N((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1), (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)) +3f^2g_N(\nabla_{X_1}^{F^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1), (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)) = 4ff'||(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2 + \frac{3}{2}f^2\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}||(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2.$$
(3.28)

The $(range \vartheta_*)^{\perp}$, component of (3.20) is

$$(3ff'' + 2f'^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + f^{2}\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) + f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) - f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, ^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) + f^{2}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{*}, X_{*}) - f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}, X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.29)

Also from (2.7), we get

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2 (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2 (\nabla \vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) + 4\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}} (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1} X_1) -2(\nabla \vartheta_*)(\nabla_{X_1} X_1, \nabla_{X_1} X_1) - 2(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}^2 X_1)).$$
(3.30)

Substituting (3.30) in (3.29) and using (2.7), we obtain

$$(3ff'' + 2f'^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 12ff'(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + 4f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + 3f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}, \nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + 4f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, \nabla^{2}_{X_{1}}X_{1}) - f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, ^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) + f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}^{2}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.31)

Using Frenet equations in (3.31), we get

$$(12\kappa f f' + 4\kappa' f^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, W_{1}) + 4\kappa\tau f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, U_{1}) + 4\kappa f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, W_{1}) + 3\kappa^{2} f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(W_{1}, W_{1}) + \kappa f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) = f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, ^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}^{2}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + (4\kappa^{2} f^{2} - 3ff'' - 2f'^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}).$$
(3.32)

Replacing U_1 with $-U_1$ in equation (3.32), we have

$$(12\kappa ff' + 4\kappa' f^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, W_{1}) - 4\kappa\tau f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, U_{1}) + 4\kappa f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, W_{1}) + 3\kappa^{2} f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(W_{1}, W_{1}) + \kappa f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + 4ff'(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) = f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, ^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}^{2}_{X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1}, X_{1}) + (4\kappa^{2} f^{2} - 3ff'' - 2f'^{2})(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1}, X_{1}).$$
(3.33)

Subtracting equation (3.33) from equation (3.32), we have

$$(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) = 0. \tag{3.34}$$

Theorem 3.1. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a totally geodesic Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a bi-f-harmonic curve on N and α is a horizontal curve with curvature κ on M, then

$$ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2 = 0.$$
(3.35)

Proof. Using the fact that ϑ is a totally geodesic Riemannian map in equation (3.28), we get the required condition.

Corollary 3.1. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be an isotropic Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a bi-f-harmonic curve on N, where α is horizontal curve with curvature κ and constant f on M, then α is a curve of constant curvature on M.

Proof. Since ϑ is an isotropic Riemannian map, therefore from (3.28), we have

$$ff''' + f'f'' - 3\kappa\kappa'f^2 - 4ff'\kappa^2 = 4ff'||(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2$$
(3.36)

Also, f is a constant, therefore from (3.36), we get $\kappa = C(constant)$.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If ϑ is a totally umbilical Riemannian map taking a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve α on M to a bi-f-harmonic curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N, then ϑ is a totally geodesic Riemannian map.

Conversely, a totally geodesic Riemannian map takes a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve α on M to a bi-f-harmonic curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N.

Proof. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a totally umbilical Riemannian map taking a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve α on M to a bi-f-harmonic curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N, then from (3.31), we have

$$f^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) = (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})H_{2} + 4ff'\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}H_{2}$$
$$f^{2}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^{2}H_{2} - \kappa^{2}f^{2}H_{2} + f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*}))(X_{1},X_{1}).$$
(3.37)

Substituting (3.37) in (3.20), we have

$$f^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) = -4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$
$$-f^{2}S_{\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta_{1}}H_{2}}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) - \kappa f^{2}||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(W_{1}).$$
(3.38)

64

INT. J. MAPS MATH. (2025) 8(1):55-73 / BI-F-HARMONIC CURVES ALONG RIEMANNIAN MAP 65 Since $S_{(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1) = \kappa ||H_2||^2\vartheta_*(W_1)$, therefore from (3.22) and (3.38), we have

$$f^{2}(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_{1}}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 2f^{2}S_{\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \kappa f^{2}||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(W_{1}) = 0,$$
(3.39)

where

$$\begin{split} (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) &= \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp}||H_2||^2\vartheta_*(X_1), \\ S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp}H_2}\vartheta_*(X_1) &= \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp}||H_2||^2\vartheta_*(X_1), \end{split}$$

and

$$S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) = ||H_2||^2\vartheta_*(X_1).$$

Thus from (3.39), we have

$$\frac{3}{2}f^{2}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}||H_{2}||^{2})\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 2f^{2}||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + 4ff'||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) = 0.$$
(3.40)

Taking the inner product of (3.40) with $\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1)$, we have

$$||H_2|| = 0 \implies H_2 = 0. \tag{3.41}$$

Hence ϑ is a totally geodesic Riemannian map.

Conversely, suppose that ϑ is a totally geodesic Riemannian map, then we have

$$(ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + (3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'\bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}^{2}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$

+ $f^{2}\bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}^{3}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\bar{R}(\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}),\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) = (ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$
+ $(3ff'' + 2f'^{2})\nabla_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + 4ff'\nabla_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}^{2}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + f^{2}\nabla_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}^{3}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$
+ $f^{2}R(\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}),\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}).$ (3.42)

Since α is a horizontal bi-f-harmonic curve on M, therefore

$$(ff''' + f'f'')\vartheta_*(X_1) + (3ff'' + 2f'^2)\bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + 4ff'\bar{\nabla}^2_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + f^2\bar{\nabla}^3_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + f^2\bar{R}(\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1))\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0.$$
(3.43)

Hence $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a bi-f-harmonic curve on N.

3.1. Characterization of bi-harmonic curves. A bi-harmonic curve (bi-1-harmonic curve) is a special case of bi-f-harmonic curve for f = 1. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) such that $\bar{\alpha}$ is a bi-harmonic curve on N, then

$$\bar{\nabla}^3_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + \bar{R}(\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1))\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0.$$

Taking f = 1 in (3.26) and (3.32), we have

$$-3\kappa\kappa'\vartheta_*(X_1) + (\kappa'' - \kappa^3 - \kappa\tau^2)\vartheta_*(W_1) + \vartheta_*(R(\kappa W_1, X_1)X_1)$$

$$-S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(\kappa W_1) + (2\kappa'\tau + \kappa\tau')\vartheta_*(U_1) + \kappa\tau\kappa_3\vartheta_*(W_3)$$

$$-(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - 2S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$

$$-4S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \kappa W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^\vartheta\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0, \qquad (3.44)$$

and

$$4\kappa'(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1) + 4\kappa\tau(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) + 4\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, W_1) + 3\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(W_1, W_1) + \kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) = 4\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) - (\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) + (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, ^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))),$$
(3.45)

respectively.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a totally umbilical Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a bi-harmonic curve on N and α is a horizontal bi-harmonic curve on M, then the mean curvature vector field satisfies the relations

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2 H_2 = ||H_2||^2 H_2 + \kappa^2 H_2, \tag{3.46}$$

and

$$2\kappa ||H_2||^2 = \kappa'' - \kappa^3 - \kappa\tau^2 + \kappa g_M(R(W_1, X_1)X_1, W_1).$$
(3.47)

Conversely, let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a totally umbilical Riemannian map and mean curvature vector field satisfies the following conditions

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2 H_2 = ||H_2||^2 H_2 + \kappa^2 H_2, \nabla_{W_1}^{F^{\perp}} H = 2||H_2||^2 \vartheta_* W_1,$$
(3.48)

and $||H_2||^2 = constant$. Then ϑ maps a horizontal bi-harmonic curve α on M to a bi-harmonic curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N.

Proof. Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a totally umbilical bi-harmonic Riemannian map between M and N, then from (3.45), we have

$$4\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,W_1) - \kappa^2 H_2 + \kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1)$$

= $-(\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1) + (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))).$ (3.49)

Replacing W_1 with $-W_1$ in equation (3.49), we get

$$-4\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,W_1) - \kappa^2 H_2 - \kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1)$$

$$= -(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1) + (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))).$$
(3.50)

Subtracting (3.49) from (3.50), we obtain

$$4\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,W_1) + \kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{W_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1) = 0.$$
(3.51)

From equations (3.49) and (3.51), we get

$$(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1) - (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) - \kappa^2 H_2 = 0.$$
(3.52)

From (2.5) and (2.10), we have

$$(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) = (\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2 H_2,$$
(3.53)

and

$$(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, {}^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) = ||H_2||^2 H_2.$$
(3.54)

Equations (3.52), (3.53) and (3.54), gives the first condition.

Now, taking the inner product of (3.44) with $\vartheta_*(W_1)$, we have

$$g_N((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) + g_N(4S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,\kappa W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1))$$

$$-g_N(\vartheta_*(R(\kappa W_1,X_1)X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) + g_N(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(\kappa W_1),\vartheta_*(W_1))$$

$$-\kappa'' + \kappa^3 + \kappa\tau^2 + g_N(2S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1))$$

$$+g_N(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^\vartheta\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) = 0.$$
(3.55)

Since ϑ is a totally umbilical Riemannian map, therefore

$$\begin{cases} g_N((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) = 0, \\ g_N(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(\kappa W_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) = \kappa ||H_2||^2, \\ g_N(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(W_1)) = \kappa ||H_2||^2. \end{cases}$$
(3.56)
From equation (3.55) and (3.56), we get the required condition.

Conversely, suppose that ϑ is a totally umbilical Riemannian map, then for a curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N, where α is a curve on M, we have

$$\bar{\nabla}^{3}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \bar{R}(\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}),\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) = -||H_{2}||^{2}H_{2}$$

$$-\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}^{*}\vartheta_{*}(||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) - \frac{1}{2}(\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}}||H_{2}||^{2})\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$

$$+(\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}})^{2}H_{2} - \kappa^{2}H_{2} - \kappa||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(W_{1}) + \kappa\nabla^{F^{\perp}}_{W_{1}}H_{2}$$

$$+\vartheta_{*}(\nabla^{3}_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + \vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}).$$
(3.57)

Taking $||H||^2 = constant$ in equation (3.57), we have

$$\bar{\nabla}^{3}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \bar{R}(\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}),\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) = -||H_{2}||^{2}H_{2}$$

$$+(\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_{1}})^{2}H_{2} - \kappa^{2}H_{2} - 2\kappa||H_{2}||^{2}\vartheta_{*}(W_{1}) + \kappa\nabla^{F^{\perp}}_{W_{1}}H_{2}$$

$$+\vartheta_{*}(\nabla^{3}_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + \vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}). \qquad (3.58)$$

Using equation (3.48) in (3.58), we get

$$\bar{\nabla}^{3}_{\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}) + \bar{R}(\vartheta_{*}(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}),\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))\vartheta_{*}(X_{1})$$
$$= \vartheta_{*}(\nabla^{3}_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + \vartheta_{*}(R(\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1},X_{1})X_{1}).$$
(3.59)

Hence, from equation (3.59), we can say that the curve $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N is bi-harmonic curve on N iff α is a horizontal bi-harmonic curve on M.

4. Helices along the Riemannian map

A regular curve $\alpha = \alpha(s)$ parametrized by arc length s is an ordinary helix if their exist unit vector fields W_1 and U_1 along α and constants κ and τ ($\kappa, \tau \ge 0$) such that

$$\begin{cases} \nabla_{X_1} X_1 = \kappa W_1, \\ \nabla_{X_1} W_1 = -\kappa X_1 + \tau U_1, \\ \nabla_{X_1} U_1 = -\tau W_1, \end{cases}$$
(4.60)

where κ is known as the curvature of the helix and τ is known as the torsion of the helix [9]. If $\tau = 0$, then α reduces to the circle and if both $\kappa = 0$ and $\tau = 0$, then α reduces to the geodesic. Hence for a proper ordinary helix κ and τ both are positive constants. **Theorem 4.1.** Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be an Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a helix on N, where α is a horizontal curve on M, then $(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) = 0$ and $\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}} || (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) ||^2 + 2\kappa \kappa' = 0$.

Proof. Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map such that α is a horizontal curve on M and $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ is a helix on N, then

$$\bar{\nabla}^3_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + \lambda^2 \bar{\nabla}_{\vartheta_*(X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) = 0.$$
(4.61)

From Lemma 3.1 and (4.61), we have

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) - \vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)))$$

$$-S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + (\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) - S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$

$$+\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1) + (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}^2X_1) + \lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)$$

$$+\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^3X_1) + \lambda^2\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1) = 0.$$
(4.62)

The $range \vartheta_*$ and $(range \vartheta_*)^{\perp}$, components of (4.62) are

$$-\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) - S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$
$$-S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,\nabla_{X_1}X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + \vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^3X_1) + \lambda^2\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1) = 0,$$
(4.63)

and

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},^{*}\vartheta_{*}(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1})}\vartheta_{*}(X_{1}))) + (\nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1}) + \nabla_{X_{1}}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}X_{1}) + (\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},\nabla_{X_{1}}^{2}X_{1}) + \lambda^{2}(\nabla\vartheta_{*})(X_{1},X_{1}) = 0, \quad (4.64)$$

respectively. From (2.8) and (2.7), we get

$$\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^*\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) = (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + S_{\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) + S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}^F\vartheta_*(X_1),$$
(4.65)

and

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}})^2 (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2 (\nabla \vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) + 4 \nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}} (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1} X_1) -2 (\nabla \vartheta_*) (\nabla_{X_1} X_1, \nabla_{X_1} X_1) - 2 (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}^2 X_1).$$
(4.66)

Substituting (4.66) in (4.64), we get

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) + (\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)$$

+5 $\nabla^{\vartheta^{\perp}}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1) - 2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(\nabla_{X_1}X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1)$
-($\nabla\vartheta_*$)($X_1, \nabla^2_{X_1}X_1$) + $\lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = 0.$ (4.67)

Using (2.7) in (4.67), we obtain

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) + (\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}^2(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)$$

+5($\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*)$)($X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1$) + 3($\nabla\vartheta_*$)($\nabla_{X_1}X_1, \nabla_{X_1}X_1$)
+4($\nabla\vartheta_*$)($X_1, \nabla_{X_1}^2X_1$) + $\lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = 0.$ (4.68)

Using Serret-Frenet equations in (4.68), we get

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) + (\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)$$

+5\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, W_1) + 3\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(W_1, W_1)
+4\kappa'(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1) - 4\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)
+4\kappa\tau(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) + \lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = 0. (4.69)

From (4.69), we have

$$-\frac{1}{4\kappa\tau} \left\{ - (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) + (\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1) \right. \\ \left. + 5\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, W_1) + 3\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(W_1, W_1) \right. \\ \left. + 4\kappa'(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1) - 4\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) \right. \\ \left. + \lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) \right\} = (\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1).$$

$$(4.70)$$

Changing U_1 into $-U_1$ in (4.69), we get

$$-(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, *\vartheta_*(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1))) + (\tilde{\nabla}^2_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, X_1)$$

+5 $\kappa(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1, W_1) + 3\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(W_1, W_1)$
+4 $\kappa'(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1) - 4\kappa^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)$
+4 $\kappa\tau(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) + \lambda^2(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) = 0,$ (4.71)

$$(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, U_1) = 0.$$
 (4.72)

Now, for second condition substituting (4.65) and (4.66) in (4.63), we have

$$-(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - 2S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),$$

$$-5S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,\nabla_{X_1}X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}\vartheta_*(X_1),$$

$$\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}^3X_1) + \lambda^2\vartheta_*(\nabla_{X_1}X_1) = 0.$$
(4.73)

Using Frenet-Serret equations in (4.73), we get

$$-(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - 2S_{(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*))(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$
$$-5\kappa S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1) - S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}\vartheta_*(X_1)$$
$$+(\kappa'' - \kappa^3 - \kappa\tau^2)\vartheta_*(W_1) + \kappa\tau\kappa_3\vartheta_*(W_3) + \lambda^2\kappa\vartheta_*(W_1)$$
$$-3\kappa\kappa'\vartheta_*(X_1) + (2\kappa'\tau + \kappa\tau')\vartheta_*(U_1) = 0.$$
(4.74)

Taking the inner product of equation (4.74) with $\vartheta_*(X_1)$, we have

$$3\kappa\kappa' + g_N\left((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1)\right) + 2g_N\left(S_{\left(\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}(\nabla\vartheta_*)\right)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1)\right) + 5g_N\left(\kappa S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,W_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1)\right) + g_N\left(S_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}Q\bar{\nabla}_{X_1}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1)\right) = 0.$$

$$(4.75)$$

Using (2.5) and equation (4.66) in (4.75), we get

$$\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}} g_N \bigg((\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1), (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) \bigg) + 2\kappa g_N \bigg((\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, W_1), (\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1) \bigg) + 3\kappa \kappa' + g_N \bigg((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1} S)_{(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)} \vartheta_*(X_1), \vartheta_*(X_1) \bigg) = 0.$$

$$(4.76)$$

Using (2.5) and equation (4.66) in (2.9), we obtain

$$g_N\left((\tilde{\nabla}_{X_1}S)_{(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)}\vartheta_*(X_1),\vartheta_*(X_1)\right) = -2\kappa g_N\left((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,W_1),(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)\right)$$
$$-\frac{1}{2}\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^{\perp}}g_N\left((\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1),(\nabla\vartheta_*)(X_1,X_1)\right). \tag{4.77}$$

Equation (4.76) and (4.77) together provides the required condition.

Corollary 4.1. Let ϑ : $(M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a isotropic Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) and (N, g_N) . If $\bar{\alpha}(s) = \vartheta \circ \alpha(s)$ is a helix on N, where α is a horizontal curve on M, then curvature of α is constant.

Proof. Taking $||(\nabla \vartheta_*)(X_1, X_1)||^2 = constant$, in a Theorem 4.1, we get $\kappa = constant$.

Theorem 4.2. [24] Let $\vartheta : (M, g_M) \to (N, g_N)$ be a Riemannian map between Riemannian manifolds (M, g_M) , $\dim M \ge 2$ and (N, g_N) . Then ϑ maps a horizontal helix α on M to a helix $\bar{\alpha} = \vartheta \circ \alpha$ on N iff ϑ is totally umbilical and the mean curvature vector field H satisfies the following equation

$$(\nabla_{X_1}^{\vartheta^\perp})^2 H_2 = -\tau^2 H_2$$

Acknowledgments. The first author would like to thanks 'Incentive Grant' under IoE Scheme of BHU and the second author would like to thanks university grant commission of India for their financial support Ref. No. 1179/ (CSIR-UGC NET JUNE 2019).

References

- Aquib, M., Lee, J. W., Vilcu G. E., & Yoon, B. W. (2019). Classification of Casorati ideal Lagrangian submanifolds in complex space forms. Differential Geometry and its Applications, 63, 30-49.
- [2] Aydin, M. E., & Mihai, I. (2019). Wintgen inequality for statistical surfaces. Math. Inequal. Appl., 22, 123-132.
- [3] Chen, B. Y. (1984). Total mean curvature and submanifolds of finite type. USA : World Scientific.
- [4] Chen, B. Y. (1991). Some open problems and conjectures on submanifolds of finite type. Soochow J. Math., 17, 169-188.
- [5] Eells J., & Sampson, J. H. (1964). Harmonic mappings of Riemannian manifolds. American Journal of Mathematics, 86, 109-160.
- [6] Erdoğan, F. E., & Şahin, B. (2020). Isotropic Riemannian submersions. Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 44 (6), 2284-2296.
- [7] Fischer, A. E. (1992). Riemannian maps between Riemannian manifolds. Contemporary Mathematics, 132, 331-366.
- [8] Garay, O. (2012). Riemannian submanifolds shaped by the bending energy and its allies. Proceeding of the Sixteenth International Workshop on Diff. Geom., 16, 55-68.
- [9] Ikawa, T. (1981). On some curves in Riemannian geometry. Soochow Journal of Mathematics, 7, 37-44.
- [10] Jiang, G. Y. (1986). 2-harmonic maps and their first and second variational formulas. Chinese Ann. Math. Ser. A, 7, 389-402.
- [11] Karakaş, G. K., & Şahin, B. (2024). Biharmonic curves along Riemannian maps. Filomat, 38 (1), 227-239.

- [12] Karakaş, G. K., & Şahin, B. (2024). Biharmonic curves along Riemannian Submersions. Miskolc Math. Notes, 25(2), 817-831.
- [13] Lu, W. J. (2015). On f-bi-harmonic maps and bi-f-harmonic maps between Riemannian manifolds. Sci. China Math., 58 (2015), 1483-1498.
- [14] Montaldo S., & Pampano, A. (2021). Triharmonic curves in 3-dimensional homogeneous spaces. Mediterranean Journal of Mathematics, 18, 1-17.
- [15] Neill, B. O. (1966). The fundamental equations of a submersion. Michigan Mathematical Journal, 13 (4), 459-469.
- [16] Nore, T. (1986). Second fundamental form of a map. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, 146, 281-310.
- [17] Ou, Y. L. (2014). On f-biharmonic maps and f-biharmonic submanifolds. Pacific Journal of Mathematics, 271 (2), 461 - 477.
- [18] Pal B., & Kumar, S. (2022). Characterization of proper curves and proper helix lying on S²₁(r). Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 51 (5) 2022, 1288 -1303.
- [19] Pal B., & Kumar S. (2022). Proper helix of order 6 and LC helix in pseudo-Euclidean space E⁸₄. Jordan Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 15 (4B), 1077-1092.
- [20] Quakkas, S., Nasri R. & Djaa, M. (2010). On the f-harmonic and f-biharmonic maps. J. P. J. Geom. Topol., 10 (1), 11-27.
- [21] Sąhin, B. Academic Press (2017). Riemannian submersions, Riemannian maps in Hermitian geometry, and their applications.
- [22] Sąhin, B. (2017). Circles along a Riemannian map and Clairaut Riemannian maps. Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 54, 253-264.
- [23] Sąhin, B. (2010). Invariant and anti-invariant Riemannian maps to Kähler manifolds. International Journal of Geometric Methods in Modern Physics, 9, 337-355.
- [24] Tükel, G. Ö., & Şahin, B., & and Turhan, T. (2022). Isotropic Riemannian Maps and Helices along Riemannian Maps. U.P.B. Sci. Bull., Series A, 84 (4), 89-100.
- [25] Turhan, T., & Şahin, B. (2022). Hyperelastic curves along Riemannian maps. Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 46, 1256-1267.
- [26] Zhao C. L., & Lu, W. (2015). Bi-f-harmonic map equations on singly warped product manifolds. Applied Mathematics-A Journal of Chinese Universities, 30 (1), 111-126.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE, BANARAS HINDU UNIVERSITY, VARANASI-221005, INDIA

Department of Mathematics, Institute of Science, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi-221005, India

Department of Mathematics, Govt. Degree College Haripur (Guler), Himachal Pradesh University-Shimla, Kangra-176028,India



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:74-84 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

PRINCIPAL NORMAL INDICATRIX (N) OF CURVES ACCORDING TO THEIR ALTERNATIVE FRAMES IN EUCLIDEAN 3-SPACE

HÜSEYİN KOCAYİĞİT \bigcirc *, CANAN ADSOY \bigcirc , AND MEHMET AYDINALP \bigcirc

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we define a new family of curves called principal normal indicatrix (briefly, PNI) of space curves with unit speed in 3-dimensional Euclidean space. During the definition, we use alternative frames and we give some conditions for space curves to be general helix, slant helix, plane curve or involute curve. **Keywords**: Spherical indicatrix, Alternative frame **2010 Mathematics Subject Classification**: 53A04.

1. INTRODUCTION

Curve theory is a fascinating area of differential geometry and therefore, attracts many researchers. Curve theory investigates the properties and classifications of curves. On the other hand, curves contain some special curves within themselves. Special curves are such curves that satisfy certain conditions or exhibit interesting geometric behaviors. Special curves are studied in different spaces and different frames and are closely related to many application areas such as physics, engineering, computer aided design, robotics and medicine. Helices, involute-evolute, Bertrand and Mannheim curve pairs are some examples of wellknown special curves.

Received:2024.04.26

Revised:2024.09.09

Accepted:2024.10.17

* Corresponding author

HÜSEYİN KOCAYİĞİT

 huseyin.kocayigit@cbu.edu.tr

 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6503-8243

 CANAN ADSOY

 cananadsoy33@gmail.com

 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7778-6158

 MEHMET AYDINALP

 aydinalp64@gmail.com

 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5601-866X.

In curve theory, one of the most attractive special curves are combined curves. If there exists a mathematical relationship between two or more curves, these curves are called combined curves. Spherical indicatrix of curves are also combined curves in curve theory. Izumiya and Takeuchi [1] defined a new kind of slant helix in Euclidean 3-space. They showed that γ is a slant helix iff the geodesic curvature of spherical image of principal normal indicatrix (N) of a space curve γ is $\sigma = \frac{\kappa^2}{(\kappa^2 + \tau^2)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)'$. Kula and Yaylı [2] studied the spherical indicatrix curves of slant helices. They showed that their spherical indicatrices were spherical helices. They [3] also gave the characterizations of slant helices via certain differential equations verified for each one of spherical indicatrix in Euclidean 3-space. In [4], Uzunoğlu et al. studied a curve whose spherical images (the tangent and binormal indicatrices) are spherical slant helices by using alternative frame and called it as a C-slant helix.

In this paper, we firstly define the principal normal indicatrix (PNI) of space curves with unit speed in 3-dimensional Euclidean space by using alternative frame. Then, we investigate the geometric properties of PNI of space curves and give some relationships between these space curves and special well-known curves such as general helix, slant helix, plane curves and involute curves.

2. Preliminaries

A regular curve $\gamma(s) : I \subset \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^3$ has three orthonormal vectors denoted by $\vec{T}(s)$, $\vec{N}(s)$ and $\vec{B}(s)$ which are the tangent, the principal normal and the binormal unit vectors, respectively. The set $\{\vec{T}(s), \vec{N}(s), \vec{B}(s)\}$ is called Frenet frame of γ and the unit vectors are calculated by $\vec{T}(s) = \frac{\gamma'(s)}{\|\gamma'(s)\|}, \vec{B}(s) = \frac{\gamma'(s) \times \gamma''(s)}{\|\gamma'(s) \times \gamma''(s)\|}, \vec{N}(s) = \vec{B}(s) \times \vec{T}(s)$. The orthonormal frame $\{\vec{T}(s), \vec{N}(s), \vec{B}(s)\}$ has the Frenet-Serret formulas as

$$\vec{T}'(s) = v\kappa(s)\vec{N}(s),$$

$$\vec{N}'(s) = -v\left(\kappa(s)\vec{T}(s) + \tau(s)\vec{B}(s)\right),$$

$$\vec{B}'(s) = -v\tau(s)\vec{N}(s),$$

(2.1)

where $v = \|\gamma'(s)\|$, $\kappa(s)$ is the first and $\tau(s)$ is the second curvature functions of γ . Besides, the second curvature $\tau(s)$ is also known as torsion. The curvature functions are calculated as $\kappa(s) = \frac{\|\gamma'(s) \times \gamma''(s)\|}{\|\gamma'(s)\|^3}$, $\tau(s) = \frac{\langle \overline{\gamma}'(s) \times \overline{\gamma}''(s), \gamma'''(s) \rangle}{\|\gamma'(s) \times \gamma''(s)\|^2}$. A Darboux vector is the angular velocity vector $\vec{\omega}$ of the Frenet frame of a point moving with unit speed along a curve which enables us to interpret the curvature and torsion geometrically. The Darboux vector $\vec{\omega}$ is defined by $\vec{\omega} = \tau \vec{T} + \kappa \vec{B}$ [5] and the unit Darboux vector is given by

$$\vec{W} = \frac{\vec{\omega}}{\|\vec{\omega}\|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(\tau \vec{T} + \kappa \vec{B}\right).$$
(2.2)

Because $\vec{W} \perp \vec{N}$, a new unit vector \vec{C} is obtained as $\vec{C} = \vec{W} \times \vec{N}$. In this case, a new orthonormal frame can be constructed along γ . This frame is called as alternative frame and is denoted by $\left\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\right\}$. The derivative formulas of the frame $\left\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\right\}$ is presented by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{N}' \\ \vec{C}' \\ \vec{W}' \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & f & 0 \\ -f & 0 & g \\ 0 & -g & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \vec{N} \\ \vec{C} \\ \vec{W} \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.3)

where

$$f = \sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}, \quad g = \frac{\kappa^2}{\kappa^2 + \tau^2} \left(\frac{\tau}{\kappa}\right)'. \tag{2.4}$$

The curve γ is a slant helix iff g/f is constant [4]. Moreover, the relationship between these frames is as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \vec{C} = -\kappa^* \vec{T} + \tau^* \vec{B}, \ \vec{W} = \tau^* \vec{T} + \kappa^* \vec{B}, \\ \vec{T} = -\kappa^* \vec{C} + \tau^* \vec{W}, \ \vec{B} = \tau^* \vec{C} + \kappa^* \vec{W}, \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

where $\kappa^* = \kappa/f$ and $\tau^* = \tau/f$ [6].

3. PRINCIPAL NORMAL INDICATRIX (N) OF CURVES

In this section, we firstly define a new spherical image by translating the unit principal normal vector \vec{N} of a space curve with unit speed to the center of the unit sphere. Then, we will give the following definitions, theorems and propositions by using similar ideas in [2, 4, 7].

Definition 3.1. Let $\gamma : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\gamma_N : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to S_0^2$ be unit speed curves. Then γ_N is called principal normal indicatrix (PNI) of the curve γ and satisfies the equation as

$$\vec{\gamma}_N(s_N) = \dot{N}(s)$$

where S_0^2 denotes a unit sphere and, s and s_N are arc length parameters of γ and γ_N , respectively.

Now, let calculate the ratio ds/ds_N .

$$s_N = \int_0^s \left\| \vec{\gamma}'_N \right\| du = \int_0^s \left\| f \vec{C} \right\| du = \int_0^s |f| \, du$$

The differential of s_N yields

$$ds_N = f ds.$$

where f > 0. Then, we get

$$\frac{ds}{ds_N} = \frac{1}{f}.$$

Theorem 3.1. Let γ_N be the PNI of a unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3-space. Then the Frenet frame of γ_N is computed with regards to the alternative frame of γ as follows:

$$\begin{split} \vec{T}_N &= \vec{C}, \\ \vec{N}_N &= -m\vec{N} + n\vec{W}, \\ \vec{B}_N &= n\vec{N} + m\vec{W} \end{split} \tag{3.6}$$

where $m = \frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2+g^2}}$ and $n = \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2+g^2}}$, and the sets $\left\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\right\}$ and $\left\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\right\}$ are alternative frame of γ and Frenet frame of γ_N , respectively.

Proof. The derivative of $\vec{\gamma}_N(s_N) = \vec{N}(s)$ with respect to s is obtained as

$$\frac{d\vec{\gamma}_N}{ds} = \vec{\gamma}'_N = f\vec{C} \tag{3.7}$$

From here, we have

$$\vec{T}_N = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_N}{ds_N} = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_N}{ds} \frac{ds}{ds_N} = f\vec{C}\frac{1}{f} = \vec{C}$$

On the other hand, the second derivative of γ_N with respect to s yields

$$\vec{\gamma}_N'' = -f^2 \vec{N} + f' \vec{C} + f g \vec{W}.$$
(3.8)

The cross product of (3.7) and (3.8) gives Binormal vector of γ_N as

$$\vec{B}_N = \frac{\vec{\gamma}'_N \times \vec{\gamma}''_N}{\left\| \vec{\gamma}'_N \times \vec{\gamma}''_N \right\|} = \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}} \vec{N} + \frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}} \vec{W}.$$
(3.9)

From (3.7) and (3.9), we get

$$\vec{N}_N = \vec{B}_N \times \vec{T}_N = -\frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}} \vec{N} + \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}} \vec{W}.$$
(3.10)

Thus, we complete the proof.

We should note that since f > 0, we obtain m > 0. Then, the following theorem is given:

Theorem 3.2. Let γ_N be the PNI of a unit speed curve γ . Then the following invariants are given:

$$\kappa_N = \frac{1}{m}, \tau_N = \frac{m}{f} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)' \tag{3.11}$$

where κ_N and τ_N are curvature and torsion of γ_N , respectively and $\kappa_N > 0$.

Proof. From the cross product of (3.7) and (3.8), we get

$$\left\|\vec{\gamma}_N' \times \vec{\gamma}_N''\right\| = f^2 \sqrt{f^2 + g^2}.$$

Since the curvature function of γ_N is computed by $\kappa_N = \frac{\|\vec{\gamma}'_N \times \vec{\gamma}''_N\|}{\|\vec{\gamma}'_N\|^3}$, we have

$$\kappa_N = \frac{1}{m}.$$

The torsion of γ_N is also computed by $\tau_N = \frac{\langle \vec{\gamma}'_N \times \vec{\gamma}''_N, \gamma''_N \rangle}{\|\vec{\gamma}'_N \times \vec{\gamma}''_N\|^2}$. Then, we get

$$au_N = rac{m}{f} \left(rac{g}{f}
ight)'.$$

Lastly, since m > 0, then $\kappa_N > 0$.

Theorem 3.3. The unit speed curve γ is a general helix iff the curve γ_N is a circle or a part of a circle.

Proof. Let γ be a general helix. Then from (2.4), we have that τ/κ is constant, i.e., g = 0. Thus, we have $\kappa_N = 1$ and $\tau_N = 0$ which means γ_N is a circle or a part of a circle. Conversely, assume that γ_N is a circle or a part of a circle. Then, κ_N is a non-zero constant and $\tau_N = 0$. Since f > 0 and m > 0, we get g = 0. Therefore, γ is a general helix.

Theorem 3.4. The unit speed curve γ is a slant helix iff the curve γ_N is planar.

Proof. Let γ be a slant helix. We know that the curve γ is a slant helix iff g/f is constant [4]. Then, from (3.11), we obtain $\tau_N = 0$ which means γ_N is planar. Conversely, assume that γ_N is planar. Thus, we get $\tau_N = 0$ and it implies that g/f is constant.

Now we will take $\mu = \frac{1}{f(f^2+g^2)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)'$ to simplify the equations further. Then, we can give the following theorem:

Theorem 3.5. Let γ_N be the PNI of a unit speed curve γ . Then the Darboux-like vector of Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\}$ is given by

$$\vec{\omega}_N = \frac{n}{m}\vec{N} + \frac{f\mu}{m^2}\vec{C} + \vec{W}.$$

Proof. We know that the Darboux vector of the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ is given by $\vec{\omega} = \tau \vec{T} + \kappa \vec{B}$. Similarly, the Darboux vector of the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\}$ is given by $\vec{\omega}_N = \tau_N \vec{T}_N + \kappa_N \vec{B}_N$. Substituting the equalities in (3.6) and (3.11) into $\vec{\omega}_N$, we get $\vec{\omega}_N = \frac{g}{f}\vec{N} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)'\vec{C} + \vec{W}$. Since $m = \frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}}$ and $n = \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}}$, we see that $\frac{g}{f} = \frac{n}{m}$ and

 $m^2 + n^2 = 1$. Taking $\frac{1}{f(f^2+g^2)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)' = \mu$, we write $\frac{1}{\sqrt{f^2+g^2}} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)' = \frac{f\mu}{m^2}$. Then, we complete the proof.

From (3.6), we see that there exists an orthonormal frame such as $\left\{\vec{N}_N, \vec{C}_N, \vec{W}_N\right\}$. In this case, we give the following corollary:

Corollary 3.1. Let γ_N be the PNI of a unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3-space. Then the alternative frame of γ_N is computed with regards to the alternative frame of γ as follows:

$$\vec{N}_{N} = -m\vec{N} + n\vec{W},$$

$$\vec{C}_{N} = \frac{\mu n f}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{N} - \frac{m}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{C} + \frac{\mu m f}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{W},$$

$$\vec{W}_{N} = \frac{m n}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{N} + \frac{\mu f}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{C} + \frac{m^{2}}{\sqrt{m^{2} + \mu^{2} f^{2}}} \vec{W},$$
(3.12)

where the sets $\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\}$ and $\{\vec{N}_N, \vec{C}_N, \vec{W}_N\}$ are alternative frames of γ and γ_N , respectively.

Proof. The norm of $\vec{\omega}_N$ in Theorem 3.5 is obtained as $\|\vec{\omega}_N\| = \frac{\sqrt{m^2 + \mu^2 f^2}}{m^2}$. So, we get the Darboux unit vector $\vec{W}_N = \frac{\vec{\omega}_N}{\|\vec{\omega}_N\|}$. Since $\vec{C}_N = \vec{W}_N \times \vec{N}_N$, we satisfy the desired result. **Theorem 3.6.** Let γ_N be the PNI of a unit speed curve γ . Then the following invariants

are given:

$$f_N = \sqrt{\frac{1}{m^2} + \frac{\mu m^4}{f^3}}, g_N = \frac{f^3}{f^3 + \mu m^2} \left(\frac{\mu m^5}{f^3}\right)'$$

where f_N and g_N are curvatures of γ_N , and $f_N > 0$.

Proof. From (2.4), we can write $f_N = \sqrt{\kappa_N^2 + \tau_N^2}$ and $g_N = \frac{\kappa_N^2}{\kappa_N^2 + \tau_N^2} \left(\frac{\tau_N}{\kappa_N}\right)'$. Substituting $\kappa_N = \frac{1}{m}, \tau_N = \frac{m^2}{f} \left(\frac{g}{f}\right)'$ in (3.11) into f_N and g_N , we get (3.13).

Theorem 3.7. Let that $\bar{\gamma}$ be an involute of the unit speed curve γ and the set $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ denotes the Frenet frame of $\bar{\gamma}$. Then the relationship between the Frenet frames $\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\}$ and $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ of γ_N and $\bar{\gamma}$, respectively is computed as

$$\begin{cases} \vec{T}_{N} = \vec{N}, \\ \vec{N}_{N} = -m\vec{T} + n\vec{B}, \\ \vec{B}_{N} = n\vec{T} + m\vec{B}. \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

Proof. Since $\bar{\gamma}$ is an involute of the unit speed curve γ , we know that

$$\vec{T} = \vec{N},$$

$$\vec{N} = -\frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{T} + \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{B},$$

$$\vec{B} = \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{T} + \frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{B}$$
(3.14)

where $f = \sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}$ [2, 5, 6]. From (2.4) and (2.5), we can rewrite (3.14) as follows:

$$\vec{T} = \vec{N}, \quad \vec{N} = \vec{C}, \quad \vec{B} = \vec{W}.$$
 (3.15)

Substituting the last three equalities into (3.6), we complete the proof.

Remark 3.1. The alternative frame $\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\}$ of the unit speed curve γ and the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ of its involute $\bar{\gamma}$ coincide with each other at any moment.

Proposition 3.1. Let $\bar{\kappa}$ and $\bar{\tau}$ be the curvature and torsion functions of involute $\bar{\gamma}$ of the unit speed curve γ , respectively. Then, PNI γ_N of the curve γ is an involute of $\bar{\gamma}$ iff $f = \bar{\kappa}$ and $g = \bar{\tau}$.

Proof. If γ_N is an involute of the curve $\bar{\gamma}$, we get

$$\vec{T}_N = \vec{N},
\vec{N}_N = -\frac{\bar{\kappa}}{\bar{f}}\vec{T} + \frac{\bar{\tau}}{\bar{f}}\vec{B},
\vec{B}_N = \frac{\bar{\tau}}{\bar{f}}\vec{T} + \frac{\bar{\kappa}}{\bar{f}}\vec{B}$$
(3.16)

where $\bar{f} = \sqrt{\bar{\kappa}^2 + \bar{\tau}^2}$ [2, 5, 6]. When we compare (3.16) with (3.13), we complete the proof.

3.1. Relationships Between Principal Normal Indicatrix (N) and Tangent Indicatrix (T) of Curves.

Definition 3.2. Let $\gamma : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\gamma_T : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to S_0^2$ be unit speed curves in Euclidean 3-space. Then γ_T is called tangent indicatrix of the curve γ and satisfies the equation as

$$\vec{\gamma}_T(s_T) = \vec{T}(s)$$

where S_0^2 denotes a unit sphere and, s and s_T are arc length parameters of γ and γ_T , respectively.

Now, let calculate the ratio ds/ds_T .

$$s_T = \int_0^s \left\| \vec{\gamma}_T' \right\| du = \int_0^s \left\| \kappa \vec{N} \right\| du = \int_0^s |\kappa| \, du$$

The differential of s_T gives

$$ds_T = \kappa ds$$

where $\kappa > 0$. Then, we get

$$\frac{ds}{ds_T} = \frac{1}{\kappa}.$$

Theorem 3.8. Let γ_T be the tangent indicatrix of a unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3-space. Then the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_T, \vec{N}_T, \vec{B}_T\}$ of γ_T is computed with regards to the alternative frame $\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\}$ of γ as follows:

$$\vec{T}_T = \vec{N},$$

$$\vec{N}_T = -\frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{T} + \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{B},$$

$$\vec{B}_T = \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{T} + \frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{B}$$
(3.17)

where $f = \sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}$.

Proof. The derivative of $\vec{\gamma}_T(s_T) = \vec{T}(s)$ is obtained as

$$\frac{d\vec{\gamma}_T}{ds} = \vec{\gamma}_T' = \kappa \vec{N}$$

From here, we have

$$\vec{T}_T = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_T}{ds_T} = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_T}{ds}\frac{ds}{ds_T} = \kappa \vec{N}\frac{1}{\kappa} = \vec{N}$$

The second derivative of γ_T also gives

$$\vec{\gamma}_T'' = -\kappa^2 \vec{T} + \kappa' \vec{N} + \kappa \tau \vec{B}.$$

The cross product of $\vec{\gamma}'_T$ and $\vec{\gamma}''_T$ gives binormal vector of γ_T as

$$\vec{B}_T = \frac{\vec{\gamma}_T' \times \vec{\gamma}_T''}{\left\| \vec{\gamma}_T' \times \vec{\gamma}_T'' \right\|} = \frac{\tau}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{T} + \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{B}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\vec{N}_T = \vec{B}_T \times \vec{T}_T = -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{T} + \frac{\tau}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{B}.$$

Thus, we complete the proof.

From (2.5), we can rewrite the equations in (3.17) as follows:

$$\vec{T}_T = \vec{N}, \quad \vec{N}_T = \vec{C}, \quad \vec{B}_T = \vec{W}.$$
 (3.18)

Therefore, from (3.15), the following corollary is given:

Corollary 3.2. The Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ of involute curve $\bar{\gamma}$ of the unit speed curve γ coincide with the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_T, \vec{N}_T, \vec{B}_T\}$ of tangent indicatrix γ_T of the curve γ .

Corollary 3.3. The tangent indicatrix curve γ_T is an involute of the unit speed curve γ .

Proof. From (3.17) the proof is satisfied clearly.

Now, from (3.6) and (3.17), we can give the following proposition:

Proposition 3.2. Let that γ_N and γ_T be principal normal and tangent indicatrices of the unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3-space with regards to the Frenet frames $\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\}$ and $\{\vec{T}_T, \vec{N}_T, \vec{B}_T\}$, respectively. Then, we have

$$\vec{T}_N = \vec{N}_T,
\vec{N}_N = -m\vec{T}_T + n\vec{B}_T,
\vec{B}_N = n\vec{T}_T + m\vec{B}_T$$
(3.19)

where $m = \frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}}$ and $n = \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2 + g^2}}$.

Proposition 3.3. *PNI* γ_N of the unit speed curve γ is an involute of the tangent indicatrix γ_T of the curve γ iff $f = \kappa$ and $g = \tau$.

3.2. Relationships Between Principal Normal Indicatrix (N) and Binormal Indicatrix (B) of Curves.

Definition 3.3. Let $\gamma : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\gamma_B : I \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to S_0^2$ be unit speed curves in Euclidean 3-space. Then γ_B is called binormal indicatrix of the curve γ and satisfies the equation as

$$\vec{\gamma}_B(s_B) = \vec{B}(s)$$

where S_0^2 denotes a unit sphere and, s and s_B are arc length parameters of γ and γ_B , respectively.

Now, let calculate the ratio ds/ds_B .

$$s_B = \int_0^s \left\| \vec{\gamma}_B' \right\| du = \int_0^s \left\| -\tau \vec{N} \right\| du = \int_0^s |\tau| \, du$$

The differential of s_B gives

 $ds_B = \tau ds.$

where $\tau > 0$. Then, we get

$$\frac{ds}{ds_B} = \frac{1}{\tau}.$$

Theorem 3.9. Let γ_B be the binormal indicatrix of a unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3space. Then the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_B, \vec{N}_B, \vec{B}_B\}$ of γ_T is computed with regards to the alternative frame $\{\vec{N}, \vec{C}, \vec{W}\}$ of γ as follows:

$$\vec{T}_B = -\vec{N},$$

$$\vec{N}_B = \frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{T} - \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{B},$$

$$\vec{B}_B = \frac{\tau}{f}\vec{T} + \frac{\kappa}{f}\vec{B}$$
(3.20)

where $f = \sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}$.

Proof. The derivative of $\vec{\gamma}_B(s_B) = \vec{B}(s)$ is obtained as

$$\frac{d\vec{\gamma}_B}{ds} = \vec{\gamma}'_B = -\tau \vec{N}.$$

From here, we have

$$\vec{T}_B = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_B}{ds_B} = \frac{d\vec{\gamma}_B}{ds} \frac{ds}{ds_B} = -\tau \vec{N} \frac{1}{\tau} = -\vec{N}$$

The second derivative of γ_B also gives

$$\vec{\gamma}_B'' = \kappa \tau \vec{T} - \tau' \vec{N} - \tau^2 \vec{B}.$$

The cross product of $\vec{\gamma}'_B$ and $\vec{\gamma}''_B$ gives binormal vector of γ_B as

$$\vec{B}_B = \frac{\vec{\gamma}_B' \times \vec{\gamma}_B''}{\left\| \vec{\gamma}_B' \times \vec{\gamma}_B'' \right\|} = \frac{\tau}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{T} + \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{B}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\vec{N}_B = \vec{B}_B \times \vec{T}_B = \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{T} - \frac{\tau}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \vec{B}.$$

Thus, we complete the proof.

From (2.5), we can rewrite the equations in (3.20) as follows:

$$\vec{T}_B = -\vec{N}, \quad \vec{N}_B = -\vec{C}, \quad \vec{B}_B = \vec{W}.$$
 (3.21)

Therefore, from (3.15), the following corollary is given:

Corollary 3.4. The Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}, \vec{N}, \vec{B}\}$ of involute curve $\bar{\gamma}$ of the unit speed curve γ coincide with the Frenet frame $\{\vec{T}_B, \vec{N}_B, \vec{B}_B\}$ of binormal indicatrix γ_B of the curve γ , i.e., $\vec{T} = -\vec{T}_B, \quad \vec{N} = -\vec{N}_B, \quad \vec{B} = \vec{B}_B.$

Corollary 3.5. The binormal indicatrix curve γ_B is an involute of the unit speed curve γ .

Proof. From (3.20) the proof is satisfied clearly.

Now, from (3.6) and (3.20), we can give the following proposition:

Proposition 3.4. Let that γ_N and γ_B be principal normal and binormal indicatrices of the unit speed curve γ in Euclidean 3-space with regards to the Frenet frames $\{\vec{T}_N, \vec{N}_N, \vec{B}_N\}$ and $\{\vec{T}_B, \vec{N}_B, \vec{B}_B\}$, respectively. Then, we have

$$\vec{T}_N = -\vec{N}_B,$$

$$\vec{N}_N = m\vec{T}_B + n\vec{B}_B,$$

$$\vec{B}_N = -n\vec{T}_B + m\vec{B}_B$$
(3.22)

where $m = \frac{f}{\sqrt{f^2+g^2}}$ and $n = \frac{g}{\sqrt{f^2+g^2}}$.

References

- Izumiya, S. & Takeuchi, N. (2004). New special curves and developable surfaces, Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 28, 153-163.
- [2] Kula, L. & Yayli, Y. (2005). On slant helix and its spherical indicatrix, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 169(1), 600-607.
- [3] Kula, L., Ekmekci, N., Yayh, Y. & İlarslan, K. (2010). Characterizations of slant helices in Euclidean 3-space, Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 34(2), 261-273.
- [4] Uzunoğlu, B., Gök, İ. & Yaylı, Y. (2016). A new approach on curves of constant precession, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 275, 317-323.
- [5] Do Carmo, M. P. (1976). Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- [6] Kaya, O. & Önder, M. (2017). C-partner curves and their applications, Differential Geometry-Dynamical Systems, 19, 64-74.
- [7] Ali, A.T. (2012). New special curves and their spherical indicatrix. Global Journal of Advanced Research on Classical and Modern Geometries, 1(2), 28-38.

MANISA CELAL BAYAR UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, 45140, MANISA, TÜRKIYE



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:85-105 E-ISSN: 2636-7467

www.simadp.com/journalmim

NULL HYPERSURFACE NORMALIZED BY THE STRUCTURE VECTOR FIELD IN A PARASASAKIAN MANIFOLD

THÉOPHILE KEMAJOU MBIAKOP ២ * AND FERDINAND NGAKEU ២

ABSTRACT. We examine the geometry of a null hypersurface M of a para-Sasakian manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ transversal to the structure vector field K. The later is then a rigging ζ for M, and M is called K-normalized null hypersurface. We characterize the geometry of such a null hypersurface and prove under some conditions that there exist leaves of an integrable distribution of the screen distribution admitting an almost para complex structure. Also, we derive certain non-existence results and discuss some properties of semi-symmetric(resp. locally symmetric) K-normalized null hypersurfaces of para-Sasakian manifolds, for instance, we demonstrate that any para-Sasakian manifold admitting a semi-symmetric totally geodesic K-normalized null hypersurface is of constant negative curvature along the null hypersurface.

Keywords: Almost paracontact manifold, Para-Sasakian manifold, K-Normalized null hypersurface, Rigging vector field, Structure vector field.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53C15, 53C25, 53C20.

1. INTRODUCTION

A submanifold M of a semi-Riemannian manifold is null if the induced metric tensor is degenerate on M. Null hypersurfaces are specifically essential because of their applications

Received: 2024.06.17

Revised:2024.09.09

Accepted:2024.10.17

Théophile Kemajou Mbiakop \diamond theophile.kemajou@aims-cameroon.org \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4605-3744

Ferdinand Ngakeu \Leftrightarrow fngakeu@yahoo.fr \Leftrightarrow https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0321-5501.

^{*} Corresponding author

in physics and mainly in general relativity. The principal differences between null and nondegenerate hypersurfaces stand up because of the absence of natural projections on the former. This prevents the usual geometric objects from being induced on null hypersurfaces.

The rigging technique introduced in [6] has shown to be an efficient tool to study a null hypersurface. Briefly, the main idea consists of choosing a vector field ζ , called a rigging, such that $\zeta_p \notin T_p M$ for all $p \in M$. From this unique arbitrary choice, we derive all the geometric objects needed to handle a null hypersurface: a null section of Rad(TM), a screen distribution in TM, a transversal null section, and all the associated tensors.

Several authors have studied the geometry of null submanifolds of para-Sasakian manifolds tangent to the structure vector field [1, 9,]. In [8], the authors considered the case where the null hypersurface is transversal to the structure vector field K. The later is then a rigging ζ for M, and M will be called K-normalized null hypersurface in this work. The question now arise of knowing wether it is always possible to select a structure vector field with specific geometric properties (closedness, quasi-conformality, etc.) but also with prescribed geometric properties for the null hypersurface (curvature condition, umbilicity, geodesibility, etc.). The goal of this paper is to provide a few answers to the above questions by studying the geometry of K-normalized null hypersurfaces in para-Sasakian manifolds.

The organization of this paper is the following. Section 2 contains all the preliminaries needed. In Section 3, we give an example, characterize the underlined null hypersurface (Theorem 3.1), and prove under some condition that there exist leaves of an integrable distribution of the screen distribution admitting an almost para-complex structure (Theorem 3.2). We establish sufficient conditions to guarantee that the Ricci type tensor Ric is an induced symmetric Ricci tensor of M (Theorem 3.3). We also show that there is no screen invariant K-normalized null hypersurface in an almost para-contact metric manifold \overline{M} (Theorem 3.4) , and we establish obstruction results involving the geometric conditions on the structure vector field (Theorem 3.5, (Theorem 3.6 and Theorem 3.7). In Section 4, we discuss some properties of a semi-symmetric (resp. locally symmetric) normalized null hypersurfaces of para-Sasakian manifolds. We show that a K-normalized null hypersurface is totally geodesic if and only if it is locally symmetric (Theorem 4.1) and that any para-Sasakian manifold admitting a semi-symmetric totally geodesic K-normalized null hypersurface is of constant negative curvature along the null hypersurface (Theorem 4.2).

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we give a brief review about rigging tectnique and Para-sasakian manifolds.

2.1. Rigging technique for null hypersurface. Let $(\overline{M}^{n+2}, \overline{g})$ be a Lorentzian manifold and (M, g) a null hypersurface of $(\overline{M}, \overline{g})$. Due to Gutiérrez and Olea; see [6]. A rigging for M is a vector field ζ defined on some open set of \overline{M} containing M such that for each $p \in M$ $\zeta_p \notin T_p M$. Given a rigging ζ for M, we set $\overline{\omega} = \overline{g}(\zeta, \cdot), \omega = i^* \overline{\omega}, \ \overline{g} = \overline{g} + \overline{\omega} \otimes \overline{\omega}$ and $\overline{g} = i^* \overline{g},$ where $i: M \hookrightarrow \overline{M}$ is the canonical inclusion map. It is well known that \widetilde{g} is a Riemannian metric on M. The rigged vector field on M is the unique null vector field ξ given by $\widetilde{g}(\xi, .) = \omega$ and it satisfies $\overline{g}(\zeta, \xi) = 1$. A rigging ζ defines a screen distribution $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ given by $\mathscr{S}(\zeta) =$ $TM \cap \zeta^{\perp} = \ker \omega$. The null transversal vector field on M is

$$N = \zeta - \frac{1}{2}\overline{g}(\zeta, \zeta)\xi, \qquad (2.1)$$

which is the unique null vector field such that $\overline{g}(N,\xi) = 1$. Moreover, it is worth noting that $T\overline{M}$ admits the following splitting

$$T\overline{M}|_{M} = TM \oplus span(N)$$
$$= \{\mathscr{S}(\zeta) \oplus span(\xi)\} \oplus span(N).$$
(2.2)

According to the decomposition (2.2), the Gauss and Weingarten equations of M and $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ are the following (see[4, p. 82-85]):

$$\overline{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y + B(X, Y)N, \quad \nabla_X PY = \overset{\star}{\nabla}_X PY + C(X, PY)\xi, \quad (2.3)$$

$$\overline{\nabla}_X N = -A_N X + \tau(X)N, \qquad \nabla_X \xi = -\overset{\star}{A_\xi} X - \tau(X)\xi, \quad \tau(X) = \overline{g}(\overline{\nabla}_X N, \xi), \quad (2.4)$$

 $\forall X, Y \text{ tangent to } M.$ Here, ∇ and $\stackrel{\star}{\nabla}$ are induced linear connction on TM and $\mathscr{S}(TM)$, respectively, B and C are the second fundamental forms on TM and $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ respectively. Moreover, A_N and $\stackrel{\star}{A_{\xi}}$ are the shape operators on TM and $\mathscr{S}(TM)$, respectively, connected with the second fundamental forms by $B(X,Y) = g(\stackrel{\star}{A_{\xi}}X,Y)$ and $C(X,PY) = g(A_NX,PY)$, and τ is a 1-form on TM. The induced linear connection ∇ is not a metric connection. In fact, using the fact that $\overline{\nabla g} = 0$, we have

$$(\nabla_X g)(Y, Z) = B(X, Y)\omega(Z) + B(X, Z)\omega(Y), (2.16)$$

$$(2.5)$$

 $\forall X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$. Also C is not symmetric since

$$C(X,Y) - C(Y,X) = g(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X, N) = \omega([X,Y]), \forall X, Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta).$$
(2.6)

Let us denote by \overline{R} and R the Riemannian curvature tensors of $\overline{\nabla}$ and ∇ , respectively. Using (2.3) and (2.4), we get the so called Gauss-Codazzi equations [4]

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(X,Y)Z,\xi) = (\nabla_X B)(Y,Z) - (\nabla_Y B)(X,Z) + \tau(X)B(Y,Z) - \tau(Y)B(X,Z), \quad (2.7)$$

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(X,Y)Z,PW) = \overline{g}(R(X,Y)Z,PW) + B(X,Z)C(Y,PW) - B(Y,Z)C(X,PW), \quad (2.8)$$

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(X,Y)\xi,N) = \overline{g}(R(X,Y)\xi,N) = C(Y,\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}X) - C(\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}Y,X) - 2d\tau(X,Y), \quad (2.9)$$

 $\forall X, Y, Z \text{ and } W \in \Gamma(TM).$

We say that the rigging vector field ζ has a quasi-conformal screen distribution if there exists ϕ and σ in $C^{\infty}(M)$ such that

$$A_N X = \rho \overset{\star}{A_\xi} X + \sigma P X, \qquad (2.10)$$

for any $X \in \Gamma(TM)$. For $\sigma = 0$, we simply say that ζ has conformal screen distribution. We say that the rigging vector field is distinguished if the one-form τ vanishes. A null hypersuface M is said to be totally umbilical (resp. totally geodesic) in \overline{M} if there exists a smooth function k on M such that

$$B(X,Y) = kg(X,Y) \tag{2.11}$$

(resp. *B* vanishes identically on *M*). Remembering that $\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}\xi = 0$, *M* is totally umbilical (resp. totally geodesic) in \overline{M} if $\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}X = kX$ for any $X \in \Gamma(\mathscr{S}(TM))$ (resp. $\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi} = 0$).

Also the screen distribution $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ is totally umbilical (resp. totally geodesic) in M if there is a smooth function λ such that $C(X, PY) = \lambda g(X, Y)$ for all $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$ (resp. Cvanishes identically)([4],[2]).

2.2. **Para-Sasakian Manifolds.** A (2n + 1) dimensional manifold \overline{M}^{2n+1} is said to be an almost paracontact metric manifold, if it admits a tensor field $\overline{\phi}$ of type (1,1), a structure vector field K, a 1-form $\overline{\eta}$ and a pseudo-Riemannian metric \overline{g} satisfying the following conditions[7][11]:

$$\overline{\phi}^2 = I - \overline{\eta} \otimes K, \quad \overline{\eta}(K) = 1, \quad \overline{\phi}(K) = 0, \quad \overline{\eta} \circ \overline{\phi} = 0$$
 (2.12)

$$\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,\overline{\phi}Y) = -\overline{g}(X,Y) + \overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\eta}(Y), X, Y \in \Gamma(T\overline{M}),$$
(2.13)

where I denotes the identity transformation. From (2.13), we deduce

$$\overline{g}(\overline{X}, \overline{\phi}Y) = -\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X, Y) \tag{2.14}$$

$$\overline{g}(X,K) = \overline{\eta}(X), \tag{2.15}$$

for $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$. From (2.15), we get

$$\overline{g}(K,K) = 1.$$

An almost para-contact metric manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ is called a para-Sasakian manifold if [11]

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi})Y = -\overline{g}(X, Y)K + \overline{\eta}(Y)X, \ \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(T\overline{M}).$$
(2.16)

From (2.16), we have

$$\overline{\nabla}_X K = -\overline{\phi} X. \tag{2.17}$$

Example 2.1. [1] Let $\overline{M} = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ be the (2n + 1)-dimensional real space with standard coordinate system $(x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2, ..., x_n, y_n, z)$. Defining

$$\bar{\phi}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{\alpha}}, \quad \bar{\phi}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{\alpha}}, \quad \bar{\phi}\frac{\partial}{\partial z} = 0,$$
$$\bar{\eta} = dz, \quad K = \frac{\partial}{\partial z},$$
$$\bar{g} = \bar{\eta} \otimes \bar{\eta} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} dx_{\alpha} \otimes dx_{\alpha} - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} dy_{\alpha} \otimes dy_{\alpha},$$

where $\alpha = 1, 2, ..., n$. The set $(\mathbb{R}_n^{2n+1}, \overline{\phi}, K, \eta, \overline{g})$ is an almost paracontact metric manifold.

If the paraholomorphic sectional curvature denoted by c is constant on the para-Sasakian manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$, then the later is a para-Sasakian space form. Moreover, the curvature tensor \overline{R} of \overline{M} satisfies [9, Theorem 2.2]

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(X,Y)Z,W) = \frac{c-3}{4} \{\overline{g}(Y,Z)\overline{g}(X,W) - \overline{g}(X,Z)\overline{g}(Y,W)\}
+ \frac{(c+1)}{4} \{\overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\eta}(Z)\overline{g}(Y,W) - \overline{\eta}(Y)\overline{\eta}(Z)\overline{g}(X,W)
+ \overline{g}(X,Z)\overline{\eta}(Y)\overline{\eta}(W) - \overline{g}(Y,Z)\overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\eta}(W)
+ \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}Y,Z)\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,W) - \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Z)\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}Y,W) - 2\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Y)\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}Z,W) \}, (2.18)$$

 $\forall X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$. We refer to $\overline{M}(c)$ as a para-Sasakian space form.

3. NORMALIZED NULL HYPERSURFACES OF A PARA-SASAKIAN MANIFOLD

Let (M, ζ) be a normalized null hypersurface of a para-Sasakian manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$. K has the following pointwise decomposition along M:

$$K = K_{\mathscr{S}} + \gamma \xi + \beta N,$$

where γ and β are smooth functions on \overline{M} defined by $\beta = \overline{\eta}(\xi), \gamma = \overline{\eta}(N)$, and $K_{\mathscr{S}} \in \Gamma(\mathscr{S}(\zeta))$. Consider a global vector field U on $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ and its corresponding 1-form μ defined by

$$U = -\overline{\phi}\xi, \ \mu(X) = \overline{g}(X, U), \forall X \in \Gamma(TM).$$
(3.19)

From (2.2), we have

$$\overline{\phi}X = \phi X + \mu(X)N, \forall X \in \Gamma(TM), \tag{3.20}$$

where ϕ is a (1, 1)-tensor field on M. From (2.17) and (3.20), we obtain the following result, which is similar to the one given in [3, Proposition 3.1]

Proposition 3.1. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then, $\forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$ we get

$$\overset{\star}{\nabla}_{X} K_{\mathscr{S}} = \gamma \overset{\star}{A}_{\xi} X + \beta A_{N} X - P(\phi(X)),$$

$$X \cdot \gamma = \gamma \tau(X) - C(X, K_{\mathscr{S}}) - \omega(\phi(X)),$$

$$X \cdot \beta = -\beta \tau(X) - B(X, K_{\mathscr{S}}) - \mu(X),$$

$$(3.21)$$

where P is the projection morphism of $\Gamma(TM)$ onto $\Gamma(\mathscr{S}(\zeta))$ associated to the decomposition(2.2).

Proof. On one hand, $\forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$, we get

$$\overline{\nabla}_X K \stackrel{(2.17)}{=} -\overline{\phi} X$$
$$= -\phi X - \mu(X)N = -P(\phi X) - \omega(\phi X)\xi - \mu(X))N.$$

On the other hand, $\forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$, we get

$$\overline{\nabla}_X K = \overset{\star}{\nabla}_X K_{\mathscr{S}} - \gamma \overset{\star}{A}_{\xi} X - \beta A_N X + (C(X, K_{\mathscr{S}}) + X \cdot \gamma - \gamma \tau(X)) \xi + (X \cdot \beta + \beta \tau(X) + B(X, K_{\mathscr{S}})) N.$$

Matching the tangential, radical and transversal components of the expressions above we get the result. $\hfill \Box$

Now, we suppose that the structure vector field K never belongs to the tangent space of the null hypersurface M. In this case K can be taken as a rigging ζ for M. Thus, we have the following. **Definition 3.1.** A null hypersurface M of an almost para-contact metric manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ such that the structure vector field K is a rigging for M is said to be K-normalized.

This leads to the following direct consequence of our Proposition 3.1.

Corollary 3.1. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then for all $X \in \Gamma(TM)$, we have

$$A_N X = -\frac{1}{2} \overset{\star}{A}_{\xi} X + P(\phi(X)), \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\tau(X) = 2\omega(\phi(X)) = -\mu(X). \tag{3.23}$$

Proof. Since $K = \zeta$, then Eq.(2.1) leads to $\beta = 1$, $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}\overline{g}(\zeta, \zeta) = \frac{1}{2}$. Using this in (3.21) together with the fact that $\zeta_{\mathscr{S}} = 0$, we get the result.

Let $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a (2n+1)-dimensional para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . It is worth noting that

$$\overline{\eta}(\xi) = 1, \ \overline{\eta}(N) = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (3.24)

Applying $\overline{\phi}$ to the first equation of (3.19), we get

$$\overline{\phi}U \stackrel{(2.12)}{=} -N + \frac{1}{2}\xi.$$
 (3.25)

Also, from (2.14), it is obvious that

$$\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}N,\xi) = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi,\xi) = 0, \quad \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}N,N) = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi,N) = 0, \quad (3.26)$$

Then,

$$2\overline{\phi}(N) = -\overline{\phi}(\xi) = U \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta) \tag{3.27}$$

since the components of both $\overline{\phi}N$ and $\overline{\phi}\xi$ with respect to ξ and N vanish.

From (3.23) and (3.26), the following Corollary holds:

Corollary 3.2. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Setting $W = N - \frac{1}{2}\xi$, we have

$$\tau(\xi) = -\mu(\xi) = 2\omega(\phi\xi) = 0, \qquad (3.28)$$

$$\overline{\phi}X = P(\phi X) + \tau(X)W, \ \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM).$$
(3.29)

Definition 3.2. [1] Let $(\overline{M}^{2n+1}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be an almost paracontact metric manifold and Ma null hypersurface of \overline{M} . M is said to be screen invariant (resp screen semi-invariant) if $\overline{\phi}(X)$ (resp. both $\overline{\phi}N$ and $\overline{\phi}\xi$) belong(s) to the screen distribution for all $X \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$.

From equation (3.27), we get the following proposition given in [8, Proposition 3.1].

Proposition 3.2. [8] A K-normalized null hypersurface of an almost para-contact metric manifold \overline{M} is rather a screen semi-invariant null hypersurface of \overline{M} .

The following Theorem proves the converse of this proposition. Namely, a rigged screen semi-invariant null hypersurface in an almost paracontact metric manifold is transversal to the structure vector field.

Theorem 3.1. Let M be a null hypersurface of an almost paracontact metric manifold $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ and (M, ζ) a normalized null hypersurface. Let ξ and N_{ζ} be the rigged vector field and the null transversal vector field associated to ζ . If $\overline{\phi}(\operatorname{span}\{\xi\}) = \overline{\phi}(\operatorname{span}\{N_{\zeta}\})$ then K is transversal to M. If in addition $\overline{g}(\zeta, \zeta) = 1$ and $\overline{\phi}N = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\phi}\xi$, then M is a K-normaized null hypersurface.

Proof. In this proof, N stands for N_{ζ} . Assume that $\overline{\phi}span\{\xi\} = \overline{\phi}span\{N_{\zeta}\}$. Then, there exists a non vanishing function θ such that $\overline{\phi}\xi = \theta\overline{\phi}N$. The inner product of this relation with respect to $\overline{\phi}\xi$ and $\overline{\phi}N$ give $(\overline{\eta}(\xi))^2 = \theta(-1+\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N))$ and $-1+\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N) = \theta(\overline{\eta}(N))^2$. Since $\theta \neq 0$, we get $\overline{\eta}(\xi) \neq 0$ and $\overline{\eta}(N) \neq 0$ and $(\overline{\eta}(\xi))^2 = (\theta\overline{\eta}(N))^2$. The later gives $\overline{\eta}(\xi) = \pm\theta\overline{\eta}(N)$. The case $\overline{\eta}(\xi) = \theta\overline{\eta}(N)$ implies that $\overline{\eta}(\xi)^2 = \theta\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N) = -\theta + \theta\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N)$, which is a contradiction. Thus $\overline{\eta}(\xi) = -\theta\overline{\eta}(N)$, from which $\overline{\eta}(\xi)^2 = -\theta\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N) = -\theta + \theta\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N)$, that is

$$\overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N) = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(3.30)

Since $\theta = -\frac{\overline{\eta}(\xi)}{\overline{\eta}(N)} \neq 0$ and $\overline{\phi}\xi = \theta\overline{\phi}N$, it is worth noting that $\overline{\eta}(N)\overline{\phi}\xi + \overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\phi}N = 0$. Applying $\overline{\phi}$ to this equation to get $\overline{\eta}(N)\xi - \overline{\eta}(N)\overline{\eta}(\xi)K + \overline{\eta}(\xi)N - \overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(N)K = 0$. This together with (3.30) give $K = \overline{\eta}(N)\xi + \overline{\eta}(\xi)N = \gamma\xi + \beta N$. Thus K is transversal to M, which gives the first claim.

Now,

$$\overline{\phi}N = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\phi}\xi \implies \overline{\phi}(N + \frac{1}{2}\xi) = 0 \implies \overline{\phi}\zeta = 0.$$

Operating $\overline{\phi}$ to the last equation of above relation and using the first equation of (2.13), we have $\zeta = \overline{\eta}(\zeta)K$. This leads to $\zeta = \pm K$ as $\overline{g}(\zeta, \zeta) = 1$. Therefore, K is a rigging for M and M is K-normalized. Which completes the proof.

Example 3.1. Let $\overline{M} = \mathbb{R}^5$ be a 5-dimensional almost paracontact metric manifold with the structure $(\overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ given in Example 2.1.

Consider a submanifold M of $(\mathbb{R}_2^5, \overline{\phi}, \zeta, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ given by

$$M = \{ (x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2, z) \in \mathbb{R}^5 | x_1 + x_2 - \sqrt{3}y_1 + z = 0 \}$$

It worth noting that TM is spanned by

$$\{V_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial}{\partial z}, \quad V_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial z}, \quad V_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + \sqrt{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}, \quad V_4 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2}\}$$

Since $K = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$ is a spacelike vector field, then we may use it as a rigging ζ for M. Then, the corresponding rigged vector field is

$$\xi = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \sqrt{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial z}.$$

The associated null transversal vector field is

$$N = K - \frac{1}{2}\xi = \frac{1}{2}\left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - \sqrt{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right).$$

The associated screen distribution is

$$\mathscr{S}(\zeta) = \{ U_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}, \quad U_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + 2\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \sqrt{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial y_1}, \quad U_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2} \}.$$

Next,

$$\overline{\phi}\xi = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2} + \sqrt{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}(2U_1 + U_2) + U_3.$$

From which we have $\overline{\phi}N = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\phi}\xi \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$. Thus M is screen semi-invariant.

Now, using (3.19) in (2.13) leads to $\overline{g}(U,U) = 1$, thus the distribution $\overline{\phi}(\langle U \rangle)$ is nondegenerate. Then we are able to define the unique nondegenerate distribution D_0 by

Definition 3.3.

$$\mathscr{S}(\zeta) = D_0 \perp \langle U \rangle.$$

This ends in the subsequent decomposition:

$$TM = \{D_0 \perp \langle U \rangle\} \perp \langle \xi \rangle,$$

$$T\overline{M} = \{D_0 \perp \langle U \rangle\} \perp \{\langle \xi \rangle \oplus \langle N \rangle\}.$$
(3.31)

Proposition 3.3. [8] D_0 is $\overline{\phi}$ -invariant.

Setting

$$D = \langle \xi \rangle \perp D_0$$
 and $D' = \langle U \rangle$,

it follows that

$$TM = D \oplus D'.$$

Let M be a K-normalized null hypersurface, and S be the projection morphism of TM on D_0 with respect to the decomposition (3.31). From this, any vector field X on M is expressed as follows

$$X = SX + \omega(X)\xi + \mu(X)U. \tag{3.32}$$

Applying $\overline{\phi}$ to (3.32) and using (3.19), (3.25) and the fact $\overline{\eta}(X) = \omega(X)$, we have

$$\overline{\phi}X = \psi X - \frac{1}{2}\mu(X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(X)U + \mu(X)N = \psi X - \overline{\eta}(X)U + \mu(X)W, \qquad (3.33)$$

where ψ is a globally defined tensor field of type (1, 1) on TM by

$$\psi X = \overline{\phi} S X, \forall X \in \Gamma(TM). \tag{3.34}$$

Applying $\overline{\phi}$ to (3.33) and using (2.12), (3.25), (3.19) and $\overline{\eta}(X) = \omega(X)$, we have

$$\begin{split} X &- \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(X)N = \overline{\phi}^2 X = \overline{\phi}(\psi X) + \frac{1}{2}\mu(X)U + \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(X)N + \frac{1}{2}\mu(X)U \\ &= \psi^2 X - \frac{1}{2}\mu(\psi X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(\psi X)U \\ &+ \mu(\psi X)N + \mu(X)U + \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(X)N \\ &= \psi^2 X + \mu(X)U + \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi - \overline{\eta}(X)N. \end{split}$$

This leads to

$$\psi^2 X = X - \omega(X)\xi - \mu(X)U,$$
 (3.35)

which implies that

$$\psi^2 X = SX.$$

Substituting (3.33) into (2.13), we have

$$-g(X,Y) + \overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\eta}(Y) = \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,\overline{\phi}Y) = g(\psi X,\psi Y) - \mu(X)\mu(Y) - \overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\eta}(Y).$$

This gives

$$g(\psi X, \psi Y) = -g(X, Y) + 2\omega(X)\omega(Y) + \mu(X)\mu(Y).$$
(3.36)

Theorem 3.2. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} such that C(X, Y) = C(Y, X), $B(X, \overline{\phi}Y) = B(\overline{\phi}X, Y)$, $\forall X, Y \in$ $\Gamma(D_0)$. Then (M_0, g, ψ) is an almost paracomplex manifold, where M_0 is a leaf of the almost paracontact complex distribution D_0 .

Proof. Under the hypothesis together with [8, Theorem 6.2], we have that D_0 is integrable. From (3.35) and (3.36), we have

$$\psi^2 X = X, \ g(\psi X, \psi Y) = -g(X, Y) \ \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(D_0).$$
(3.37)

From (3.37), the claim follows.

Proposition 3.4. If M is a K-normalized in $(\overline{M}^{2n+1}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$, then for $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$, we have

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = -\frac{1}{2}g(X,Y)\xi + \omega(Y)X + \mu(Y)A_NX + \frac{1}{2}B(X,Y)U, \qquad (3.38)$$

$$(\nabla_X \mu)(Y) = -g(X, Y) - B(X, \phi Y) - \tau(X)\mu(Y),$$

$$\nabla_X U = -X - \tau(X)U + \phi(\overset{\star}{A_\xi} X),$$
(3.39)

$$B(X,U) = \mu(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}} X), \qquad (3.40)$$
$$\overset{\star}{\nabla}_{PX} U = -PX + \tau(X)\overline{\phi}\xi + P(\phi(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}} X)),$$

$$C(X,U) = \omega(\phi(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}} X)) - \omega(X). \tag{3.41}$$

Proof. Let $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$, we get

$$-g(X,Y)\zeta + \overline{\eta}(Y)X = (\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi})Y = \overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi}Y - \overline{\phi}(\overline{\nabla}_X Y)$$

$$= \overline{\nabla}_X (\phi Y + \mu(Y)N) - \overline{\phi}(\nabla_X Y + B(X,Y)N)$$

$$= \overline{\nabla}_X \phi Y + \overline{\nabla}_X \mu(Y)N - \overline{\phi}(\nabla_X Y) - B(X,Y)\overline{\phi}N$$

$$= (\nabla_X \phi)Y + (\nabla_X \mu)(Y)N + B(X,\phi Y)N - \mu(Y)A_N X$$

$$+ \mu(Y)\tau(X)N - B(X,Y)\overline{\phi}N.$$
(3.42)

Also,

$$\nabla_X U + B(X, U)N = \overline{\nabla}_X U$$

$$= -(\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi} \xi)$$

$$= -\left((\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi})\xi + \overline{\phi}(\overline{\nabla}_X \xi)\right)$$

$$= -X + \tau(X)\overline{\phi}\xi + \overline{\phi}(\overset{*}{A_{\xi}} X)$$

$$= -X + \tau(X)\overline{\phi}\xi + \phi(\overset{*}{A_{\xi}} X) + \mu(\overset{*}{A_{\xi}} X)N. \quad (3.43)$$

Next, it is worth noting that

$$\stackrel{\star}{\nabla}_X U + C(X,U)\xi + B(X,U)N = -PX - \omega(X)\xi + \tau(X)\overline{\phi}\xi + P(\phi(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}X)) + \omega(\phi(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}X))\xi + \mu(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}X)N.$$
(3.44)

When we equate tangential and normal parts in (3.42)(resp, (3.43), (3.44)), we get the result.

The following result is a direct consequence of Proposition 3.4.

Corollary 3.3. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then there is no K-normalization such that $\nabla \phi = 0$ or $\nabla U = 0$.

Proof. (i) Replacing X and Y with ξ in (3.38) and X by ξ in (3.39) give $(\nabla_{\xi}\phi)\xi = \xi$ and $\nabla_{\xi}U = \xi$, which completes the proof.

Proposition 3.5. Let $(\overline{M}^{(2n+1)}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then $\forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$, we have

$$\phi(A_N X) = -\phi(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}} X) + 2X + 2\tau(X)U - \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi.$$

Moreover, $\phi(A_N\xi)$ and ξ are linearly related.

Proof. Since $U = 2\overline{\phi}N$, we have

$$\nabla_X U + B(X, U)N = \overline{\nabla}_X U = 2(\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi} N)$$

= $2\left((\overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\phi})N + \overline{\phi}(\overline{\nabla}_X N)\right)$
 $\stackrel{(2.3)-(2.16)}{=} -\omega(X)\xi - 2\omega(X)N + X - 2\overline{\phi}(A_N X) + 2\tau(X)\overline{\phi}N$
= $-\omega(X)\xi + \tau(X)U - 2\phi(A_N X) - 2\mu(A_N X)N - 2\omega(X)N,$

that is

$$\nabla_X U = -\omega(X)\xi + \tau(X)U - 2\phi(A_N X) + X. \tag{3.45}$$

By equating (3.39) and (3.45), we have

$$\phi(A_N X) = -\frac{1}{2}\phi(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}} X) + X + \tau(X)U - \frac{1}{2}\omega(X)\xi, \qquad (3.46)$$

which gives the first claim. Now, setting $X = \xi$ in (3.46), we have $\phi(A_N\xi) = -\frac{1}{2}\xi$, which completes the proof.

It is known that the Ricci type tensor Ric is an induced symmetric Ricci tensor of M if and only if the one form τ is closed on M [4, Theorem 3.2]. Using this, we get the following.

Theorem 3.3. Let M be a K-normalized null hypersurface of a para-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . Then Ric is an induced symmetric Ricci tensor of M if and only if $B(\phi X, Y) = B(X, \phi Y)$.

Proof. From (3.23), we have $\tau(X) = -\mu(X)$. Differentiating this and using (3.43), we get

$$Y\tau(X) = -\overline{g}(\overline{\nabla}_Y X, U) - \overline{g}(X, \overline{\nabla}_Y U)$$

$$\stackrel{(2.3)-(3.43)}{=} -\mu(\nabla_Y X) + g(X, Y) + \tau(Y)\mu(X) - \overline{g}(X, \overline{\phi}(\overset{\star}{A_{\xi}}Y))$$

$$\stackrel{(3.23)(2.14)}{=} -\mu(\nabla_Y X) + g(X, Y) - \tau(Y)\tau(X) + \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}(X), \overset{\star}{A_{\xi}}Y)$$

$$\stackrel{(3.20)}{=} -\mu(\nabla_Y X) + g(X, Y) - \tau(Y)\tau(X) + B(\phi(X), Y), \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM). \quad (3.47)$$

Interchanging X and Y in (3.47), we get

$$X\tau(Y) - Y\tau(X) = -\mu([X,Y]) + B(\phi Y,X) - B(\phi X,Y).$$
(3.48)

On the other hand, (3.23) gives

$$\tau([X,Y]) = -\mu([X,Y]). \tag{3.49}$$

Then, by (3.48), (3.49) and the definition of $d\tau$, we have

$$2d\tau(X,Y) = [X\tau(Y) - Y\tau(X) - \tau([X,Y])] = B(\phi Y, X) - B(\phi X, Y).$$
(3.50)

Thus $d\tau(X,Y) = 0$ if and only if $B(\phi X,Y) = B(X,\phi Y)$. Therefore, the claim follows from [4, Theorem 3.2].

Corollary 3.4. Let M be a K-normalized null hypersurface of a para-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . If M is totally geodesic, then the one form τ is closed. Moreover, Ric is an induced symmetric Ricci tensor of M.

The presence of transversal structure vector field K in para-Sasakian manifolds prevents the existence of invariant null hypersurfaces. However, it is not the case when M is tangent to K (see [1, Theorem 10 and 14]). In the following, we obtain some non-existence results for K-normalized null hypersurfaces of a para-Sasakian manifolds.

Theorem 3.4. There is no screen-invariant K-normalized null hypersurface in an almost para-contact metric manifold \overline{M} .

Proof. If $\overline{\phi}(X) \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta), \forall X \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$, then using (2.14) and (3.27), we will get $\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi, \overline{\phi}\xi) = -\overline{g}(\xi, \overline{\phi}(\overline{\phi}\xi)) = 0$, which is absurd since from (2.13) $\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi, \overline{\phi}\xi) = 1$.

Theorem 3.5. Let $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then,

- (i) K cannot be screen quasi-conformal.
- (ii) $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ cannot be totally umbilical in M.
- (iii) *M* cannot be distinguished.

Proof. Since from (3.28) of Corollary 3.2, $\tau(\xi) = -\mu(\xi) = 0$, then we have from (3.29) that $\overline{\phi}\xi = P(\overline{\phi}\xi)$.

(i) If K is screen quasi-conformal, then from (2.10), we will have $A_N \xi = 0$, which is a contracdition since from (3.22) $A_N \xi = P(\overline{\phi}\xi) = \overline{\phi}\xi \neq 0$. Indeed, if $\overline{\phi}\xi = 0$, then we will get from (2.13) that $0 = \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi, \overline{\phi}\xi) = -g(\xi, \xi) + \overline{\eta}(\xi)\overline{\eta}(\xi) = 1$, which is absurd.

(*ii*) If $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ is totally umbilical, then using (3.41) of Proposition 3.4, we have $1 = C(\xi, U) = \gamma g(\xi, U) = 0$, which is absurd.

(*iii*) If $\tau(X) = 0 \ \forall X \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$, we will have from (3.23) that $\mu(U) = 0$ as $U = -\overline{\phi}\xi \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$, which is absurd since from (2.13) $1 = \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}\xi, \overline{\phi}\xi) = \mu(U)$. This completes the proof.

Now, $\forall X \in \Gamma(TM), \forall Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$, we have

$$C(X,Y) = \overline{g}(\nabla_X Y, N)$$

= $\overline{g}(\overline{\nabla}_X Y, N)$
= $-\overline{g}(Y, \overline{\nabla}_X N).$ (3.51)

From item (iii) of Theorem 3.5, together with (3.51) and (3.51), we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3.5. Let $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M a K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . Then,

- (a) $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ cannot be a parallel distribution.
- (b) N cannot be a closed conformal vector field.

Theorem 3.6. Let $(\overline{M}^{2n+1}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g}) (n \ge 1)$ be a para-Sasakian manifold. Then the structure vector field K cannot be a closed normalization for any null hypersurface M.

Proof. Suppose that $K = \zeta$ is a closed normalization for any null hypersurface M, then $\overline{\eta} = \overline{g}(\zeta, .)$ is a closed 1-form on M which implies that $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ is integrable. This implies from (2.6) that C is symmetric on $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$. From (3.22), we have

$$-\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Y) + \frac{1}{2}B(X,Y) + C(X,Y) = 0, \ \forall X,Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta).$$
(3.52)

Using (3.52) together with the fact that B and C are symmetric, we have

$$\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Y) - \overline{g}(\overline{\phi}Y,X) = 0, \ \forall X,Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta).$$
(3.53)

Since $\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Y) \stackrel{(2.14)}{=} -\overline{g}(X,\overline{\phi}Y)$, (3.53) leads to $\overline{g}(\overline{\phi}X,Y) = 0$. This together with (3.33) give

$$\overline{g}(\psi X, Y) = 0, \ \forall X, Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta).$$
(3.54)

From (3.54) together with the fact that $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ is non-degenerate, we have $\psi X = 0$ for all $X \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$. This and (3.35), give X = 0 for all $X \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$. Which is absurd since $\mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ is of rank 2n - 1 with n > 1. Thus ζ cannot be closed.

Theorem 3.7. Let $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian Lorentzian manifold. Then the structure vector field K cannot be a normalization for any flat null hypersurface M with parallel screen shape operator $\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}$.

Proof. Let $X \in \mathcal{S}(\zeta)$, we have

$$\overline{g}(R(X,\xi)\xi,X) = \overline{g}(\nabla_X \nabla_\xi \xi,X) - \overline{g}(\nabla_\xi \nabla_X \xi,X) - \overline{g}(\nabla_{[X,\xi]}\xi,X)$$

$$= \tau(\xi)\overline{g}(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}(X),X) - \overline{g}(\nabla_\xi(-\tau(X)\xi - \overset{\star}{A_\xi}(X)),X) + \overline{g}(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}([X,\xi]),X)$$

$$\stackrel{(3.28)}{=} \overline{g}(\nabla_\xi \overset{\star}{A_\xi}(X),X) + \overline{g}(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}(\nabla_X \xi) - \overline{g}(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}(\nabla_\xi X),X)$$

$$= \overline{g}((\nabla_\xi \overset{\star}{A_\xi})(X),X) - \overline{g}(\overset{\star}{A_\xi}(X),\overset{\star}{A_\xi}(X)). \qquad (3.55)$$

If M were flat and $\stackrel{\star}{A}_{\xi}$ parallel then (3.55) will imply that

$$g(\overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}(X), \overset{\star}{A}_{\xi}(X)) = 0$$

which means that M is totally geodesic as the screen distribution is positive definite. By using this we will get

$$0 = R(X,Y)U = \nabla_X \nabla_Y U - \nabla_Y \nabla_X U - \nabla_{[X,Y]} U$$

$$\stackrel{(3.39)}{=} -\nabla_X Y - X\tau(Y)U + \tau(Y)X + \tau(Y)\tau(X)U$$

$$+ \nabla_Y X + Y\tau(X)U - \tau(X)Y - \tau(X)\tau(Y)U$$

$$+ [X,Y] + \tau(Y,X)U$$

$$= \tau(Y)X - \tau(X)Y + \frac{1}{2}d\tau(Y,X)U$$

$$\stackrel{(3.56)}{=} \tau(Y)X - \tau(X)Y.$$

Setting $X = \xi$ in (3.56) and using (3.28), we will have $0 = \tau(Y)\xi \ \forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$, that is $\tau(X) = 0 \ \forall X \in \Gamma(TM)$, which contradicts item *(iii)* of Theorem 3.5 and completes the proof of the Theorem.

Theorem 3.8. Let M be a totally umbilical K-normalized null hypersurface of a para-Sasakian space form $(\overline{M}(c), \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$. Then the umbilical factor k satisfies the partial differential equation

$$\xi(k) - k^2 - \frac{(c+1)}{8} = 0.$$
(3.57)

Moreover, if M is totally geodesic, then c = -1.

Setting $X = W = \xi$ in (2.18) together with the fact that $\overline{\eta}(\xi) = 1$, we have

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(\xi,Y)Z,\xi) = \frac{(c+1)}{4} \Big\{ -\overline{g}(Y,Z) + 3\mu(Z)\mu(Y) \Big\}.$$
(3.58)

From (2.11)-(2.5), it is worth noting that

$$\begin{aligned} (\nabla_X B)(Y,Z) &= XB(Y,Z) - B(\nabla_X Y,Z) - B(\nabla_X Z,Y) \\ &= X(k)g(Y,Z) + kXg(Y,Z) - kg(\nabla_X Y,Z) - kg(\nabla_X Z,Y) \\ &= X(k)g(Y,Z) + k(\nabla_X g)(Y,Z) \\ &= X(k)g(Y,Z) + k^2 \{g(X,Y)\eta(Z) + g(X,Z)\eta(Y)\}. \end{aligned}$$

 $\forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM),$

This leads to

$$(\nabla_X B)(Y,Z) - (\nabla_Y B)(X,Z) + \tau(X)B(Y,Z) - \tau(Y)B(X,Z)$$

= {X(k) - k² \eta(X) + k\tau(X)}g(Y,Z) - {Y(k) - k² \eta(Y) + k\eta(Y)}g(X,Z).

Replacing X by ξ in this equation and using (2.7) and (3.58), we have

$$\frac{(c+1)}{4} \Big\{ -g(PY, PZ) + 3\mu(PZ)\mu(PX) \Big\} = g(PY, PZ) \Big\{ \xi(k) - k^2 + k\tau(\xi) \Big\}.$$

Choosing $PX = PZ = U \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ together with the fact that $\mu(U) = \overline{g}(U,U) = 1$ and $\tau(\xi) = 0$, the previous equation becomes

$$\xi(k) - k^2 - \frac{(c+1)}{8} = 0.$$

Which gives item (3.57). Setting k = 0 in this equation, we have c = -1, which completes the proof.

Theorem 3.9. There is no K-normalized null hypersurface of para-Sasakian space form $\overline{M}(c)(c \neq -1)$ such that the second fundamental form B is parallel.

Proof. From (2.7) and (3.58), we have

$$\frac{(c+1)}{4} \Big\{ -\overline{g}(Y,Z) + 3\mu(Z)\mu(Y) \Big\} = (\nabla_{\xi}B)(Y,Z) - (\nabla_{Y}B)(\xi,Z) + \tau(\xi)B(Y,Z).$$

Being *B* parallel, choosing $PY = PZ = U \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$ together with the fact that $\tau(\xi) = 0$, $\mu(U) = 1 = g(U, U)$, the previous equation becomes $\frac{(-c-1)}{8} = 0$, that is c = -1, which is a contradiction. Hence, the claim holds.

4. K-NORMALIZED NULL HYPERSURFACES WITH CERTAIN SYMMETRIES

This section deals with locally symmetric and semi-symmetric K-normalized null hypersurfaces of para-Sasakian space forms.

We say that a null hypersurface M is locally symmetric [5], if the following holds

$$(\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z = 0 \quad \forall X,Y,Z,W \in \Gamma(TM).$$

Using Lemma 3.2 in [5], $\forall X, Y, Z, W \ T \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$, we have,

$$\overline{g}((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z,T) = \overline{g}((\nabla_W R)(X,Y)Z,T) + (\nabla_W B)(X,Z)C(Y,T) + B(X,Z)g((\nabla_W A_N)Y,T) - (\nabla_W B)(Y,Z)C(X,T) - B(Y,Z)g((\nabla_W A_N)X,T) - B(Y,Z)\tau(X)C(W,T) + (\nabla_Y B)(X,Z)C(W,T) - (\nabla_X B)(Y,Z)C(W,T),$$
(4.59)

and

$$\overline{g}((\overline{\nabla}_W \overline{R})(X, Y)Z, N) = g((\nabla_W R)(X, Y)Z, N) + B(X, Z)g((\nabla_W (A_N Y), N) - B(Y, Z)g((\nabla_W (A_N X), N) - B(W, X)\overline{R}(N, Y, Z, N) - B(W, Y)\overline{R}(X, N, Z, N).$$
(4.60)

Lemma 4.1. Let $\overline{M}(c)$ be a para-Sasakian space form and \overline{R} the Riemannian curvature tensor of Levi-Civita connection $\overline{\nabla}$. Then we have for any $X, Y, Z, W \in \Gamma(TM)$,

$$(\overline{\nabla}_W \overline{R})(X,Y)Z = \frac{c+1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{g}(Y,Z)\overline{g}(X,\overline{\phi}W)\zeta - \overline{g}(X,Z)\overline{g}(Y,\overline{\phi}W)\zeta + \overline{g}(Y,Z)\overline{\eta}(X)\overline{\phi}W \\ -\overline{g}(X,Z)\overline{\eta}(Y)\overline{\phi}W + \overline{g}(Y,\overline{\phi}W)\overline{\eta}(Z)X - \overline{g}(X,\overline{\phi}W)\overline{\eta}(Z)Y \\ +\overline{g}(Z,\overline{\phi}W)\overline{\eta}(Y)X - \overline{g}(Z,\overline{\phi}W)\overline{\eta}(X)Y \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(4.61)$$

Proof. Proof of the Lemma 4.1 here [9].

The following result is a transversal version of Theorem 4.2 of [9], where it was assumed that the structure vector field is tangent to the null hypersurface.

Theorem 4.1. Let M be K-normalized null hypersurfaces of a para-Sasakian space form $\overline{M}(c)$. If M is locally symmetric, then c = -1. If c = -1, then M is locally symmetric if and only if it is totally geodesic.

Proof. Let $\overline{M}(c)$ be a para-Sasakian space form and M a locally symmetric K-normalized null hypersurface of $\overline{M}(c)$. From (4.61), we have

$$\overline{g}((\overline{\nabla}_W \overline{R})(\xi, Y)\xi, N) = \frac{c+1}{4}\overline{g}(Y, \overline{\phi}W), \quad \forall W \in \Gamma(TM) \text{ and } Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta).$$
(4.62)

From (2.18), we have

$$\overline{g}(\overline{R}(\xi, N)\xi, N) \stackrel{(3.24)-(3.26)}{=} \frac{c-3}{4} - \frac{(c+1)}{4} = -1.$$
(4.63)

By taking $X = \xi$ and $Z = \xi$ in (4.60) and using (4.63)-(4.62), we obtain

$$B(W,Y) = \frac{c+1}{4}\overline{g}(Y,\overline{\phi}W), \qquad (4.64)$$

for any $W \in \Gamma(TM)$ and $Y \in \mathscr{S}(\zeta)$.

Taking Y = U and $W = \xi$ in this equation together with the fact that $\overline{g}(U,U) = 1$, we have c = -1. Hence, the first claim holds. Now, let (M, ζ) K-normalized in $\overline{M}(c)$ with c = -1. If M is locally symmetric, we get B = 0, due to (4.64). Conversely if (M, ζ) is totally geodesic, using (4.59), (4.60) and (3.48), we get

$$g((\nabla_W R)(X, Y)Z, PT) = 0$$
 and $g((\nabla_W R)(X, Y)Z, N) = 0.$

Which completes the proof.

Definition 4.1. [10] We say that M is semi-symmetric if R satisfies $R(X,Y)R = 0 \ \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$, where R(X,Y) operates on R as a derivation of the tensor algebra at each point.

Theorem 4.2. Let $(\overline{M}, \overline{\phi}, K, \overline{\eta}, \overline{g})$ be a para-Sasakian manifold and M be a totally geodesic K-normalized null hypersurface of \overline{M} . If M is semi-symmetric, then \overline{M} is of constant negative curvature along the null hypersurface.

Proof. $\forall X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$, we have

$$(\nabla_Z R)(X,Y)U - R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_Z (R(X,Y)U) - R(\nabla_Z X,Y)U - R(X,\nabla_Z Y)U$$
$$- R(X,Y)\nabla_Z U - R(X,Y)Z.$$
(4.65)

But, from (3.56), we have

 $-R(\nabla$

$$\nabla_{Z}R(X,Y)U = \nabla_{Z}(\tau(Y)X) - \nabla_{Z}(\tau(X)Y)$$

$$= (Z \cdot \tau(Y))X + \tau(Y)\nabla_{Z}X - (Z \cdot \tau(X))Y - \tau(X)\nabla_{Z}Y$$

$$\stackrel{(3.39)}{=} -\mu(\nabla_{Z}Y)X + g(Z,Y)X - \tau(Z)\tau(Y)X + \tau(Y)\nabla_{Z}X + \mu(\nabla_{Z}X)Y - g(Z,X)Y + \tau(Z)\tau(X)Y - \tau(X)\nabla_{Z}Y$$

$$P(\nabla_{Z}X,Y)U - R(X,Y)\nabla_{Z}U \stackrel{(3.56)}{=} -\tau(Y)\nabla_{Z}X + \tau(\nabla_{Z}X)Y - \tau(\nabla_{Z}Y)X + \tau(X)\nabla_{Z}Y + R(X,Y)\nabla_{Z}U - R(X,Y)Z \stackrel{(3.39)}{=} + R(X,Y)Z + \tau(Z)\tau(Y)X - \tau(Z)\tau(X)Y - R(X,Y)Z.$$
(4.66)

Substituting the above equations in (4.65), we have

$$(\nabla_Z R)(X, Y)U - R(X, Y)Z = g(Y, Z)X - g(X, Z)Y.$$
(4.67)
Setting Z = U in (4.67) and using (3.56), we get $\forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$

$$(\nabla_U R)(X,Y)U = R(X,Y)U + g(Y,U)X - g(X,U)Y \stackrel{(3.23)-(3.39)}{=} 0.$$
(4.68)

Next, $\forall X, Y, Z, W \in \Gamma(TM)$

$$0 \stackrel{(3.56)}{=} (R(W,Z)R)(X,Y)U = R(W,Z)R(X,Y)U - R(X,Y)R(W,Z)U - R(R(W,Z)X,Y)U - R(X,R(W,Z)Y)U = \tau(Y)R(W,Z)X - \tau(X)R(W,Z)Y - \tau(Z)R(X,Y)W + \tau(W)R(X,Y)Z - \tau(Y)R(W,Z)X + \tau(R(W,Z)X)Y - \tau(R(W,Z)Y)X + \tau(X)R(W,Z)Y = -\tau(Z)R(X,Y)W + \tau(W)R(X,Y)Z + \tau(R(W,Z)X)Y - \tau(R(W,Z)Y)X
$$\stackrel{(2.8)}{=} -\tau(Z)R(X,Y)W + \tau(W)R(X,Y)Z + \overline{g}(\overline{R}(W,Z)U,X)Y - \overline{g}(\overline{R}(W,Z)U,Y)X \stackrel{(3.43)}{=} \tau(W)\{g(Z,Y)X - g(Z,X)Y + R(X,Y)Z\} - \tau(Z)\{g(W,Y)X - g(W,X)Y + R(X,Y)W\}
$$\stackrel{(4.65)}{=} \tau(W)(\nabla_W R)(X,Y)U - \tau(Z)(\nabla_Z R)(X,Y)U.$$
(4.69)$$$$

Setting W = U in (4.69) and using (4.68), we have $(\nabla_Z R)(X, Y)U = 0$. From this and (4.67), we have R(X, Y)Z = -g(Y, Z)X + g(X, Z)Y, for all $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(TM)$. From this together with (2.7) and (2.8), we have $\overline{g}(\overline{R}(X, Y)Z, W) = -\{\overline{g}(Y, Z)\overline{g}(X, W) - \overline{g}(X, Z)\overline{g}(Y, W)\}$ for all $X, Y, Z, W \in \Gamma(TM)$. Which completes the proof.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank the referees for some useful comments and their helpful suggestions that have improved the quality of this paper.

References

- Acet, B. E., Perktaş, S. Y., & Kılıç, E. (2014). On Lightlike Geometry of Para-Sasakian Manifolds. The Scientific World Journal, 2014(1), 696231.
- [2] Atindogbé, C., & Kemajou Mbiakop, T. (2020). Null hypersurfaces in Brinkmann spacetimes. Bulletin of Mathematical Analysis & Applications, 12(3).
- [3] Atindogbé, C., & Kemajou Mbiakop, T. (2021). Normalized null hypersurfaces in Lorentzian manifolds admitting a conformal vector field. Differential Geometry-Dynamical Systems., 23, 1–17.
- [4] Duggal, K. L., & Bejancu, A. (1996). Lightlike Submanifolds of Semi-Riemannian Manifolds and Applications. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht.

- [5] Güneş, R., Sahin, B., & Kiliç, E. (2003). On lightlike hypersurfaces of semi-Riemannian space. Turkish J. Math, 27, 283-297.
- [6] Gutiérrez, M., & Olea, B. (2016). Induced Riemannian structures on null hypersurfaces. Mathematische Nachrichten, 289, 1219–1236.
- [7] Kaneyuki, S., & Kozai, M. (1985). Paracomplex structures and affine symmetric spaces. Tokyo Journal of Mathematics, 8,81–98.
- [8] Ngakeu, F., Djomako, A. C., & Ndombol, B. (2019). Rigged null hypersurfaces in almost paracontact metric manifolds. Gulf Journal of Mathematics, 7(2).
- [9] Perktas, S. Y., Kilic, E., & Acet, B. E. (2014). Lightlike hypersurfaces of a para-Sasakian space form. Gulf Journal of Mathematics, 2(2).
- [10] Şahin, B. (2007). Lightlike hypersurfaces of semi-Euclidean spaces satisfying curvature conditions of semisymmetry type. Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 31, 139–162.
- [11] Zamkovoy, S. (2009). Canonical connections on paracontact manifolds. Annals of Global Analysis and Geometry, 36, 37–60.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCES, FACULTY OF SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF MAROUA, CAMEROON

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, FACULTY OF SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF DOUALA, CAMEROON.



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:106-124 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

INVESTIGATION OF *-YAMABE CONFORMAL SOLITON ON LP-KENMOTSU MANIFOLDS

Shashikant pandey D *, priyanka almia D, and jaya upreti D

ABSTRACT. The primary objective of this paper is to examine the *-Yamabe conformal soliton, which exhibits a potential vector field that is torse-forming on a Lorentzian Para(LP)-Kenmotsu manifold. Next, we examine the characteristics of the scalar curvature for *-Yamabe conformal soliton on the LP-Kenmotsu manifold. The development of the description of the vector field in the context of the *-Yamabe conformal soliton has been undertaken. Furthermore, we have improved multiple applications of vector fields, specifically the formation of torse on a LP-Kenmotsu manifold, by utilizing a *-Yamabe conformal soliton. At last, we also provide an example for *-Yamabe conformal soliton on three-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold.

Keywords: *-Yamabe conformal soliton, LP-Kenmotsu manifold, conformal killing vector field, torse forming vector field.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53B30, 53C15, 53C25.

1. INTRODUCTION

In subsequent years, para-kenmotsu manifolds gaining significant values for scholarly interest to, prompting numerous authors to elucidate the manifold's obtaining intresting properties. The introduction of LP-Kenmotsu manifolds, also referred to as Lorentzian almost paracontact metric manifolds in [12].

The idea of Ricci flow, which is an evolution equation for metrics on a Riemannian manifold

Received:2023.11.11 Revised:2024.02.02 Accepted:2024.10.21

* Corresponding author

Shashikant Pandey & shashi.royal.lko@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8128-2884 Priyanka Almia & almiapriyanka14@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1958-8022 Jaya Upreti & prof.upreti@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8615-1819. was presented in 1982 [10]. The equation governing the Ricci flow is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} = -2S,\tag{1.1}$$

on a compact Riemannian manifold M equipped with a Riemannian metric g, where S denote the Ricci tensor on M.

A generalization of an Einstein metric is referred to as a Ricci soliton. A Ricci soliton on the manifold M is defined as a triple (g, Ω, α) , where the symbol g represents a Riemannian or semi-Riemannian metric, Ω denotes a vector field known as the potential vector, and real scalar ϑ is such that

$$\pounds_{\Omega}g + 2S + 2\alpha g = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

where \pounds_{Ω} represents the Lie derivative operator acting on the vector field Ω , S denotes the Ricci tensor, g represents the Riemannian metric, Ω is a vector field, and α is a scalar. The Ricci soliton exhibits three distinct behaviors, namely shrinking, steady, and expanding, which correspond to the values of α being negative, zero, and positive, respectively. Ricci solitons have been the subject of investigation by multiple researchers, as evidenced by the works of various authors [1, 8, 16, 17, 18, 19, 24].

The Yamabe flow was first proposed by Hamilton [11] as a method for producing Yamabe metrics on compact Riemannian manifolds. The Yamabe flow is a process by which a time-dependent metric $g(\cdot, t)$ on a Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian manifold M evolves according to a specific equation,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g(t) = -rg(t), \quad g(0) = g_0, \tag{1.3}$$

where r is the scalar curvature of the manifold M.

In the context of two-dimensional spaces, it has been established that the Yamabe flow is mathematically equivalent to the Ricci flow, as stated in [10]. The Ricci flow, characterized by the equation $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g(t) = -2S(g(t))$, involves the Ricci tensor denoted by S. Nevertheless, it is important to acknowledge that in dimension beyond two, the Ricci and Yamabe flow have distinct characteristics. This is due to the fact that, whereas the Yamabe flow preserves the conformal class of the metric, the Ricci flow does not necessarily possess this property. On a Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian manifold (M, g), the definition of a Yamabe soliton may be found. This soliton corresponds to a self-similar solution of the Yamabe flow [2]

$$\frac{1}{2}\pounds_{\Omega}g = (r - \alpha)g, \qquad (1.4)$$

where the symbol $\pounds_{\Omega}g$ represents the Lie derivative of the metric g with respect to the vector field Ω . In this context, r refers to the scalar curvature, and α is a constant. Furthermore, it is stated that a Yamabe soliton exhibits expanding, steady behavior, or shrinking depending on the sign of α , which can be positive, zero, or negative, respectively. If α is a smooth function, the equation (1.4) is referred to as an almost Yamabe soliton according to the [2]. Numerous researchers have examined the solitons on contact manifolds following the emergence of Ricci soliton as well as the Yamabe soliton [6, 7, 9, 21].

The concept of conformal Ricci soliton [20, 21] was introduced by Basu and Bhattacharyya [3] in 2015 as

$$\pounds_{\Omega}g + 2S = \left[2\alpha - \left(q + \frac{2}{n}\right)\right]g. \tag{1.5}$$

In the above context, the symbol S is employed to designate the Ricci tensor, q represents a scalar non-dynamical field that exhibits temporal variation, α symbolizes a constant, and n signifies the dimension of the manifold.

The earliest proposals for the *-Ricci tensor on almost Hermitian manifolds and the *-Ricci tensor on real hypersurfaces in non-flat complex space were put forward by Tachibana [23] and Hamada [13], respectively. In their works, the *-Ricci tensor is precisely defined as follows:

$$S^{*}(X,Y) = \frac{1}{2} (Tr\{\varphi \ o \ R(X,\varphi Y)\}), \tag{1.6}$$

for any vector fields X and Y defined on a manifold M^n , let φ be a (1, 1)-tensor field and the trace operator is denoted by Tr.

If the equation $S^*(X, Y) = \vartheta g(X, Y) + \varrho \eta(X) \eta(Y)$ holds for all vector fields X and Y, where ϑ and ϱ are smooth functions, then the manifold is referred to as a *- η -Einstein manifold. Moreover, if $\varrho = 0$, that is, if $S^*(X, Y) = \vartheta g(X, Y)$ for every vector fields X and Y, and thus the manifold can be characterized as *-Einstein.

In 2014, Kaimakamis and Panagiotidou [14] proposed the notion of a *-Ricci soliton, which can be precisely characterized as

$$\pounds_{\Omega}g + 2R^* + 2\alpha g = 0, \tag{1.7}$$

where X and Y are vector fields defined on the manifold M^n , and for any constant α . By utilizing equations (1.4), (1.5), and (1.7) as references, we proceed to establish the concept of a *-Yamabe conformal soliton as follows: **Definition 1.1.** A manifold (M, g) of dimension n that is Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian is considered to admit a *-Yamabe conformal soliton if

$$(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(X,Y) + \left[2\alpha - 2r^* - \left(q + \frac{2}{n}\right)\right]g(X,Y) = 0, \qquad (1.8)$$

for any vector fields X and Y, the Lie derivative of the metric g along the vector field Ω is denoted by $\pounds_{\Omega}g$. Here, $r^* = Tr(S^*)$ represents the *-scalar curvature, and α is a constant. The classification of *-Yamabe conformal solitons to be as either shrinking, steady, or shrinking depending on the sign of α , which can be positive, zero, or negative, respectively. If the vector field Ω can be expressed as the gradient of a smooth function h (i.e., $\Omega =$ grad(h)) on the manifold M, then the equation (1.8) is referred to as a *-Yamabe conformal gradient soliton.

In contrast, in the context of a Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian manifold (M, g), a vector field v is said to be torse-forming if it does not have any points where it vanishes [27]. Then,

$$\nabla_X v = \chi X + \varsigma(X)v, \tag{1.9}$$

where ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection associated with the metric g, χ is a smooth function while ς is a 1-form. Furthermore, the vector field v is referred to as concircular (see [4, 26]) if the 1-form ς disappears in the same way, in the equation (1.9). The vector field denoted by the symbol v is known as the concurrent [22, 28] if, in equation (1.9), the 1-form ς vanishes identically and the function χ is equal to 1. The vector field v is referred to as recurrent if the function χ in equation (1.9) is equal to zero. Finally, when $\chi = \varsigma = 0$ in (1.9), the vector field v is often known as a parallel vector field.

In 2017, Chen [5] introduced an innovative vector field known as the torque-vector field. A vector field v is referred to as a torqued vector field if it satisfies equation (1.9) with $\varsigma(v) = 0$. In the present scenario, the function χ is commonly referred to as the torqued function, while the 1-form ς is regarded as the torqued form of v.

The framework of the article is as follows:

In the second section, following a concise introduction, we have presented several essential findings that will be utilized in subsequent sections. In Section 3, we have constructed a *-Yamabe conformal soliton that admits a LP-Kenmotsu manifold. The properties of the soliton, specifically the Laplacian of the smooth function, have also been established. The manifold has been characterized in cases where the vector field exhibits conformal killing

properties. In the subsequent section, we have presented a demonstration of various properties pertaining to vector fields on *-Yamabe conformal soliton. Section 4 presents a series of results that establish the existence of torse producing vector fields and *-Yamabe conformal solitons on manifolds with a given metric. Section 5 of this study focuses on the practical implementation of the Laplace equation within the fields of gravity and physics. Section 6 presents the construction of an exemplary scenario to provide evidence for the presence of a *-Yamabe conformal soliton on a three-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold. Let M be an n-dimensional Lorentzian metric manifold.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some fundamental notations and formulas of almost para contact metric manifolds.

Let M be an (2n+1)-dimensional Lorentzian metric manifold. This means that it is endowed with a structure (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) , where ϕ is a (1,1)-type tensor field, ξ is a Reeb vector field, η is a 1-form on M and g is a Lorentzian metric tensor satisfying [25]

$$\phi^2(X) = X + \eta(X)\xi, \ \eta(\xi) = -1, \ \eta \ o \ \phi = 0, \ \phi\xi = 0,$$
 (2.10)

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (2.11)$$

$$g(X,\phi Y) = g(\phi X, Y), \qquad (2.12)$$

$$g(X,\xi) = \eta(X), \tag{2.13}$$

for all vector fields X, Y. Then (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) is said to be Lorentzian almost paracontact metric manifold.

Theorem 2.1. [12, 15] A Lorentzian almost paracontact metric manifold (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) is called Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifold if and only if

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = -g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X, \qquad (2.14)$$

for all vector fields $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$, where ∇ and $\Gamma(TM)$ denote the Levi-Civita connection and differentiable vector fields set on M respectively.

Corollary 2.1. Let (M, ϕ, ξ, η, g) be a Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifold. Then, we have

$$\nabla_X \xi = -X - \eta(X)\xi. \tag{2.15}$$

In a LP-Kenmotsu manifold, the following relations are hold,

$$\eta(R(X,Y)Z) = g(R(X,Y)Z,\xi) = g(Y,Z)\eta(X) - g(X,Z)\eta(Y),$$
(2.16)

$$R(X,Y)\xi = \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y, \qquad (2.17)$$

$$R(X,\xi)Y = \eta(Y)X - g(X,Y)\xi,$$
(2.18)

where R denotes the Riemannian Curvature tensor.

$$S(X,\xi) = 2n\eta(X), \tag{2.19}$$

$$S(\phi X, \phi Y) = S(X, Y) + 2n\eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (2.20)$$

$$(\nabla_X \eta)Y = -g(X,Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y), \qquad (2.21)$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(M)$.

It is now understood,

$$\pounds_{\xi}g(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\xi,Y) + g(X,\nabla_Y\xi), \qquad (2.22)$$

for any vector fields $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(M)$.

Subsequently, by employing equations (2.15) and (2.22), we obtain

$$\pounds_{\xi}g(X,Y) = -2[g(X,Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)].$$
(2.23)

Proposition 2.1. The *-Ricci tensor on a (2n+1)-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold is expressed as

$$S^*(X,Y) = S(X,Y) + 2ng(X,Y).$$
(2.24)

Furthermore, by selecting $X = \sigma^i$ and $Y = \sigma^i$ in the aforementioned equation, where σ^i governs the elements of a local orthonormal frame and doing a summation across the range of *i* from 1 to 2n + 1, we may get the following result

$$r^* = r + 4n^2 + 2n, \tag{2.25}$$

where r^* represents the *-scalar curvature of the manifold M.

3. Main Results

Proposition 3.1. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension satisfies the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, ξ, α) , where the reeb vector field ξ , subsequently the soliton can be put into distinct categories as either expanding, steady, or shrinking, the outcome is contingent upon the inequality $r + 4n^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \leq 0$.

Proof. Let us consider a manifold M of the dimension (2n + 1) that is equipped with a LP- Kenmotsu structure. When we substitute $\Omega = \xi$ into the equation of the * - Yamabe conformal soliton (2.15) on the manifold M, we obtain

$$(\pounds_{\xi}g)(X,Y) + \left[2\alpha - 2r^* - \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y) = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

for every vector fields X and Y belonging to the set of vector fields on M. From (2.23) and (2.25), the above equation can be rewritten

$$\left[\alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - 1\right]g(X,Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y) = 0.$$
(3.27)

Substituting $Y = \xi$ into the above equation and referring to equation (2.10), we obtain

$$\left[\alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]\eta(X) = 0.$$
(3.28)

Since $\eta(X) \neq 0$, the equation presented above can be expressed as

$$\alpha = r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right).$$
(3.29)

The proof is concluded.

Corollary 3.1. If the metric g of a flat para-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension satisfies the *-Yamabe conformal soliton, then, the soliton exhibits expanding, steady, or shrinking behavior depending on the expression value $4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \leq 0$, for the reeb vector field ξ .

Proof. Considering the fact that the manifold has a flat, denoted by r = 0, we can deduce from equation (3.29) that α is equal to $4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$.

Therefore, the evidence presented substantiates the claim.

Proposition 3.2. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension satisfies the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) , where Ω is the gradient of a smooth function h, then the Laplacian equation satisfied by h is

$$\Delta(h) = -(2n+1) \left[\alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2} \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1} \right) \right].$$

$$\square$$

Proof. In this investigation, we will take into account a *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) that is defined on a (2n + 1)-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold M as

$$(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(X,Y) + \left[2\alpha - 2r^* - \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y) = 0$$
(3.30)

for each vector fields $X, Y \in \Gamma(M)$.

By substituting $X = Y = \sigma^i$ into the aforementioned equation, where σ^i denotes a local orthonormal frame, and a summation from i = 1 to 2n + 1, with the aid of equation (2.25), we obtain

$$div\Omega + (2n+1)\left[\alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right] = 0.$$
(3.31)

Given that the vector field Ω can be expressed as the gradient of a smooth function h on the manifold M, we can rewrite equation (3.31) as follows:

$$\Delta(h) = -(2n+1) \left[\alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2} \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1} \right) \right].$$
(3.32)

The symbol $\triangle(h)$ denotes the Laplacian equation, which is satisfied by the function h. The proof is concluded.

Based on the aforementioned theorem, it is possible to assert

Remark 3.1. Consider a (2n + 1)-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold with metric g. Let this metric satisfy the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) . The vector field Ω exhibits solenoidal behavior if and only if the scalar curvature becomes $\alpha - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}(q + \frac{2}{2n+1})$.

Proof. Given the vector field Ω is solenoidal, meaning that its divergence is zero, i.e., $div\Omega = 0$, equation (3.31) yields

$$r = \alpha - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right).$$
(3.33)

On the other hand, let us consider the scalar curvature of the manifold, denoted as r. It can be expressed as $r = \alpha - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$.

Subsequently, by referencing equation (3.31), it can be deduced that the divergence of vector field Ω is zero, thereby indicating that Ω possesses solenoidal characteristics. Therefore, the evidence provided confirms the claim.

Definition 3.1. If the following relation holds,

$$(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(X,Y) = 2\Phi g(X,Y), \tag{3.34}$$

then the vector field ξ is called as a conformal Killing vector field. Where Φ represents a function of the coordinates, specifically a conformal scalar.

Furthermore, in the case where Φ is not always the same, the conformal killing vector field Ω is often denoted as proper. Furthermore, in the case where Φ remains constant, the vector field Ω is referred to as a homothetic vector field. Conversely, when the constant Φ takes on a non-zero value, Ω is characterized as a proper homothetic vector field. If Φ is equal to zero in the aforementioned equation, the symbol Ω is commonly used to denote a vector field known as a killing vector field.

Based on the aforementioned definition, it is possible to assert

Proposition 3.3. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension conforms to the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) . Subsequently, Ω is (i) proper vector field if the expression $r + 4n^2 - \alpha + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ is not constant, (ii) homothetic vector field if the expression $r + 4n^2 - \alpha + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ is constant, (iii) proper homothetic vector field if the expression $r + 4n^2 - \alpha + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ is constant, (iii) proper homothetic vector field if the expression $r + 4n^2 - \alpha + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ has a non-zero value,

(iv) killing vector field if the expression $\alpha = r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ where Ω represents a conformal Killing vector field.

Proof. Consider a (2n+1)-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold M equipped with a *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) , where Ω represents a conformal killing vector field. When utilizing equations (1.8), (2.25), and (3.34) and substituting $Y = \xi$, the following result is obtained

$$\left[\Phi + \alpha - r - 4n^2 - 2n - \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]\eta(X) = 0.$$
(3.35)

Given that $\eta(X) \neq 0$, we can deduce that

$$\Phi = r + 4n^2 - \alpha + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right).$$
(3.36)

The proof is concluded.

Proposition 3.4. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension conforms to the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) , then we have the vector Ω and its metric dual 1-form ϕ fulfills the given relation,

$$(divH)\Omega + S(Y,\Omega) = 0,$$

and

$$\nabla_X |\Omega|^2 + 2g(FX, \Omega) - (\pounds_\Omega g)(X, \Omega) = 0,$$

where S stands for the Ricci tensor.

Proof. By utilizing the Lie derivative property, we are able to express

$$(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X\Omega,Y) + g(\nabla_Y\Omega,X), \qquad (3.37)$$

for arbitrary vector fields X and Y.

Subsequently, by utilizing (2.25) and (3.37), (1.8) can be expressed as

$$g(\nabla_X \Omega, Y) + g(\nabla_Y \Omega, X) + \left[2\alpha - 2(r + 4n^2 + 2n) - \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X, Y) = 0. \quad (3.38)$$

The symbol ϕ represents a 1-form, which possesses a metric equivalence to the vector field Ω . Consequently, it can be expressed as $\phi(X) = g(X, \Omega)$, where X denotes any vector field. The mathematical representation of the exterior derivative $d\phi$ may be stated in the following manner

$$2(d\phi)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X \Omega, Y) - g(\nabla_Y \Omega, X).$$
(3.39)

Given that $d\phi$ is skew-symmetric, we can proceed to define a tensor field H of type (1, 1) by

$$(d\phi)(X,Y) = g(X,HY), \qquad (3.40)$$

then H is skew self-adjoint, it satisfies the property of g(X, HY) = -g(HX, Y). Equation (3.40) can be expressed as

$$(d\phi)(X,Y) = -g(HX,Y).$$
 (3.41)

By utilizing (3.41), (3.39) can be transformed

$$g(\nabla_X \Omega, Y) - g(\nabla_Y \Omega, X) = -2g(HX, Y).$$
(3.42)

By combining equations (3.42) and (3.38) in simultaneously performing a common factorization of the variable Y, we obtain

$$\nabla_X \Omega = -HX - \left[\alpha - (r + 4n^2 + 2n) - \frac{1}{2} \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1} \right) \right] X.$$
 (3.43)

By substituting the aforementioned equation into the expression $R(X, Y)\Omega = \nabla_X \nabla_Y \Omega - \nabla_Y \nabla_X \Omega - \nabla_{[X,Y]}\Omega$, we obtain

$$R(X,Y)\Omega = (\nabla_Y H)X - (\nabla_X H)Y.$$
(3.44)

Upon observing that $d\phi$ is closed, we can derive

$$g(X, (\nabla_Z H)Y) + g(Y, (\nabla_X H)Z) + g(Z, (\nabla_Y H)X) = 0.$$
(3.45)

By taking the inner product of equation (3.44) with respect to Z, we obtain

$$g(R(X,Y)\Omega,Z) = g((\nabla_Y H)X,Z) - g((\nabla_X H)Y,Z).$$
(3.46)

Given that H is skew-adjoint, it follows that $\nabla_X H$ is also skew-adjoint. Subsequently, by employing (3.45), (3.46) can be expressed as

$$g(R(X,Y)\Omega,Z) = g(X,(\nabla_Z H)Y).$$
(3.47)

By substituting $X = Z = \sigma^i$ into the given equation, where σ^i governs the elements of a local orthonormal frame and doing a summation across the range of *i* from 1 to 2n + 1, we may get the following result

$$div(H)Y - S(Y,\Omega) = 0, (3.48)$$

where divH refers to the a divergence of the tensor field denoted by H.

In this step, we will calculate the covariant derivative of the squared g-norm of Ω utilizing (3.43) in the following manner:

$$\nabla_X |\Omega|^2 = 2g(\nabla_X \Omega, \Omega)$$

$$= -2g(HX,\Omega) - \left[2\alpha - 2(r+4n^2+2n) - \left(q+\frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,\Omega).$$
(3.49)

Once again, employing equations (1.8) and (2.25), we obtain

$$(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(X,Y) = -\left[2\alpha - 2r - 8n^2 - 4n - \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y).$$
(3.50)

Subsequently, by employing (3.50), (3.49) can be transformed

$$\nabla_X |\Omega|^2 + 2g(HX, \Omega) - (\pounds_\Omega g)(X, \Omega) = 0.$$
(3.51)

And thus, the evidence is presented.

4. Some Results on the LP-Kenmotsu Manifold for the *-Yamabe conformal soliton with Torse-forming vector field

By utilizing the equation (1.9) that describes the torse forming vector field, it is possible to assert

Proposition 4.1. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n + 1) dimension satisfies the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) , where a torse forming vector field v, we can express $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - \frac{\varsigma(v)}{(2n+1)}$ and the soliton exhibits expanding, steady, shrinking according as $r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - \frac{\varsigma(v)}{(2n+1)} \leq 0$.

Proof. Given that (g, v, α) be a *- Yamabe conformal soliton defined on a (2n+1)-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold M, where a torse-forming vector field v, we can derive the following equations from (1.8) and (2.25):

$$(\pounds_{v}g)(X,Y) + \left[2\alpha - 2r - 8n^{2} - 4n - \left(p + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y) = 0.$$
(4.52)

The notation $(\pounds_{v}g)(X,Y)$ represents the Lie derivative of the metric g with respect to the vector field v.

Now, utilizing (2.15), we obtain

$$(\pounds_{\upsilon}g)(X,Y) = g(\nabla_X \upsilon, Y) + g(X, \nabla_Y \upsilon)$$

= $2\chi g(X,Y) + \varsigma(X)g(\upsilon,Y) + \varsigma(Y)g(\upsilon,X),$ (4.53)

for every $X, Y \in M$.

Subsequently, by referring to equations (4.52) and (4.53), we obtain.

$$\left[r+4n^2-\alpha-\chi+2n+\frac{1}{2}\left(q+\frac{2}{2n+1}\right)\right]g(X,Y) = \frac{1}{2}\left[\varsigma(X)g(v,Y)+\varsigma(Y)g(X,v)\right].$$
 (4.54)

By contracting the above equation throughout X and Y, we obtain

$$\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2} \left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1} \right) - \frac{\varsigma(\upsilon)}{(2n+1)}.$$
(4.55)

The proof is now concluded.

Based on the aforementioned theorem, it is possible to assert that,

Corollary 4.1. If the metric g of a LP-Kenmotsu manifold with (2n+1) dimension satisfies the *-Yamabe conformal soliton (g, Ω, α) , where a torse forming vector field v, Consequently, if v is

(i) concircular, the equation becomes $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$. The soliton is

either expanding, steady, shrinking depending on the value of the expression $r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \stackrel{\leq}{>} 0.$ (ii) concurrent, the equation becomes $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - 1 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$. The soliton is either expanding, steady, shrinking depending on the value of the expression $r + 4n^2 - 1 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \stackrel{\leq}{=} 0$.

(iii) recurrent, the equation may be written as $\alpha = r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - \frac{\varsigma(v)}{(2n+1)}$. The soliton is either expanding, steady, shrinking depending on the value of the expression $r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - \frac{\varsigma(v)}{(2n+1)} \leq 0$.

(iv) parallel, the equation becomes $\alpha = r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$. The soliton is either expanding, steady, shrinking depending on the value of the expression $r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \leq 0$.

(v) torqued, the equation becomes $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$. The soliton is either expanding, steady, shrinking depending on the value of the expression $r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) \stackrel{\leq}{=} 0$.

Proof. In (4.55), if the 1-form ς disappears the same way, meaning that v becomes concircular, then α can be expressed as $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$.

In the given equation (4.55), if the 1-form ς disappears the same way and the function χ is equal to 1, then v becomes concurrent. Consequently, the expression for α can be simplified to $r + 4n^2 - 1 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}(q + \frac{2}{2n+1})$.

In equation (4.55), when the function χ is equal to zero, meaning that v becomes recurrent, the expression for α is given by $r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right) - \frac{\varsigma(v)}{(2n+1)}$.

When $\chi = \varsigma = 0$ in equation (4.55), which means that v becomes parallel, the expression for α simplifies to $r + 4n^2 + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$.

Lastly, in equation (4.55), when $\varsigma(v) = 0$, In this context, the symbol v can be interpreted as a torqued vector field. Consequently, the expression $\alpha = r + 4n^2 - \chi + 2n + \frac{1}{2}\left(q + \frac{2}{2n+1}\right)$ can be derived.

Thus, the evidence is provided.

5. Applications of Laplace Equation in Physics and Gravity

The Laplace equation is a second-order partial differential equation that finds extensive application in physics due to its solution, known as harmonic functions. These functions arise in various contexts, including the determination of electrical, magnetic, and gravitational potentials, steady-state temperatures, and hydrodynamics problems. • Both the real and imaginary components of a complex analytic function satisfy the Laplace equation. That is if z = x + iy and f(x, y) = u(x, y) + iv(x, y), the essential requirement for the function f(z) to possess analyticity is that the real part u and the imaginary part v satisfy the C-R equation, $u_x = v_y$, $u_y = -v_x$, the symbols u_x and u_y represent the first partial derivatives of the function u with respect to the variables x and y, respectively and v_x and v_y represent the first partial derivatives of the function v with respect to the variables x and y, respectively. Consequently, $u_{yy} = (-v_x)_y = -(v_y)_x = -(u_{xx})$. Hence, the function u fulfills the Laplace equation.

• In the given situation, whereby a specific area demonstrates a charge density of zero, while allowing for non-zero charge densities at its limits, the electric potential V inside that zone conforms to the Laplace equation. By solving the Laplace equation, we can determine the electric potential, a crucial quantity that allows us to easily calculate the electric field using the equation $E = \nabla V$. Consequently, we can determine the force experienced by a charge using the equation F = qE. In the field of physics, numerous intriguing scenarios arise wherein our focus lies on the potential within regions characterized by a zero charge density. Conventional examples include both the inside and outside regions of a charged hollow sphere, as well as the exterior portion of charged metal plates. The fact that each of the situations has a unique combination of boundary conditions is one of the things that makes the Laplace equation so intriguing.

In a broad context, the gravitational and electric potentials, represented by the symbol V, adhere to Poisson's equation, which is expressed as $\nabla^2 V = L(x, y, z)$, where L(x, y, z) represents the given charged density. The equation of Laplace and the equation of Poisson are two of the simplest examples of a type of partial differential equations known as elliptical PDEs.Laplace was the pioneer in introducing a multitude of intriguing mathematical techniques that have been employed to solve electrical partial differential equations (PDEs).

• In the field of electrostatics, as per Maxwell's equation, a two-dimensional electric fluid (u_1, u_2) , which is not dependent on time, fulfills the following conditions:

$$\nabla \times (u_1, u_2, 0) = ((u_2)_x - (u_1)_y)\hat{k_1}$$

where $\hat{k_1}$ is the standard unit vector and

$$\nabla \cdot (u_1, u_2) = Q.$$

The symbol Q is used to denote the charge density.

The equation of Laplace is applicable to three-dimensional scenarios in the fields of electrostatics and fluid dynamics, similar to its utilization in two-dimensional contexts.

• Furthermore, it is worth noting that this phenomenon also finds applications in the field of gravity. Let \tilde{g} , $\tilde{\rho}$, and G denote the gravitational field, mass density, and gravitational constant, respectively. The differential expression representing Gauss's law for gravity may be stated as follows:

$$\nabla \cdot \tilde{g} = -4\pi G \tilde{\rho}.$$

Furthermore, the equation $\nabla^2 V = 4\pi G\tilde{\rho}$ represents Poisson's gravitational field equations. The physical significance of this scenario can be understood by considering Proposition 3.2 and the equation (3.32). This equation represents a Laplace equation with a potential vector field of gradient type.

The Laplace equation for gravitational fields, $\nabla^2 V = 0$, is true in empty space with $\tilde{\rho} = 0$.

6. Example

We examine the 3-dimensional manifold $M = \{(l_1, l_2, l_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3, (l_1, l_2, l_3) \neq (0, 0, 0)\}$, in the context of \mathbb{R}^3 , the coordinates (l_1, l_2, l_3) are referred to as standard coordinates. The vector fields referred to in the context are

$$\sigma^1 = l_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_1}, \quad \sigma^2 = l_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_2}, \quad \sigma^3 = l_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_3}$$

are linearly independent at every point of M.

Let g denote the Riemannian metric that is defined by

$$g(\sigma^1, \sigma^2) = g(\sigma^2, \sigma^3) = g(\sigma^3, \sigma^1) = 0,$$

$$g(\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = g(\sigma^2, \sigma^2) = 1, \ g(\sigma^3, \sigma^3) = -1.$$

Let 1-form η that is defined by $\eta(Z) = g(Z, \sigma^3)$, for any $Z \in \Gamma(M)$, Let $\Gamma(M)$ denote the collection of all differentiable vector fields on the manifold M and ϕ denote the (1, 1)-tensor field that is defined by

$$\phi\sigma^1 = -\sigma^1, \quad \phi\sigma^2 = -\sigma^2, \quad \phi\sigma^3 = 0.$$

By utilizing the property of linearity for both ϕ and g, we can deduce that

$$\eta(\sigma^3) = -1, \ \phi^2 X = X + \eta(X)\sigma^3, \ g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y),$$

for every $X, Y \in \chi(M)$. Therefore, when $\sigma^3 = \xi$, the tuple (ϕ, ξ, η, g) establishes a Lorentzian almost paracontact metric structure on the manifold M.

Consider the Levi-Civita connection denoted by ∇ , which is associated with the Riemannian metric g. Subsequently, we possess

$$[\sigma^1, \sigma^2] = 0, \quad [\sigma^1, \sigma^3] = -\sigma^1, \quad [\sigma^2, \sigma^3] = \sigma^2.$$

The connection ∇ associated with the metric g is defined in the following manner

$$2g(\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg(Y, Z) + Yg(Z, X) - Zg(X, Y) - g(X, [Y, Z]) - g(Y, [X, Z]) + g(Z, [X, Y]),$$

which is referred to as Koszul's formula.

Using Koszul's formula, it is straightforward to compute

$$\nabla_{\sigma^1} \sigma^1 = \sigma^3, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^1} \sigma^2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^1} \sigma^3 = -\sigma^1,$$
$$\nabla_{\sigma^2} \sigma^1 = 0, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^2} \sigma^2 = \sigma^3, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^2} \sigma^3 = -\sigma^2,$$
$$\nabla_{\sigma^3} \sigma^1 = 0, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^3} \sigma^2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{\sigma^3} \sigma^3 = 0.$$

Based on the aforementioned, it can be deduced that the manifold fulfills the equation $\nabla_X \xi = -X - \eta(X)\xi$, where $\xi = \sigma^3$. Therefore, the manifold under consideration can be classified as a LP-Kenmotsu manifold.

In addition to this, the Riemannian curvature tensor, denoted by R, can be represented as

$$R(X,Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} R(\sigma^{1},\sigma^{2})\sigma^{2} &= -\sigma^{1}, \quad R(\sigma^{1},\sigma^{3})\sigma^{3} = -\sigma^{1}, \quad R(\sigma^{2},\sigma^{1})\sigma^{1} = -\sigma^{2}, \\ R(\sigma^{2},\sigma^{3})\sigma^{2} &= -\sigma^{2}, \quad R(\sigma^{3},\sigma^{1})\sigma^{1} = -\sigma^{3}, \quad R(\sigma^{3},\sigma^{2})\sigma^{2} = -\sigma^{3}, \\ R(\sigma^{1},\sigma^{2})\sigma^{3} &= 0, \quad R(\sigma^{2},\sigma^{3})\sigma^{1} = 0, \quad R(\sigma^{3},\sigma^{1})\sigma^{2} = 0. \end{split}$$

Next, the Ricci tensor S is expressed as

$$S(\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = -2, \quad S(\sigma^2, \sigma^2) = -2, \quad S(\sigma^3, \sigma^3) = -2.$$
 (6.56)

Furthermore, the scalar curvature transforms

$$r = \sum_{i=1}^{3} S(\sigma_i, \sigma_i) = -2.$$
(6.57)

By utilizing equations (2.24) and (6.56),

$$S^*(\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = 0, \quad S^*(\sigma^2, \sigma^2) = 0, \quad S^*(\sigma^3, \sigma^3) = -4.$$
 (6.58)

Hence,

$$r^* = Tr(S^*) = 4. (6.59)$$

Let us consider the potential vector field as $\Omega = 2l_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_1} + 2l_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_2} + l_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial l_3}$. Then $(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = -2g(\pounds_{\Omega}\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = 2$. similarly, $(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(\sigma^1, \sigma^1) = 2$, $(\pounds_{\Omega}g)(\sigma^3, \sigma^3) = 0$. Therefore, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} (\pounds_{\Omega} g)(\sigma^{i}, \sigma^{i}) = 4.$$
(6.60)

Now putting $X = Y = \sigma^i$ in the (1.8), by performing a summation across the range of *i* from 1 to 3 and using equations (6.59) and (6.60), the resulting expression is derived.

$$\alpha = \frac{3q+14}{6} \tag{6.61}$$

The aforementioned α , as defined, fulfills equation (3.31), therefore it can be deduced that g sets up an *-Yamabe conformal soliton on the 3-dimensional LP-Kenmotsu manifold M.

7. CONCLUSION

In this study, we examine intriguing findings regarding the Lorentzian Para-Kenmotsu metric, specifically its characterization as a *-conformal soliton with a torse forming vector field. Additionally, we provide an illustrative example of such a manifold. In this study, we also present derived outcomes concerning *-Yamabe conformal solitons featuring a torse-forming vector field on the respective manifold. In addition, we explore various applications of the Laplace equation in the fields of Physics and Gravity.

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend our appreciation to the referees for generously dedicating their time and providing us with their insightful comments. The second author expresses gratitude for the research fellowship (SRF) provided by the Department of Science and Technology (DST), New Delhi (No. DST/INSPIRE Fellowship/2019/IF190040).

References

- Ali, M., & Ahsan, Z. (2012). Ricci solitons and the symmetries of the spacetime manifold of general relativity. Global J. Advanced Research on classical and Modern Geometries, 1, 75-84.
- [2] Barbosa, E., & Ribeiro, E. Jr. (2013). On conformal solutions of the Yamabe flow Arch. Math. 101, 79-89.
- [3] Basu, N., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2015). Conformal Ricci soliton in Kenmotsu manifold. Global Journal of Advanced Research on classical and Modern Geometries, 4, 15-21.
- [4] Chen, B. Y. (2014). A simple characterization of generalized Robertson-Walker space-times. Gen. Relativity Gravitation, 46, 1-5.
- [5] Chen, B. Y. (2017). Classification of torqued vector fields and its applications to Ricci solitons. Kragujevac J. Math, 41, 239-250.
- [6] Cao, H. D., Sun, X., & Zhang Y. (2012). On the structure of gradient Yamabe solitons. Math. Res. Lett., 19, 767-774.
- [7] Cho, J. T., & Kimura, M. (2009). Ricci solitons and real hypersurfaces in a complex space form. Tohoku Math. J., 61, 205-212.
- [8] De, U. C. (2010). Ricci soliton and gradient Ricci soliton on P-Sasakian manifolds. The Aligarh Bull. of Maths., 29, 29-34.
- [9] Ghosh, A. (2020). Yamabe soliton and Quasi Yamabe soliton on Kenmotsu manifold. Mathematica Slovaca, 70, 151-160.
- [10] Hamilton, R. S. (1982). Three manifold with positive Ricci curvature. J. Diff. Geom., 17, 255-306.
- [11] Hamilton, R. S. (1988). The Ricci flow on surfaces. Contemporary Mathematics, 71, 237-261.
- [12] Haseeb, H., & Prasad, R. (2021). Certain results on Lorentzian para Kenmotsu manifolds. Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat., 39(3), 201-220.
- [13] Hamada, T. (2002). Real hypersurfaces of complex space form in terms of Ricci *-tensor. Tokyo J. Math., 25, 473-483.
- [14] Kaimakamis, G., & Panagiotidou, K. (2014). *-Ricci solitons of real hypersurface in non-flat complex space forms. Journal of Geometry and Physics, 76, 408-413.
- [15] Kenmotsu, K. (1972). A class of almost contact Riemannian manifolds. Tohoku Math. J., 24, 93-103.
- [16] Pandey, S., Singh, A., & Bahadir, O. (2022). Some Geometric properties of η-Ricci solitons on threedimensional quasi-para-Sasakian manifolds. Balkan Journal of Geometry and its Applications, 27, 89-102.
- [17] Pandey, S., Singh, A., & Bahadir, O. (2022). Certain results of Ricci soliton on 3-dimensional Lorentzian para Sasakian manifolds. International Journal of Maps in Mathematics, 5(2), 139-153.
- [18] Pandey, S., Singh, A., & Prasad, R. (2022). Some Geometric Properties of η_* Ricci Solitons on α -Lorentzian Sasakian Manifolds. Kyungpook Math. J., 62, 737-749.
- [19] Pandey, S., Singh, A., & Prasad, R. (2022). Eta Star-Ricci solitons on Sasakian manifolds. Differential geometry-dynamical systems, 24, 164-176.
- [20] Roy, S., Dey, S., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2020). Conformal Ricci solitons on 3-dimensional trans-Sasakain manifold. Jordan Journal of Mathematics and statistics, 13, 89-109.

- [21] Roy, S., Dey, S., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2022). *-conformal η-Ricci soliton on Sasakian manifold. Asian-European Journal of Mathematics, 15, 2250035.
- [22] Schouten, J. A. (1954). Ricci Calculus. Berlin.
- [23] Tachibana, S. (1959). On almost-analytic vectors in almost K\"ahlerian manifolds. Tohoku Math. J., 11, 247-265.
- [24] Tarun, M., De, U. C., & Yildiz, A. (2012). Ricci solitons and gradient Ricci solitons in three-dimensional trans-Sasakian manifolds. Filomat, 26, 363-370.
- [25] Tripathi, M. M., & De, U. C. (2001). Lorentzian almost paracontact manifolds and their submanifolds. The Pure and Applied Mathematics, 8.2, 101-125.
- [26] Yano, K. (1940). Concircular geometry I. Concircular transformations. Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo., 16, 195-200.
- [27] Yano, K. (1944). On the torse-forming directions in Riemannian spaces. Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo, 20, 340-345.
- [28] Yano, K. & Chen, B. Y. (1971). On the concurrent vector fields of immersed manifolds. Kodai Math. Sem. Rep., 23, 343-350.

(S. Pandey) Department of Mathematics and Astronomy, University of Lucknow, Lucknow 226007, Uttar Pradesh, India

(P. Almia) Department of Mathematics, Soban Singh Jeena Campus, Kumaun University, Nainital, Uttarakhand, 263001, India

(P. Almia) Department of Mathematics, Graphic Era Hill University, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, 248002, India

(J. Upreti) Department of Mathematics, Soban Singh Jeena Campus, SSJ University, Almora, Uttarakhand, 263601, India



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:125-149 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

STABILITY OF A MICROTEMPERATURES DAMPED POROUS-ELASTIC SYSTEM WITH NONLINEAR DISSIPATION AND NONLINEAR DISTRIBUTED DELAY

Mohamed houasni D * and abdelkarim kelleche D

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we consider a one-dimensional porous-elastic system with a nonlinear dissipation and a nonlinear distributed delay subjected to microtemperatures effects. We establish an energy decay rate by using a perturbed energy method and some properties of convex functions, but regardless of the wave speeds of the system. Our result is new and extends some previous results to nonlinearity case.

Keywords: Decay, micro-temperatures, nonlinear distributed delay, nonlinear damping, Porous elasticity.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35B40, 93D05, 93D15, 74F05.

1. INTRODUCTION

In this present work, we aim to study the following nonlinear damped porous elastic system having a nonlinear distributed delay

$$\begin{aligned}
\rho u_{tt} - \mu u_{xx} - b\varphi_x + \gamma h_1 (u_t) + \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) h_2 (u_t(x, t-s)) \, ds &= 0, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+, \\
J\varphi_{tt} - \delta\varphi_{xx} + k_1 \omega_x + bu_x + \xi\varphi &= 0, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+, \\
\langle \tau w_t + k_2 w + k_1 \varphi_{tx} - k_3 \omega_{xx} &= 0, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+.
\end{aligned}$$
(1.1)

subjected to microtemperature effects and nonlinear damping, with the mixed boundary conditions

$$u(0,t) = \varphi(1,t) = w(0,t) = u_x(1,t) = \varphi_x(0,t) = w_x(1,t) = 0.$$
(1.2)
Received: 2024.07.15 Revised: 2024.10.17 Accepted: 2024.10.23

* Corresponding author

Mohamed Houasni m.houasni@univ-dbkm.dz https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1966-9201

Abdelkarim Kelleche \diamond a.kelleche@univ-dbkm.dz \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8364-4041.

The evolution equations for one-dimensional theories of porous materials with temperature and microtemperature is given by

$$\begin{cases} \rho u_{tt} = T_x, \quad J\phi_{tt} = H_x + G, \\ \rho \eta_t = q_x, \quad \rho E_t = P_x + q - Q \end{cases}$$

Here G is the equilibrated body force, T is the stress, H is the equilibrated stress, η is the entropy, q is the heat flux, P is the first heat flux moment, Q is the mean heat flux and E is the first moment of energy. The variables u and ϕ are, respectively, the displacement of the solid elastic material and the volume fraction. The constitutive equations are

$$\begin{cases} T = \mu u_x + b\phi + \gamma u_{tx} - \beta\theta, & H = \delta\phi_x - dw, \\ G = -bu_x - \xi\phi + m\theta - \sigma\phi_t, & \eta = \beta u_x + c\theta + m\phi, \\ q = \kappa\theta_x + \kappa_1 w, & P = -\kappa_2 w_x, \\ Q = \kappa_3 w + \kappa_4 \theta_x, & \rho E = -\alpha w - d\phi_x. \end{cases}$$

Where $\rho, J, \mu, b, \gamma, \delta, d, \xi, m, \tau, \beta, c, \kappa, \kappa_1, \kappa_2, \kappa_3, \kappa_4$ and α are the constitutive coefficients whose physical meaning is well known. It is worth noting that θ and w are the temperature and microtemperatures, respectively.

The coefficients of the system, in one-dimensional case, satisfy

$$\xi > 0, \quad \delta > 0, \quad \mu > 0, \quad \rho > 0, \quad J > 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \mu \xi \ge b^2,$$

where b is a real number different from zero. On the other hand, we assume that the thermal conductivity κ and the thermal capacity c are positive, which means that thermal effects are present. While, if microtemperatures are considered, parameters α , κ_2 and κ are positive. γ and σ are nonnegative. If $\sigma > 0$ and $\gamma > 0$, it means that the system is subjected to porous dissipation and viscoelastic dissipation, respectively.

In the absence of thermal effect (i.e $\kappa = 0$), Dridi and Djebabla [17] considered the following system

$$\rho u_{tt} = \mu u_{xx} + b\varphi_x - \gamma \theta_x, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,$$

$$J\varphi_{tt} = \delta \varphi_{xx} - bu_x - \xi \varphi - dw_x + m\theta - \beta \varphi_t, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,$$

$$c\theta_t = -\gamma u_{tx} - m\varphi_t - k_1 w_x, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,$$

$$\alpha w_t = k_2 w_{xx} - k_3 w - k_1 \theta_x - d\varphi_{tx}, \text{ in } (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,$$

with Neumann (on φ , θ)-Dirichlet (on u, w) boundary conditions. In which they proved that the combination of porous-viscosity and microtemperature stabilized the system exponentially regardless of the coefficients of system. In [36], Saci and Djebabla are concerned with the following system

$$\rho u_{tt} = \mu u_{xx} + b\varphi_x - \gamma \theta_x, \text{ in } (0,1) \times (0,\infty),$$

$$J\varphi_{tt} = \delta \varphi_{xx} - bu_x - \xi \varphi - dw_x + m\theta, \text{ in } (0,1) \times (0,\infty),$$

$$c\theta_t = -\gamma u_{tx} - m\varphi_t - k_1 w_x, \text{ in } (0,1) \times (0,\infty),$$

$$\alpha w_t = k_2 w_{xx} - k_3 w - k_1 \theta_x - d\varphi_{tx}, \text{ in } (0,1) \times (0,\infty),$$
(1.3)

they improved the result obtained in Dridi and Djebabla [17] by proving that a unique dissipation given by microtemperatures is sufficiently strong enough to produce exponential stability in absence of both thermal conductivity and the porous dissipation (i.e. $\kappa = \beta = 0$), under a new stability number given by

$$\chi = \frac{\mu}{\rho} - \frac{\delta}{J} - \frac{\gamma^2}{c\rho}.$$

By neglecting the nonlinear damping (i.e. $\gamma = 0$) and the nonlinear distributed delay, we obtain the system

$$\begin{cases} \rho u_{tt} - \mu u_{xx} - b\varphi_x = 0, \text{ in } (0, L) \times (0, \infty), \\ J\varphi_{tt} - \delta\varphi_{xx} + k_1\omega_x + bu_x + \xi\varphi = 0, \text{ in } (0, L) \times (0, \infty), \\ \tau w_t + k_2w + k_1\varphi_{tx} - k_3\omega_{xx} = 0, \text{ in } (0, L) \times (0, \infty). \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

This system has been studied by Santos et al. [37] with fractional dissipation damping $(\sigma \varphi_t)$ in the second equaton, they concluded that the case (i.e $\sigma = 0$) is an interesting open problem. Apalara [4] provided a solution to this last by considered the system (1.4) under the following Neumann (on φ)-Dirichlet (on u, w) boundary conditions

$$u(0,t) = u(1,t) = \varphi_x(0,t) = \varphi_x(1,t) = w(0,t) = w(1,t) = 0, t > 0,$$

and established the same results of Santos et al. [37] in the absence of porous dissipation (i.e $\sigma = 0$), he showed that the unique dissipation given by microtemperature damping is strong enough to exponentially stabilize the system if and only if the wave speeds of the system are equal

$$\left(\frac{\rho}{\mu} = \frac{J}{\delta}\right).$$

Now, let us recall some results about the effect of nonlinear damping mechanisms on similar problems, Apalara [3] considered the following porous system:

$$\begin{cases} \rho u_{tt} - \mu u_{xx} - b\phi_x = 0, & x \in (0,1), t > 0, \\ J\phi_{tt} - \delta\phi_{xx} + bu_x + \xi\phi + \alpha(t)g(\phi_t) = 0, & x \in (0,1), t > 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

the term $\alpha(t)g(\phi_t)$ is the nonlinear damping, which subjected on the second equation. He established a general and an explicit decay rate result for the energy of system (1.5) with the condition of same speed of propagation, that is

$$\frac{\mu}{\rho} = \frac{\delta}{J}.\tag{1.6}$$

It is worth mentioning that in the case of $\mu = b = \xi$, the system (1.5) becomes

$$\rho u_{tt} - \mu (u_x + \phi)_x = 0, \qquad x \in (0, 1), t > 0,$$

$$J\phi_{tt} - \delta\phi_{xx} + \mu (u_x + \phi) + \alpha(t)g(\phi_t) = 0, \quad x \in (0, 1), t > 0,$$
(1.7)

which is a Timoshenko system with nonlinear damping. Alabau-Boussouira [2] studied (1.7) with $\alpha(t) = 1$ and proved a general semi-explicit formula for the decay rate of the energy at infinity with the condition (1.6). Mustafa and Messaoudi [28] considered (1.7) with all the coefficients $\rho = \mu = J = \delta = 1$ and obtained a general and an explicit decay result, depending on α and g.

Among the most important property of a physical system is the time delay by which the response to a subjected force is delayed in its effect (see [38]). The original study of this effect on a system was first introduced by Datko et al. [15] in 1986 when they showed that the presence of the delay may not only destabilize a system which is asymptotically stable in the absence of the delay but may also lead to ill-posedness (see also [30] and [32]). On the other hand, it has been established that voluntary introduction of delay can benefit the control (see [1]). Choucha et al. [13] considered a porous thermoelastic system with microtemperature effect, temperatures and distributed delay terms. they proved the well posedness of the system, and established an exponential stability of its solution. Moumen et al. [29] are concerned with one-dimensional porous-elastic systems with nonlinear damping, infinite memory and distributed delay terms, they proved that the solution energy has an explicit and optimal decay for the cases of equal and nonequal speeds of wave propagation. We refer the interested readers to [3, 5, 7, 10, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 25, 27, 33, 34, 40, 41] and references therein for details discussion on the subject.

According to these observations and results above, one can ask the following questions:

1) Is it possible to stabilize system (1.5) with nonlinear damping and nonlinear distributed delay (nonlinearity case) sebjected in the first equation? If so, does the stabilization of the system depend on a relationship between the coefficients of the system?

2) What assumptions can be made about h_1 and h_2 to ensure the stabilization of the system?

In the present work, we shall give an answers to these questions by considering (1.1) under appropriate assumptions on the weight of the delay and without imposing any restrictive growth assumption on the damping term at the origin, we establish an energy decay rate by using a perturbed energy method and some properties of convex functions. These arguments of convexity were introduced and developed by Cavalcanti et al. [12], Daoulatli et al. [14], Lasiecka [23], and used by Liu and Zuazua [26] and others. We obtain our results regardless of the wave speeds χ of the system which was mentioned in [4, 37]. Our result then extends some previous results to nonlinearity case.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we shall present some definitions and preliminaries for well study of our problem (1.1). Throughout this paper, c or c_i , i = 1, 2 represent a positive constant and C_p is used to denote the Poincaré-type constant.

Concerning the delay term, we introduce the following variable:

$$u_t(x, t-rs) := \vartheta(x, r, t, s), \ x \in (0, 1), \ r \in (0, 1), \ s \in (\tau_1, \tau_2), \ t > 0,$$

which satisfies

$$s\vartheta_t(x,r,t,s) + \vartheta_r(x,r,t,s) = 0, \ x \in (0,1), r \in (0,1), s \in (\tau_1,\tau_2), t > 0.$$

Consequently, system (1.4) becomes

$$\rho u_{tt} - \mu u_{xx} - b\varphi_x + \gamma h_1(u_t) + \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) h_2(\vartheta(x, 1, t, s)) ds = 0, \text{ in } (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,
J\varphi_{tt} - \delta\varphi_{xx} + k_1\omega_x + bu_x + \xi\varphi = 0, \text{ in } (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,
\tau w_t + k_2w + k_1\varphi_{tx} - k_3w_{xx} = 0, \text{ in } (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}_+,
s\vartheta_t(x, r, t, s) + \vartheta_r(x, r, t, s) = 0, \text{ in } (0, 1) \times (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times (\tau_1, \tau_2),
u(x, 0) = u_0(x), u_t(x, 0) = u_1(x), \varphi(x, 0) = \varphi_0(x), \varphi_t(x, 0) = \varphi_1(x),
u_t(x, t - \rho_s) := \vartheta(x, r, t, s), r \in (0, 1), s \in (\tau_1, \tau_2),
\vartheta(x, r, 0, s) = f_0(x, -rs), x \in (0, 1), s \in (\tau_1, \tau_2).$$
(2.8)

With the mixed boundary conditions

$$u(0,t) = \varphi(1,t) = w(0,t) = u_x(1,t) = \varphi_x(0,t) = w_x(1,t) = 0.$$
(2.9)

Next, we suppose that h_1 and h_2 satisfy the following assumptions:

(A1). $h_1 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous and non-decreasing function with h(0) = 0 such that there exist positive constants k_1 , k_2 and l and a convex, continuous and increasing function $h: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ of class $C^1(\mathbb{R}_+) \cap C^2(]0, +\infty[)$ satisfying: h'' = 0 on [0, l] or (h'(0) = 0 and h'' > 0 on (0, l] such that

$$h(s^{2} + h_{1}^{2}(s)) \leq h_{1}(s) s \text{ for } |s| \leq l,$$

$$k_{1}s^{2} \leq h_{1}(s) s \leq k_{2}s^{2} \text{ for } |s| > l.$$
(2.10)

(A2). $h_2 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is an odd non-decreasing Lipschitz function such that there exist positive constants α_1, α_2, c satisfying

$$\alpha_1 s h_2(s) \le \Gamma_2(s) \le \alpha_2 s h_1(s), \tag{2.11}$$

where $\Gamma_2(s) = \int_0^s h_2(r) dr$.

In addition, for address the case of nonlinear delay, we assume there exists a positive constant σ such that

$$\|\mu(s)\|_{\infty} \frac{1-\alpha_1}{\alpha_1} < \sigma \text{ and } 0 < \gamma - \sigma \alpha_2 (\tau_2 - \tau_1) - \alpha_2 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) ds.$$
 (2.12)

Remark 2.1. 1) Hypothesis (A1) implies that $sh_1(s) > 0$, for all $s \neq 0$.

- 2) The hypothesis (A1) with l = 1 was first introduced by Lasiecka and Tataru [24].
- 3) By the mean value Theorem for integrals and the monotonicity of h_2 , it follows that

$$\Gamma_2(s) = \int_0^s h_2(r) dr \le sh_2(s), \tag{2.13}$$

consequently, $\alpha_1 \leq \alpha_2 \leq 1$.

Let us now give an example for functions h_1 and h_2 .

Example 2.1. Let the function $h_1(r) = r^{\kappa}, r \in (0, 1]$ (i.e l = 1), and $\kappa \ge 1$. $h'_1(r) = \kappa r^{\kappa - 1}$ which is strictly positive. In the neighborhood of 0, let us set the function h defined by

$$h(r) = c_{\kappa} r^{\frac{\kappa+1}{2}},$$

where $c_{\kappa} = (2\kappa)^{-\frac{\kappa+1}{2}}$. So, for $\kappa = 1, h$ is linear on [0, 1], otherwise strictly convex on (0, 1], h'(0) = 0 and h'' > 0 on (0, 1]. In addition, we have

$$h^{-1}(r) = 2\kappa r^{\frac{2}{\kappa+1}}.$$

Now, let r be near 0, (2.10) can be deduced from fact that $r^{\kappa} + r^{2\kappa} \leq 2\kappa r^2$. Next, suppose we set the non-decreasing odd function $h_2(r) = 3^{-\kappa}r^3$ ($h'_2 \geq 0$), then $rh_2(r) \leq rh_1(r)$ on (0,1]. Then, (2.13) follows automatically, that is $\Gamma_2(r) = \frac{3^{-\kappa}}{4}r^4 \leq rh_2(r) = 3^{-\kappa}r^4$, since $\Gamma_2(r) \leq rh_1(r)$, taking $\alpha_1 \leq \frac{1}{4}$ and $\alpha_2 \geq \alpha_1$, (2.11) is deduced.

3. Well possedness

In this section, we shall study the well-posedness of solutions to problem (1.1)-(1.2). We give existence and uniqueness results for our system using the semigroup theory. First, let us denote by $\vartheta(.)$ to $\vartheta(x, r, t, s)$, $\vartheta(1)$ to $\vartheta(x, 1, t, s)$ and $\vartheta(0)$ to $\vartheta(x, 0, t, s)$. Next, if we denote $U = (u, v, \varphi, \psi, w, \vartheta)^T$, where $v = u_t$, and $\psi = \varphi_t$, then, system can be rewritten as follows:

$$\begin{cases} U_t + \mathcal{A}U = 0, t > 0, \\ U(x,0) = U_0(x) = (u_0, u_1, \varphi_0, \varphi_1, w_0, f_0)^T. \end{cases}$$

The operators $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{A}U = \begin{pmatrix} -v \\ -\frac{\mu}{\rho}u_{xx} - \frac{b}{\rho}\varphi_x + \frac{\gamma}{\rho}h_1(u_t) + \frac{1}{\rho}\int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2}\mu(s)h_2(\vartheta(1))ds \\ -\psi \\ -\frac{\delta}{J}\varphi_{xx} + \frac{b}{J}u_x + \frac{\xi}{J}\varphi + \frac{k_1}{J}w_x \\ -\frac{k_3}{\tau}w_{xx} + \frac{k_2}{\tau}w + \frac{k_1}{\tau}\psi_x \\ \frac{1}{s}\vartheta_r \end{pmatrix},$$

and \mathcal{H} is the energy space given by

$$\mathcal{H} = H^1_*(0,1) \times L^2(0,1) \times H^1_\diamond(0,1) \times L^2(0,1) \times H^1_*(0,1) \times L^2((0,1) \times (0,1) \times (\tau_1,\tau_2)),$$

such that

$$\begin{split} H^1_*(0,1) &= \left\{ u \in H^1(0,1) : u(0) = 0 \right\}, \\ H^1_\diamond(0,1) &= \left\{ \varphi \in H^1(0,1) : \varphi(1) = 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

The domain of \mathcal{A} is given by

$$D(\mathcal{A}) = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} U = (u, v, \varphi, \psi, w, \vartheta) \mid \\ u, w \in H^2(0, 1) \cap H^1_*(0, 1), v \in H^1_*(0, 1), \\ \varphi \in H^2(0, 1) \cap H^1_\diamond(0, 1), \psi \in H^1_\diamond(0, 1), \\ \vartheta \in H^1_0((0, 1); H^1(0, 1)), \\ u_x(1) = w_x(1) = \varphi_x(0) = 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$

For any $U = (u, v, \varphi, \psi, w, \vartheta)^T \in \mathcal{H}, \tilde{U} = (\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, \tilde{\varphi}, \tilde{\psi}, \tilde{w}, \tilde{\vartheta})^T \in \mathcal{H}$, we equip \mathcal{H} with the inner product defined by

$$\langle U, \tilde{U} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \mu \int_{0}^{1} u_{x} \tilde{u}_{x} dx + \rho \int_{0}^{1} v \tilde{v} dx + \xi \int_{0}^{1} \varphi \tilde{\varphi} dx + \delta \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{x} \tilde{\varphi}_{x} dx$$

$$+ b \int_{0}^{1} (u_{x} \tilde{\varphi} + \tilde{u}_{x} \varphi) dx + J \int_{0}^{1} \psi \tilde{\psi} dx + \tau \int_{0}^{1} w \tilde{w} dx$$

$$+ \sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s |\mu(s)| \vartheta(.) \tilde{\vartheta}(.) ds dr dx.$$

$$(3.14)$$

Remark 3.1. Under the condition $\alpha \xi > b^2$, it is easy to see that (3.14) defines an inner product.

Note that

$$\xi\varphi^{2} + 2bu_{x}\varphi + \mu u_{x}^{2} = \frac{1}{\mu} \left[(\mu\xi - b^{2})\varphi^{2} + (\mu u_{x} + b\varphi)^{2} \right] \ge 0.$$
(3.15)

For any $U, \tilde{U} \in D(\mathcal{A})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{A}+m\mathcal{I})\,U-\left(\mathcal{A}+m\mathcal{I}\right)\tilde{U} \\ & = \begin{pmatrix} -(v-\widetilde{v})+m\,(u-\widetilde{u}) \\ \left(-\frac{\mu}{\rho}\left(u_{xx}-\widetilde{u}_{xx}\right)-\frac{b}{\rho}\left(\varphi_{x}-\widetilde{\varphi}_{x}\right)+\frac{\gamma}{\rho}\left(h_{1}(v)-h_{1}(\widetilde{v})\right) \\ +m\,(v-\widetilde{v})+\frac{1}{\rho}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\mu(s)\left[h_{2}(\vartheta(1))-h_{2}(\widetilde{\vartheta}(1))\right]ds \end{pmatrix} \\ & -\left(\psi-\widetilde{\psi}\right)+m\,(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi}) \\ -\frac{\delta}{J}\left(\varphi_{xx}-\widetilde{\varphi}_{xx}\right)+\frac{b}{J}\left(u_{x}-\widetilde{u}_{x}\right)+\frac{\xi}{J}\left(\varphi-\widetilde{\varphi}\right)+\frac{k_{1}}{J}\left(w_{x}-\widetilde{w}_{x}\right)+m\left(\psi-\widetilde{\psi}\right) \\ & -\frac{k_{3}}{\tau}\left(w_{xx}-\widetilde{w}_{xx}\right)+\frac{k_{2}}{\tau}\left(w-\widetilde{w}\right)+\frac{k_{1}}{\tau}\left(\psi_{x}-\widetilde{\psi}_{x}\right)+m\left(w-\widetilde{w}\right) \\ & \frac{1}{s}\left(\vartheta_{r}-\widetilde{\vartheta}_{r}\right)+m\left(\vartheta-\widetilde{\vartheta}\right) \end{aligned}\right),\end{aligned}$$

then, using (3.15) and the fact that h_1 is a non-decreasing function, we get for L_{h_2} the Lipschitz constant for h_2 ,

$$\langle (\mathcal{A} + m\mathcal{I}) U - (\mathcal{A} + m\mathcal{I}) \tilde{U}, (U - \tilde{U}) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$$

$$= m \int_{0}^{1} \left(\underbrace{\mu \left(u_{x} - \tilde{u}_{x} \right)^{2} + \xi \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi} \right)^{2} + 2b \left(u_{x} - \tilde{u}_{x} \right) \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi} \right)}_{\geq 0} \right) dx$$

$$+ m \int_{0}^{1} \left(J \left(\psi - \tilde{\psi} \right)^{2} + \xi \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi} \right)^{2} + \delta \xi \left(\varphi_{x} - \tilde{\varphi_{x}} \right)^{2} \right) dx$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} \left(k_{3} \left(w_{x} - \tilde{w}_{x} \right)^{2} + (\tau m + k_{2}) \left(w - \tilde{w} \right)^{2} \right) dx$$

$$+ \left(m - \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) ds \right) \int_{0}^{1} \left(v - \tilde{v} \right)^{2} dx$$

$$\begin{split} &+\gamma \int_{0}^{1} \underbrace{\left(h_{1}(v)-h_{1}(\widetilde{v})\right)(v-\widetilde{v})}_{\geq 0} dx \\ &+\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \left(v-\widetilde{v}\right) \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \left(h_{2}\left(\vartheta(1)\right)-h_{2}\left(\widetilde{\vartheta}(1)\right)\right) ds dx \\ &+\frac{\sigma}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \left(\vartheta(1)-\widetilde{\vartheta}(1)\right)^{2} ds dx \\ &+\sigma m \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s) \left(\vartheta-\widetilde{\vartheta}\right)^{2} ds dr dx. \end{split}$$

Then, by using Young's inequality, then for small ϵ and sufficiently large m, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle (\mathcal{A} + m\mathcal{I}) U - (\mathcal{A} + m\mathcal{I}) \tilde{U}, \left(U - \tilde{U}\right) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \\ &\geq m \int_{0}^{1} \left(\underbrace{\mu \left(u_{x} - \tilde{u}_{x}\right)^{2} + \xi \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi}\right)^{2} + 2b \left(u_{x} - \tilde{u}_{x}\right) \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi}\right)}_{\geq 0} \right) dx \\ &+ m \int_{0}^{1} \left(J \left(\psi - \tilde{\psi}\right)^{2} + \xi \left(\varphi - \tilde{\varphi}\right)^{2} + \delta \xi \left(\varphi_{x} - \tilde{\varphi}_{x}\right)^{2} \right) dx \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} \left(k_{3} \left(w_{x} - \tilde{w}_{x}\right)^{2} + (\tau m + k_{2}) \left(w - \tilde{w}\right)^{2} \right) dx \\ &+ \left(m - \frac{\sigma}{4\epsilon} - \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) ds \right) \int_{0}^{1} \left(v - \tilde{v}\right)^{2} dx \\ &+ \gamma \int_{0}^{1} \underbrace{\left(h_{1}(v) - h_{1}(\tilde{v})\right) \left(v - \tilde{v}\right)}_{\geq 0} dx \\ &+ \left(\frac{\sigma}{2} - \epsilon L_{h_{2}}^{2}\right) \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \left(\vartheta(1) - \tilde{\vartheta}(1)\right)^{2} ds dx \\ &+ \sigma m \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s \mu(s) \left(\vartheta - \tilde{\vartheta}\right)^{2} ds dr dx \\ &\geq 0, \end{split}$$

which implies that \mathcal{A} is a *m*-accretive operator. One can prove that $\mathcal{A} + mI$ is a maximal monotone operator. for this latter, it is sufficient to demonstrate that $R(\lambda I + \mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{H}$ for a large constant λ . From the fact that $D(\mathcal{A})$ is dense in \mathcal{H} (see Proposition 7.1 in [11]) and the nonlinear semigroup theory [8, 9, 39], we can give the following well-posedness result.

Proposition 3.1. Assume (A1)-(A2) hold and let $U_0 \in \mathcal{H}$, then there exists a unique solution $U \in C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{H})$ of problem (2.8). Moreover, if $U_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$, then

$$U \in C(\mathbb{R}_+, D(\mathcal{A})) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{H}).$$

Now, let us recall few of some known algebraic and integral inequalities.

Lemma 3.1. ([11], Hölder's Inequality) Let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, assume that $f \in L^{p}(\Omega)$ and $g \in L^{q}(\Omega)$ then, $fg \in L^{1}(\Omega)$ and

$$\int_{\Omega} |fg| \, dx \le \|f\|_p \, \|g\|_q \,. \tag{3.16}$$

Lemma 3.2. [11] (Poincaré's inequality) Suppose I is a bounded interval. Then there exists a constant C (depending on $|I| < \infty$) such that

$$\|u\|_{W^{1,p}(I)} \le C \|u'\|_{L^{p}(I)}, \text{ for all } u \in W^{1,p}_{0}(I).$$
(3.17)

Lemma 3.3. ([11], Cauchy-Schwarz Inequality) Every inner product satisfies the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle \le \|x_1\| \, \|x_2\| \,. \tag{3.18}$$

The equality sign holds if and only if x_1 and x_2 are dependent.

Lemma 3.4. [11] (Young's Inequality) For all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we have

$$ab \le \epsilon a^2 + \frac{b^2}{4\epsilon},\tag{3.19}$$

where ϵ is any positive constant.

Next, Let us denote by h^* the conjugate function in the sense of Young of a convex function h (see [6], p. 64), that is,

$$h^{*}(p) = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}_{+}} (pt - h(t)).$$

Assume that h'' > 0, then for $p \ge 0$ a given number, h^* is the Legendre transform of h (see Liu and Zuazua [26]), which is given by

$$h^{*}(p) := p \left[h' \right]^{-1}(p) - h(\left[h' \right]^{-1}(p)), \qquad (3.20)$$

and which satisfies the following inequality

Lemma 3.5. [31] (Young's Inequality for the convex functions) Let h a convex function, h^* its conjugate in the sense of Young, we have

$$px \le h(x) + h^*(p) \quad \forall p, x \ge 0.$$
 (3.21)

Remark 3.2. Thanks to (3.20), along with (2.11), we write

$$h^{*}(h_{2}(\vartheta(1))) = \vartheta(1)h_{2}(\vartheta(1) - h(\vartheta(1)))$$

$$\leq (1 - \alpha_{1})\vartheta(1)h_{2}(\vartheta(1).$$
(3.22)

Next, for $\epsilon_0>0$ we define the functions J and K as below

$$J(t) := \begin{cases} t, & \text{if } h'' = 0 \text{ on } [0, l] \\ th'(\epsilon_0 t), & \text{if } h'(0) = 0 \text{ and } h'' > 0 \text{ on } (0, l] \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

and

$$K(t) = \int_{t}^{1} \frac{1}{J(s)} \, ds \tag{3.24}$$

respectively.

Remark 3.3. The relation (3.20) and the fact that h(0) = 0 and $(h')^{-1}$, h are increasing functions yield

$$h^{*}(p) \le p [h']^{-1}(p) \quad \forall p \ge 0.$$
 (3.25)

4. General decay

In this section, we give some lemmas allow us to prove the stability result o the solution. We define the functional energy of solutions of problem (1.1)-(1.2) as follows:

$$E(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 \left(\rho u_t^2 + J\varphi_t^2 + \delta \varphi_x^2 + \underbrace{\xi \varphi^2 + 2b u_x \varphi + \mu u_x^2}_{\geq 0} + \tau w^2 \right) dx + \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} s\mu(s) \Gamma_2(\vartheta(.)) ds dr dx.$$
(4.26)

Lemma 4.1. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9). Then the energy functional E(t), satisfies

$$E'(t) \leq -k_2 \int_0^1 w^2 dx - k_3 \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx -c \left[\int_0^1 u_t h_1(u_t) dx + \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \right] \leq 0.$$
(4.27)

Proof. We multiply $(2.8)_1$ by u_t , $(2.8)_2$ by φ_t , and $(2.8)_3$ by w and then integrate over (0, 1), we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{0}^{1} \left[\rho u_{t}^{2} + J\varphi_{t}^{2} + \delta\varphi_{x}^{2} + \underbrace{\xi \varphi^{2} + 2bu_{x}\varphi + \mu u_{x}^{2}}_{\geq 0} + \tau w^{2} \right] dx \qquad (4.28)$$

$$+ \gamma \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}h_{1}\left(u_{t}\right) dx + \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)u_{t}h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx$$

$$= -k_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w^{2} dx - k_{3} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x}^{2} dx.$$

Now, by multiplying the fourth equation in (2.8) by $\sigma |\mu(s)| h_2(\vartheta(x, r, t, s))$, and integrating over $(0, 1) \times (\tau_1, \tau_2) \times (0, 1)$, using integration by parts, the definition of Γ_2 , and the boundary conditions, gives

$$\begin{split} \sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} s\mu(s)\vartheta_{t}h_{2}(\vartheta(.))drdsdx &= -\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \mu(s)\vartheta_{r}h_{2}(\vartheta(.))drdsdx \\ \sigma \frac{d}{dt} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} s\mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))drdsdx &= -\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial r}\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))drdsdx \\ &= -\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx \\ &+ \sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(0))dsdx \\ &= -\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx \end{split}$$

$$(4.29)$$

The combination of (4.28)- (4.29) gives us

$$E'(t) = -\gamma \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}h_{1}(u_{t}) dx - \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)u_{t}h_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx$$
$$-\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx - k_{3} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x}^{2}dx$$
$$+\sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(u_{t}) dsdx - k_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w^{2}dx.$$
(4.30)

So, by return to the convex conjugate of Γ_2 , taking $p = h_2(\vartheta(1))$ and $x = u_t$, we get

$$u_t h_2(\vartheta(1)) \leq \Gamma_2^* \left(h_2(\vartheta(1)) \right) + \Gamma_2 \left(u_t \right), \tag{4.31}$$

where,
$$\Gamma_2^*(h_2(\vartheta(1))) = \vartheta(1)h_2(\vartheta(1)) - \Gamma_2(\vartheta(1)).$$
 (4.32)

Using (4.30)- (4.32) and (A2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} E'(t) &\leq -\gamma \int_0^1 u_t h_1\left(u_t\right) dx + \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\ &+ (\sigma+1) \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \Gamma_2\left(u_t\right) ds dx - (\sigma+1) \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \Gamma_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\ &- k_2 \int_0^1 w^2 dx - k_3 \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx \\ &\leq - \left[\gamma - \alpha_2 \sigma \left(\tau_2 - \tau_1\right) - \alpha_2 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) ds\right] \int_0^1 u_t h_1\left(u_t\right) dx \\ &- \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \left[\frac{\alpha_1 \sigma}{\|\mu(s)\|_{\infty}} - (1 - \alpha_1)\right] \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\ &- k_2 \int_0^1 w^2 dx - k_3 \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx. \end{split}$$

Finally, by using (2.12) we obtain (4.27).

Lemma 4.2. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9). Then, the functional

$$I_1(t) = \frac{d}{4} \int_0^1 u_t u dx - \tau \int_0^1 w \left(\int_0^x u_t(y) dy \right) dx, t \ge 0,$$

satisfies, for $\eta, d > 0$ and $\forall t \ge 0$

$$I_{1}'(t) \leq \left(c\eta - \frac{\mu d}{8\rho}\right) \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}^{2} dx + d \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}^{2} dx + (3c_{1} + 2c\eta) \int_{0}^{1} w^{2} dx \qquad (4.33)$$
$$+ c_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\varphi_{t}^{2} + \varphi^{2} + w_{x}^{2}\right) dx + \frac{c}{\eta} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\+ \frac{c}{2\eta} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}^{2}(u_{t}) dx.$$

Proof. Differentiating $I_1(t)$ and integrating by parts, we get

$$I_{1}'(t) = \frac{d}{4} \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}^{2} dx - \frac{\mu d}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}^{2} dx - \frac{bd}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi u_{x} dx \qquad (4.34)$$

$$- \frac{\gamma d}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}(u_{t}) u dx - \frac{d}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} u \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx$$

$$+ k_{3} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x} u_{t} dx + k_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w \left(\int_{0}^{x} u_{t}(y) dy \right) dx - k_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t} u_{t} dx$$

$$+ \frac{\tau \mu}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} w u_{x} dx + \frac{\tau b}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} w \varphi dx$$

$$+ \frac{\tau \gamma}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} w \left(\int_{0}^{x} h_{1}(u_{t}) dy \right) dx + \frac{\tau}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} w \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \left(\int_{0}^{x} h_{2}(\vartheta(y,1)) dy \right) ds dx.$$

By using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (3.18), we obtain

$$\left(\int_0^x u_t(y) dy \right)^2 \leq \left(\int_0^1 u_t \, dx \right)^2 \leq \int_0^1 u_t^2 \, dx,$$

$$\left(\int_0^x h_1(u_t) \, dy \right)^2 \leq \left(\int_0^1 h_1(u_t) \, dx \right)^2 \, dx \leq \int_0^1 h_1^2(u_t) \, dx,$$

$$\left(\int_0^x h_2(\vartheta(y,1)) dy \right)^2 \leq \left(\int_0^1 h_2(\vartheta(1)) \, dx \right)^2 \, dx \leq \int_0^1 h_2^2(\vartheta(1)) dx.$$

Next, On account of (2.13), (3.21), and (3.22), we obtain

$$h_2^2(\vartheta(x,1,t,s)) \le 2\vartheta(x,1,t,s)h_2(\vartheta(x,1,t,s)).$$

$$(4.35)$$

Then, using Young's inequality (3.19), Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and (4.35), we get

$$-\frac{bd}{4\rho}\int_{0}^{1}\varphi u_{x}dx \leq \frac{d\mu}{16\rho}\int_{0}^{1}u_{x}^{2}dx + \frac{c_{1}}{2}\int_{0}^{1}\varphi^{2}dx, \qquad (4.36)$$

$$\frac{\tau\mu}{\rho} \int_0^1 w u_x dx \le \frac{d\mu}{16\rho} \int_0^1 u_x^2 dx + c_1 \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.37)$$

$$k_2 \int_0^1 w \left(\int_0^x u_t(y) dy \right) dx \leq \frac{d}{4} \int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + c_1 \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.38)$$

$$-k_1 \int_0^1 \varphi_t u_t dx \leq \frac{d}{4} \int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + c_1 \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx, \qquad (4.39)$$

$$k_3 \int_0^1 w_x u_t dx \leq \frac{d}{4} \int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + c_1 \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx, \qquad (4.40)$$

$$\left| -\frac{\gamma d}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}\left(u_{t}\right) u dx \right| \leq \frac{c}{4\eta} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}^{2}\left(u_{t}\right) dx + c\eta \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}^{2} dx, \qquad (4.41)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| -\frac{d}{4\rho} \int_{0}^{1} u \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) h_{2}(\vartheta(1) ds dx \right| &\leq \eta c_{p} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) ds \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}^{2} dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\eta} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) h_{2}^{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx, \\ &\leq + \frac{c}{2\eta} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \end{aligned}$$

$$+c\eta \int_0^1 u_x^2 dx, \qquad (4.42)$$

$$\frac{\tau b}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} w\varphi dx \leq c_{1} \int_{0}^{1} w^{2} dx + \frac{c_{1}}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi^{2} dx, \qquad (4.43)$$

$$\frac{\tau\gamma}{\rho} \int_0^1 w\left(\int_0^x h_1(u_t) \, dy\right) dx \le \frac{c}{4\eta} \int_0^1 h_1^2(u_t) \, dx + c\eta \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \tag{4.44}$$

$$\frac{\tau}{\rho} \int_0^1 w \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \left(\int_0^x h_2(\vartheta(y,1)) dy \right) ds dx \leq \frac{c}{2\eta} \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx + c\eta \int_0^1 w^2 dx.$$

$$(4.45)$$

By substituting (4.36)-(4.45) into (4.34), we get (4.33).

Lemma 4.3. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9). Then the functional

$$I_2(t) := J \int_0^1 \varphi_t \varphi dx - \frac{b\rho}{\mu} \int_0^1 u_t \left(\int_0^x \varphi(y) dy \right) dx, t \ge 0,$$

satisfies, for any $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, the following estimate

$$I_{2}'(t) \leq -\frac{\delta}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{x}^{2} dx - \lambda \int_{0}^{1} \varphi^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}^{2} dx + c_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x}^{2} dx \qquad (4.46) \\
 + \left(J + \frac{3c_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1}}\right) \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t}^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}^{2} (u_{t}) dx \\
 + 2\varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx,$$

where $\lambda = \left(\xi - \frac{b^2}{\mu}\right)$.

Proof. By differentiating $I_2(t)$, we obtain

$$I_{2}'(t) = J \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{tt} \varphi dx + J \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t}^{2} dx - \frac{b\rho}{\mu} \int_{0}^{1} u_{t} \left(\int_{0}^{x} \varphi_{t}(y) dy \right) dx$$
$$- \frac{b\rho}{\mu} \int_{0}^{1} u_{tt} \left(\int_{0}^{x} \varphi(y) dy \right) dx.$$

Next, using integrating by parts together with the boundary conditions, we get

$$\begin{split} I_2'(t) &= -\delta \int_0^1 \varphi_x^2 dx - \left(\xi - \frac{b^2}{\mu}\right) \int_0^1 \varphi^2 dx + J \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx \\ &- k_1 \int_0^1 w_x \varphi dx - \frac{b\rho}{\mu} \int_0^1 u_t \left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy\right) dx \\ &- \frac{\gamma_1 b}{\mu} \int_0^1 h_1 \left(u_t\right) \left(\int_0^x \varphi(y) dy\right) dx \\ &- \frac{\gamma_2 b}{\mu} \int_0^1 \left(\int_0^x \varphi(y) dy\right) \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Young's, Poincaré (3.17) and Cauchy-Schwarz's inequalities and (4.35), we obtain

$$-k_1 \int_0^1 w_x \varphi dx \leq \frac{\delta}{2} \int_0^1 \varphi_x^2 dx + c_2 \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx,$$

$$-\frac{b\rho}{\mu} \int_0^1 u_t \left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy \right) dx \leq \varepsilon_1 \int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + \frac{c_2}{\varepsilon_1} \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx,$$
M. HOUASNI AND A. KELLECHE

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{\gamma_1 b}{\mu} \int_0^1 h_1\left(u_t\right) \left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy\right) dx &\leq \varepsilon_1 \int_0^1 h_1^2\left(u_t\right) dx + \frac{c_2}{\varepsilon_1} \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx, \\ -\frac{\gamma_1 b}{\mu} \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) h_2(\vartheta(1)) \left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy\right) ds dx &\leq \varepsilon_1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) h_2^2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\ &\quad + \frac{c_2}{\varepsilon_1} \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon_1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_2(\vartheta(1)) ds dx \\ &\quad + \frac{c_2}{\varepsilon_1} \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx. \end{aligned}$$

Then, we find that

$$\begin{split} I_{2}'(t) &\leq -\frac{\delta}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{x}^{2} dx - \lambda \int_{0}^{1} \varphi^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} u_{t}^{2} dx + c_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x}^{2} dx \\ &+ \left(J + \frac{c_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1}}\right) \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t}^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} h_{1}^{2} \left(u_{t}\right) dx \\ &+ 2\varepsilon_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s) \vartheta(1) h_{2}(\vartheta(1)) ds dx, \end{split}$$

which is (4.46) with $\lambda = \xi - \frac{b^2}{\mu} > 0$.

Lemma 4.4. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9). Then, the functional

$$I_3(t) = -\tau \int_0^1 w\left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy\right) dx,$$

satisfies, for any $\varepsilon_2, \varepsilon_3, \varepsilon_4 > 0$, the following estimate

$$I'_{3}(t) \leq (-k_{1}+2\varepsilon_{2}) \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t}^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{2} C_{p} \int_{0}^{1} u_{x}^{2} dx + \varepsilon_{4} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi^{2} dx \qquad (4.47)$$

$$+c_{2} \left(\frac{(b\tau)^{2}}{4\varepsilon_{2}} + \frac{\delta^{2}}{4\varepsilon_{3}} + \frac{\xi^{2}}{4\varepsilon_{4}} + \frac{k_{2}^{2}}{4\varepsilon_{2}} + k_{1} \right) \int_{0}^{1} w^{2} dx \qquad +\varepsilon_{3} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{x}^{2} dx.$$

Proof. By differentiating $I_3(t)$, integrating by parts and using (2.8), we obtain

$$I'_{3}(t) = -Jk_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \varphi_{t}^{2} dx + k_{1} \int_{0}^{1} w^{2} dx + \tau b \int_{0}^{1} w u dx \qquad (4.48)$$
$$-Jk_{3} \int_{0}^{1} w_{x} \varphi_{t} dx - \xi \int_{0}^{1} w \left(\int_{0}^{x} \varphi(y) dy \right) dx$$
$$+Jk_{2} \int_{0}^{1} w \left(\int_{0}^{x} \varphi_{t}(y) dy \right) dx - \delta \int_{0}^{1} w \varphi_{x} dx.$$

Using Young's, Cauchy-Schwarz's and Poincaré inequalities, we find

$$\tau b \int_0^1 w u dx \leq \varepsilon_2 C_p \int_0^1 u_x^2 dx + \frac{(\tau b)^2}{4\varepsilon_2} \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.49)$$

$$\delta \int_0^1 w \varphi_x dx \leq \varepsilon_3 \int_0^1 \varphi_x^2 dx + \frac{\delta^2}{4\varepsilon_3} \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.50)$$

$$-\xi \int_0^1 w\left(\int_0^x \varphi(y) dy\right) dx \leq \varepsilon_4 \int_0^1 \varphi^2 dx + \frac{\xi^2}{4\varepsilon_4} \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.51)$$

$$Jk_2 \int_0^1 w\left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y)dy\right) dx \leq \varepsilon_2 \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx + \frac{k_2^2}{4\varepsilon_2} \int_0^1 w^2 dx, \qquad (4.52)$$

$$-Jk_3 \int_0^1 w_x \varphi_t dx \leq \varepsilon_2 \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx + \frac{k_3^2}{4\varepsilon_2} \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx.$$

$$(4.53)$$

Estimate (4.47) follows by substituting (4.49)-(4.53) into(4.48).

Lemma 4.5. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9), then, the functional

$$I_4(t) = \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} s\mu(s) e^{-sr} \Gamma_2(\vartheta(.)) ds dr dx, \qquad (4.54)$$

satisfies the estimate

$$I_{4}'(t) \leq -\alpha_{1}e^{-\tau_{2}}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\mu(s)\vartheta(1)h_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx +\alpha_{2}\left(\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\mu(s)ds\right)\int_{0}^{1}u_{t}h_{1}(u_{t})dx -e^{-\tau_{2}}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}s\mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdrdx.$$
(4.55)

Proof. Differentiating I_4 , using the fourth equation in (2.8), (A2), and the fact that $\vartheta(0) = u_t$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{4}'(t) &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s)\vartheta_{t}(.)e^{-sr}h_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx \\ &= -\int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\vartheta_{r}(.)e^{-sr}h_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx \\ &= -\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \mu(s)\frac{d}{dr} \left[e^{-sr}\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))\right]drdsdx \\ &- \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s)e^{-sr}\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx \\ &= -\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} e^{-s}\mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx + \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} \mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(u_{t})dsdx \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & -\int_{0}^{1}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}s\mu(s)e^{-sr}\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx\\ \leq & -\alpha_{1}e^{-\tau_{2}}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\mu(s)\vartheta(1)h_{2}(\vartheta(1))dsdx\\ & -e^{-\tau_{2}}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{0}^{1}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}s\mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx\\ & +\alpha_{2}\int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}}\mu(s)ds\int_{0}^{1}u_{t}h_{1}(u_{t})\,dx. \end{split}$$

Using the fact that $-e^{-sr} \leq -e^{-s}$ for all $r \in [0, 1]$, we then obtain (4.55).

Now, we define the Lyapunov functional $\mathcal{L}(t)$ by

$$\mathcal{L}(t) = NE(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{3} N_i I_i(t) + I_4(t), \qquad (4.56)$$

here, N, N_1, N_2 and N_3 are positive constants.

Lemma 4.6. Let (u, φ, w) be a solution of (2.8)-(2.9). Then, there exist two positive constants μ_1 and μ_2 such that the Lyapunov functional (4.56) satisfies

$$\mu_1 \mathcal{E}(t) \le \mathcal{L}(t) \le \mu_2 \mathcal{E}(t), \forall t \ge 0.$$
(4.57)

Proof. From (4.56), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{L}(t) - NE(t)| &\leq \frac{dN_1}{4} \int_0^1 |u_t u| \, dx + \tau N_1 \int_0^1 \left| w \left(\int_0^x u_t(y) dy \right) \right| \, dx \\ &+ JN_2 \int_0^1 |\varphi_t \varphi| \, dx + \frac{b\rho N_2}{\mu} \int_0^1 \left| u_t \left(\int_0^x \varphi(y) dy \right) \right| \, dx \\ &+ N_3 \tau J \int_0^1 \left| w \left(\int_0^x \varphi_t(y) dy \right) \right| \, dx \\ &+ \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \left| s e^{-sr} \right| \Gamma_2(\vartheta(.)) \, ds \, dr \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

By using Young's, Poincaré and Cauchy-Schwarz inequalities, we obtain

$$|\mathcal{L}(t) - NE(t)| \le \gamma E(t),$$

which yields

$$(N - \gamma)E(t) \le \mathcal{L}(t) \le (N + \gamma)E(t), \tag{4.58}$$

this completes the proof.

Theorem 4.1. Let $(\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \psi_0, \psi_1, \theta_0, q_0, f_0)^T \in \mathcal{H}$ be given. Assume that A1 - A2 are satisfied, then there exist $c_1, c_2, c_3 > 0$ for which the (weak) solution of problem (2.8)-(2.9) satisfies

$$E(t) \le c_1 K^{-1} (c_2 t + c_3), \ \forall t \ge 0.$$
 (4.59)

Proof. By differentiating equation (4.56), then recalling Eqs. (4.27), (4.33), (4.46), (4.47) and (4.55), we have

$$\mathcal{L}'(t) \leq (-k_3N + c_1N_1 + c_2N_2) \int_0^1 w_x^2 dx + (-k_2N + (3c_1 + 2c\eta)N_1) \int_0^1 w^2 dx + N_3c_2 \left(\frac{(b\tau)^2}{4\varepsilon_2} + \frac{\delta^2}{4\varepsilon_3} + \frac{\xi^2}{4\varepsilon_4} + \frac{k_2^2}{4\varepsilon_2} + k_1\right) \int_0^1 w^2 dx + (dN_1 + N_2\varepsilon_1) \int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + \left(\alpha_2 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s)ds + \frac{c}{4\eta} - Nc_0\right) \int_0^1 u_t h_1(u_t) dx + \left(\left(c\eta - \frac{\mu d}{8\rho}\right)N_1 + \varepsilon_2C_pN_3\right) \int_0^1 u_x^2 dx + \left(\frac{N_1c}{2\eta} + N_2\varepsilon_1\right) \int_0^1 h_1^2(u_t) dx + (-\lambda N_2 + c_1N_1 + N_3\varepsilon_4) \int_0^1 \varphi^2 dx + \left(-\frac{\delta}{2}N_2 + N_3\varepsilon_3\right) \int_0^1 \varphi_x^2 dx + \left(N_1c_1 + \left(J + \frac{3c_2}{\varepsilon_1}\right)N_2 + N_3(-k_1 + 2\varepsilon_2)\right) \int_0^1 \varphi_t^2 dx + \left(\left(2\varepsilon_1N_2 + \frac{N_1c}{\eta}\right) - Nc_0 - \alpha_1e^{-\tau_2}\right) \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s)\vartheta(1)h_2(\vartheta(1))dsdx - e^{-\tau_2} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} s\mu(s)\Gamma_2(\vartheta(.))dsdrdx.$$
 (4.60)

At this point, we set $\varepsilon_1 = 1$, $\varepsilon_2 = \frac{1}{N_3}$ and choose η small enough so that

$$\eta \le \frac{\mu d}{8c\rho}.$$

Next, take N_1 large enough so that,

$$\left(c\eta - \frac{\mu d}{8\rho}\right)N_1 + C_p < 0.$$

Let us fix N_1 and select $\varepsilon_3 = \varepsilon_4 = \frac{1}{N_3}$, choose N_2 large enough so that

$$-\frac{\delta}{2}N_2 + 1 < 0 \text{ and } -\lambda N_2 + c_1 N_1 + 1 < 0.$$

Fix N_2 and select ε_2 so small that

$$\varepsilon_2 < \frac{k_1}{2},$$

choose N_3 large enough so that

$$N_1c_1 + (J + 3c_2)N_2 + N_3(-k_1 + 2\varepsilon_2) < 0$$
.

Finally, we choose N large enough so that

$$\begin{split} -k_3N + c_1N_1 + c_2N_2 &< 0, \\ -k_2N + (3c_1 + 2c\eta) N_1 + N_3c_2 \left(\frac{(b\tau)^2}{4\varepsilon_2} + \frac{\delta^2}{4\varepsilon_3} + \frac{\xi^2}{4\varepsilon_4} + \frac{k_2^2}{4\varepsilon_2} + k_1\right) &< 0, \\ \left(2\varepsilon_1N_2 + \frac{N_1c}{\eta}\right) - Nc_0 - \alpha_1 e^{-\tau_2} &< 0, \\ \alpha_2 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \mu(s) ds + \frac{c}{4\eta} - Nc_0 &< 0. \end{split}$$

All these choices with the relation (4.60) leads to

$$\mathcal{L}'(t) \leq -\lambda_1 \int_0^1 \left(u_x^2 + u_t^2 + \varphi^2 + \varphi_x^2 + \varphi_t^2 + w^2 + \sigma \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} s\mu(s)\Gamma_2(\vartheta(.))dsdr \right) dx -\lambda_2 \int_0^1 \left(w_x^2 + w^2 \right) dx + c \left(\int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + \int_0^1 h_1^2(u_t) dx \right), \ c, \lambda_1, \lambda_2 > 0.$$
(4.61)

On the other hand, from (4.26) and by using Young's inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} E(t) &\leq \quad \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\rho u_{t}^{2} + J \varphi_{t}^{2} + (\mu + |b|) u_{x}^{2} + \delta \varphi_{x}^{2} + (\xi + |b|) \varphi^{2} + \tau w^{2} \right) dx \\ &+ \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s) \Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.)) ds dr dx \\ &\leq v_{1} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left(u_{t}^{2} + \varphi_{t}^{2} + u_{x}^{2} + \varphi_{x}^{2} + \varphi^{2} + w^{2} \right) dx \right) \\ &+ v_{1} \sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s) \Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.)) ds dr dx, v_{1} > 0, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$-\int_{0}^{1} \left(u_{t}^{2} + \varphi_{t}^{2} + u_{x}^{2} + \varphi_{x}^{2} + \varphi^{2} + w^{2} + \sigma \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tau_{1}}^{\tau_{2}} s\mu(s)\Gamma_{2}(\vartheta(.))dsdr \right) dx$$

$$\leq -v_{2}E(t), v_{2} > 0.$$
(4.62)

The combination of (4.61) and (4.62) gives

$$\mathcal{L}'(t) \leq -c_1 \int_0^1 \left(u_t^2 + \varphi_t^2 + w^2 + (u_x + \varphi)^2 + \varphi_x^2 + \sigma \int_0^1 \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} s\mu(s) \Gamma_2(\vartheta(.)) ds dr \right) dx + c \left(\int_0^1 u_t^2 dx + \int_0^1 h_1^2(u_t) dx \right) \leq -c_1 E(t) + c \left(\int_0^1 \left(u_t^2 + h_1^2(u_t) \right) dx \right).$$
(4.63)

Let us define the following sets

$$\Sigma_{u} = \{x \in (0,1) : |u_{t}(x,t)| > l\} \text{ and } \Theta_{u} = (0,1) \setminus \Sigma_{u}$$

Now, we estimate the last term in the right-hand side of (4.63). First, we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(u_{t}^{2} + h_{1}^{2} \left(u_{t} \right) \right) dx = \int_{\Sigma_{u}} \left(u_{t}^{2} + h_{1}^{2} \left(u_{t} \right) \right) dx + \int_{\Theta_{u}} \left(u_{t}^{2} + h_{1}^{2} \left(u_{t} \right) \right) dx.$$

Using A1 and (4.27), we easily show that

$$\int_{\Sigma_{u}} \left(u_{t}^{2} + h_{1}^{2}(u_{t}) \right) dx \leq (k_{1}^{-1} + k_{2}) \int_{\Sigma_{\psi}} u_{t} h_{1}(u_{t}) dx
\leq (k_{1}^{-1} + k_{2}) \int_{0}^{1} u_{t} h_{1}(u_{t}) dx
\leq -cE'(t).$$
(4.64)

If h'' = 0 on [0, l]: This implies that there exist $k'_1, k'_2 > 0$ such that $k'_1 s^2 \le h_1(s) s \le k'_2 s^2$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and then (4.64) is also satisfied for $|u_t(x, t)| \le l$, then on all (0, 1). From (4.63), (4.64), we arrive at

$$\left(\mathcal{L}(t) + cE(t)\right)' \le -cJ(E(t)), \quad \forall t \ge 0, \tag{4.65}$$

where J is defined in (3.23).

If h'(0) = 0 and h'' > 0 on (0, l]: Since h is convex and increasing, h^{-1} is concave and increasing, by using **A1**, the reversed Jensen's inequality for concave function (see [35], p. 61), and (4.27), we obtain,

$$\int_{\Theta_{\psi}} \left(u_t^2 + h_1^2(u_t) \right) dx \leq \int_{\Theta_{\psi}} h^{-1} \left(u_t h_1(u_t) \right) dx \\
\leq \int_{\Theta_{\psi}} h^{-1} \left(u_t h_1(u_t) \right) dx \\
\leq \left| \Theta_{\psi} \right| h^{-1} \left(\int_{\Theta_{\psi}} \frac{1}{|\Theta_{\psi}|} u_t h_1(u_t) dx \right) \\
\leq ch^{-1} \left(\int_{\Theta_{\psi}} u_t h_1(u_t) dx \right) \\
\leq ch^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 u_t h_1(u_t) \right) dx \\
\leq ch^{-1} \left(-cE'(t) \right).$$
(4.66)

Therefore, from (4.63), (4.64) and (4.66), we find that

$$\mathcal{L}'(t) \le -cE(t) + ch^{-1}(-cE'(t)) - cE'(t), \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

By using Young's inequality (3.21), (3.25) and the fact that

$$E' \le 0$$
, and $h'' > 0$,

we get for $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small enough and $c_0 > 0$ large enough,

$$\begin{bmatrix} h'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) \left[\mathcal{L}(t) + cE(t)\right] + c_{0}E(t) \right]'$$

$$= \varepsilon_{0}'E(t) h''(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) \left[\mathcal{L}(t) + cE(t)\right]$$

$$+ h'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) \left[\mathcal{L}'(t) + cE'(t)\right] + c_{0}'E(t)$$

$$\leq -ch'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) E(t) + ch'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) h^{-1}(-cE'(t)) + c_{0}'E(t)$$

$$\leq -ch'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) E(t) + ch^{*}(h'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t))) - cE'(t) + c_{0}'E(t)$$

$$\leq -ch'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) E(t) + c\varepsilon_{0}h'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) E(t)$$

$$\leq -ch'(\varepsilon_{0}E(t)) E(t) = -cJ(E(t)) .$$

$$(4.67)$$

Now, let us define the following functional:

$$\mathcal{G}(t) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{L}(t) + cE(t) & \text{if } h'' = 0 \text{ on } [0, l], \\ h'(\varepsilon_0 E(t)) \left[\mathcal{L}(t) + cE(t) \right] + c_0 E(t) & \text{if } h'(0) = 0 \text{ and } h'' > 0 \text{ on } (0, l]. \end{cases}$$

Using (4.57), we have

 $\mathcal{G} \sim E$,

and exploiting (4.65) and (4.67), we easily deduce that

$$\mathcal{G}'(t) \leq -cJ(E(t)), \quad \forall t \geq 0.$$

Next, let us set

$$\mathcal{R}\left(t\right) = \varepsilon \mathcal{G}\left(t\right),$$

where $0 < \varepsilon < \overline{\varepsilon}$ and $\overline{\varepsilon}$ is a positive constant satisfying

$$\mathcal{G}(t) \leq \frac{1}{\overline{\varepsilon}} E(t), \quad \forall t \geq 0.$$

We also have

$$\mathcal{M} \sim E,\tag{4.68}$$

and for $t \ge 0$

$$\mathcal{M}'(t) \le -c\varepsilon J\left(\mathcal{M}(t)\right). \tag{4.69}$$

Noting that K' = -1/J (see (3.24)), we get from (4.69)

$$\mathcal{M}'(t) K'(\mathcal{M}(t)) \ge c\varepsilon, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

A simple integration over (0, t) then yields

$$K(\mathcal{M}(t)) \ge K(\mathcal{M}(0)) + c\varepsilon t.$$

Then, since K^{-1} is decreasing , we deduce that

$$\mathcal{M}(t) \leq K^{-1} \left(c \varepsilon t + K \left(\mathcal{M} \left(0 \right) \right) \right)$$
$$\leq K^{-1} \left(c_2 t + c_3 \right).$$

From this latter inequality and (4.68) we obtain easily (4.59). Then the proof is completed.

Acknowledgments. The authors wish to express their sincere thanks and gratitute to the referees for their valuable suggestions toward the improvement of the paper.

References

- Abdallah, C., Dorato, P., Benites-Read, J., & Byrne, R. (1993). Delayed positive feedback can stabilize oscillatory systems. In 1993 American Control Conference (pp. 3106-3107). IEEE.
- [2] Alabau-Boussouira, F. (2007). Asymptotic behavior for Timoshenko beams subject to a single nonlinear feedback control. Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications NoDEA, 14, 643-669.
- [3] Apalara, T. A. (2019). A general decay for a weakly nonlinearly damped porous system. Journal of Dynamical and Control Systems, 25(3), 311-322.
- [4] Apalara, T. A. (2019). On the stability of porous-elastic system with microtemparatures. Journal of Thermal Stresses, 42(2), 265-278.
- [5] Apalara, T. A., & Soufyane, A. (2022). Energy decay for a weakly nonlinear damped porous system with a nonlinear delay. Applicable Analysis, 101(17), 6113-6135.
- [6] Arnol'd, V. I. (2013). Mathematical methods of classical mechanics (Vol. 60). Springer Science & Business Media.
- [7] Baibeche, S., Bouzettouta, L., Guesmia, A., & Abdelli, M. (2022). Well-posedness and exponential stability of swelling porous elastic soils with a second sound and distributed delay term. J. Math. Comput. Sci., 12, Article-ID.
- [8] Barbu, V. (1976). Nonlinear semigroups and differential equations in Banach spaces (p. 352). Bucuresti: Editura Academiei.
- Barbu, V. (2022). Semigroup approach to nonlinear diffusion equations, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.
- [10] Benaissa, A., Benguessoum, A., & Messaoudi, S. A. (2014). Global existence and energy decay of solutions to a viscoelastic wave equation with a delay term in the non–linear internal feedback. International Journal of Dynamical Systems and Differential Equations, 5(1), 1-26.
- [11] Brezis, H. (2011). Functional analysis, Sobolev spaces and partial differential equations (Vol. 2, No. 3, p. 5). New York: Springer.
- [12] Cavalcanti, M. M., Cavalcanti, V. N. D., & Lasiecka, I. (2007). Well-posedness and optimal decay rates for the wave equation with nonlinear boundary damping–source interaction. Journal of Differential Equations, 236(2), 407-459.

- [13] Choucha, A., Boulaaras, S. M., Ouchenane, D., Cherif, B. B., Hidan, M., & Abdalla, M. (2021). Exponential Stabilization of a Swelling Porous-Elastic System with Microtemperature Effect and Distributed Delay. Journal of Function Spaces, 2021(1), 5513981.
- [14] Daoulatli, M., Lasiecka, I., & Toundykov, D. (2009). Uniform energy decay for a wave equation with partially supported nonlinear boundary dissipation without growth restrictions. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S, 2(1), 67-94.
- [15] Datko, R., Lagnese, J., & Polis, M. (1986). An example on the effect of time delays in boundary feedback stabilization of wave equations. SIAM journal on control and optimization, 24(1), 152-156.
- [16] Djebabla, A., Choucha, A., Ouchenane, D., & Zennir, K. (2021). Explicit stability for a porous thermoelastic system with second sound and distributed delay term. International Journal of Applied and Computational Mathematics, 7, 1-16.
- [17] Dridi, H., & Djebabla, A. (2020). On the stabilization of linear porous elastic materials by microtemperature effect and porous damping. ANNALI DELL'UNIVERSITA'DI FERRARA, 66, 13-25.
- [18] Houasni, M., Zitouni, S., & Amiar, R. (2019). General decay for a viscoelastic damped Timoshenko system of second sound with distributed delay. MESA, 10(2), 323-340.
- [19] Houasni, M., Zitouni, S., & Amiar, R. (2020). Exponential decay for a thermo-viscoelastic Bresse system with second sound and delay terms: Exponential decay for a thermo-viscoelastic Bresse system. International Journal of Maps in Mathematics, 3(1), 39-56.
- [20] Houasni, M., Zitouni, S., & Djebabla, A. (2023). Global existence and general decay for a delayed flexible structure with second sound subjected to nonlinear damping. DCDIS Series A: Mathematical Analysis, 30, 87-108.
- [21] Houasni, M. (2024). On the stability of a nonlinear damped Porous elastic system without temperatures effects. MESA, 15(3), 863-877.
- [22] Kelleche, A., Abdallaoui, A., Berkani, A., & Houasni, M. (2024). Existence Result and Exponential Stabilization of a Moving String with Time Dependent Delay in the Boundary Feedback. International Journal of Applied and Computational Mathematics, 10(3), 114.
- [23] Lasiecka, I. (2002). Mathematical Control Theory of Coupled PDE's (CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics), SIAM, Philadelphia, PA
- [24] Lasiecka, I. & Tataru, D. (1993). Uniform boundary stabilization of semilinear wave equations with nonlinear boundary damping, Di . Inte. Equa., 6, 507-533.
- [25] Lee, M. J., & Kang, J. R. (2023). General stability for the viscoelastic wave equation with nonlinear time-varying delay, nonlinear damping and acoustic boundary conditions. Mathematics, 11(22), 4593. https://doi.org/10.3390/math11224593
- [26] Liu, W. J., & Zuazua, E. (1999). Decay rates for dissipative wave equations. Ricerche Mat, 48, 61-75.
- [27] Mpungu, K., & Apalara, T. (2022). Asymptotic behavior of a laminated beam with nonlinear delay and nonlinear structural damping. Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 1-18.
- [28] Mustafa, M. I., & Messaoudi, S. A. (2010). General energy decay rates for a weakly damped Timoshenko system. Journal of Dynamical and Control Systems, 16(2), 211-226.

148

- [29] Moumen, A., Ouchenane, D., Bouhali, K., & Altayeb, Y. (2021). Well-Posedness and Stability Results for a Nonlinear Damped Porous–Elastic System with Infinite Memory and Distributed Delay Terms. Mathematical and Computational Applications, 26(4), 71. https://doi.org/10.3390/mca26040071
- [30] Nicaise, S. & Pignotti, C. (2008). Stabilization of the wave equation with boundary or internal distributed delay, Diff. Int. Equs., 21 (9–10), 935–958.
- [31] Pazy, A. (1983). Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations, Springer, New York.
- [32] Racke, R. (2012). Instability of coupled systems with delay, Comm. Pure, Appl. Anal., 11(5), 1753-1773.
- [33] Ramos, A. J. A., Freitas, M. M., Almeida, D. S., Noé, A. S., & Dos Santos, M. J. (2020). Stability results for elastic porous media swelling with nonlinear damping. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 61(10).
- [34] Raposo, C. A., Vera Villagran, O.P., Ferreira, J., & Pişkin, E. (2021). Rao–Nakra sandwich beam with second sound. Partial Differential Equations in Applied Mathematics, 4, 100053. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.padiff.2021.100053)
- [35] Rudin, W. (1974). Real and Complex Analysis (2nd edn), McGraw-Hill, New York.
- [36] Saci, M., & Djebabla, A. (2020). On the stability of linear porous elastic materials with microtemperatures effects. Journal of Thermal Stresses, 43(10), 1300-1315.
- [37] Santos, M. L., Campelo, A. D. S., & Almeida Junior, D. (2017). On the decay rates of porous elastic systems. Journal of Elasticity, 127, 79-101.
- [38] Shinskey, F.G. (1967). Process Control Systems, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.
- [39] Showalter, R. E. (1996). Monotone operators in Banach space and nonlinear partial differential equations (Vol. 49). Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society.
- [40] Soufyane, A., Afilal, M., Apalara, T., & Rhofir, K. (2023). A general stability result for swelling porous elastic media with nonlinear damping and nonlinear delay term. Afrika Matematika, 34(4), 86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13370-023-01126-9
- [41] Yüksekkaya, H., Pişkin, E., Kafini, M. M., & Al-Mahdi, A. M. (2023). General energy decay estimate for a viscoelastic damped swelling porous elastic soils with time delay. Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, 46(12), 12914-12929. (DOI: 10.1002/mma.9222)

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATTER SCIENCES AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF KHEMIS MILIANA, ALGERIA.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATTER SCIENCES AND COMPUTER SCIENCE, UNIVERSITY OF KHEMIS MILIANA, ALGERIA.



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:150-159 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

INEXTENSIBLE FLOWS OF CURVES WITH QUASI-FRAME IN 3-DIMENSIONAL GALILEAN SPACE G_3

MURAT TURAN 🖲 , HÜLYA GÜN BOZOK 🔎 *, AND MAHMUT ERGÜT 🖲

ABSTRACT. In this study we research inextensible flows of curves in 3-dimensional Galilean space G_3 with a new aspect. For this research we use a new adapted frame which called quasi-frame in 3-dimensional Galilean space G_3 . From this perspective, inextensible curve flows are examined with the help of this frame then important characterizations and results are obtained.

Keywords: Galilean space, inextensible flows of curves, quasi frame.2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53A35.

1. INTRODUCTION

The theory of curves is one of the most intriguing and thoroughly studied topics in differential geometry. Additionally, curve flows, which determine the evolution of curves or surfaces, are crucial to this theory. In this case, the curve's flow can be used to analyze the change in the curve. It is argued that a curve has an inextensible flow if the arc length is preserved. In addition to structural mechanics [19], computer vision [9, 14], and computer animation [3] all use the inextensible flows of curves and surfaces. The techniques researched in this paper are produced by Gage and Hamilton [7] and Grayson [8]. Kwon and Park offered a thorough description of the differences between heat flows and inextensible flows of planar curves [12]. Furthermore, in \mathbb{R}^3 , Kwon et al. reveals a general formulation for developable surfaces and

Received: 2024.05.23 Revised: 2024.10.07 Accepted: 2024.10.28

* Corresponding author

Murat Turan \diamond muratturan@osmaniye.edu.tr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9684-7924 Hülya Gün Bozok \diamond hulyagun@osmaniye.edu.tr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7370-5760 Mahmut Ergüt \diamond mergut@nku.edu.tr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9098-8280. inextensible flows of curves [11]. Latifi and Razavi examined inextensible flows of curves in Minkowski 3-space [13]. Inextensible flows of curves were analyzed by Ögrenmis and Yeneroğlu [15] in the three-dimensional Galilean space G_3 and by Öztekin and Gün Bozok [16] in the four-dimensional Galilean space.

In the literature, computations have often been performed using the Frenet frame. Nevertheless, in certain situations, the Frenet frame has drawbacks. For instance, it is impossible to define the Frenet frame when the second derivative is zero. An alternative frame can therefore be defined in this situation. The frame known as quasi frame or q-frame is one of these alternative frames. Using the quasi-normal vector established by Coquillart in 1987 [1], a q-frame was obtained. This frame's principal concept is that the projection and tangent vectors are multiplied to obtain the vector known as the quasi-normal vector. Using a quasinormal vector along a space curve, Dede et al. defined a new frame known as the q-frame [2]. With the help of these definitions, the quasi frame has been examined for different curves in many different spaces [5, 6, 10, 18].

In this research paper, with the help of the quasi frame inextensible flows of curves are researched in 3-dimensional Galilean space G_3 . In this regards, new characterizations and important results have been obtained for inextensible curve flows.

2. Preliminaries

The Galilean space is one of the Cayley-Klein spaces with the projective metric with the signature (0,0,+,+). In 3-dimensional Galilean space denoted as G_3 the scalar product is descripted by

$$\langle w_1, w_2 \rangle = \begin{cases} x_1 x_2 & , if \ x_1 \neq 0 \lor x_2 \neq 0 \\ y_1 y_2 + z_1 z_2 & , if \ x_1 = 0 \land x_2 = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where $w_1 = (x_1, y_1, z_1)$ and $w_2 = (x_2, y_2, z_2)$. Consideringly for a vector w = (x, y, z) the Galilean norm can be expressed by

$$||w|| = \begin{cases} x & , if x \neq 0 \\ \sqrt{y^2 + z^2} & , if x = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

For an admissible curve C of the class C^r $(r \ge 3)$ in G_3 the following characterization can be defined

$$r = r(s, y(s), z(s)),$$
 (2.3)

here s is the arc length on C. Also for this curve the curvature and torsion can be represented as

$$\kappa(s) = \sqrt{y''^2 + z''^2} \text{ and } \tau(s) = \frac{1}{\kappa^2(s)} \det(r'(s), r''(s), r'''(s)).$$
(2.4)

The orthonormal trihedron is expressed by

$$T(s) = (1, y'(s), z'(s)),$$

$$N(s) = \frac{1}{\kappa(s)} (0, y''(s), z''(s)),$$

$$B(s) = \frac{1}{\kappa(s)} (0, -z''(s), y''(s)),$$
(2.5)

where t, n, b are the tangent, principal normal and binormal vectors, respectively. Moreover, the Frenet formulas can be given by,

$$T'(s) = \kappa(s) N(s),$$

$$N'(s) = \tau(s) B(s),$$

$$B'(s) = -\tau(s) N(s).$$
(2.6)

For detailed information about Galilean space we refer to [20, 17].

In 3-dimensional Galilean space the quasi-frame, which is crucial to a variety of geometric computations is derived from Frenet-Serret frame of the curve and can be described by $\{T(s), N_q(s), B_q(s)\}$ as;

$$T = \frac{\alpha'}{\|\alpha'\|}, \quad N_q = \frac{T \times z}{\|T \times z\|}, \quad B_q = T \times N_q, \tag{2.7}$$

where z is the projection vector given by either (1, 0, 0), (0, 1, 0) or (0, 0, 1). The parallelism respect to unit tangent vector T determines the choice of the projection vector z. Here it is selected z = (1, 0, 0). Let $\theta(s)$ is an angle between N and N_q then the quasi-frame, known as $\{T(s), N_q(s), B_q(s)\}$ can be written

$$N_q = \cos\theta N + \sin\theta B,\tag{2.8}$$

$$B_q = -\sin\theta N + \cos\theta B,\tag{2.9}$$

and

$$N = \cos\theta N_q - \sin\theta B_q, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$B = \sin\theta N_q + \cos\theta B_q. \tag{2.11}$$

Also using the equations (2.6) and (2.10), it is obtained that

$$T' = \kappa N = \kappa \cos \theta N_q - \kappa \sin \theta B_q. \tag{2.12}$$

By using the replacement $K_1 = \kappa \cos \theta$ and $K_2 = \kappa \sin \theta$, the following equation can be found,

$$T' = K_1 N_q - K_2 B_q. (2.13)$$

153

In the same way considering the equations (2.8) and (2.9), it is determined that

$$N'_q = K_3 B_q, \quad B'_q = -K_3 N_q,$$
(2.14)

where $\theta' + \tau = K_3$. Therefore, the quasi-formulas are given by

$$T' = K_1 N_q - K_2 B_q,$$

$$N'_q = K_3 B_q,$$

$$B'_q = -K_3 N_q.$$
(2.15)

Consequently the quasi-curvatures K_1 , K_2 and K_3 can be represented as

$$K_1 = \kappa \cos \theta, \quad K_2 = \kappa \sin \theta, \quad K_3 = \theta' + \tau,$$
 (2.16)

where κ, τ are curvature and torsion, respectively [4].

Corollary 2.1. Let $\alpha(s)$ be a curve in G_3 . The quasi-curvatures K_1 , K_2 and K_3 can be given, respectively, by [4]

$$K_1 = g(T', N_q), K_2 = -g(T', B_q), K_3 = g(N'_q, B_q) = -g(B'_q, N_q).$$
(2.17)

Corollary 2.2. The quasi-frame in the value of G_3 , is a generalization of the Frenet frame. To be more precise, the quasi-frame and the Frenet frame are equal when K_2 equals zero [4].

Example 2.1. Let $\beta : I \longrightarrow G_3$ be a curve defined as

$$\beta(s) = (s, \sin 3s, \cos 3s)$$

Then the quasi frame of β is

$$T = (1, 3\cos 3s, -3\sin 3s),$$

$$N_q = (0, -\sin 3s, -\cos 3s),$$

$$B_q = (0, \cos 3s, -\sin 3s),$$

and quasi-curvatures are

$$K_1 = 9 \ K_2 = 0 \ K_3 = -3.$$

3. Inextensible Flows of Curves according to Quasi-Frame in G_3

According to this research, $\beta : [0, l] \times [0, w) \longrightarrow G_3$ is considered as a one parameter family of smooth curves in 3-dimensional Galilean space G_3 where l is the arc length of the initial curve. Moreover, u is the curve parameterization variable where $0 \le u \le l$. If the speed of the curve β is denoted as $v = \left| \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u} \right|$, then the arc length of β can be represented as

$$s(u) = \int_0^u \left| \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u} \right| du, \qquad (3.18)$$

and $\frac{\partial}{\partial s}$ can be expressed by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} = \frac{1}{v} \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \,,$$

here the arc length parameter is ds = v du. For any flow in G_3 the following equation can be written

$$\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial t} = f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q, \qquad (3.19)$$

where $\{T, N_q, B_q\}$ is quasi-frame in G_3 . The arc length variation is given by

$$s\left(u,t\right) =\int_{0}^{u}vdu\text{ }.$$

In G_3 , the requirement that the curve not be subject to either elongation or compression can be given as the following condition

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}s\left(u,t\right) = \int_{0}^{u} \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} du = 0, \qquad (3.20)$$

for $u \in [0, l]$ [15].

Definition 3.1. A curve evolution $\beta(u,t)$ and its flow $\frac{\partial\beta}{\partial t}$ in G_3 are called inextensible if the following equation is satisfied [15],

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left| \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u} \right| = 0.$$

Lemma 3.1. Let $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial t} = f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q$ be a smooth flow of the curve β where $\{T, N_q, B_q\}$ is a quasi-frame in G_3 . The flow is inextensible then

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial u}.\tag{3.21}$$

Proof. Let $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial t}$ be a smooth flow of the curve β in G_3 . Using the definition of β , we reach

$$v^{2} = \left\langle \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u}, \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u} \right\rangle.$$
(3.22)

Since $\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ are commute, we get

$$v\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = \left\langle \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial u}, \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left(f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q \right) \right\rangle.$$
(3.23)

Substituting (2.15) in (3.23) we reach

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = \left\langle T, \left(\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial u}\right) T + \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial u} + f_1 v K_1 - f_3 v K_3\right) N_q \right. \\ \left. + \left. \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial u} - f_1 v K_2 + f_2 v K_3\right) B_q \right\rangle .$$

If necessary calculations are done then the equation (3.21) can be obtained easily.

Theorem 3.1. Let $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial t} = f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q$ be a smooth flow of the curve β in G_3 . The flow is inextensible if and only if

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial s} = 0. \tag{3.24}$$

Proof. Considering the equations (3.20) and (3.21) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}s\left(u,t\right) = \int_{0}^{u} \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} du = \int_{0}^{u} \frac{\partial f_{1}}{\partial u} = 0.$$
(3.25)

The proof can be finished by reversing the argument to demonstrate sufficiency. Therefore, the desired result is obtained. $\hfill \Box$

We now limit ourselves to parametrized curves with arc length. In other words, v = 1 and the local coordinate u corresponds to s which is the arc length of the curve. Therefore the following lemma can be given;

Lemma 3.2. Let $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial t} = f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q$ be a smooth flow of the curve β in G_3 . If the flow is inextensible then,

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3\right) N_q + \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2\right) B_q,$$

$$\frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t} = \psi B_q,$$

$$\frac{\partial B_q}{\partial t} = -\psi N_q,$$
where $\psi = \left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle.$
Proof. Since $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial s}$ are commute we get
$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial s} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q\right).$$
(3.26)

Thus, it can be seen that

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \left(\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial s}\right) T + \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3\right) N_q
+ \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2\right) B_q.$$
(3.27)

Substitute the equation (3.24) in (3.27), we find

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3\right) N_q + \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2\right) B_q$$

Let us differentiate the quasi-frame with respect to t as

$$\begin{array}{lll} 0 & = & \displaystyle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle T, N_q \right\rangle = \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) + \left\langle T, \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t} \right\rangle, \\ 0 & = & \displaystyle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle T, B_q \right\rangle = \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) + \left\langle T, \frac{\partial B_q}{\partial t} \right\rangle, \\ 0 & = & \displaystyle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle N_q, B_q \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle + \left\langle N_q, \frac{\partial B_q}{\partial t} \right\rangle. \end{array}$$

Considering the above equation and the following equations

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, N_q \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\partial B_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle = 0,$$

then, we obtain

$$\begin{array}{lll} \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t} & = & \psi B_q, \\ \frac{\partial B_q}{\partial t} & = & -\psi N_q, \end{array}$$

where $\psi = \left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle$.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\frac{\partial \beta}{\partial t} = f_1 T + f_2 N_q + f_3 B_q$ be a smooth flow of the curve β in G_3 . If the flow is inextensible, the following partial differential equation holds:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial K_1}{\partial t} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) - \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) K_3 - K_2 \psi, \\ \frac{\partial K_2}{\partial t} &= K_1 \psi - \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) K_3 - \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) K_3, \\ \frac{\partial K_3}{\partial t} &= \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial s}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\psi = \left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle$.

Proof.

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left[\left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) N_q + \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) B_q \right],$$

$$= \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left[\left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) \right] N_q + \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) K_3 B_q$$

$$+ \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left[\left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) \right] B_q$$

$$- \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) K_3 N_q.$$
(3.28)

Also, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\partial T}{\partial s} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(K_1 N_q - K_2 B_q \right),$$

$$= \frac{\partial K_1}{\partial t} N_q + K_1 \psi B_q - \frac{\partial K_2}{\partial t} B_q + K_2 \psi N_q,$$
(3.29)

where $\psi = \left\langle \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t}, B_q \right\rangle$. Hence from (3.28) and (3.29), we get

$$\frac{\partial K_1}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) - \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) K_3 - K_2 \psi,$$

$$\frac{\partial K_2}{\partial t} = K_1 \psi - \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial s} + f_2 K_3 - f_1 K_2 \right) - \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial s} + f_1 K_1 - f_3 K_3 \right) K_3.$$

Also,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} (\psi B_q)$$

$$= \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial s} B_q - K_3 \psi N_q.$$
(3.30)

Also, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\partial N_q}{\partial s} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (K_3 B_q)$$

$$= \frac{\partial K_3}{\partial t} B_q - K_3 \psi N_q.$$
(3.31)

Hence from (3.30) and (3.31), we get

$$\frac{\partial K_3}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial s}.\tag{3.32}$$

References

- [1] Coquillart, S. (1987). Computing offsets of B-spline curves, Computer-Aided Design, 19(6), 305-09.
- [2] Dede, M., Ekici, C., & Görgülü, A. (2015). Directional q-frame along a space curve, IJARCSSE, 5(12), 775-780.
- [3] Desbrun, M., & Cani-Gascuel, M. P. (1998). Active implicit surface for animation, in: Proc. Graphics Interface-Canadian Inf. Process. Soc., 143-150.
- [4] Elsharkawy, A., Tashkandy, Y., Emam, W., Cesarano, C., & Elsharkawy, N. (2023). On Some Quasi-Curves in Galilean Three-Space, Axioms, 12, 823.
- [5] Elshenhab, M.A., Moaaz, O., Dassios, I., & Elsharkawy, A. (2022). Motion along a Space Curve with a Quasi-Frame in Euclidean 3-Space: Acceleration and Jerk, Symmetry, 14, 1610.
- [6] Gaber, S., & Sorour, A.H. (2023). The Geometry of the Inextensible Flows of Timelike Curves according to the Quasi-Frame in Minkowski Space R^{2,1}, Symmetry 15, 654.
- [7] Gage, M., & Hamilton, R.S.(1986). The heat equation shrinking convex plane curves, J. Differential Geom., 23, 69-96.
- [8] Grayson, M. (1987). The heat equation shrinks embedded plane curves to round points, J. Differential Geom., 26, 285-314.
- [9] Kass, M., Witkin, A., & Terzopoulos, D.(1987). Snakes: active contour models, in: Proc. 1st Int. Conference on Computer Vision, 259-268.
- [10] Kaymanlı, G.U., Ekici C., & Dede, M. (2020). Directional Evolution of the Ruled Surfaces via the Evolution of Their Directrix Using q-frame along a Timelike Space Curve, European Journal of Science and Technology, 20, 392-396.
- [11] Kwon, D.Y., Park, F.C., & Chi, D. P.(2005). Inextensible flows of curves and developable surfaces, Applied Mathematics Letters, 18, 1156-1162.
- [12] Kwon, D.Y., & Park, F.C. (1999). Evolution of inelastic plane curves, Appl. Math. Lett., 12, 115-119.
- [13] Latifi, D., & Razavi, A. (2008). Inextensible flows of curves in Minkowskian Space, Adv. Studies Theor. Phys. 2(16), 761-768.
- [14] Lu, H.Q., Todhunter, J.S., & Sze, T.W. (1993). Congruence conditions for nonplanar developable surfaces and their application to surface recognition, CVGIP, Image Underst., 56, 265-285.
- [15] Ögrenmis, A.O., & Yeneroğlu, M. (2010). Inextensible curves in the Galilean Space, International Journal of the Physical Sciences 5(9),1424-1427.
- [16] Oztekin, H., & Gün Bozok, H. (2013). Inextensible flows of curves in 4-dimensional Galilean space G₄, Math.Sci. Appl. E-Notes, 1(2), 28-34.
- [17] Röschel, O. (1984). Die Geometrie des Galileischen Raumes, Habilitationsschrift, Leoben.
- [18] Soliman, M.A., Abdel-All, N.H., Hussien, R.A., & Youssef, T. (2018). Evolutions of the Ruled Surfaces via the Evolution of Their Directrix Using Quasi Frame along a Space Curve, Journal of Applied Mathematics and Physics, 6, 1748-1756.
- [19] Unger, D.J. (1991). Developable surfaces in elastoplastic fracture mechanics, Int. J. Fract., 50, 33-38.

[20] Yaglom, I.M. (1979). A Simple Non-Euclidean Geometry and Its Physical Basis, Springer-Verlag, New York.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF ENGINEERING AND NATURAL SCIENCES, OSMANIYE KO-RKUT ATA UNIVERSITY, 80000, OSMANIYE, TÜRKIYE

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Osmaniye Korkut Ata University,80000, Osmaniye, Türkiye

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Tekirdağ Namik Kemal University, 59000, Tekirdağ, Türkiye



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:160-176 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

STUDY OF SOME HARMONICITY PROBLEMS CONCERNING THE RESCALED SASAKI METRIC

ABDERRAHIM ZAGANE 🕩 * AND FETHI LATTI 🕩

ABSTRACT. This paper introduces the concept of harmonicity on the tangent bundle endowed with a rescaled Sasaki metric. Firstly, we study the harmonicity of a vector field on the tangent bundle. Secondly, we investigate the harmonicity of the composition of a vector field and mapping between Riemannian manifolds. Afterwards, we explore the harmonicity of composition between the natural projection of a Riemannian manifold and a map of this manifold to another. Finally, we investigate the harmonicity of the tangent map. **Keywords**:Riemannian manifold, tangent bundle, rescaled Sasaki metric, harmonicity. **2010 Mathematics Subject Classification**: Primary: 53C43, 58E20, Secondary: 53C05.

1. INTRODUCTION

The tangent bundle of a Riemannian manifold can be endowed with Riemannian metrics defined from the Riemannian metric of the base manifold. The most famous of these is the Sasaki metric [19]. Several authors have studied the geometry of the tangent bundle endowed with the Sasaki metric (see [21, 4, 18]). Some authors have constructed other metrics on tangent bundles, which represent deformations of the Sasaki metric on tangent bundles (see [2, 11, 16]). The rescaled metric is between the deformations of the Sasaki metric on the tangent bundle, which have been studied and developed in several recent studies (see [10, 20, 22]).

Received:2024.08.16

Revised:2024.10.21

Accepted:2024.10.28

Abderrahim Zagane & Zaganeabr2018@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9339-3787 Fethi Latti & etafati@hotmail.fr & https://orcid.org/0009-0004-3158-5707.

^{*} Corresponding author

The main objective of this research is to investigate the harmonicity concerning the Rescaled Sasaki metric on the tangent bundle. After stating the introduction, we describe the preliminary results of the tangent bundle and basic properties of the Rescaled Sasaki metric. In section 3, We give certain harmonic problems of a vector field concerning this metric. (Theorem 3.2, Theorem 3.3 and Theorem 3.6). In section 4, we investigate the harmonicity of the composition of a vector field and mapping between Riemannian manifolds (Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.2). Next, in section 5, we explore the harmonicity of composition between the natural projection of a Riemannian manifold and a map of this manifold to another (Theorem 5.1 and Theorem 5.2). In the last section, we examine the harmonicity of the tangent map (Theorem 6.1, Theorem 6.2 and Theorem 6.3).

2. Preliminary Results

Consider the k-dimensional Riemannian manifold M^k endowed with the Riemannian metric g and the bundle projection (natural projection) $\pi : TM^k \to M^k$. The local coordinates (U, x^i) , $i = 1, \ldots, k$ on M^k induces on TM^k a system of local coordinates $(\pi^{-1}(U), x^i, v^i = x^{\overline{i}})$, $i = 1, \ldots, k$ on TM^k . Denote by ∇ the Levi-Civita connection of g and by Γ_{ij}^s the Christoffel symbols of ∇ . Let $\Im_0^1(M^k)$ be the module of C^∞ vector fields on M^k over the ring of real-valued C^∞ functions on M^k . There is a direct sum decomposition defined by the Levi Civita connection ∇ .

$$T_{(x,v)}TM^k = V_{(x,v)}TM^k \oplus H_{(x,v)}TM^k$$

of the tangent bundle to TM^k at all $(x, v) \in TM^k$ into the vertical distribution

$$V_{(x,v)}TM^k = Ker(d\pi_{(x,v)}) = \{\alpha^i \frac{\partial}{\partial v^i}|_{(x,v)}, \, \alpha^i \in \mathbb{R}\}$$

and the horizontal distribution

$$H_{(x,v)}TM^{k} = \{\alpha^{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}|_{(x,v)} - \alpha^{i}v^{j}\Gamma^{s}_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial v^{s}}|_{(x,v)}, \alpha^{i} \in \mathbb{R}\}.$$

Given a vector field $Z = Z^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$ on M^k . The vertical and horizontal lifts of Z are defined by:

$$\begin{split} ^{V}\!Z &= Z^{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial v^{i}}, \\ ^{H}\!Z &= Z^{i}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} - v^{j}\Gamma^{s}_{ij}\frac{\partial}{\partial v^{s}}) \end{split}$$

We have ${}^{H}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} - v^{j}\Gamma_{ij}^{k}\frac{\partial}{\partial v^{k}}$ and ${}^{V}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}) = \frac{\partial}{\partial v^{i}}$, then $({}^{H}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}), {}^{V}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}))_{i=1,...,k}$ is a local adapted frame on TTM^{k} .

Definition 2.1. [20] Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and a strictly positive smooth functions $f: M^k \to]0; +\infty[$. The Rescaled Sasaki metric on the tangent bundle TM^k of M^k is defined by:

$$G^{f}(^{H}X, ^{H}Y)_{(x,v)} = f(x)g_{x}(X, Y),$$

$$G^{f}(^{V}X, ^{H}Y)_{(x,v)} = G^{f}(^{H}X, ^{V}Y)_{(x,v)} = 0,$$

$$G^{f}(^{V}X, ^{V}Y)_{(x,v)} = g_{x}(X, Y),$$

for all vector fields X and Y on M^k and $(x, v) \in TM^k$. Note that, if f = 1, then G^f is the Sasaki metric[19].

Theorem 2.1. [20] Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and the Levi-Civita connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ of the tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Then we have the following formulas:

$$1. \widetilde{\nabla}_{H_X}{}^H Y = {}^H \left(\nabla_X Y + \frac{1}{2f} (X(f)Y + Y(f)X - g(X,Y)gradf) \right) - \frac{1}{2}{}^V (R(X,Y)v),$$

$$2. \widetilde{\nabla}_{H_X}{}^V Y = \frac{1}{2f}{}^H (R(v,Y)X) + {}^V (\nabla_X Y),$$

$$3. \widetilde{\nabla}_{V_X}{}^H Y = \frac{1}{2f}{}^H (R(v,X)Y),$$

$$4. \widetilde{\nabla}_{V_X}{}^V Y = 0,$$

for all vector fields X and Y on M^k , where R is the curvature tensor of ∇ on (M^k, g) .

Now, we will introduce some basic concepts concerning harmonic maps. Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds. If ψ is a critical point of the energy functional,

$$E(\psi) = \int_{K} e(\psi) v_g, \qquad (2.1)$$

the map ψ is called harmonic. for all compact domain $K \subseteq M^k$. Here

$$e(\psi) := \frac{1}{2} |d\psi|^2 = \frac{1}{2} Tr_g h(d\psi, d\psi)$$
(2.2)

is the energy density of ψ , $|d\psi|$ is the Hilbert-Schmitd norm of $d(\psi)$ and v_g is the Riemannian volume form on M^k . The first variation of the energy [13] is expressed by:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(\psi_t)\Big|_{t=0} = -\int_K h(\tau(\psi), V)v_g, \qquad (2.3)$$

for all smooth 1-parameter variation $\{\psi_t\}_{t\in I}$ of ψ and $V = \frac{d}{dt}\psi_t\Big|_{t=0}$. Then, ψ is to be harmonic if and only if $\tau(\psi) = 0$, where

$$\tau(\psi) := Tr_g \nabla d\psi, \tag{2.4}$$

is called the tension field of ψ , see [6, 7, 8, 12, 14]. Recently, numerous authors have extensively explored this topic, including its application to the tangent bundle [1, 23].

3. HARMONICITY OF SECTION $X: (M^k, g) \to (TM^k, G^f)$

Lemma 3.1. [14, 15] Consider a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) . Then the following equation holds:

$$d_x Y(X_x) = {}^{H} X_{(x,v)} + {}^{V} (\nabla_X Y)_{(x,v)}$$
(3.5)

for all vector fields X, Y on M^k and $(x, v) \in TM^k$, where $Y_x = v$.

Lemma 3.2. [24] Consider a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) . Then the following equation holds:

$$g(\bar{\Delta}Z, Z) = |\nabla Z|^2 - \frac{1}{2}\Delta |Z|^2,$$
 (3.6)

for all vector field Z on M^k , where $\overline{\Delta}Z := -Tr_g \nabla^2 Z = -Tr_g (\nabla_* \nabla_* - \nabla_{\nabla_*})Z$ denotes the rough Laplacian of Z.

Lemma 3.3. [24] Consider a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) . Then the following equation holds:

$$\bar{\Delta}(\rho Z) = \rho \bar{\Delta} Z - (\Delta \rho) Z - 2 \nabla_{grad\rho} Z, \qquad (3.7)$$

for all vector field Z on M^k , where ρ is a smooth function of M^k .

Lemma 3.4. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. If Z is a vector field on M^k , its corresponding energy density is expressed by:

$$e(Z) = \frac{kf}{2} + \frac{1}{2}|\nabla Z|^2.$$
 (3.8)

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,\dots,k}$ on M^k and $(x, v) \in TM^k$ such that $Z_x = v$, from (2.2), we have:

$$e(Z)_x = \frac{1}{2} |d_x Z|^2$$

= $\frac{1}{2} Tr_g G^f (dZ, dZ)_{(x,v)}$
= $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^k G^f (dZ(E_i), dZ(E_i))_{(x,v)}$.

Using (3.5), we obtain:

$$e(Z) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} G^{f}({}^{H}E_{i} + {}^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}Z), {}^{H}E_{i} + {}^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}Z))$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(G^{f}({}^{H}E_{i}, {}^{H}E_{i}) + G^{f}({}^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}Z), {}^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}Z)) \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(fg(E_{i}, E_{i}) + g(\nabla_{E_{i}}Z, \nabla_{E_{i}}Z) \right)$$

$$= \frac{kf}{2} + \frac{1}{2} |\nabla Z|^{2}.$$

Theorem 3.1. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. If Z is a vector field on M^k , its associated tension field is expressed by:

$$\tau(Z) = {}^{H} \left(\frac{2-k}{2f} gradf + \frac{1}{f} Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_* Z)*)\right) - {}^{V} \overline{\Delta} Z.$$
(3.9)

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,\dots,k}$ on M^k and $(x,v) \in TM^k$ such that $(\nabla_{E_i}E_i)_x = 0$ and $Z_x = v$. From (2.4) and (3.5), we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(Z)_x &= \left(Tr_g \nabla dZ\right)_x \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\nabla_{E_i}^Z dZ(E_i)\right)_x \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{dZ(E_i)} dZ(E_i)\right)_{(x,v)} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{(^HE_i + ^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z))}(^{^HE_i} + ^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z))\right)_{(x,v)} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{^HE_i}{}^{^HE_i} + \widetilde{\nabla}_{^HE_i}{}^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z) + \widetilde{\nabla}_{^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z)}{}^{^HE_i} + \widetilde{\nabla}_{^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z)}{}^V(\nabla_{E_i}Z)\right)_{(x,v)}. \end{aligned}$$

Using Theorem 2.1, we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(Z) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left({}^{H} \Big(\nabla_{E_{i}} E_{i} + \frac{1}{2f} (2E_{i}(f)E_{i} - g(E_{i}, E_{i})gradf) \Big) - \frac{1}{2} {}^{V} (R(E_{i}, E_{i})Z) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2f} {}^{H} (R(Z, \nabla_{E_{i}}Z)E_{i}) + {}^{V} (\nabla_{E_{i}} \nabla_{E_{i}}Z) + \frac{1}{2f} {}^{H} (R(Z, \nabla_{E_{i}}Z)E_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \Big(\frac{1}{2f} {}^{H} \Big(2E_{i}(f)E_{i} - gradf \Big) + \frac{1}{f} {}^{H} (R(Z, \nabla_{E_{i}}Z)E_{i}) + {}^{V} (\nabla_{E_{i}} \nabla_{E_{i}}Z) \Big). \end{aligned}$$

To simplify the last statement, we use the following equations:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{1}{f} R(Z, \nabla_{E_i} Z) E_i = \frac{1}{f} Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_* Z) *)$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \nabla_{E_i} \nabla_{E_i} Z = -\bar{\Delta} Z.$$

Then, we find (3.9).

From Theorem 3.1 we get the following:

Theorem 3.2. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. A vector field Z on M^k is a harmonic map if and only if the following conditions hold:

$$Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = \frac{k-2}{2}gradf$$
 and $\bar{\Delta}Z = 0.$

Corollary 3.1. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. If k = 2 or f = constant, then every vector field that is parallel on M^k is harmonic map.

Given a compact oriented Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Let Z a vector field on M^k . The energy E(Z) of Z is defined to be the energy of the corresponding map $Z : (M^k, g) \to (TM^k, G^f)$ [5]. More precisely, from (3.8), we get

$$E(Z) = \frac{k}{2} \int_{M^k} f \, v_g + \frac{1}{2} \int_{M^k} |\nabla Z|^2 v_g.$$
(3.10)

Definition 3.1. [5, 17] Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. A vector field Z on M^k is called harmonic vector field if the corresponding map $Z : (M^k, g) \to (TM^k, G^f)$ is a critical point for the energy functional E, only considering variations between maps defined by vector fields.

Theorem 3.3. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Let Z a vector field on M^k and $E : \mathfrak{S}^1_0(M^k) \to [0, +\infty)$ the energy functional restricted to the space of all vector fields. Then the following condition holds:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(Z_t)\big|_{t=0} = \int_{M^k} g(\bar{\Delta}Z, V)v_g \tag{3.11}$$

for all smooth 1-parameter variation $\vartheta : M^k \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \to TM^k$ of Z i.e. $\vartheta(x, 0) = Z(x)$, $Z_t(x) = \vartheta(x, t) \in T_x M^k$ for all $(x, t) \in M^k \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$, $(\epsilon > 0)$ and $V \in \mathfrak{S}_0^1(M^k)$ is the vector field on M^k expressed by:

$$V(x) = \frac{d}{dt} Z_x(t) \Big|_{t=0} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\vartheta(x,t) - \vartheta(x,0)),$$

where $Z_x(t) = \vartheta(x,t), (x,t) \in M^k \times (-\epsilon,\epsilon).$

Proof. Given a smooth 1-parameter variation $\vartheta : M^k \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \to TM^k$ of Z, such that $Z_t(x) = \vartheta(x,t) \in T_x M^k$ for all $(x,t) \in M^k \times (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ and $\vartheta(x,0) = Z(x)$. From (2.1), we have

$$E(Z_t) = \int_{M^k} e(Z_t) v_g.$$

Using (2.3), we get:

166

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(Z_t)\Big|_{t=0} = -\int_{M^k} G^f(\mathcal{V}, \tau(Z))v_g, \qquad (3.12)$$

where \mathcal{V} is the infinitesimal variation induced by ϑ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{V}(x) = d_{(x,0)}\vartheta(0, \frac{d}{dt})\big|_{t=0} = \frac{d}{dt}Z_t(x)\big|_{t=0}$$

It is well known that

$$\mathcal{V} = {}^{V}V \circ Z, \tag{3.13}$$

see [5, p.58]. Finally, by (3.9), (3.12) and (3.13), we find:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(Z_t)\Big|_{t=0} = -\int_{M^k} G^f({}^V\!V, \tau(Z))v_g$$
$$= -\int_{M^k} G^f({}^V\!V, -{}^V\!\bar{\Delta}Z)v_g$$
$$= \int_{M^k} g(\bar{\Delta}Z, V)v_g.$$

If (M^k, g) is a non-compact oriented Riemannian manifold, then Theorem 3.3 holds. In fact, if M^k is non-compact, we can choose $V \in \mathfrak{S}^1_0(M^k)$ which support is contained in an open subset W in M^k whose closure is compact. Then (3.11) is as follows:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(Z_t)\big|_{t=0} = \int_W g(\bar{\Delta}Z, V)v_g.$$

We derive from this a necessary and sufficient condition for a vector field is a harmonic vector field or harmonic map, respectively.

Theorem 3.4. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. A vector field Z on M^k is harmonic vector field if and only if $\overline{\Delta}Z = 0$.

Using Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.4, we obtain the following:

Theorem 3.5. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. A vector field Z on M^k is harmonic map if and only if Z is harmonic vector field and

$$Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = \frac{k-2}{2}gradf.$$

It is clear that, all parallel vector field on M^k is harmonic vector field. Conversely, we have:

Theorem 3.6. Given a compact oriented Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. A vector field Z on M^k is harmonic vector field if and only if Z is parallel.

Proof. We suppose that Z is a harmonic vector field on M^k , from Theorem 3.4, we find $\overline{\Delta}Z = 0$. By (3.6), we obtain $|\nabla Z|^2 = \frac{1}{2}\Delta |Z|^2$. Applying the divergence Theorem, we get

$$\int_{M^k} |\nabla Z|^2 v^g = 0.$$

Since $|\nabla Z|^2$ is a positive function, hence $\nabla Z = 0$.

Theorem 3.7. Given a compact oriented Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. If k = 2 or f = constant, a vector field Z on M^k is harmonic map if and only if Z is parallel.

Example 3.1. Let \mathbb{R}^2 endowed with the Riemannian metric in polar coordinate defined by:

$$g = dr^2 + r^2 d\theta^2.$$

Relatively to the orthonormal frame

$$E_1 = \partial_r, \quad E_2 = \frac{1}{r}\partial_\theta$$

we have,

$$\nabla_{E_1} E_1 = \nabla_{E_1} E_2 = 0, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_1 = \frac{1}{r} E_2, \quad \nabla_{E_2} E_2 = -\frac{1}{r} E_1,$$

$$R(E_1, E_2) E_1 = R(E_1, E_2) E_2 = 0.$$

Let $Z = \alpha(r)E_1$ be a vector field, where α is a smooth real function. Using simple calculations, we find:

$$Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = 0,$$
$$\bar{\Delta}E_1 = \frac{1}{r^2}E_1,$$

Using (3.7), we obtain:

$$\bar{\Delta}Z = (-\alpha'' - \frac{1}{r}\alpha' + \frac{1}{r^2}\alpha)E_1.$$

i) From Theorem 3.4, we conclude that Z is harmonic vector field equivalently $\overline{\Delta}Z = 0$, then

$$-\alpha'' - \frac{1}{r}\alpha' + \frac{1}{r^2}\alpha = 0.$$
 (3.14)

The general solution of differential equation (3.14) is

$$\alpha(r) = c_1 r + \frac{c_2}{r},$$

where, c_1 and c_2 be real constants.

ii) Since k = 2 and $Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = 0$, from Theorem 3.5, the vector fields $Z = (c_1r + \frac{c_2}{r})E_1$ are also harmonic maps. iii) However the vector field $Y = (r - \frac{1}{r})E_1$ is harmonic but non parallel, because $\nabla_{E_1}Y = (1 + \frac{1}{r^2})E_1 \neq 0$.

Example 3.2. Consider \mathbb{R}^2 with the Riemannian metric

$$g = e^{2y} dx^2 + dy^2.$$

$$\nabla_{E_1} E_1 = -E_2, \ \nabla_{E_1} E_2 = E_1, \ \nabla_{E_2} E_1 = \nabla_{E_2} E_2 = 0,$$

 $R(E_1, E_2) E_1 = E_2, \ R(E_1, E_2) E_2 = -E_1.$

Let $Z = \rho(y)E_2$ be a vector field, where ρ is a smooth non-zero real function. According to simple calculations, we find:

$$Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = -\rho^2 E_2,$$

$$\bar{\Delta}Z = (-\rho'' - \rho' + \rho)E_2.$$

i) From Theorem 3.4, we conclude that $Z = \rho(y)E_2$ is harmonic vector field if and only if

$$-\rho'' - \rho' + \rho = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

The general solution of differential equation (3.15) is

$$\rho(y) = ae^{\frac{-1-\sqrt{5}}{2}y} + be^{\frac{-1+\sqrt{5}}{2}y},$$

where a and b be non-zero real constants at the same time.

ii) Since k = 2 and $Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) \neq 0$, from Theorem 3.5, the vector fields $Z = (ae^{\frac{-1-\sqrt{5}}{2}y} + be^{\frac{-1+\sqrt{5}}{2}y})E_2$ are never harmonic maps. On the other hand, we have $\nabla_{E_1}Z = \rho E_1 = (ae^{\frac{-1-\sqrt{5}}{2}y} + be^{\frac{-1+\sqrt{5}}{2}y})E_1 \neq 0$, then the vector fields Z is non parallel, i.e. the vector fields Z are harmonic vector fields but neither harmonic maps nor parallel vector fields.

Example 3.3. The torus $T^2 = \mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1$ (2-dimensional compact oriented Riemannian manifold) endowed with the metric:

$$g = \frac{4}{(1+x^2)^2}dx^2 + \frac{4}{(1+y^2)^2}dy^2.$$

Let $Z = f_1(x, y)\partial_x + f_2(x, y)\partial_y$ be a vector field, where f_1 and f_2 are smooth functions. According to simple calculations, we find:

$$\nabla_{\partial_x}\partial_x = \frac{-2x}{1+x^2}\partial_x, \ \nabla_{\partial_x}\partial_y = \nabla_{\partial_y}\partial_x = 0, \ \nabla_{\partial_y}\partial_y = \frac{-2y}{1+y^2}\partial_y,$$
$$Tr_g(R(X, \nabla_*X)*) = 0.$$

i) From Theorem 3.6, we conclude that Z is harmonic vector field $\Leftrightarrow \nabla Z = 0$

$$\Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} \nabla_{\partial_x} Z = 0\\ \nabla_{\partial_y} Z = 0 \end{cases}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x} - \frac{2x}{1+x^2} f_1\right) \partial_x + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x} \partial_y = 0\\ \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial y} \partial_x + \left(\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial y} - \frac{2y}{1+y^2} f_2\right) \partial_y = 0 \end{cases}$$

We conclude that the function f_1 is only dependent on x, while the function f_2 is only dependent on y, so we find the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x} - \frac{2x}{1+x^2} f_1 = 0\\ \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial y} - \frac{2y}{1+y^2} f_2 = 0. \end{cases}$$

The general solution for this system is

$$f_1(x) = c_1(1+x^2), \ f_2(y) = c_2(1+y^2)$$

where, c_1 and c_2 be real constants.

ii) Since k = 2 and $Tr_g(R(Z, \nabla_*Z)*) = 0$, from Theorem 3.6, we deduce that $Z = c_1(1+x^2)\partial_x + c_2(1+y^2)\partial_y$ are also harmonic maps.

4. Harmonicity of the composition of a vector field and mapping between Riemannian manifolds

Lemma 4.1. [23] Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds, a vector field Y on N^n and the smooth map ξ defined by $\xi := Y \circ \psi$. Then

$$d\xi(X) = {}^{H}\!(d\psi(X)) + {}^{V}\!(\nabla_{X}^{\psi}\xi), \qquad (4.16)$$

for all vector field X on M^k , where ∇^{ψ} is the pull-back connection on the pull-back bundle $\psi^{-1}TN^n$.

Theorem 4.1. Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds and the tangent bundle (TN^n, H^f) of N^n endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Then the tension field of the map $\xi := Y \circ \psi$ is expressed by:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\xi) &= {}^{H}\!\!\left(\tau(\psi) + \frac{1}{f}d\psi(grad^{M^{k}}\!(f\circ\psi)) - \frac{1}{2f}|d\psi|^{2}grad^{N^{n}}\!f + \frac{1}{f}Tr_{g}(R^{N^{n}}\!(\xi,\nabla^{\psi}_{*}\xi)d\psi(*))\right) \\ &- {}^{V}\!\left(\Delta^{\psi}\xi\right), \end{aligned}$$

where $\Delta^{\psi}\xi := -Tr_g(\nabla^{\psi})^2\xi = -Tr_g(\nabla^{\psi}_*\nabla^{\psi}_* - \nabla^{\psi}_{\nabla_**})\xi$ is the rough Laplacian of ξ on $\psi^{-1}TN^n$.

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,\dots,k}$ on M^k such that $(\nabla_{E_i}E_i)_x = 0$ and $\xi(x) = (\psi(x), Y_{\psi(x)}), Y_{\psi(x)} = v \in T_{\psi(x)}N^n$.

Using (4.16), we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\xi)_{x} &= (Tr_{g}\nabla d\xi)_{x} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\xi} d\xi(E_{i}))_{x} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \nabla_{d\xi(E_{i})}^{TN^{n}} d\xi(E_{i}))_{(\psi(x),v)} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (\nabla_{(^{H}(d\psi(E_{i})) + ^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi))} (^{H}(d\psi(E_{i})) + ^{V}(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi)))_{(\psi(x),v)} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (\nabla_{H(d\psi(E_{i}))}^{TN^{n}} H(d\psi(E_{i})) + \nabla_{H(d\psi(E_{i}))}^{TN^{n}} V(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi) + \nabla_{V(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi)}^{TN^{n}} H(d\psi(E_{i})) \\ &+ \nabla_{V(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi)}^{TN^{n}} V(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi}\xi))_{(\psi(x),v)}. \end{aligned}$$

From Theorem 2.1, we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \tau(\xi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left({}^{H} \! \left(\nabla_{d\psi(E_{i})}^{N^{n}} d\psi(E_{i}) + \frac{1}{2f} (2d\psi(E_{i})(f)d\psi(E_{i}) - h(d\psi(E_{i}), d\psi(E_{i}))grad^{N^{n}}f) \right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{f} {}^{H} \! \left(R^{N^{n}} \! \left(\xi, \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} \xi \right) d\psi(E_{i}) \right) + {}^{V} \! \left(\nabla_{d\psi(E_{i})}^{N^{n}} \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} \xi \right) \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left({}^{H} \! \left(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} d\psi(E_{i}) + \frac{1}{2f} (2E_{i}(f \circ \psi)d\psi(E_{i}) - h(d\psi(E_{i}), d\psi(E_{i}))grad^{N^{n}}f) \right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{f} R^{N^{n}} \! \left(\xi, \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} \xi \right) d\psi(E_{i}) \right) + {}^{V} \! \left(\nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} \xi \right) \right) \\ &= {}^{H} \! \left(\tau(\psi) + \frac{1}{f} d\psi(grad^{M^{k}}(f \circ \psi)) - \frac{1}{2f} |d\psi|^{2} grad^{N^{n}} f + \frac{1}{f} Tr_{g}(R^{N^{n}} \! \left(\xi, \nabla_{*}^{\psi} \xi \right) d\psi(*)) \right) \\ &- {}^{V} \! \left(\Delta^{\psi} \xi \right). \end{split}$$

	-	-	-	-	

From Theorem 4.1 we obtain:

Theorem 4.2. Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds and (TN^n, H^f) be the tangent bundle of N^n endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Then the map $\xi := Y \circ \psi$ is harmonic if and only if the following conditions hold:

$$\begin{cases} \tau(\psi) = -\frac{1}{f} Tr_g(R^{N^n}(\xi, \nabla^{\psi}_*\xi)d\psi(*)) - \frac{1}{f} d\psi(grad^{M^k}(f \circ \psi)) + \frac{1}{2f} |d\psi|^2 grad^{N^n}f, \\ \Delta^{\psi}\xi = 0. \end{cases}$$

MAP

Lemma 5.1. Given a Riemannian manifold (M^k, g) and its tangent bundle (TM^k, G^f) endowed with the Rescaled Sasaki metric. Then The tension field of the canonical projection $\pi: (TM^k, G^f) \to (M^k, g)$ is expressed by:

$$\tau(\pi) = \frac{k-2}{2f^2}(gradf) \circ \pi.$$
(5.17)

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,...,k}$ on M^k , then $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_1}}{}^H E_i, {}^V E_j\}_{i,j=1,...,k}$ forms a local orthonormal frame field on the tangent bundle TM^k . From Theorem 2.1, we find:

$$\tau(\pi)_{(x,v)} = (Tr_{G^{f}} \nabla d\pi)_{(x,v)}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}HE_{i})} d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}HE_{i}) - d\pi(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}HE_{i}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}HE_{i}) \right)_{\pi(x,v)}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{d\pi(VE_{j})} d\pi(VE_{j}) - d\pi(\widetilde{\nabla}_{VE_{j}}VE_{j}) \right)_{\pi(x,v)}.$$

But because $d\pi(^{V}Z) = 0$ and $d\pi(^{H}Z) = Z \circ \pi$, for each vector field Z on M^{k} , we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\pi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} \circ \pi\right)} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} \circ \pi \right) - d\pi \left({}^{H} \left(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} \right) \right) \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{2f} d\pi \left({}^{H} \left(2\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}(f) \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} - g\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} \right) gradf \right) \right) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} - \nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i} - \frac{1}{2f^{2}} (2E_{i}(f)E_{i} - g(E_{i}, E_{i})gradf) \circ \pi \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \frac{k-2}{2f^{2}} (gradf) \circ \pi. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 5.1. Given a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$. The tension field of the map $\zeta := \psi \circ \pi$ is expressed by:

$$\tau(\zeta) = \frac{1}{f}(\tau(\psi) + \frac{k-2}{2f}d\psi(gradf)) \circ \pi.$$
(5.18)

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,...,k}$ on M^k , then $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_1}}{}^H E_i, {}^V E_j\}_{i,j=1,...,k}$ forms a local orthonormal frame field on the tangent bundle TM^k . Then the tension field of the map $\zeta := \psi \circ \pi$ is given by [6, 8]

$$\tau(\zeta) = \tau(\psi \circ \pi) = d\psi(\tau(\pi)) + Tr_{G^f} \nabla d\psi(d\pi, d\pi),$$

then, we have:

$$\begin{split} Tr_{G^{f}} \nabla d\psi(d\pi, d\pi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{d\psi(d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} H_{E_{i}}))}^{N^{n}} d\psi(d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} H_{E_{i}})) - d\psi(\nabla_{d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} H_{E_{i}})} d\pi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} H_{E_{i}}))) \right) \circ \pi \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{d\psi(d\pi(VE_{j}))}^{N^{n}} d\psi(d\pi(VE_{j})) - d\psi(\nabla_{d\pi(VE_{j})} d\pi(VE_{j})) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}) \circ \pi}^{\psi} d\psi((\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}) \circ \pi) - d\psi(\nabla_{(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}) \circ \pi}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}) \circ \pi) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}}^{\psi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} d\psi(E_{i}) - d\psi(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}}\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}) d\psi(E_{i}) + \frac{1}{f} \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} d\psi(E_{i}) \\ &- d\psi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} E_{i}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f}}) E_{i} + \frac{1}{f} \nabla_{E_{i}} E_{i}) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{f} \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} d\psi(E_{i}) - \frac{1}{f} d\psi(\nabla_{E_{i}} E_{i}) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{f} \nabla_{E_{i}}^{\psi} d\psi(E_{i}) - \frac{1}{f} d\psi(\nabla_{E_{i}} E_{i}) \right) \circ \pi \\ &= \frac{1}{f} \tau(\psi) \circ \pi. \end{split}$$

Using (5.17), we obtain (5.18).

Theorem 5.2. Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds. Then the map $\zeta := \psi \circ \pi$ is harmonic if and only if

$$\tau(\psi) = \frac{2-n}{2f} d\psi(gradf).$$

6. HARMONICITY OF THE TANGENT MAP

Given Riemannian manifolds (M^k, g) , (N^n, h) and their tangent bundles (TM^k, G^{f_1}) , (TN^n, H^{f_2}) respectively, equipped with the Rescaled Sasaki metrics, such that f_1 , f_2 are strictly positive smooth functions on M^k , N^n respectively.

Lemma 6.1. [9] Given a smooth map $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ between two Riemannian manifolds and its tangent map

$$\begin{split} \Psi &= d\psi: TM^k &\longrightarrow TN^n \\ & (x,v) &\longmapsto (\psi(x), d\psi(v)) \end{split}$$

L		
L		
L		

we have:

$$\begin{cases} d\Psi(^{V}X) = {}^{V}(d\psi(X)), \\ d\Psi(^{H}X) = {}^{H}(d\psi(X)) + {}^{V}(\nabla d\psi(x,v)), \end{cases}$$

for all vector field X on M^k .

Theorem 6.1. Given a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$, then the tension field associated to the tangent map $\Psi : (TM^k, G^{f_1}) \longrightarrow (TN^n, H^{f_2})$ is given by:

$$\begin{split} \tau(\Psi) &= {}^{H} \Bigl(\frac{1}{f_{1}} \tau(\psi) + \frac{k-2}{2f_{1}^{2}} d\psi(grad^{M^{k}}f_{1}) + \frac{1}{f_{1}f_{2}} d\psi(grad^{M^{k}}(f_{2} \circ \psi)) \\ &- \frac{1}{2f_{1}f_{2}} |d\psi|^{2}grad^{N^{n}}f_{2} + \frac{1}{f_{1}f_{2}} Tr_{g}(R^{N^{n}}(d\psi(u), \nabla d\psi(*, u))d\psi(*))) \\ &+ {}^{V} \Bigl(\frac{k-2}{2f_{1}^{2}} \nabla d\psi(grad^{M^{k}}f_{1}, u) + \frac{1}{f_{1}} Tr_{g}(\nabla^{\psi}_{*}(\nabla d\psi(*, u))) \Bigr). \end{split}$$

Proof. Given a local orthonormal frame field $\{E_i\}_{i=1,...,k}$ on M^k such that $(\nabla_{E_i}^{M^k} E_i)_x = 0$, then $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_1}}{}^H E_i, {}^V E_j\}_{i,j=1,...,k}$ forms a local orthonormal frame field on TM^k , we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\Psi)_{(x,v)} &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} HE_{i}}^{\Psi} d\Psi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} E_{i}) - d\Psi(\nabla_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} HE_{i}}^{TM^{k}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} E_{i}) \right)_{(\psi(x), d\psi(u))} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\nabla_{V_{E_{j}}}^{\Psi} d\Psi(^{V} E_{j}) - d\Psi(\nabla_{V_{E_{j}}}^{TM^{k}} VE_{j}) \right)_{(\psi(x), d\psi(u))} \\ &= \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} E_{i}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}) d\Psi(^{H} E_{i}) + \frac{1}{f_{1}} \nabla_{HE_{i}}^{\Psi} d\Psi(^{H} E_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\nabla_{d\Psi(^{V} E_{j})}^{TN^{n}} d\Psi(^{V} E_{j}) \right) \right. \\ &- d\Psi\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}}^{H} E_{i}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{1}}})^{H} E_{i} + \frac{1}{f_{1}} \nabla_{HE_{i}}^{TM^{k}} HE_{i} \right) \right)_{(\psi(x), d\psi(u))}. \end{aligned}$$

Using Theorem 2.1 and Lemma 6.1, we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\Psi) &= \frac{1}{f_1} \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\nabla^{TN^n}_{d\Psi(H_{E_i})} d\Psi(H_{E_i}) - d\Psi(\nabla^{TM^kH}_{H_{E_i}} E_i) \right) + \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\nabla^{TN^n}_{d\Psi(V_{E_j})} d\Psi(V_{E_j}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{f_1} \sum_{i=1}^k \left(\nabla^{TN^n}_{H(d\psi(E_i))} H(d\psi(E_i)) + \nabla^{TN^n}_{H(d\psi(E_i))} V(\nabla d\psi(E_i, u)) + \nabla^{TN^n}_{V(\nabla d\psi(E_i, u))} H(d\psi(E_i)) \right. \\ &+ \left. \nabla^{TN^n}_{V(\nabla d\psi(E_i, u))} V(\nabla d\psi(E_i, u)) - d\Psi \left(H\left(\frac{1}{2f_1} (2E_i(f_1)E_i - g(E_i, E_i)grad^{M^k} f_1) \right) \right) \right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\nabla^{TN^n}_{V(d\psi(E_j))} V(d\psi(E_j)) \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \frac{1}{f_1} \sum_{i=1}^k \left({}^{H} \Big(\nabla_{d\psi(E_i)}^{N^n} d\psi(E_i) + \frac{1}{2f_2} (2d\psi(E_i)(f_2)d\psi(E_i) - h(d\psi(E_i), d\psi(E_i))grad^{N^n}f_2) \Big) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{f_2} {}^{H} \Big(R^{N^n} (d\psi(u), \nabla d\psi(E_i, u))d\psi(E_i) \Big) + {}^{V} \big(\nabla_{d\psi(E_i)}^{N^n} \nabla d\psi(E_i, u) \big) \Big) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{k-2}{2f_1^2} d\Psi \Big({}^{H} \Big(grad^{M^k}f_1 \Big) \Big) \right. \\ = \frac{H \Big(\frac{1}{f_1} \tau(\psi) + \frac{k-2}{2f_1^2} d\psi(grad^{M^k}f_1) + \frac{1}{f_1f_2} d\psi(grad^{M^k}(f_2 \circ \psi)) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{1}{2f_1f_2} |d\psi|^2 grad^{N^n}f_2 + \frac{1}{f_1f_2} Tr_g (R^{N^n} (d\psi(u), \nabla d\psi(*, u))d\psi(*)) \Big) \right. \\ \left. + V \Big(\frac{k-2}{2f_1^2} \nabla d\psi(grad^{M^k}f_1, u) + \frac{1}{f_1} Tr_g (\nabla_*^{\psi} (\nabla d\psi(*, u))) \Big) \right.$$

Theorem 6.2. Given a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$, then the tangent map $\Psi : (TM^k, G^{f_1}) \longrightarrow (TN^n, H^{f_2})$ is harmonic if and only if

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\psi) &= \frac{2-k}{2f_1} d\psi(grad^{M^k} f_1) - \frac{1}{f_2} d\psi(grad^{M^k} (f_2 \circ \psi)) + \frac{1}{2f_2} |d\psi|^2 grad^{N^n} f_2 \\ &- \frac{1}{f_2} Tr_g(R^{N^n} (d\psi(u), \nabla d\psi(*, u)) d\psi(*))), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$Tr_g \nabla^{\psi}_* (\nabla d\psi(u,*)) = \frac{2-n}{2f_1} \nabla d\psi(grad^{M^k} f_1, u).$$

Theorem 6.3. If $\psi : (M^k, g) \to (N^n, h)$ is totally geodesic, then the tangent map $\Psi : (TM^k, G^{f_1}) \longrightarrow (TN^n, H^{f_2})$ is harmonic if and only if

$$\tau(\psi) = \frac{2-k}{2f_1} d\psi(grad^{M^k}f_1) - \frac{1}{f_2} d\psi(grad^{M^k}(f_2 \circ \psi)) + \frac{1}{2f_2} |d\psi|^2 grad^{N^n}f_2.$$

References

- Baird, P., & Wood, J. C. (2003). Harmonic Morphisms Between Riemannian Manifolds, Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- [2] Dida, H.M., Hathout, F., & Azzouz, A. (2019). On the geometry of the tangent bundle with vertical rescaled metric. Commun. Fac. Sci. Univ. Ank. Ser. A1 Math. Stat., 68(1), 222-235.
- [3] Djaa, N. E. H., & Zagane, A. (2022) Harmonicity of Mus-Gradient Metric. Int. J. Maps Math., 5(1), 61-77.
- [4] Dombrowski, P. (1962). On the Geometry of the tangent bundle. J. Reine Angew. Math. 210 (1962), 73–88.
- [5] Dragomir, S.&, Perrone, D. (2011) Harmonic Vector Fields: Variational Principles and Differential Geometry, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- [6] Eells, J., & Lemaire, L. (1978). A report on harmonic maps. Bull. London Math. Soc., 10(1), 1-68.
- [7] Eells, J., & Lemaire, L. (1988). Another report on harmonic maps. Bull. London Math. Soc., 20(5), 385-524.
- [8] Eells, J., & Sampson, J. H. (1964). Harmonic mappings of Riemannian manifolds. Amer.J. Maths., 86(1), 109-160.
- [9] El Hendi, H., & Belarbi, L. (2020). Naturally harmonic maps between tangent bundles. Balkan J. Geom. Appl., 25(1), 34-46.
- [10] Gezer, A., & Altunbas, M. (2013). On the geometry of the rescaled Riemannian metric on tensor bundles of arbitrary type. arXiv:1309.1463 [math.DG],
- [11] Gudmundsson, S., & Kappos, E. (2002). On the geometry of the tangent bundle with the Cheeger-Gromoll metric. Tokyo J. Math., 25(1), 75-83.
- [12] Ishihara, T. (1979). Harmonic sections of tangent bundles. J.Math. Tokushima Univ., 13, 23-27.
- [13] Jiang, G. (2008). 2-Harmonic maps and their first and second variational formulas. Translated into English by Hajime Urakawa. Note Mat., 28(1), 209-232.
- [14] Konderak, J. J. (1992). On Harmonic Vector Fields. Publ. Mat., 36(1), 217-288.
- [15] Latti, F., Djaa, M., & Zagane, A. (2018). Mus-Sasaki metric and harmonicity. Math. Sci. Appl. E-Notes, 6(1), 29-36.
- [16] Latti, F., Elhendi, H., & Belarbi, L. (2021). Twisted Sasakian Metric on the Tangent Bundle and Harmonicity. J. Geom. Symmetry Phys., 62, 53-66.
- [17] Markellos, M., & Urakawa, H. (2015). The biharmonicity of sections of the tangent bundle, Monatsh. Math. 178(3), 389-404.
- [18] Salimov, A. A., Gezer, A., & Akbulut, K. (2009). Geodesics of Sasakian metrics on tensor bundles. Mediterr. J. Math., 6(2), 135-147.
- [19] Sasaki, S. (1962). On the differential geometry of tangent bundles of Riemannian manifolds II. Tohoku Math. J. (2), 14(2), 146-155.
- [20] Wang, J., & Wang, (2011). On the geometry of tangent bundles with the rescaled metric. arXiv:1104.5584v1 [math.DG].
- [21] Yano K., & Ishihara, S. (1973). Tangent and tangent bundles. Marcel Dekker, INC. New York.
- [22] Zagane, A., & El hendi, H. (2020). Harmonic vector fields on vertical rescaled generalized Cheeger-Gromoll metrics. Balkan J. Geom. Appl., 25(2), 140-156.
- [23] Zagane, A., & Djaa, N. E. H. (2022). Notes About a harmonicity on the tangent bundle with Rescaled Sasaki metric. Int. Electron. J. Geom., 15 (1), 83-95.
- [24] Zagane, A. (2023). Some results of harmonicity on tangent bundles with φ-Sasakian Metrics over para-Kähler-Norden manifold. Proc. Inst. Math. Mech. Natl. Acad. Sci. Azerb., 49(2), 295-311.

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Technology, Relizane university, 48000, Relizane-Algeria

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, SALHI AHMED NAAMA UNIVERSITY CENTER, 45000, NAAMA-ALGERIA



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:177-191 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

EXPLORING THE RECIPROCAL FUNCTIONAL EQUATIONS: APPROXIMATIONS IN DIVERSE SPACES

IDIR SADANI 🔘 *

ABSTRACT. In this study, we explore the generalized Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of a specific reciprocal-type functional equation. The equation is given by

$$\Omega(2u+v) + \Omega(2u-v) = \frac{2\Omega(u)\Omega(v)\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} \Omega(u)^{\frac{k}{l}} \Omega(v)^{\frac{l-k}{l}}}{\left(4\Omega(v)^{\frac{2}{l}} - \Omega(u)^{\frac{2}{l}}\right)^{l}}$$

and we consider its behavior in both non-zero real and non-Archimedean spaces. Additionally, an appropriate counter-example is provided to demonstrate the failure of the stability result in the singular case.

Keywords: Reciprocal functional equation, non-Archimedean space, non-zero real space, approximations, Cauchy sequence, functional inequality, generalized Hyers-Ulam stability, convergence.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 39B52, 39B72.

1. INTRODUCTION

The exploration of the stability of functional equations began with Ulam's [20] famous question at a Mathematical Colloquium held at the University of Wisconsin in 1940. In the following year, Hyers [9] presented a partial solution to Ulam's question. Subsequently, Th.M. Rassias [11], Aoki [1], J.M. Rassias [12], and Găvruţa [8] expanded and generalized Hyers's findings to include the Cauchy functional equation in various adaptations.

Received:2024.07.25 Revised:2024.10.17 Accepted:2024.11.11

^{*} Corresponding author

Idir Sadani \diamond sadani.idir@yahoo.fr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1013-8842.

I. SADANI

In 2010, Ravi and Senthil Kumar [13] studied the stability of the reciprocal type functional equation

$$f(x+y) = \frac{f(x)f(y)}{f(x) + f(y)},$$

where $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is a mapping with X as the space of non-zero real numbers.

In 2014, Kim and Bodaghi [2] introduced and studied the stability of the quadratic reciprocal functional equation

$$f(2x+y) + f(2x-y) = \frac{2f(x)f(y)[4f(y) + f(x)]}{(4f(y) - f(x))^2}.$$

In 2017, Kim et al. [10] introduced and studied the stability of the reciprocal-cubic functional equation

$$c(2x+y) + c(x+2y) = \frac{9c(x)c(y)[c(x) + c(y) + 2c(x)^{\frac{1}{3}}c(y)^{\frac{1}{3}}(c(x)^{\frac{1}{3}} + c(y)^{\frac{1}{3}})]}{[2c(x)^{\frac{2}{3}} + 2c(y)^{\frac{2}{3}} + 5c(x)^{\frac{1}{3}}c(y)^{\frac{1}{3}}]^3}$$

and the reciprocal-quartic functional equation

$$q(2x+y) + q(2x-y) = \frac{2q(x)q(y)[q(x) + 16q(y) + 24\sqrt{q(x)q(y)}]}{[4\sqrt{q(y)} - \sqrt{q(x)}]^4}$$

in non-Archimedean fields.

In the same year, Bodaghi and Senthil Kumar [4] introduced and obtained the stability of the following reciprocal-quintic functional equation

$$q(2x+y) + q(2x-y) = \frac{4q(x)q(y)[16q(y) + 40q(x)^{\frac{2}{5}}q(y)^{\frac{3}{5}} + 5q(x)^{\frac{4}{5}}q(y)^{\frac{1}{5}}]}{[4q(y)^{\frac{2}{5}} - q(x)^{\frac{2}{5}}]^5}$$

and reciprocal-sextic functional equation

$$s(2x+y) + s(2x-y) = \frac{2s(x)s(y)[s(x) + 60s(x)^{\frac{2}{3}}s(y)^{\frac{1}{3}} + 240s(x)^{\frac{1}{3}} + 64s(y)]}{[4s(y)^{\frac{1}{3}} - s(x)^{\frac{1}{3}}]^6}.$$

In 2020, Bodaghi et al [6] considered the following reciprocal-nonic functional equation

$$n(2x+y) + n(2x-y) = \frac{4n(x)n(y)}{(4n(y)^{\frac{2}{9}} - n(x)^{\frac{2}{9}})^9} \left[256n(y) + 2304n(x)^{\frac{2}{9}}n(y)^{\frac{7}{9}} + 2016n(x)^{\frac{4}{9}}n(y)^{\frac{5}{9}} + 336n(x)^{\frac{6}{9}}n(y)^{\frac{3}{9}} + n(x)^{\frac{8}{9}}n(y)^{\frac{1}{9}} \right]$$

and the reciprocal-decic functional equation

$$d(2x+y)+d(2x-y) = \frac{2d(x)d(y)}{(4d(y)^{\frac{1}{5}} - d(x)^{\frac{1}{5}})^{10}} \left[1024d(y) + 11520d(x)^{\frac{1}{5}}d(y)^{\frac{4}{5}} + 13440d(x)^{\frac{2}{5}}d(y)^{\frac{3}{5}} + 3360d(x)^{\frac{3}{5}}d(y)^{\frac{2}{5}} + 180d(x)^{\frac{4}{5}}d(y)^{\frac{1}{5}} + d(x) \right]$$

and obtained various stability results in non-Archimedean fields and some proper examples for their non-stabilities. The other results pertaining to the stability of different reciprocal-type functional equations can be found, for instance, in [5, 19, 14, 15, 3, 16, 17, 18].

In this study, we introduce the following l-power reciprocal functional equation

$$\Omega(2u+v) + \Omega(2u-v) = \frac{2\Omega(u)\Omega(v)\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} \Omega(u)^{\frac{k}{l}} \Omega(v)^{\frac{l-k}{l}}}{\left(4\Omega(v)^{\frac{2}{l}} - \Omega(u)^{\frac{2}{l}}\right)^{l}}, \qquad (1.1)$$

then, we examine the general solution and its various stability results in non-zero real numbers and in non-Archimedean fields with a proper example for their non-stability.

2. General solution of (1.1)

This section provides the solution for the functional equation (1.1). Assume R^* denotes the set of non-zero real numbers.

We begin with the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Let $a \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Then, we have

$$\frac{(-1)^l (a-2)^l + (a+2)^l}{2(a)^l} = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^l \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^{l-k} \binom{l}{k}.$$
(2.2)

Proof. Let us prove it by mathematical induction. First, for l = 0, we get

$$\frac{(-1)^0(a-2)^0 + (a+2)^0}{2a^0} = \frac{1+1}{2} = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ even}}}^0 \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^{0-k} \binom{0}{k} = \binom{0}{0} = 1.$$

The statement is true for l = 0. Next, we assume that for l = n, it is true, i.e.

$$\frac{(-1)^n (a-2)^n + (a+2)^n}{2a^n} = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ even}}}^n \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^{n-k} \binom{n}{k}.$$
(2.3)

We must now prove that the formula holds for l = n + 1, i.e.

$$\frac{(-1)^{n+1}(a-2)^{n+1} + (a+2)^{n+1}}{2a^{n+1}} = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ even}}}^{n+1} \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^{n+1-k} \binom{n+1}{k}.$$
 (2.4)

To do this, we use the binomial theorem to obtain

$$\frac{(-1)^{n+1}(a-2)^{n+1} + (a+2)^{n+1}}{2a^{n+1}} = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{2a^{n+1}} \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} a^k (-1)^{n+1-k} 2^{n+1-k} + \frac{1}{2a^{n+1}} \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} a^k 2^{n+1-k}.$$
 (2.5)

I. SADANI

Next, by simplifications, we get

$$\frac{(-1)^{n+1}(a-2)^{n+1} + (a+2)^{n+1}}{2a^{n+1}} = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} \frac{a^k 2^{n+1-k}}{2a^{n+1}} ((-1)^{-k} + 1).$$
(2.6)

Finally, since k is even, we obtain

$$\frac{(-1)^{n+1}(a-2)^{n+1} + (a+2)^{n+1}}{2a^{n+1}} = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \binom{n+1}{k} \left(\frac{2}{a}\right)^{n+1-k}.$$
(2.7)

The statement is true when l = n + 1. Hence, by the principle of mathematical induction, the statement is true for all $l \ge 0$.

Theorem 2.1. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function fulfilling the equation (1.1). Assuming $\Omega(u) \neq 0$ and $4\Omega(v)^{\frac{2}{l}} - \Omega(u)^{\frac{2}{l}} \neq 0$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Then f takes the form

$$\Omega(u) = \frac{c}{u^l}, \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^*,$$

where $c \neq 0$.

Proof. Assuming $f : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies the functional equation (1.1). Substituting (u, v) by (u, u) in (1.1), yields

$$\Omega(3u) + \Omega(u) = \frac{2\Omega(u) \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k}}{3^{l}}.$$

Setting a = 1 in (2.2), gives

$$\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} = \frac{3^{l}+1}{2}.$$
 (2.8)

Hence

$$\Omega(3u) = \frac{1}{3^l} \Omega(u), \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^*.$$
(2.9)

By induction, we prove that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\Omega(ku) = \frac{1}{k^l} \Omega(u).$$
(2.10)

Assuming this is true for $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 1\}$ we prove it for k = n. To do this, replacing (u, v) with (u, (n - 2)u) in (1.1), we get

$$\Omega(nu) + \Omega(-(n-4)u) = \frac{2\Omega(u)\Omega((n-2)u)\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} \Omega(u)^{\frac{k}{l}} \Omega((n-2)u)^{\frac{l-k}{l}}}{\left(4\Omega((n-2)u)^{\frac{2}{l}} - \Omega(u)^{\frac{2}{l}}\right)^{l}}.$$
 (2.11)

Using the recurrence hypothesis:

$$\Omega(nu) + \frac{1}{(n-4)^l} \Omega(-u) = \frac{2\frac{1}{(n-2)^l} \Omega(u) \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^l \frac{2^{l-k}}{(n-2)^{l-k}} \binom{l}{k}}{\left(4\frac{1}{(n-2)^2} - 1\right)^l}$$

then,

$$\Omega(nu) + \frac{1}{(n-4)^l} \Omega(-u) = \frac{2(n-2)^l \Omega(u) \sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^l \frac{2^{l-k}}{(n-2)^{l-k}} \binom{l}{k}}{(-n(n-4))^l}.$$

By taking a = n - 2 in (2.2), we get

$$(-1)^{l}n^{l}(n-4)^{l}\Omega(nu) + (-1)^{l}n^{l}\Omega(-u) = \left((-1)^{l}(n-4)^{l} + n^{l}\right)\Omega(u).$$
(2.12)

Now, replacing (u, v) by (u, (n-3)u) in (1.1),

$$\Omega((n-1)u) + \Omega(-(n-5)u) = \frac{2\frac{1}{(n-3)^l}\Omega(u)\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^l 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} \frac{1}{(n-3)^{l-k}}}{\left(4\frac{1}{(n-3)^2} - 1\right)^l}.$$
(2.13)

Using the recurrence hypothesis and by taking a = n - 3 in (2.2), a simple calculation gives

$$(-1)^{l}(n-5)^{l}\Omega(u) + (-1)^{l}(n-1)^{l}\Omega(-u) = \left((-1)^{l}(n-5)^{l} + (n-1)^{l}\right)\Omega(u).$$

This implies that

$$(-1)^l \Omega(-u) = \Omega(u). \tag{2.14}$$

By using (2.14) in (2.12), we get

$$(-1)^{l} n^{l} (n-4)^{l} \Omega(nu) + n^{l} \Omega(u) = \left((-1)^{l} (n-4)^{l} + n^{l} \right) \Omega(u).$$

Then,

$$\Omega(nu) = \frac{1}{n^l} \Omega(u).$$

Thus, the formula (2.10) is true for k = n. Therefore Ω is of the form $\frac{c}{u^l}$.

I. SADANI

3. Stability of (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^*

For convenience, we introduce the operator $\Lambda : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\Lambda(u,v) = \Omega(2u+v) + \Omega(2u-v) - \frac{2\Omega(u)\Omega(v)\sum_{\substack{k=0\\k \text{ is even}}}^{l} 2^{l-k} \binom{l}{k} \Omega(u)^{\frac{k}{l}} \Omega(v)^{\frac{l-k}{l}}}{\left(4\Omega(v)^{\frac{2}{l}} - \Omega(u)^{\frac{2}{l}}\right)^{l}},$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. We are now ready to present our first main result, as follows.

Theorem 3.1. Let $Q : \mathbb{R}^* \times \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function fulfilling

$$\sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{3^{ls}} Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{s+1}}, \frac{v}{3^{s+1}}\right) < \infty$$
(3.15)

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. If $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ fulfilling

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le Q(u,v) \tag{3.16}$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$, then there is a uniquely defined reciprocal function $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ that fulfilling (1.1) and the inequality

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{3^{ls}} Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{s+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{s+1}}\right), \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^*.$$
(3.17)

Proof. We substitute (u, v) by (u, u) in (3.16) and using (2.8) we get

$$\left|\Omega(3u) - \frac{\Omega(u)}{3^l}\right| \le Q(u, u) \tag{3.18}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Substituting u by $\frac{u}{3}$ in (3.18), we obtain

$$\left|\Omega(u) - \frac{1}{3^l} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3}\right)\right| \le Q\left(\frac{u}{3}, \frac{u}{3}\right) \tag{3.19}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Now, by setting $u = \frac{u}{3}$ in (3.19), dividing by 3^l , and then adding the resulting inequality to (3.19), we obtain

$$\left|\Omega(u) - \frac{1}{3^{2l}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^2}\right)\right| \le Q\left(\frac{u}{3}, \frac{u}{3}\right) + \frac{1}{3^l}Q\left(\frac{u}{3^2}, \frac{u}{3^2}\right), \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^*.$$
(3.20)

Similarly, by continuing this process and applying induction on a positive integer m, we obtain

$$\left|\Omega(u) - \frac{1}{3^{ml}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right)\right| \le \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{3^{ls}} Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{s+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{s+1}}\right), \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{R}^*.$$
(3.21)

Thereafter, if we choose any integers m' and m such that m' > m > 0, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{3^{lm'}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{m'}}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{lm}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{m}}\right) = \left|\frac{1}{3^{lm'}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{m'}}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{l(m'-1)}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{l(m'-1)}}\right) + \cdots + \frac{1}{3^{l(m'-1)}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{m+1}}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{lm}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{m}}\right)\right| \\
\leq \frac{1}{3^{l(m'-1)}}Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{m'}},\frac{u}{3^{m'}}\right) + \cdots + \frac{1}{3^{lm}}Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{m+1}},\frac{u}{3^{m+1}}\right) \\
\leq \sum_{j=m}^{m'-1}\frac{1}{3^{lj}}Q\left(\frac{u}{3^{j+1}},\frac{u}{3^{j+1}}\right)$$
(3.22)

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Letting $m' \to \infty$ in (3.22) and we use (3.15), the sequence $\{\frac{1}{3^{lm}}\Omega(\frac{u}{3^m})\}$ is Cauchy for each $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. We know that \mathbb{R} is Banach, we can introduce $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ by $g(u) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right)$. To prove that g fulfilling (1.1), substituting (u, v) by $(3^{-m}u, 3^{-m}v)$ in (3.16) and dividing by 3^{lm} , we arrive

$$|3^{-lm}\Lambda(3^{-m}u, \ 3^{-m}v)| \le 3^{-lm}Q(3^{-m}u, \ 3^{-m}v), \forall u, v \in \mathbb{R}^* \text{ and } m \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$
(3.23)

Taking $m \to \infty$ in (3.23) and by (3.15), we find that G fulfilling (1.1) for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. One more, setting $m \to \infty$ in (3.21), we arrive at (3.17). Now, we need to demonstrate that Gis unique. Suppose $G' : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is another reciprocal mapping that also fulfilling (1.1) and (3.17). Clearly, we have $G'(3^{-m}u) = 3^{lm}G'(u), G(3^{-m}u) = 3^{lm}G(u)$ and utilizing (3.17), we obtain

$$|G'(u) - G(u)| = 3^{-lm} |G'(3^{-m}u) - G(3^{-m}u)|$$

$$\leq 3^{-lm} (|G'(3^{-m}u) - \Omega(3^{-m}u)| + |\Omega(3^{-m}u) - G(3^{-m}u)|)$$

$$\leq 2 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{3^{l(m+j)}} Q \left(\frac{u}{3^{m+j+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{m+j+1}}\right)$$

$$\leq 2 \sum_{j=m}^{\infty} \frac{1}{3^{lj}} Q \left(\frac{u}{3^{j+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{j+1}}\right)$$
(3.24)

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Letting $m \to \infty$ in (3.24), we obtain the unicity of G.

The following corollaries are immediate consequences of Theorem 3.1.

Corollary 3.1. Let $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a mapping for which there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that

 $|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \epsilon$

holds for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Then,

$$G(u) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right)$$

I. SADANI

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is the unique mapping satisfying the reciprocal functional equation (1.1) such that

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \frac{3^l}{3^l - 1}\epsilon$$

for every $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$.

Proof. By taking $Q(u, v) = \epsilon$ in Theorem 3.1 we arrive at the desired result.

Corollary 3.2. Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \neq -l$ be real numbers, and $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a mapping satisfying the functional inequality

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \epsilon(|u|^{\alpha} + |v|^{\alpha})$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Then, there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the functional equation (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \frac{2.3^l \epsilon}{3^{\alpha+l} - 1} |u|^{\alpha}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$.

Proof. By letting $Q(u, v) = \epsilon(|u|^{\alpha} + |v|^{\alpha})$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$ in Theorem 3.1 we get the desired result.

Corollary 3.3. Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \neq -l$ be real numbers, and $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a mapping satisfying

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \epsilon(|u|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}|v|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} + |u|^{\alpha} + |v|^{\alpha})$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Then, there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the functional equation (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \frac{\epsilon 3^{l+1}}{3^{\alpha+l} - 1} |u|^{\alpha}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$.

Proof. By taking $Q(u, v) = \epsilon(|u|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}|v|^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} + |u|^{\alpha} + |v|^{\alpha})$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$ in Theorem 3.1 we get the desired result.

Corollary 3.4. Let $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a mapping and there exist p, q with $p + q \neq -l$. If there exists $\epsilon \geq 0$ such that

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \epsilon |u|^p |v|^q$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$, then there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the functional equation (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \frac{3^l \epsilon}{3^{p+q+l} - 1} |u|^{p+q}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$.

Proof. Letting $Q(u, v) = \epsilon |u|^p |v|^q$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$ in Theorem 3.1, we obtain the required result.

4. Stability of (1.1) in Non-Archimedean field

In this section, A and B denote a non-Archimedean field and a complete non-Archimedean field, respectively. For any non-Archimedean field A, let $A^* = A \setminus \{0\}$. Familiarity with non-Archimedean fields' properties is assumed.

The second main result can be stated as follows.

Theorem 4.1. Let $\Upsilon : \mathbb{A}^* \times \mathbb{A}^* \to [0, \infty]$ be a mapping such that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^m \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3^{m+1}}, \frac{v}{3^{m+1}} \right) = 0, \quad \text{for all } u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*.$$

$$(4.25)$$

Assuming that $g: \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ is a mapping fulfilling the following

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \Upsilon(u,v), \quad for \ all \ u,v \in \mathbb{A}^*.$$
(4.26)

Then, there is a uniquely defined reciprocal function $g: \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ such that

$$|\Omega(u) - g(u)| \le \max\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^{k+1} \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3^{k+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{k+1}} \right) : k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\} \right\}, \text{ for all } u \in \mathbb{A}^*.$$
(4.27)

Proof. Changing (u, v) to (u, u) in (4.26), one finds

$$\left|\Omega(u) - \frac{1}{3^l} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3}\right)\right| \le |3^l| \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3}, \frac{u}{3}\right)$$
(4.28)

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$. Now, considering u as $\frac{u}{3^m}$ in (4.28) and multiplying by $\left|\frac{1}{3^l}\right|^m$, we get

$$\left|\frac{1}{3^{lm}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{l(m+1)}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{(m+1)}}\right)\right| \le \left|\frac{1}{3^l}\right|^m \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3^{m+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{m+1}}\right)$$
(4.29)

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$. It is easy to obtain from the inequalities (4.25) and (4.29) that the sequence $\left\{\frac{1}{3^{lm}}\Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{lm}}\right)\right\}$ is Cauchy and converges to a well defined function g since \mathbb{B} is complete. Then, put $g: \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ as

$$g(u) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right).$$
(4.30)

I. SADANI

Furthermore, for every element $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$ and each nonnegative integers m, we have the following

$$\left| \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right) - g(u) \right| = \left| \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \left[\frac{1}{3^{l(k+1)}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{(k+1)}}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right) \right] \right|$$
$$\leq \max\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{3^{l(k+1)}} \right| \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^{(k+1)}}\right) - \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^m}\right) \right| : 0 \le k < m \right\}$$
$$\leq \max\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^m \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3^{m+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{m+1}}\right) : 0 \le k < m \right\}.$$

As $m \to \infty$ in the inequality (4.31) and by using (4.30), we observe that the inequality (4.27) is valid. By applying inequalities (4.25), (4.26), and (4.30), for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$, we arrive at the following

$$\begin{split} |\Lambda(u,v)| &= \lim_{m \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^m \left| \Lambda \left(\frac{u}{3^m}, \frac{v}{3^m} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{m \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^m \Upsilon \left(\frac{u}{3^m}, \frac{v}{3^m} \right) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the mapping g fulfills (4.25), making it a reciprocal mapping. To establish the uniqueness of g, suppose that $g' : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ is another reciprocal mapping that also fulfills (4.27). Then

$$\begin{split} |g(u) - g'(u)| &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^n \left| g\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) - g'\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^n \max\left\{ \left| g\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) - \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) \right|, \left| \Omega\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) - g'\left(\frac{u}{3^n} \right) \right| \right\} \\ &\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{m \to \infty} \max\left\{ \max\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{3^l} \right|^{k+n} \Upsilon\left(\frac{u}{3^{k+n+1}}, \frac{u}{3^{k+n+1}} \right) \quad : n \le k \le m+n \right\} \right\} \\ &= 0 \end{split}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$. This shows that g is the only such mapping, thereby concluding the proof. \Box

As a direct consequence of Theorem 4.1, we have the following corollaries.

Corollary 4.1. Let $\mu > 0$ be a constant. If $\Omega : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfies

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \mu$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$, then there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $g : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfying (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - g(u)| \le \mu$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$.

Proof. Taking $\Upsilon(u, v) = \mu$ in Theorem 4.1, we get the required result.

Corollary 4.2. Let $\mu \geq 0$ and $a \neq -l$, be fixed constants. If $\Omega : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfies

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \mu(|u|^a + |v|^a)$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$, then there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $g : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfying (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - g(u)| \le \begin{cases} \frac{|2|\mu|}{|3|^a} |u|^a, & a > -l, \\ |2|\mu|3|^l |u|^a, & a < -l, \end{cases}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$.

Proof. Considering $\Upsilon(u, v) = \mu(|u|^a + |v|^a)$ in Theorem 4.1, we obtain the desired result. \Box

Corollary 4.3. Let $\Omega : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ be a mapping and let there exist real numbers $p, q, a = p + q \neq -l$ and $\mu \geq 0$ such that

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \mu |u|^p |v|^q$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$. Then, there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $g : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfying (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - g(u)| \le \begin{cases} \frac{\mu}{|\mathbf{3}|^a} |u|^a, & a > -l, \\ \mu |\mathbf{3}|^l ||u|^a, & a < -l, \end{cases}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$.

Proof. Letting $\Upsilon(u, v) = \mu |u|^p |v|^q$, for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$ in Theorem 4.1, we acquire the requisite result.

Corollary 4.4. Let $\mu \geq 0$ and $a \neq -l$ be real numbers, and $\Omega : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ be a mapping satisfying the functional inequality

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le \mu(|u|^{\frac{a}{2}}|v|^{\frac{a}{2}} + |u|^{a} + |v|^{a})$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{A}^*$ Then, there exists a unique reciprocal mapping $g : \mathbb{A}^* \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfying (1.1) and

$$|\Omega(u) - g(u)| \le \begin{cases} \frac{|3|\mu|}{|3|^a} |u|^a, & a > -l, \\ |3|\mu|3|^l |u|^a, & a < -l, \end{cases}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{A}^*$.

Proof. Letting $\Upsilon(u, v) = \mu(|u|^{\frac{a}{2}}|v|^{\frac{a}{2}} + |u|^a + |v|^a)$ in Theorem 4.1, the result follows directly.

I. SADANI

5. Counter-Examples

In this section, using the well-known counter-example provided by Gajda [7], we demonstrate that the equation (1.1) is not applicable for $\alpha = -l$ in Corollary 3.2, within the context of non-zero real numbers. Let's define the function

$$\zeta(u) = \begin{cases} \frac{c}{u^l}, & \text{for } u \in (1, \infty) \\ c, & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(5.32)

where $\zeta : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$. Let $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function defined as

$$\Omega(u) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 3^{-lm} \zeta(3^{-m}u)$$
(5.33)

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume the mapping $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ defined in (5.33) fulfills the following inequality

$$|\Lambda(u,v)| \le c \frac{3^{l+1}+1}{3^l-1} \left(|u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l} \right)$$
(5.34)

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. We prove that there do not exist a reciprocal mapping $G : \mathbb{R}^* \to \mathbb{R}$ and a constant $\delta > 0$ such that

$$|\Omega(u) - G(u)| \le \delta |u|^{-l} \tag{5.35}$$

for all $u \in \mathbb{R}^*$. Initially, we show that Ω fulfils (5.34). Using (5.32), we have

$$|\Omega(u)| = \left|\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 3^{-lm} \zeta(3^{-m}u)\right| \le \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{c}{3^{lm}} = \frac{3^l}{3^l - 1}c.$$

We can see that Ω is bounded by $\frac{c3^l}{3^l-1}$ on \mathbb{R} . If $|u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l} \ge 1$, then the left hand side of (5.34) is less than $\frac{c(3^{l+1}+1)}{3^l-1}$. Now, assume that $0 < |u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l} < 1$. Therefore, there exists a positive integer m such that

$$\frac{1}{3^{l(m+1)}} \le |u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l} < \frac{1}{3^{lm}}.$$
(5.36)

Thus, the inequality (5.36) yields $3^{lm} (|u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l}) < 1$, or equivalently: $3^{lm}u^{-l} < 1$, $3^{lm}v^{-l} < 1$. So,

$$\frac{u^l}{3^{lm}} > 1, \quad \frac{v^l}{3^{lm}} > 1.$$

Hence, the last inequalities imply $\frac{u^l}{3^{l(m-1)}} > 3^l > 1$, $\frac{v^l}{3^{l(m-1)}} > 3^l > 1$ and thus we find

$$\frac{1}{3^{m-1}}(u) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^{m-1}}(v) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^{m-1}}(2u+v) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^{m-1}}(2u-v) > 1.$$

Hence, for every value of $m = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, n - 1$, we get

$$\frac{1}{3^n}(u) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^n}(v) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^n}(2u+v) > 1, \quad \frac{1}{3^n}(2u-v) > 1,$$

and $\Delta(3^{-n}u, 3^{-n}v) = 0$ for m = 0, 1, 2, ..., n - 1. Applying (5.32) and the definition of Ω , we get

$$\begin{split} \Delta(u,v)| &\leq \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \frac{c}{3^{lm}} + \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \frac{c}{3^{lm}} + \frac{3^l+1}{3^l} \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \frac{c}{3^{lm}} \\ &\leq c \frac{3^{l+1}+1}{3^l} \cdot \frac{1}{3^{lm}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{3^l}\right)^{-1} \\ &\leq c \left(\frac{3^{l+1}+1}{3^l-1}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{3^{l(m+1)}} \\ &\leq c \left(\frac{3^{l+1}+1}{3^l-1}\right) \left(|u|^{-l} + |v|^{-l}\right) \end{split}$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^*$. This means that the inequality (5.34) holds. We claim that the *l*-power reciprocal functional equation (1.1) is not stable for $\alpha = -l$ in Corollary 3.2. Suppose that there exists a reciprocal mapping $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ satisfying (5.35). So, we have

$$|\Omega(u)| \le (\delta+1)|u|^{-l}.$$
(5.37)

Furthermore, a positive integer m can be choosen with the condition $mc > \delta + 1$. If $u \in (1, 3^{m-1})$, then $3^{-n}u \in (1, \infty)$ for all m = 0, 1, 2, ..., n - 1 and therefore

$$|\Omega(u)| = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\zeta(3^{-m}u)}{3^{lm}} \ge \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{3^{lm}c}{u^l \cdot 3^{lm}} = \frac{mc}{u^l} > (\delta+1)u^{-l}$$

which contradicts (5.37). Thus, the l-power functional equation (1.1) is not stable for $\alpha = -l$ in Corollary 3.2.

6. CONCLUSION

In this paper, we have successfully explored the generalized Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of a reciprocal-type functional equation, focusing on its behavior in non-zero real and non-Archimedean spaces with suitable counter-examples.

Through detailed analysis, we derived a general solution for the functional equation in the real number space and established the conditions for stability using various inequality techniques. Furthermore, our study extends these findings to non-Archimedean fields, highlighting the unique characteristics and behaviors of solutions in such spaces.

Further research could explore additional types of functional equations and their stability across various mathematical fields, enhancing the framework established in this study.

Acknowledgments. I would like to thank the referees for useful comments and their helpful suggestions that have improved the quality of this paper.

I. SADANI

References

- Aoki, T. (1950). On the stability of the linear transformation in Banach spaces. Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan, 2, 64–66.
- [2] Bodaghi, A., & Kim, S. O. (2014). Approximation on the quadratic reciprocal functional equation. Journal of Functional Spaces and Applications, Article ID 532463.
- [3] Bodaghi, A., Rassias, J. M., & Park, C. (2015). Fundamental stabilities of an alternative quadratic reciprocal functional equation in non-Archimedean fields. Proceedings of the Jangjeon Mathematical Society, 18(3), 313–320.
- [4] Bodaghi, A., & Senthil Kumar, B. V. (2017). Estimation of inexact reciprocal-quintic and reciprocalsextic functional equations. Mathematica, 59(82), 3–13.
- [5] Bodaghi, A., Senthil Kumar, B. V., & Vakilabad, A. B. (2021). Various stabilities of reciprocal-septic and reciprocal-octic functional equations. Asian-European Journal of Mathematics, Article ID 2150034.
- [6] Bodaghi, A., Senthil Kumar, B. V., & Rassias, J. M. (2020). Stabilities and non-stabilities of the reciprocal-nonic and the reciprocal-decic functional equations. Boletim da Sociedade Paranaense de Matemática, 38(3), 9-22.
- [7] Gajda, Z. (1991). On the stability of additive mappings. International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences, 14(3), 431-434.
- [8] Găvruta, P. (1994). A generalization of the Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of approximately additive mappings. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 184, 431-436.
- [9] Hyers, D. H. (1941). On the stability of the linear functional equation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 27, 222–224.
- [10] Kim, S. O., Senthil Kumar, B. V., & Bodaghi, A. (2017). Approximation on the reciprocal-cubic and reciprocal-quartic functional equations in non-Archimedean fields. Advances in Difference Equations, 77.
- [11] Rassias, T. M. (1978). On the stability of the linear mapping in Banach spaces. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 72, 297–300.
- [12] Rassias, J. M. (1982). On approximation of approximately linear mappings by linear mappings. Journal of Functional Analysis, 46, 126–130.
- [13] Ravi, K., & Senthil Kumar, B. V. (2010). Ulam-Găvruta-Rassias stability of Rassias reciprocal functional equation. Global Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences, 3(1–2), 57–79.
- [14] Sadani, I. (2020). On the stability of $f(2u+v) + f\left(\frac{u+v}{2}\right) = \frac{2f(u)f(v)}{f(u)+f(v)} + \frac{2f(u+v)f(v-u)}{3f(v-u)-f(u+v)}$. Tatra Mountains Mathematical Publications, 78, 1–10.
- [15] Sadani, I. (2023). On the stability of new functional equation involving a recurrence relation. Journal of Analysis, 31, 21–29.
- [16] Senthil Kumar, B. V., Rassias, J. M., & Ravi, K. (2016). Ulam stability of a bi-reciprocal functional equation in quasi-β-normed spaces. Novi Sad Journal of Mathematics, 46(2), 1-11.
- [17] Senthil Kumar, B. V., & Ravi, K. (2016). Ulam stability of a reciprocal functional equation in quasi-βnormed spaces. Global Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 12(1), 125–128.

- [18] Senthil Kumar, B. V., Ravi, K., & Rassias, J. M. (2016). Solution and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of a reciprocal type functional equation in non-Archimedean fields. World Scientific News, 31, 71–81.
- [19] Senthil Kumar, B. V., & Dutta, H. (2020). Multiplicative inverse functional equations-theory and applications. Studies in Systems, Decision and Control (Vol. 289). Berlin: Springer.
- [20] Ulam, S. M. (1964). Problems in modern mathematics. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MOULOUD MAMMERI, TIZI-OUZOU 15000, ALGERIA



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:192-207 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

ON ULTRAMETRIC PSEUDOSPECTRA OF THE DIRECT SUM OF LINEAR OPERATOR PENCILS

JAWAD ETTAYB D *

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we introduce the concepts of pseudospectra, condition pseudospectra, determinant spectra and trace pseudospectra of the direct sum of bounded linear operator pencils on ultrametric Banach spaces. We prove numerous results about them and we give some examples to illustrate our work.

Keywords: Ultrametric Banach spaces, pseudospectra, condition pseudospectra, direct sum of operators, linear operator pencils.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 47S10, Secondary 47A05, 47A10.

1. INTRODUCTION AND PRELIMINARIES

In ultrametric operator theory, Ammar et al. [1] introduced and studied the concept of pseudospectra of closed linear operators on ultrametric Banach spaces. The notion of ultrametric condition pseudospectra of bounded linear operators was introduced by the authors [2].

Throughout this paper, F is an ultrametric Banach space over an ultrametric complete valued field \mathbb{K} with a non-trivial valuation $|\cdot|$, $\mathcal{L}(F)$ denotes the collection of each continuous linear operators on F and $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K})$ is the collection of any $n \times n$ matrices with coefficients in \mathbb{K} . If $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$, R(S) and N(S) denote the range and the kernel of S respectively. Remember that, an unbounded linear operator $S : D(S) \subseteq F \to F$ will be called closed if for each $(x_n) \subset D(S)$ with $\lim_{n \to \infty} ||x_n - x|| = 0$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} ||Ax_n - y|| = 0$ for some $x \in F$ and $y \in F$,

Received:2023.11.30 Revised:2024.10.28 Accepted:2014.11.13

J. Ettayb \diamond jawad.ettayb@gmail.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4819-943X .

^{*} Corresponding author

hence $x \in D(A)$ with y = Sx. C(F) is the set of all closed linear operators on F. If $A \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and B is an unbounded operator, hence S + B is closed if and only if B is closed [4]. For more details on ultrametric pseudospectra and condition pseudospectra of linear operators, we refer to [1], [2], [6], [8], [9], [10], [11], [12], [13] and [14]. We continue by recalling some preliminaries.

Definition 1.1. [4] Let F be a vector space over \mathbb{K} . A function $\|\cdot\| : F \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is an *ultrametric norm if:*

- (i) For each $v \in F$, ||v|| = 0 if and only if v = 0,
- (ii) For each $v \in F$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$, $\|\lambda v\| = |\lambda| \|v\|$,
- (iii) For all $v, y \in F$, $||v + y|| \le \max(||v||, ||y||)$.

Definition 1.2. [4] An ultrametric normed space is a pair $(F, \|\cdot\|)$ where F is a vector space over \mathbb{K} and $\|\cdot\|$ is an ultrametric norm on F.

Definition 1.3. [4] An ultrametric Banach space is a complete ultrametric normed space.

Proposition 1.1. [4] The direct sum of two ultrametric Banach spaces is an ultrametric Banach space.

Definition 1.4. [4] An ultrametric Banach space F is said to be a free Banach space if there is a set $(v_i)_{i \in I}$ of F indexed by a set I such that all element $v \in F$ can be written uniquely as follows $v = \sum_{i \in I} \lambda_i v_i$ and $||v|| = \sup_{i \in I} |\lambda_i| ||v_i||$. The family $(v_i)_{i \in I}$ is called an orthogonal basis for F. If, for each $i \in I$, $||v_i|| = 1$, hence $(v_i)_{i \in I}$ is called an orthonormal basis of F.

Definition 1.5. [4] Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$. The resolvent set $\rho(S)$ of S is

$$\rho(S) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : (S - \lambda I)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(F)\}.$$
(1.1)

The spectrum $\sigma(S)$ of S is $\mathbb{K} \setminus \rho(S)$.

Lemma 1.1. [5] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} . If $S \in \Phi(F)$ and $C \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$, then $S + C \in \Phi(F)$.

Lemma 1.2. [2] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} . If $S \in \Phi(F)$, hence for each $C \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$, we get $S + C \in \Phi(F)$ and ind(S + K) = ind(S).

We have the following definition.

J. ETTAYB

Definition 1.6. [1] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over \mathbb{K} , let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The pseudospectrum $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S)$ of S is

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S) = \sigma(S) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \| (S - \lambda I)^{-1} \| > \varepsilon^{-1} \},\$$

with the convention $||(S - \lambda I)^{-1}|| = \infty$ if $\lambda \in \sigma(S)$.

Theorem 1.1. [1] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$, let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S) = \bigcup_{C \in \mathcal{L}(F) : \|C\| < \varepsilon} \sigma(S + C).$$

Theorem 1.2. [2] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} and let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$. Then

$$\sigma_e(S) = \bigcap_{C \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma(S + C).$$

We generalise the Definition 3.7 of [1]: this definition remains valid for any ultrametric Banach spaces over a non-trivally complete ultrametric valued field \mathbb{K} not only \mathbb{E}_{ω} .

Definition 1.7. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The essential pseudospectrum of S is

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) = \mathbb{K} \setminus \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : S + M - \lambda I \in \Phi_0(F) \text{ for all } M \in \mathcal{L}(F), \ \|M\| < \varepsilon\},\$$

where $\Phi_0(F)$ is the set of each bounded Fredholm operators on F of index 0.

We generalise the Theorem 3.8 of [1] as follows.

Theorem 1.3. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) = \bigcup_{M \in \mathcal{L}(F): \|M\| < \varepsilon} \sigma_e(S+M)$$

We have the following:

Theorem 1.4. Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} . Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence,

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) = \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S+K)$$
 for each $K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$.

Proof. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\lambda \notin \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S)$, hence for any $C \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ with $||C|| < \varepsilon$,

$$S + C - \lambda I \in \Phi(F)$$
 and $ind(S + C - \lambda I) = 0$.

From Lemma 1.2, for each $K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$ and $C \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ such that $||C|| < \varepsilon$, we have

$$S + C + K - \lambda I \in \Phi(F) \text{ and } ind(S + C + K - \lambda I) = 0.$$
(1.2)

By (1.2), we get

$$\lambda \notin \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S+K).$$

Then

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S+K) \subseteq \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S).$$

The opposite inclusion follows from symmetry.

Remark 1.1. The Theorem 1.4 showed that the essential pseudospectra of bounded linear operators is invariant under perturbation of completely continuous linear operators on ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} .

Theorem 1.5. Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) = \bigcap_{K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K).$$

Proof. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\lambda \notin \bigcap_{K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K)$, hence there exists $K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$ such that $\lambda \notin \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K)$. By Theorem 1.1, we have $\lambda \in \rho(S+K+C)$, for all $C \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ such that $\|C\| < \varepsilon$. We have

$$S + C + K - \lambda I \in \Phi(F) \text{ and } ind(S + C + K - \lambda I) = 0.$$
(1.3)

By Lemma 1.1 and Lemma 1.2, we have

$$S + C - \lambda I \in \Phi(F) \text{ and } ind(S + C - \lambda I) = 0.$$
 (1.4)

We get

$$\lambda \not\in \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S).$$

Then,

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) \subseteq \bigcap_{K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K).$$
(1.5)

Conversely, if $\lambda \notin \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S)$. Using Theorem 1.3, we have for all $C \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ such that $||C|| < \varepsilon$, $\lambda \notin \sigma_e(S+C)$. By Theorem 1.2, there is $K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)$ with $\lambda \notin \sigma(S+K+C)$, hence for all $C \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ such that $||C|| < \varepsilon$, $\lambda \in \rho(S+K+C)$. Hence

$$\lambda \in \bigcap_{C \in \mathcal{L}(F) : \|C\| < \varepsilon} \rho(S + K + C).$$
(1.6)

From Theorem 1.1, $\lambda \notin \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K)$. Consequently,

$$\lambda \not\in \bigcap_{K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K).$$

Thus

$$\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) = \bigcap_{K \in \mathcal{C}_c(F)} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S+K).$$

We generalise the Proposition 3.13 of [1] as follows.

Proposition 1.2. Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$. If $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, then

- (i) $\sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S) \subset \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S)$.
- (ii) For each ε_1 and ε_2 with $0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2$, $\sigma_e(S) \subset \sigma_{e,\varepsilon_1}(S) \subset \sigma_{e,\varepsilon_2}(S)$.

Similarly to the proof of Proposition 3.14 of [1], we have the following:

Proposition 1.3. Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$. Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence

$$\sigma_e(S) = \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma_{e,\varepsilon}(S).$$

Definition 1.8. [6] Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, the condition pseudospectrum $\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S)$ of S is

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S) = \sigma(S) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \|(S - \lambda I)\| \|(S - \lambda I)^{-1}\| > \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \},$$

with the convention $\|(S - \lambda I)\|\|(S - \lambda I)^{-1}\| = \infty$ if $\lambda \in \sigma(S)$.

We generalise the results of [14] as follows.

Definition 1.9. Let $S \in \mathcal{C}(F)$, $B \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The pseudospectrum $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ of (S, B)on F is defined by

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \|(S-\lambda B)^{-1}\| > \varepsilon^{-1}\}.$$

The pseudoresolvent $\rho_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ of (S, B) is defined by

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \rho(S,B) \cap \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \|(S - \lambda B)^{-1}\| \le \varepsilon^{-1}\},\$$

by convention $||(S - \lambda B)^{-1}|| = \infty$ if $\lambda \in \sigma(S, B)$.

Proposition 1.4. Let $S \in \mathcal{C}(F)$, $B \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, we get

Theorem 1.6. Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$, let $S \in \mathcal{C}(F), B \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \bigcup_{C \in \mathcal{L}(F) : ||C|| < \varepsilon} \sigma(S+C,B).$$

The condition pseudospectra of operator pencils is defined as follows:

Definition 1.10. [8] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over \mathbb{K} , let $B, S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The pseudospectrum $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ of the linear operator pencil (S, B) on F is

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \|(S-\lambda B)\| \| (S-\lambda B)^{-1} \| > \varepsilon^{-1} \},\$$

with the convention $||(S - \lambda B)|| ||(S - \lambda B)^{-1}|| = \infty$ if $\lambda \in \sigma(S, B)$.

Proposition 1.5. [8] Let $B, S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, we get

(i) $\sigma(S,B) = \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S,B).$ (ii) For any ε_1 and ε_2 such that $0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2, \ \sigma(S,B) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon_1}(S,B) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon_2}(S,B).$

Theorem 1.7. [8] Let F be an ultrametric Banach space over a spherically complete field \mathbb{K} such that $||F|| \subseteq |\mathbb{K}|$, let $B, S \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence,

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \bigcup_{C \in \mathcal{L}(F) : \|C\| < \varepsilon \|S - \lambda B\|} \sigma(S + C, B).$$

2. MAIN RESULTS

Let $(X_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ be a sequence of ultrametric Banach spaces over \mathbb{K} . The space $X = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n X_i$ endowed by for all $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $x_i \in X_i$, $||x_1 \oplus x_2 \oplus \dots \oplus x_n|| = \max_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} ||x_i||$ is an ultrametric Banach space over \mathbb{K} [4]. One can see that if for each $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $A_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$, hence $A = A_1 \oplus A_2 \oplus \dots \oplus A_n \in \mathcal{L}(X)$. We get the following definition.

Definition 2.1. Let $A_i, T_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$. The spectrum $\sigma(A, T)$ of (A, T) is given by

 $\sigma(A,T) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : A - \lambda T \text{ is not invertible in } \mathcal{L}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} X_i)\},\$

where $A = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ and $T = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} T_i$. The resolvent set of (A, T) is

$$\rho(A,T) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : (A - \lambda T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} X_i)\}.$$

For i = 2, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 2.1. Let X, Y be two ultrametric Banach spaces over \mathbb{K} . Let $A, S \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $B, T \in \mathcal{L}(Y)$. The spectrum of $(A \oplus B) - \lambda(S \oplus T) \in \mathcal{L}(X \oplus Y)$ is given by

$$\sigma(A \oplus B, S \oplus T) = \sigma(A, S) \cup \sigma(B, T).$$

Proof. If $\lambda \in \sigma(A \oplus B, S \oplus T)$, hence $(A \oplus B) - \lambda(S \oplus T)$ is not invertible, then $A - \lambda S$ is not invertible in $\mathcal{L}(X)$ or $B - \lambda T$ is not invertible in $\mathcal{L}(Y)$, consequently $\lambda \in \sigma(A, S) \cup \sigma(B, T)$. Hence $\sigma(A \oplus B, S \oplus T) \subseteq \sigma(A, S) \cup \sigma(B, T)$. Similarly, we obtain that $\sigma(A, S) \cup \sigma(B, T) \subseteq \sigma(A \oplus B, S \oplus T)$. Consequently,

$$\sigma(A \oplus B, S \oplus T) = \sigma(A, S) \cup \sigma(B, T).$$

	-	_	-	-
L				
L				
L				

More generally, one can see that.

Proposition 2.2. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$. Set $A = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i$, then

$$\sigma(A,B) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(A_i, B_i)$$

and

$$\rho(A,B) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \rho(A_i, B_i).$$

Now, we define the pseudospectra of the operator pencil (A, B) on $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} X_i$ where $A = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$, $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i$ and for all $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$, we have the following:

Definition 2.2. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The pseudospectrum $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i)$ of the bounded linear operator pencil $(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i)$ on $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n X_i$ is given by

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(A,B) = \sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}) \cup \{\lambda \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \rho(A_{i}, B_{i}) : \sup_{i \in \{1, \cdots, n\}} \|(A_{i} - \lambda B_{i})^{-1}\| > \varepsilon^{-1}\},\$$

where $A = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i$.

Remark 2.1. It is easy to check that $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(A_i, B_i).$

Proposition 2.3. Let $(X_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ be a sequence of ultrametric Banach spaces over \mathbb{K} , let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Set $S = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i$, then

(i) $\sigma(S,B) = \bigcap_{\varepsilon>0} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}).$ (ii) If $0 < \varepsilon_{1} < \varepsilon_{2}$, hence $\sigma(S,B) \subset \sigma_{\varepsilon_{1}}(S,B) \subset \sigma_{\varepsilon_{2}}(S,B).$

$$\begin{array}{l} Proof. \qquad (i) \ \text{From Definition 2.2, for each } \varepsilon > 0, \ \sigma(S,B) \subset \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B), \ \text{hence } \sigma(S,B) \subset \\ & \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B). \ \text{Conversely, if } \lambda \in \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B), \ \text{since} \\ & \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \{\lambda \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \rho(A_{i},B_{i}) : \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_{i} - \lambda B_{i})^{-1}\| > \varepsilon^{-1}\} \\ & \text{and } \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \{\lambda \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \rho(A_{i},B_{i}) : \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_{i} - \lambda B_{i})^{-1}\| > \varepsilon^{-1}\} = \emptyset \ \text{because of for all } i \in \\ & \{1,\cdots,n\}, \ (A_{i} - \lambda B_{i})^{-1} \ \text{are bounded linear operators, hence we get a contradiction,} \\ & \text{thus } \lambda \in \sigma(S,B). \end{array}$$

$$(\text{ii) If } 0 < \varepsilon_{1} < \varepsilon_{2} \ \text{and } \lambda \in \sigma_{\varepsilon_{1}}(S,B), \ \text{consequently,} \ \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_{i} - \lambda B_{i})^{-1}\| > \varepsilon_{1}^{-1} > \varepsilon_{2}^{-1}, \\ & \text{hence } \lambda \in \sigma_{\varepsilon_{2}}(S,B). \end{array}$$

Lemma 2.1. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, hence

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)} |\lambda| \le \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)} |\lambda|.$$

Proof. Set $S = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i$, since $\sigma(S, B) \subseteq \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$, we get

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(S,B)} |\lambda| \le \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma_{\varepsilon}(S,B)} |\lambda|.$$

Put
$$r_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i) = \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)} |\lambda|$$
, we have the following:

Lemma 2.2. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, hence $r_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i) = \sup_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} r_{\varepsilon}(A_i, B_i)$.

Proof. By Remark 2.1, $\sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(A_{i}, B_{i})$. It is easy to see that $r_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}, B_{i}) = \sup_{i \in \{1, \cdots, n\}} r_{\varepsilon}(A_{i}, B_{i}).$

We get the following examples.

Example 2.1. Let $(A_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ and $(B_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ be two linear operators defined on \mathbb{K}^2 by

$$A_k = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_k & 0\\ 0 & \mu_k \end{pmatrix}$$

J. ETTAYB

and

$$B_k = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_k & 0\\ 0 & \beta_k \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\lambda_k, \mu_k \in \mathbb{K}, \alpha_k, \beta_k \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$ for each $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. Then

$$\sigma(\oplus_{k=1}^{n}A_{k},\oplus_{k=1}^{n}B_{k}) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \left\{ \frac{\lambda_{k}}{\alpha_{k}}, \frac{\mu_{k}}{\beta_{k}} \right\}$$

and

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{k=1}^{n}A_{k}, \bigoplus_{k=1}^{n}A_{k}) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \left\{ \frac{\lambda_{k}}{\alpha_{k}}, \frac{\mu_{k}}{\beta_{k}} \right\} \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \sup_{1 \le k \le n} \|(A_{k} - \lambda B_{k})^{-1}\| > \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \}.$$

Example 2.2. Let F be an ultrametric free Banach space over \mathbb{K} with an orthogonal basis $(e_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$. Consider the linear operators $(A_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ and $(B_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ given by for all $x \in F$ and for each $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $A_k x = \lambda_k x$ and $B_k x = \mu_k x$ where $\lambda_k \in \mathbb{K}$ and $\mu_k \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$. Put $A = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n A_k$ and $B = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n B_k$. One can see that

$$\sigma(A,B) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \{\frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}\}$$

and for all $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ and for each $\lambda \in \rho(A_k, B_k)$, $||(A_k - \lambda B_k)^{-1}|| = \frac{1}{|\lambda_k - \lambda \mu_k|}$, then

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(A_k, B_k) = \{\frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}\} \cup B(\frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}, \frac{\varepsilon}{|\mu_k|})$$

Consequently,

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(A,B) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \{\frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}\} \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} B(\frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}, \frac{\varepsilon}{|\mu_k|}).$$

Definition 2.3. Let $(X_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ be a sequence of ultrametric Banach spaces over \mathbb{K} and let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The condition pseudospectrum of the bounded linear operator pencil $(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i)$ on $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n X_i$ is

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_i - \lambda B_i)\| \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_i - \lambda B_i)^{-1}\| > \varepsilon^{-1}\},$$

Remark 2.2. It is easy to see that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(A_i, B_i) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i).$

Proposition 2.4. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, then

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(i)} & \sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) = \bigcap_{\varepsilon>0} \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}).\\ \text{(ii)} & If \ 0 < \varepsilon_{1} < \varepsilon_{2}, \ then \ \sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon_{1}}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon_{2}}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}). \end{array}$

Proof. Put $S = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i$.

(i) From Definition 2.4, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, $\sigma(S, B) \subset \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$. Conversely, if $\lambda \in \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ and $\lambda \notin \sigma(S, B)$. Using $\lim_{\varepsilon \to \to 0} \sup_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \|(A_i - \lambda B_i)\| \sup_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} \|(A_i - \lambda B_i)^{-1}\| = \infty$, we get a contradiction.

(ii) If
$$0 < \varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon_2$$
 and $\lambda \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon_1}(S, B)$, thus $\sup_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} ||(A_i - \lambda B_i)|| \sup_{i \in \{1, \dots, n\}} ||(A_i - \lambda B_i)^{-1}|| > \varepsilon_1^{-1} > \varepsilon_2^{-1}$, then $\lambda \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon_2}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i)$.

We conclude the following:

Lemma 2.3. Let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, hence

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)} |\lambda| \leq \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)} |\lambda|.$$

Proof. Since $\sigma(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i) \subseteq \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)$, then

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i})} |\lambda| \leq \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i})} |\lambda|.$$

Now, we introduce a new definition of condition pseudospectra of the direct sum of the operator pencil $(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i)$ as follows.

Definition 2.4. Let $(X_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$ be a sequence of ultrametric Banach spaces over \mathbb{K} and let $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}(X_i)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. The condition pseudospectrum of the bounded linear operator pencil $(\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i, \bigoplus_{i=1}^n B_i)$ on $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n X_i$ is

$$\Lambda'_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \sup_{i \in \{1,\cdots,n\}} \|(A_i - \lambda B_i)\| \| (A_i - \lambda B_i)^{-1} \| > \varepsilon^{-1} \},$$

where $S = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ and $B = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} B_i$.

Remark 2.3. (i) It is easy to see that $\Lambda'_{\varepsilon}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n}\Lambda'_{\varepsilon}(A_{i}, B_{i}).$ (ii) $\sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) = \bigcap_{\varepsilon>0}\Lambda'_{\varepsilon}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}).$ (iii) If $0 < \varepsilon_{1} < \varepsilon_{2}$, then $\sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \subset \Lambda'_{\varepsilon_{1}}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \subset \Lambda'_{\varepsilon_{2}}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}, \oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}).$ (iv) For any $\varepsilon > 0$, hence $\sup_{i=1}^{n}|\lambda| < \sup_{i=1}^{n}|\lambda|.$

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(iv)} & \textit{For any } \varepsilon > 0, \textit{hence } \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i})} |\lambda| \leq \sup_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon}'(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i})} |\lambda|. \\ \text{(v)} & \textit{The condition pseudospectrum } \Lambda_{\varepsilon}'(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \textit{ of the pencil } (\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}) \\ & \textit{gives nice properties than } \Lambda_{\varepsilon}(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_{i},\oplus_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}). \end{array}$

We obtain the following examples.

Example 2.3. Let $(A_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ and $(B_k)_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ be two linear operators defined on \mathbb{K}^2 by

$$A_k = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_k & 0\\ 0 & -\alpha_k \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$B_k = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \lambda_k \\ -\lambda_k & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{K}, \lambda_k \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$ for any $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. Set $A = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n A_k$ and $B = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n B_k$, then

$$\sigma(\oplus_{k=1}^{n}A_{k}, \oplus_{k=1}^{n}B_{k}) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \{\frac{-\alpha_{k}}{\lambda_{k}}, \frac{\alpha_{k}}{\lambda_{k}}\}$$

and

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon}(A,B) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \{\frac{-\alpha_{k}}{\lambda_{k}}, \frac{\alpha_{k}}{\lambda_{k}}\} \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : \sup_{1 \le k \le n} \|A_{k} - \lambda B_{k}\| \sup_{1 \le k \le n} \|(A_{k} - \lambda B_{k})^{-1}\| > \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\},$$

where for all $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $||A_k - \lambda B_k|| = \max\{|\alpha_k|, |\lambda \lambda_k|\}$ and for each $\lambda \in \rho(A_k, B_k)$,

$$\|(A_k - \lambda B_k)^{-1}\| = \max\{\frac{|\alpha_k|}{|(\lambda\lambda_k)^2 - \alpha_k^2|}, \frac{|\lambda\lambda_k|}{|(\lambda\lambda_k)^2 - \alpha_k^2|}\}.$$

We begin with the following:

Definition 2.5. [3] Let $S, B \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K}), \varepsilon > 0$, the ε -determinant spectrum $d_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ of the matrix pencil (S, B) is

$$d_{\varepsilon}(S, B) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\det(S - \lambda B)| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

We get the following:

Proposition 2.5. Let $S, B \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K}), \varepsilon > 0$, then

$$d_{\varepsilon_1}(S) \cap d_{\varepsilon_2}(B) \subset d_{\varepsilon}(S \oplus B),$$

where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2$.

Proof. Let $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon_1}(S) \cap d_{\varepsilon_2}(B)$, thus $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon_1}(S)$ and $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon_2}(B)$, hence $|\det(S - \lambda I)| \leq \varepsilon_1$ and $|\det(B - \lambda I)| \leq \varepsilon_2$. Consequently,

$$\begin{aligned} |\det(S \oplus B - \lambda(I \oplus I))| &= |\det(S - \lambda I) \det(B - \lambda I)| \\ &= |\det(S - \lambda I)| |\det(B - \lambda I)| \\ &\leq \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2, \end{aligned}$$

thus $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon}(S \oplus B)$ where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2$, hence $d_{\varepsilon_1}(S) \cap d_{\varepsilon_2}(B) \subset d_{\varepsilon}(S \oplus B)$ where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2$. \Box

Proposition 2.6. Let $S, B \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, hence

- (i) For all $0 < \varepsilon_1 \leq \varepsilon_2$, we have $d_{\varepsilon_1}(S \oplus B) \subseteq d_{\varepsilon_2}(S \oplus B)$,
- (ii) For each $\mu \in \mathbb{K}$, $d_{\varepsilon}(\mu(I \oplus I), I \oplus I) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda \mu| \le \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2n}}\},\$
- (iii) If det(B) $\neq 0$ and for each $\mu \in \mathbb{K}$, then $d_{\varepsilon}(\mu(I \oplus B), I \oplus B) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda \mu| \leq (\frac{\varepsilon}{|\det(B)|})^{\frac{1}{2n}}\}.$
- *Proof.* (i) For all $0 < \varepsilon_1 \le \varepsilon_2$, let $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon_1}(S \oplus B)$, hence $|\det(S \oplus B \lambda(I \oplus I))| \le \varepsilon_1 \le \varepsilon_2$, thus $\lambda \in d_{\varepsilon_2}(S \oplus B)$.
 - (ii) Let $\mu \in \mathbb{K}$ hence $|\det(\mu I \lambda I)| = |\lambda \mu|^n$, then

$$d_{\varepsilon}(\mu(I \oplus I), I \oplus I) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\det(\mu(I \oplus I) - \lambda(I \oplus I))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \mu|^{2n} \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \mu| \le \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2n}}\}.$$

(iii) We have

$$d_{\varepsilon}(\mu(I \oplus B), I \oplus B) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\det(\mu(I \oplus B) - \lambda(I \oplus B))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\det((\mu - \lambda)I)| |\det((\mu - \lambda)B)| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \mu|^{2n} |\det(B)| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \mu| \le (\frac{\varepsilon}{|\det(B)|})^{\frac{1}{2n}}\}.$$

		I
		I
		л

Example 2.4. If

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} and B = \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{Q}_p),$$

where $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Q}_p$. Hence for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$d_{\varepsilon}(S \oplus B) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(S \oplus B - \lambda(I \oplus I))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(S - \lambda I)| |\det(B - \lambda I))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |(a - \lambda)(b - \lambda)(c - \lambda)(d - \lambda)| \le \varepsilon\}$$

J. ETTAYB

Example 2.5. If

 $S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} and B = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{Q}_p).$

Hence for each $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$d_{\varepsilon}(S \oplus B) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(S \oplus B - \lambda(I \oplus I))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(S - \lambda I)| |\det(B - \lambda I)| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\lambda(1 - \lambda)(2 - \lambda)(1 + \lambda)| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

We obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 2.7. Let $D_1, D_2 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ be two diagonal operators with for each $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $D_1e_i = \lambda_i e_i$ and $D_2e_i = \mu_i e_i$ with $\lambda_i, \mu_i \in \mathbb{Q}_p, \lambda_i \neq \lambda_{i+1}$ and $\mu_i \neq \mu_{i+1}$. Hence

$$d_{\varepsilon}(D_1 \oplus D_2) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\lambda_1 - \lambda| \cdots |\lambda_n - \lambda| |\lambda - \mu_1| \cdots |\lambda - \mu_n| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

Proof. We have

for each
$$i \in \{1, \dots, n\}, (D_1 - \lambda)e_i = (\lambda_i - \lambda)e_i$$

and

for each
$$i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$
, $(D_2 - \lambda)e_i = (\mu_i - \lambda)e_i$,

where $(e_k)_{1 \le k \le n}$ is a basis of \mathbb{Q}_p^n .

Thus $|\det(D_1 - \lambda I)| = |\lambda_1 - \lambda| \cdots |\lambda_n - \lambda|$ and $|\det(D_2 - \lambda I)| = |\mu_1 - \lambda| \cdots |\mu_n - \lambda|$. Hence for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$d_{\varepsilon}(D_1 \oplus D_2) = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(D_1 \oplus D_2 - \lambda(I \oplus I))| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\det(D_1 - \lambda I) \det(D_2 - \lambda I)| \le \varepsilon\}$$
$$= \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |\lambda - \lambda_1| \cdots |\lambda - \lambda_n| |\mu_1 - \lambda| \cdots |\mu_n - \lambda| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

We have:

Definition 2.6. [3] Let $S, B \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K}), \varepsilon > 0$, the trace pseudospectrum $Tr_{\varepsilon}(S, B)$ of the matrix pencil (S, B) is

$$Tr_{\varepsilon}(S,B) = \sigma(S,B) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |tr(S-\lambda B)| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

As the classical setting, we have.

Proposition 2.8. Let $(A_i)_{1 \le i \le n} \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K})$, then the trace of the diagonal block matrix $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n A_i$ is

$$tr(\oplus_{i=1}^{n}A_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} tr(A_i).$$

We conclude the following:

Proposition 2.9. Let $(A_i)_{1 \leq i \leq n} \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \cdots, \varepsilon_n > 0$. Then

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} Tr_{\varepsilon_i}(A_i) \subset Tr_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i),$$

where $\varepsilon = \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \varepsilon_i$.

Proof. If $\lambda \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} Tr_{\varepsilon_i}(A_i)$, then for each $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $\lambda \in Tr_{\varepsilon_i}(A_i)$, hence for all $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, $\lambda \in \sigma(A_i) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |tr(A_i - \lambda I)| \le \varepsilon_i\}$, since $\lambda \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(A_i) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \sigma(A_i)$ and from Proposition 2.8, we have

$$|tr(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_{i} - \lambda(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} I))| = |\sum_{i=1}^{n} tr(A_{i} - \lambda I)|$$

$$\leq \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} |tr(A_{i} - \lambda I)|$$

$$\leq \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \varepsilon_{i},$$

hence $\lambda \in Tr_{\varepsilon}(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i)$, where $\varepsilon = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \varepsilon_i$.

Theorem 2.1. Let $S, B \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{K})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Hence

- (i) If $0 < \varepsilon_1 \le \varepsilon_2$, $Tr_{\varepsilon_1}(S \oplus B) \subset Tr_{\varepsilon_2}(S \oplus B)$,
- (ii) For all $\beta \in \mathbb{K}$ and A is invertible and $Tr(A) \neq 0$, we get

$$Tr_{\varepsilon}(\beta(A \oplus A), A \oplus A) = \Big\{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \beta| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{|2tr(A)|}\Big\}.$$

Proof. (i) It follows from Definition 2.6.

(iii) If $\beta, \lambda \in \mathbb{K}$, hence

$$|tr(\beta(A \oplus A) - \lambda(A \oplus A))| = |\lambda - \beta||2tr(A)| \le \varepsilon.$$

Thus

$$Tr_{\varepsilon}(\beta(A \oplus A), A \oplus A) = \left\{\lambda \in \mathbb{K} : |\lambda - \beta| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{|2tr(A)|}\right\}.$$

We finish with the following example.

Example 2.6. Let
$$\varepsilon > 0$$
. If $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ and $B = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 5 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{Q}_2)$. Then
 $Tr_{\varepsilon}(A \oplus B) = (\{1,3\} \cup \{1,2\}) \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_p : |7-4\lambda| \le \varepsilon\}.$

References

- Ammar, A., Bouchekoua, A., & Jeribi, A. (2019). Pseudospectra in a non-Archimedean Banach space and essential pseudospectra in E_ω. Filomat, 33(12), 3961-3976.
- [2] Ammar, A., Bouchekoua, A., & Lazrag, N. (2022). The condition ε-pseudospectra on non-Archimedean Banach space. Boletín de la Sociedad Matemática Mexicana, 28(2), 29.
- [3] Blali, A., El Amrani, A., & Ettayb, J. (2022). Some spectral sets of linear operators pencils on nonarchimedean Banach spaces. Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov. Series III: Mathematics and Computer Science, 41-56.
- [4] Diagana, T., & Ramaroson, F. (2016). Non-Archimedean operator theory. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- [5] Diarra, B. (2018). Ultrametric Calkin algebras, Advances in Ultrametric Analysis, Contemp. Math., vol. 704, 111-125.
- [6] El Amrani, A., Ettayb, J., & Blali, A. (2022). Pseudospectrum and condition pseudospectrum of nonarchimedean matrices. Journal of Prime Research in Mathematics, 18(1), 75-82.
- [7] El Amrani, A., Ettayb, J., & Blali, A. (2024). On Pencil of Bounded Linear Operators on Non-archimedean Banach Spaces. Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat., 42, 1-10.
- [8] Ettayb, J. (2023). Condition pseudospectrum of operator pencils on non-archimedean Banach spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.18401.
- [9] Ettayb, J. (2024). (N, ε)-pseudospectra of bounded linear operators on ultrametric Banach spaces. Gulf Journal of Mathematics, 17(1), 12-28.
- [10] Ettayb, J. (2024). Structured pseudospectrum and structured essential pseudospectrum of closed linear operator pencils on ultrametric Banach spaces. Mathematical notes of NEFU, 31(1), 70-80.
- [11] Ettayb, J. (2024). Characterization of the structured pseudospectrum in non-Archimedean Banach spaces. Journal of the Iranian Mathematical Society, 5(2), 79-93.
- [12] Ettayb, J. (2024). Condition pseudospectra of multivalued linear operator pencils on non-Archimedean Banach spaces. Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo Series 2, 1-11.
- [13] Ettayb, J. (2024). Pseudo-spectrum of non-Archimedean matrix pencils. Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov. Series III: Mathematics and Computer Science, 73-86.
- [14] Ettayb, J. (2025). Pseudospectrum and essential Pseudospectrum of linear operator pencils on ultrametric Banach spaces, Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat., 43, 1-10.
- [15] Ipek, Al P., & Ismailov Z.I. (2021). S-Spectra and S-Essential Pseudospectra of the Diagonal Block Operator Matrices. Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics. 50(2), 433-443.
- [16] Ismailov, Z. I., & Ipek, Al P. (2020). Spectra and Pseudospectra of the Direct Sum Operators. Sigma Journal of Engineering and Natural Sciences. 38(3), 1251-1259.

- [17] Ismailov, Z. I., & Ipek Al P. (2022). ε-Condition Pseudospectra of the Direct Sum Operators. Lobachevskii Journal of Mathematics, 43(11), 3161-3166.
- [18] Nadathur, K. S. (1973). Linear Operators between Nonarchimedean Banach Spaces, Dissertations, Western Michigan University.
- [19] Rooij, A. C. M. V. (1978). Non-Archimedean functional analysis. Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Math., 51. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York.
- [20] Trefethen, L. N., & Embree, M. (2005). Spectra and pseudospectra. The behavior of nonnormal matrices and operators. Princeton University Press, Princeton.

REGIONAL ACADEMY OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING OF CASABLANCA SETTAT HAMMAM AL FATAWAKI COLLEGIATE HIGH SCHOOL, HAD SOUALEM, MOROCCO



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:208-226 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

ON LACUNARY $A^{\mathcal{I}}\text{-}\mathbf{STATISTICAL}$ CONVERGENCE OF FUZZY TRIPLE SEQUENCES OF ORDER γ

IŞIL AÇIK DEMIRCI 🔎 , ÖMER KIŞI 🌔 *, AND MEHMET GÜRDAL 🔎

ABSTRACT. In this study, we propose the concepts of f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -statistical convergence of order γ and strongly f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -summability of order γ for triple sequences of fuzzy numbers. Additionally, we explore fundamental connections between these convergence notions. As a practical application, we apply this newly defined convergence to establish a fuzzy Korovkin-type approximation theorem concerning triple sequences of fuzzy positive linear operators. To highlight the effectiveness of our result, we provide an example that demonstrates the superiority of the established theorem over its classical counterpart. **Keywords**: Fuzzy sequence, ideal, fuzzy type Korovkin-theorem, lacunary sequence, regular matrix, triple sequence, A-statistical convergence. **2010 Mathematics Subject Classification**: 40G10, 41A36.

1. INTRODUCTION

The concept of statistical convergence for sequences, an extension of the usual notion of convergence, was initially introduced in [7, 39]. This concept has spurred extensive research across various spaces and has been influential in the fields of summability theory, functional analysis, and measure theory, among others (see [5, 6], [9], [14], [17], [20], [25], [26], [29]). In their 2008 study [40], Şahiner et al. investigated statistical convergence within the context of triple sequences. For a comprehensive understanding of optimal convergence in triple

Received:2024.04.16 Revised:2024.08.16

Accepted:2024.11.18

* Corresponding author

Işıl Açık Demirci & isilacik@yahoo.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0439-9544

Ömer Kişi ◊ okisi@bartin.edu.tr ◊ https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6844-3092

Mehmet Gürdal & gurdalmehmet@sdu.edu.tr & https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0866-1869 .

sequences, see [42] and other related sources. A significant advancement in convergence theory, including statistical convergence, was made by Kostyrko et al. [22], who introduced the notions of \mathcal{I} -convergence and \mathcal{I}^* -convergence in metric spaces using ideals based on natural numbers. Following Kostyrko et al.'s work, similar investigations have been conducted for function sequences in random 2-normed spaces [37] and other areas. Further studies have explored these concepts in metric spaces [28], 2-normed spaces [41], and for localized sequences in metric spaces [30], with additional references provided in [11, 12, 13, 19, 36, 45].

Recently, Aizpuru et al. [1] extended the concept of natural density by introducing the f-density of a subset of positive integers using an unbounded modulus function. In 2015, Bhardwaj and Dhawan [3] introduced the definitions of f-density and f-statistical convergence of order γ . Furthermore, Sengül and Et [44] advanced the field by proposing the concept of lacunary statistical convergence of order γ in 2018, employing the modulus function.

To address uncertainty and vagueness, Zadeh [46] introduced the concepts of fuzzy sets, fuzzy logic, and fuzzy numbers in 1965. Since then, fuzzy logic has found applications in various fields such as artificial intelligence, control systems, and decision-making processes. In 1986, Matloka [24] extended these ideas to sequence space theory. The concept of statistical convergence for sequences of fuzzy numbers was later explored by Savaş [34]. For additional details on fuzzy sequence spaces, see [4], [15], [18], [38], and the associated references.

Building on the previous research, we develop and examine the properties of f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -statistical convergence of order γ and strongly f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -summability of order γ for triple sequences of fuzzy numbers. We also explore the interrelationship between these newly defined concepts. Finally, we utilize lacunary triple sequences, the modulus function, and a regular matrix to establish a fuzzy Korovkin-type theorem for triple sequences of fuzzy numbers. As a result, our findings become specific cases of the results presented in [32].

2. Preliminaries

The sets of all natural numbers, all real numbers, and all complex numbers are represented by the letters \mathbb{N} , \mathbb{R} and \mathbb{C} , respectively, throughout the text. Let $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ and E(r) = $\{i \in E : i \leq r\}$. Recall that the natural or asymptotic density of E is defined by $\delta(E) =$ $\lim_{r\to\infty} \frac{|E(r)|}{r}$ if the limit exists.

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{r} \left| \{j : j \le r : |y_j - y| \ge \varepsilon \} \right| = 0, \text{ for all } \varepsilon > 0$$

indicates that the sequence (y_j) statistically converges to y [8]. Since then, the idea of ideal of subsets of \mathbb{N} has been used to expand the concept of statistical convergence to include the idea of \mathcal{I} -convergence [22]. Let Z be a non-empty set and $\mathcal{P}(Z)$ be the family of all subsets of Z. An ideal, denoted as $\mathcal{I} (\subset \mathcal{P}(Z))$ is a family of subsets of Z satisfying the following conditions: (a) $E, R \in \mathcal{I}$ imply $E \cup R \in \mathcal{I}$ (b) $R \in \mathcal{I}, E \subset R$ imply $E \in \mathcal{I}$, while an admissible ideal \mathcal{I} of Z covers Z. If $Z \notin \mathcal{I}, \mathcal{I} \neq \emptyset$, the family of sets $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{I}) = \{M \subset Z : Z \setminus M \in \mathcal{I}\}$ forms a filter of Z. By \mathcal{I}_{fin} and \mathcal{I}_{δ} , respectively, we indicate the ideal that is composed of all finite subsets and density zero subsets of \mathbb{N} . A sequence $a = (a_k)$ is said to be \mathcal{I} -convergent to $b \in \mathbb{R}$ provided for every $\varepsilon > 0$, the set $A(\varepsilon) = \{n \in \mathbb{N} : |a_k - b| \ge \varepsilon\}$ belongs to \mathcal{I} [22]. When considering $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{fin}, \mathcal{I}$ -convergence of the sequence aligns with ordinary convergence, and when considering $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{\delta}$, it aligns with statistical convergence. Furthermore, it is worth noting that [35] delves into the concept of \mathcal{I} -statistically convergence. A sequence (a_k) is deemed \mathcal{I} -statistically convergent to a if $\{n \in \mathbb{N} : 1/n | \{k \le n : |a_k - a| \ge \varepsilon\} | \ge \delta\}$ belongs to \mathcal{I} for each $\varepsilon, \delta > 0$. Then, a is the \mathcal{I} -statistical limit of the sequence (a_k) and \mathcal{I} -stlim $_{k\to\infty} a_k = a$.

The lacunary sequence $\theta = (k_r), r \to \infty$, is a nonnegative integers sequence that increases where $k_0 = 0, h_r = (k_r - k_{r-1})$ and $h_r \to \infty$ (and $r \to \infty$). If the following limit holds for every $\varepsilon > 0$, then a sequence (y_k) is lacunary statistically convergent to $y : \lim_{r\to\infty} 1/h_r |\{k \in I_r : |y_k - y| \ge \varepsilon\}| = 0$, where $I_r = (k_{r-1}, k_r]$ and $q_r = \frac{k_r}{k_{r-1}}$. If the following limit holds for every $\varepsilon > 0$, then a sequence (y_k) is lacunary statistically convergent to y of order $\gamma : \lim_{r\to\infty} 1/h_r^{\gamma} |\{k \in I_r : |y_k - y| \ge \varepsilon\}| = 0$, where $(h_r^{\gamma}) = (h_1^{\gamma}, h_2^{\gamma}, \dots, h_r^{\gamma}, \dots)$ [43].

A modulus function $g: [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ such that (i) $x = 0 \Leftrightarrow g(x) = 0$; (ii) the function g is increasing; (iii) for all $x, y \in [0, \infty)$, $g(x + y) \leq g(y) + g(x)$; (iv) the function g is continuous from the right at point 0 [31]. Therefore, the function g needs be continuous throughout the the interval $[0, \infty)$.

If the following limit holds for every $\varepsilon > 0$, a sequence (y_k) , is *f*-lacunary statistically convergent to *y* of order $\gamma : \lim_{r \to \infty} 1/f(h_r^{\gamma}) f(|\{k \in I_r : |y_k - y| \ge \varepsilon\}|) = 0$, where $(h_r^{\gamma}) = (h_1^{\gamma}, h_2^{\gamma}, \ldots, h_r^{\gamma}, \ldots)$ [44].

Lemma 2.1 ([24]). $\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{f(t)}{t} = \inf\left\{\frac{f(t)}{t}: t>0\right\}$ for any modulus function f.

We now recall the following definitions which were given in [10, 16, 23, 24, 46].

A fuzzy number, denoted as \tilde{a} , is characterized as a fuzzy set of real numbers spanning the interval from \mathbb{R} to [0, 1] and fulfilling the following properties:

F1. there is such a t in \mathbb{R} such that $\tilde{a}(t) = 1$ i.e., \tilde{a} is normal,

- F2. $\tilde{a}(t) \geq \min \{ \tilde{a}(d), \tilde{a}(c) \} = \tilde{a}(d) \wedge \tilde{a}(c) \text{ where } c < t < d, \text{ that is } \tilde{a} \text{ is fuzzy convex} \}$
- F3. \tilde{a} is upper semi continuous,

F4. $supp(\tilde{a}) = \{t \in \mathbb{R} : \tilde{a}(t) > 0\}$ is compact.

Also, for $\alpha \in (0,1]$, the α -level cut of \tilde{a} can be defined as $[\tilde{a}]_{\alpha} = \{t \in \mathbb{R} : \tilde{a}(t) \geq \alpha\} = [\tilde{a}_{\alpha}^{-}, \tilde{a}_{\alpha}^{+}]$, the lower and upper boundaries of the α -level cut of the fuzzy number \tilde{a} are demonstrated by \tilde{a}_{α}^{-} and \tilde{a}_{α}^{+} , respectively. $\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ represents the set of all fuzzy numbers. For any $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tilde{a}, \tilde{b} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$, the scalar multiplication $\lambda \odot \tilde{a}$ and the sum $\tilde{a} \oplus \tilde{b}$ are defined in that : $(\tilde{a} \oplus \tilde{b})_{\alpha} = \tilde{a}_{\alpha} \oplus \tilde{b}_{\alpha}$ and $(\lambda \odot \tilde{a})_{\alpha} = \lambda \tilde{a}_{\alpha}$. Now, d is the Hausdorff metric and $d : \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}} \times \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by

$$d\left(\tilde{a},\tilde{b}\right) = \sup_{0 < \alpha \le 1} \max\left\{ \left| \tilde{a}_{\alpha}^{-} - \tilde{b}_{\alpha}^{-} \right|, \left| \tilde{a}_{\alpha}^{+} - \tilde{b}_{\alpha}^{+} \right| \right\} = \sup_{0 < \alpha \le 1} d\left(\left[\tilde{a} \right]_{\alpha}, \left[\tilde{b} \right]_{\alpha} \right).$$

For every $\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}, \tilde{c}, \tilde{d} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$, we get

d1. the space $(\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}, d)$ is a metric space that is complete [33], d2. $d\left(p\tilde{a}, p\tilde{b}\right) = |p| d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}\right); p \in \mathbb{C}$ (the set of all complex scalars), d3. $d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}\right) = d\left(\tilde{a} \oplus \tilde{c}, \tilde{b} \oplus \tilde{c}\right),$ d4. $d\left(\tilde{a} \oplus \tilde{c}, \tilde{b} \oplus \tilde{d}\right) \leq d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}\right) + d\left(\tilde{c}, \tilde{d}\right),$ d5. $\left|d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{0}\right) - d\left(\tilde{b}, \tilde{0}\right)\right| \leq d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}\right) \leq d\left(\tilde{a}, \tilde{0}\right) + d\left(\tilde{b}, \tilde{0}\right),$ where $\tilde{0}$ is the additive identity element of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Let $\tilde{a} = (\tilde{a}_n)$ be a sequence of fuzzy real numbers and if

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} 1/r \left| \{n : n \le r : d\left(\tilde{a}_n, \tilde{a}_0\right) \ge \epsilon \} \right| = 0$$

for every $\epsilon > 0$, then (\tilde{a}_n) is statistically convergent to fuzzy number \tilde{a}_0 .

Definition 2.1. If there is a positive number M such that $d(\tilde{a}_{nkl}, \tilde{0}) < M$ for all n, k, l, then the triple sequence $\tilde{a} = (\tilde{a}_{nkl})$ of fuzzy numbers is said to be bounded. $\ell_{\infty}^{f,3}$ is the set that represents all bounded triple sequences of fuzzy numbers.

Assume that $A = (a_{nkolpm})$ is a summability matrix with six-dimensions. If the series converges in the sense of Pringsheim for every $(n, o, p) \in \mathbb{N}^3$, the A-transform of a given triple sequence, $x = (x_{klm})$, is given by $Ax := \{(Ax)_{nop}\}$. Recall that a six dimensional matrix
$A = (a_{nkolpm})$ is said to be Robinson-Hamilton (RH)-regular if it maps every bounded *P*convergent sequence with the same *P*-limit. The RH-conditions state that a six dimensional matrix $A = (a_{nkolpm})$ is RH-regular iff

RH1. For each $(k, l, m) \in \mathbb{N}^3$, $P-\lim_{n,o,p} a_{nkolpm} = 0$,

- RH2. *P*-lim_{*n,o,p*} $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} a_{nkolpm} = 0$ for every $l \in \mathbb{N}, m \in \mathbb{N}$,
- RH3. *P*-lim_{*n,o,p*} $\sum_{l \in \mathbb{N}} a_{nkolpm} = 0$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}, m \in \mathbb{N}$,
- RH4. *P*-lim_{*n,o,p*} $\sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} a_{nkolpm} = 0$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}, l \in \mathbb{N}$,
- RH5. $\sum_{(k,l,m)\in\mathbb{N}^3} |a_{nkolpm}|$ is *P*-convergent for all $(n, o, p) \in \mathbb{N}^3$,

RH6. There exist finite positive integers B and C such that $\sum_{k,l,m>C} |a_{nkolpm}| < B$ holds for all $(n, o, p) \in \mathbb{N}^3$,

RH7. $P-\lim_{n,o,p} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in \mathbb{N}^3} a_{nkolpm} = 1.$

Now, assume that $K' \subset \mathbb{N}^3$ and $A = (a_{nkolpm})$ is non-negative RH-regular summability matrix. When the limit on the right-hand side exists in the sense of Pringsheim, the Adensity of K' is then given by $\delta_3^A(K') := P - \lim_{n,o,p} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in K'} a_{nkolpm}$, where K' := $\{(k,l,m) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : |x_{klm} - \ell| \ge \varepsilon\}$. A real triple sequence $x = (x_{klm})$ is said to be A-statistically convergent to a number ℓ if $\delta_3^A(K') = 0$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$. $(A^3-stat)-\lim_{nop} x = \ell$ in this instance.

3. Main Results

This section introduces and investigates the concepts of strongly f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -summability of order γ and f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ -statistical convergence of order γ for triple sequences of fuzzy numbers. Throughout this study, unless specified otherwise, we assume $0 < \gamma \leq 1$ and that f is an unbounded modulus function.

Definition 3.1. Let f be an unbounded modulus function, $\theta_3 = \{(k_r, l_s, m_t)\}$ be a lacunary sequence and $\gamma \in (0, 1]$. A sequence $\tilde{a} = (\tilde{a}_{klm})$ of fuzzy numbers is f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3}$ -statistical convergent of order γ ($\gamma \in (0, 1]$) (or $A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} - \operatorname{stat}_{\gamma, \theta_3}$ -convergent) to a fuzzy number \tilde{a}_{000} if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, $\zeta > 0$,

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\tilde{a})_{klm}, \tilde{a}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\}$$

belongs to \mathcal{I}_3 . In this case we write $\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right) \operatorname{-lim}_{k,l,m\to\infty} \tilde{a}_{klm} = \tilde{a}_{000}$. $\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right)$ represents the set of all f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f}$ -statistically convergent sequences of order γ . **Definition 3.2.** A triple sequence $\tilde{a} = (\tilde{a}_{klm})$ of fuzzy numbers is strongly f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f}$ summable of order γ (or $A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f}W_{\gamma,\theta_3}$ -summable) if there exists a fuzzy number \tilde{a}_{000} such that

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{a})_{klm}, \tilde{a}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3$$

for each $\varepsilon > 0$. $\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f}W_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right)$ represents the set of all strongly f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f}$ -summable sequences of order γ .

Remark 3.1. $(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_3})$ -convergence is well defined for $\gamma \in (0,1]$. It is not necessary to define it for $\gamma > 1$. To illustrate this, consider (\tilde{g}_{nop}) to be a sequence of fuzzy numbers defined as

$$\tilde{g}_{nop}(t) = \begin{cases} t-3, & \text{if } n, o, p \text{ are odd,} \\ 1-(t-3), & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for $t \in [3, 4]$, and the matrix $A = (a_{nkolpm})$ defined as

$$a_{nkolpm} = \begin{cases} & if \ n, o, p \ are \ a \ cube \ and \\ & k = n^3, l = o^3, m = p^3, \\ & if \ n, o, p \ are \ a \ non \ cube \ and \\ & 1, \\ & k = n^3 + 1, l = o^3 + 1, m = p^3 + 1, \\ & 0, \\ & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

One can easily verify that

$$\begin{split} (A\tilde{g}\left(t\right))_{nop} &= \sum_{k=1,l=1,m=1}^{\infty} a_{nkolpm} \tilde{g}_{klm} \\ &= \begin{cases} t-3 = \left(\tilde{a}\right), & n, o, p \text{ is even non cube or} \\ & n, o, p \text{ is odd cube,} \\ 1-\left(t-3\right) = \left(\tilde{b}\right), & n, o, p \text{ is an even cube or} \\ & n, o, p \text{ is odd non cube.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$d\left(\left(A\tilde{g}\left(t\right)\right)_{nop},\tilde{a}\right) := \begin{cases} n, o, p \text{ are odd cubes or} \\ 0; \\ n, o, p \text{ are even non cubes}, \\ n, o, p \text{ are even cubes or} \\ 1; \\ n, o, p \text{ are odd non cubes}, \end{cases}$$

and

$$d\left((A\tilde{g}(t))_{nop}, \tilde{b}\right) := \begin{cases} n, o, p \text{ are odd cubes or} \\ 1; & n, o, p \text{ are even non cubes,} \\ n, o, p \text{ are even non cubes,} \\ 0; & n, o, p \text{ are odd non cubes.} \end{cases}$$

Assume that $\gamma > 1$, f(x) = x and $\theta_3 = \{(j_r, k_s, l_t)\} = r^2 s^2 t^2$. For $\varepsilon > 0$, $\zeta > 0$ we have

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} f\left(\left| \{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\tilde{g})_{klm}, \tilde{a} \right) \ge \varepsilon \} \right| \right) \ge \zeta \right\}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{h_{rst}}{h_{rst}^{\gamma}} \ge \zeta \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3$$

and

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(\left| \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\tilde{g})_{klm}, \tilde{b} \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \right| \right) \ge \zeta \right\}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{h_{rst}}{h_{rst}^\gamma} \ge \zeta \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3.$$

Thus, (\tilde{g}_{nop}) is f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3}$ -statistically convergent to both \tilde{a} and \tilde{b} , which is impossible.

Theorem 3.1. Let $y = (\tilde{y}_{klm})$ and $g = (\tilde{g}_{klm})$ be two triple fuzzy sequences and $\gamma \in (0, 1]$. Then, the subsequent statements are valid:

(a) If
$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right)$$
 -lim_{k,l,m} $\tilde{y}_{klm} = \tilde{y}_{000}$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}$, then $\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right)$ -lim_{k,l,m} $z\tilde{y}_{klm} = z\tilde{y}_{000}$.

(b) If
$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) - \lim_{k,l,m} \tilde{y}_{klm} = \tilde{y}_{000} \text{ and } \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) - \lim_{k,l,m} \tilde{g}_{klm} = \tilde{g}_{000}, \text{ then}$$

 $\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) - \lim_{k,l,m} (\tilde{y}_{klm} + \tilde{g}_{klm}) = \tilde{y}_{000} + \tilde{g}_{000}.$

Proof. (a) For z = 0, the result holds trivially. Let $z \neq 0$, for given $\varepsilon > 0$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} &\{((k,l,m)\in I_{r,s,t}:d\left((Az\tilde{y})_{klm}, z\tilde{y}_{000}\right)\geq\varepsilon)\}\\ &=\{((k,l,m)\in I_{r,s,t}:|z|\,d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\geq\varepsilon)\}\\ &\subseteq\left\{\left((k,l,m)\in I_{r,s,t}:d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\geq\frac{\varepsilon}{|z|}\right)\right\},\end{aligned}$$

and, so we have

$$\begin{split} &\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(\left(Az\tilde{y}\right)_{klm}, z\tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ &\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(\left(A\tilde{y}\right)_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{|z|}\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ &\in \mathcal{I}_3, \end{split}$$

214

for all $\zeta > 0$.

(b) It is derived from the fact that

$$\begin{aligned} \{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\left(\tilde{y}+\tilde{g}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}+\tilde{g}_{000}\right) \geq \varepsilon \} \\ &\subseteq \{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(((A\left(\tilde{y}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}) + ((A\left(\tilde{g}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{g}_{000})\right) \geq \varepsilon \} \\ &\subseteq \left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\left(\tilde{y}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \geq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \right\} \\ &\cup \left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\left(\tilde{g}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{g}_{000}\right) \geq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Additionally,

$$\begin{split} &\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(\left(A\left(\tilde{y}+\tilde{g}\right)\right)_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}+\tilde{g}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ &\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(\left(A\left(\tilde{y}\right)\right)_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ &\cup \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left(\left(A\left(\tilde{y}\right)\right)_{klm}, \tilde{g}_{000}\right) \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ &\in \mathcal{I}_3, \end{split}$$

is a consequence of this. Therefore, (b) follows.

Theorem 3.2. Let f be an unbounded modulus function such that $f(xy) \ge cf(x) f(y)$ for some positive constant $c, x, y \ge 0$ and $0 < \gamma \le \delta \le 1$. Then, we have $\begin{pmatrix} A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} W_{\gamma,\theta_3} \end{pmatrix} \subseteq \begin{pmatrix} A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} -stat_{\gamma,\theta_3} \end{pmatrix}$.

Proof. Let $\tilde{y} \in \left({}^{A^{\mathcal{I}_3}}W_{\gamma,\theta_3.f}\right)$. Then, for $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\zeta > 0$

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3,$$
(3.1)

and, so we get

$$\begin{cases} (r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \\ \\ \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ \supseteq \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(\sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ \supseteq \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(\sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{00}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon} d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ + \sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \le \varepsilon}} d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ \supseteq \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(\sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon}} d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ \supseteq \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(|\{(k, l, m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\}| \varepsilon\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \\ \supseteq \left\{(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \left(\frac{c}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)}} f\left(|\{(k, l, m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\}| \varepsilon\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \end{cases}$$

This implies

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{c}{f(h_{rst}^\delta)} f\left(\left| \{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\left(\tilde{y}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000} \right) \ge \varepsilon \} \right| f\left(\varepsilon \right) \right) \ge \zeta \right\}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000} \right) \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\}.$$

Using (3.1), we obtain $\tilde{y} \in \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right)$.

Using Lemma 2.1, we can give the following theorem.

Theorem 3.3. Let f be an unbounded modulus function such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{f(t)}{t} > 0$, $\lim_{r,s,t\to\infty} \frac{f(h_{rst})}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} = 1$ and $0 < \gamma \le \delta \le 1$. Then,

$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) \cap \ell_{\infty}^{3}\left(A\right) \subseteq \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}}W_{\delta,\theta_{3}}\right) \cap \ell_{\infty}^{3}\left(A\right).$$

Proof. Assume that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{f(t)}{t} = L$. Then, by Lemma 2.1, $L \leq \frac{f(t)}{t}$, for all t > 0. Let $\tilde{y} \in \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_3}\right) \cap \ell_{\infty}^3(A)$. Then, there exists positive real number M such that $d\left(\left(A\tilde{y}\right)_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \leq M$, for any $k, l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, and

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f\left(h_{rst}^{\gamma}\right)} f\left(\left|\left\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\left(\tilde{y}\right))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \ge \varepsilon\right\}\right|\right) \ge \zeta \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3,$$

supplies for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\zeta > 0$.

Now,

$$\begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\delta)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ \subseteq \begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \sum_{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t}} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \\ = \begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \left[\sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right)} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \right] \ge \varepsilon \\ \end{cases} \\ + \sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) < \varepsilon} f\left(d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right)\right) \right] \ge \varepsilon \\ \end{cases} \\ = \begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} \left[\sum_{\substack{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} \\ d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \geq \varepsilon} f\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) < \varepsilon \right] \\ \end{bmatrix} \\ = \begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(M\right) | \{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A(\tilde{y}))_{klm}, \tilde{y}_{000}\right) \geq \varepsilon\}| \ge \zeta \\ \end{cases} \\ + \begin{cases} (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{h_{rst}}{f(h_{rst}^\gamma)} f\left(\varepsilon\right) \ge \zeta \\ \end{bmatrix} \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

$$\left(\int \left(u_{rst} \right) \right)$$

$$+\left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : \frac{L^{-1}f(h_{rst})}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} f(\varepsilon) \ge \zeta \right\}.$$
(3.2)

Using $\lim_{r,s,t\to\infty} \frac{f(h_{rst})}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} = 1$, we have $\tilde{y} \in \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} W_{\delta,\theta_3}\right) \cap \ell_{\infty}(A)$.

3.1. Fuzzy Korovkin-type theorems. One notable theorem in mathematics is Korovkin's theorem, named after the mathematician Korovkin [21]. This theorem addresses how a sequence of positive linear operators can uniformly approximate continuous functions defined on compact metric spaces. Over time, the theorem's importance has grown across various mathematical disciplines. Researchers have explored its applications in numerous settings and have proposed several extensions in areas such as functional analysis, measure theory,

probability theory, and summability theory (see [2], [16], [27], [32]). In this section, we apply lacunary triple sequences, modulus functions, and regular matrices to establish a fuzzy Korovkin-type theorem specifically for triple fuzzy number sequences.

A fuzzy valued function $\tilde{f}: [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [a,b] \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is fuzzy continuous at $(u_{000}, y_{000}, z_{000})$ in $([a,b])^3 = [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [a,b]$ if $(u_{klm}, y_{klm}, z_{klm}) \to (u_{000}, y_{000}, z_{000})$, then

$$d^*\left(\tilde{f}\left(u_{klm}, y_{klm}, z_{klm}\right), \tilde{f}\left(u_{000}, y_{000}, z_{000}\right)\right) \to 0, \text{ as } k, l, m \to \infty,$$

where

$$d^{*}\left(\tilde{f}\left(u_{klm}, y_{klm}, z_{klm}\right), \tilde{f}\left(u_{000}, y_{000}, z_{000}\right)\right)$$

=
$$\sup_{(u,y,z)\in([a,b])^{3}} d\left(\tilde{f}\left(u_{klm}, y_{klm}, z_{klm}\right), \tilde{f}\left(u_{000}, y_{000}, z_{000}\right)\right).$$

If \tilde{f} is fuzzy continuous at every point in [a, b], then \tilde{f} is fuzzy continuous on $([a, b])^3$. The set of all fuzzy continuous functions on the interval $([a, b])^3$ is denoted by $C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a, b])^3\right)$, and $C\left(([a, b])^3\right)$ represents the space of all continuous functions on $([a, b])^3$.

An operator $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}: C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right) \to C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ is fuzzy linear, if

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\lambda_1 \odot \tilde{f}_1 \oplus \lambda_2 \odot \tilde{f}_2; u, y, z\right) = \lambda_1 \odot \tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}_1; u, y, z\right) \oplus \lambda_2 \odot \tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}_2; u, y, z\right),$$

for every $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2 \in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$. Furthermore, $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ is fuzzy positive linear operator, if it is fuzzy linear and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}_1; u, y, z\right) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}_2; u, y, z\right)$$

for all $\tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2 \in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$, and for any $(u, y, z) \in ([a,b])^3$, and with $\tilde{f}_1(u, y, z) \leq \tilde{f}_2(u, y, z)$.

Theorem 3.4. Assume that $(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm})$ be a triple sequence of positive linear operators from $C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ to $C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$. Suppose that there is a sequence (\mathcal{T}_{klm}) of positive linear operators from $C\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ into $C\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ such that

$$\left\{\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm}\left(\tilde{f}; u, y, z\right)\right\}_{\alpha}^{\pm} = \mathcal{T}_{klm}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}; u, y, z\right), \quad (k, l, m \in \mathbb{N})$$
(3.3)

for each $\tilde{f} \in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$, $\alpha \in [0,1]$ and $(u,y,z) \in ([a,b])^3$. Then, if

$$\{(k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : \|\mathcal{T}_{klm}(g_i) - g_i\| \ge \varepsilon\} \in \mathcal{I}_3; \ (i = \overline{0,4}),$$

$$(3.4)$$

where $g_0 = 1$, $g_1 = u$, $g_2 = y$, $g_3 = z$, $g_4 = u^2 + y^2 + z^2$, we have

$$\left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d^* \left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm} \left(\tilde{f} \right), \tilde{f} \right) \ge \varepsilon \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3; \, \forall \tilde{f} \in C_{\mathcal{F}} \left[a, b \right], \tag{3.5}$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$.

218

Theorem 3.5. Consider a fuzzy sequence $(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm})$ of positive linear operators from $C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ into $C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$. Suppose there exists a sequence (\mathcal{T}_{klm}) of positive linear operators from $C\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ into $C\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ such that equation (3.3) holds. If

$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}}-stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) - \left\|\mathcal{T}_{klm}\left(g_{i}\right) - g_{i}\right\| = 0, \quad \left(i = \overline{0,4}\right), \quad (3.6)$$

where $g_0 = 1, g_1 = u, g_2 = y, g_3 = z$ and $g_4 = u^2 + y^2 + z^2$, then we have

$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}}-stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right) \cdot d^{*}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm}\left(\tilde{f}\right),\tilde{f}\right) = 0, \,\forall \tilde{f} \in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left[a,b\right].$$
(3.7)

Proof. Let $\tilde{f} \in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left(([a,b])^3\right)$ and $(u,y,z) \in ([a,b])^3$. Since \tilde{f}^{\pm}_{α} is continuous on $([a,b])^3$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\left|\tilde{f}^{\pm}_{\alpha}(e,f,h) - \tilde{f}^{\pm}_{\alpha}(u,y,z)\right| < \varepsilon$, whenever $|e-u| < \delta$, $|f-y| < \delta$, $|h-z| < \delta$. Since \tilde{f} is fuzzy bounded, we have $\left|\tilde{f}^{\pm}_{\alpha}(u,y,z)\right| \leq \mathcal{K}^{\pm}_{\alpha}$ for all $(u,y,z) \in ([a,b])^3$. Thus, we get

$$\left|\tilde{f}^{\pm}_{\alpha}\left(e,f,h\right) - \tilde{f}^{\pm}_{\alpha}\left(u,y,z\right)\right| \le \varepsilon + \frac{2\mathcal{K}^{\pm}_{\alpha}}{\delta^{2}}\left|\left(e-u\right)^{2} + \left(f-y\right)^{2} + \left(h-z\right)^{2}\right|$$
(3.8)

for every $(e, f, h), (u, y, z) \in ([a, b])^3$.

Applying $(A\mathcal{T}(g_0; u, y, z))_{klm}$ on both the sides for a fixed (u, y, z) and by the monotonicity and linearity of $(A\mathcal{T}(g_0; u, y, z))_{klm}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \left(e, f, h \right) ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} - \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \left(u, y, z \right) ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \varepsilon \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(1 ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} + \frac{2\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}}{\delta^{2}} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(\left(e - u \right)^{2} + \left(f - y \right)^{2} + \left(h - z \right)^{2} ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right| \\ &= \left| \varepsilon \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(1 ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} + \frac{2\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}}{\delta^{2}} \left(\left(A\mathcal{T} \left(e^{2} + f^{2} + h^{2} ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} - 2u \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(e ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(f ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right| \\ &- 2z \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(h ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} + \left(u^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2} \right) \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(1 ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.9)$$

Using (3.8) and (3.9), we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(AT \left(f_{\alpha}^{\pm}(e,f,h); u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \right| \\ = \left| \left(AT \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(e,f,h); u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} \right. \\ \left. + \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - \left(AT \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z); u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right. \\ \left. + \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - \left(AT \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z); u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right. \\ \left. + \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ \leq \left| \left(AT \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(e, f, h); u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} - \left(AT \left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z); u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} \right| \\ \left. + \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left((AT (1; u, y, z))_{klm} - 1 \right) \right| \\ \leq \left| \left(AT \left((t, u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left(AT (t, u, y, z) \right)_{klm} \right) \right| \\ \leq \left| \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} \right. \\ \left. - 2u \left(AT (e; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left(AT (f; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} \right. \\ \left. - 2z \left(AT (h; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} + \left(u^2 + y^2 + z^2 \right) \left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} \right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \right| \\ \leq \left| \left[\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right) \right| \\ \leq \left| \left[\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2y \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right) \right| \\ \leq \left| \left[\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 2 + \left(u^2 + y^2 + z^2 \right) \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ \left| \left[AT ((e^2 + f^2 + h^2) ; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - \left(u^2 + y^2 + z^2 \right) \right| \\ + \left| 2u \right| \left| (AT (e; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left((AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ = \left| \left[\left(AT \left(\left(e^2 + f^2 + h^2 \right) ; u, y, z \right) \right)_{klm} - \left(u^2 + y^2 + z^2 \right) \right| \\ + \left| \left[\frac{f}{a}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right] \right| \\ + \left| \frac{f}{a}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ + \left| \frac{f}{a}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left(\left(AT (1; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right) \right| \\ + \left| \frac{f}{a}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left| \left| \left(AT ((e + f + h) ; u, y, z) \right)_{klm} - 1 \right| \\ + \left| \frac{f}{a}^{\pm}(u, y, z) \left|$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{\pm} = \max\left\{\varepsilon + \frac{2\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}\left(B^{2}+C^{2}+D^{2}\right)}{\delta^{2}} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}, \frac{4\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}\left(B+C+D\right)}{\delta^{2}}, \frac{2\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}^{\pm}}{\delta^{2}}\right\},\$$
$$B = \max\left\{|u|\right\}, \ C = \max\left\{|y|\right\} \text{ and } D = \max\left\{|z|\right\}.$$

Then, taking supremum over $(u, y, z) \in ([a, b])^3$, we obtain

$$\left\| \left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}\right) \right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{\pm}\left(u, y, z\right) \right\| \leq \varepsilon + \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \sum_{i=0}^{4} \left\| \left(A\mathcal{T}\left(g_{i}\right)\right)_{klm} - g_{i} \right\|.$$
(3.10)

Using the definition of $d^*(.,.)$ and the relation (3.3), we have

$$d^{*}\left(\left(A\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}\right)\right)_{klm},\tilde{f}\right) = \sup_{(u,y,z)\in([a,b])^{3}} d\left(\left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f};u,y,z\right)\right)_{klm},\tilde{f}\left(u,y,z\right)\right)$$
(3.11)
$$= \sup_{(u,y,z)\in([a,b])^{3}} \sup_{\alpha\in[0,1]} \max\left\{\left|\left\{\left(A\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f};u,y,z\right)\right)_{klm}\right\}_{\alpha}^{-} - \left\{\tilde{f}\left(u,y,z\right)\right\}_{\alpha}^{-}\right|\right\}$$
$$= \sup_{(u,y,z)\in([a,b])^{3}} \sup_{\alpha\in[0,1]} \max\left\{\left|\left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{-};u,y,z\right)\right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{-}\left(u,y,z\right)\right|, \right.$$
$$\left|\left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{+};u,y,z\right)\right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{+}\left(u,y,z\right)\right|\right\}$$
$$= \sup_{\alpha\in[0,1]} \max\left\{\left|\left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{-}\right)\right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{-}\right\|, \left\|\left(A\mathcal{T}\left(\tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{+}\right)\right)_{klm} - \tilde{f}_{\alpha}^{+}\right\|\right\}.$$

From (3.10) and (3.11), we have

$$d^*\left(\left(A\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{f}\right)\right)_{klm},\tilde{f}\right)\leq\varepsilon+\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\sum_{i=0}^4\left\|(A\mathcal{T}\left(g_i\right))_{klm}-g_i\right\|,$$

where $\mathcal{M}_{\alpha} = \sup_{\alpha \in [0,1]} \max{\{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{-}, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{+}\}}.$

For a given t > 0, choose $\epsilon > 0$ such that $t > \epsilon$. Then, let

$$\mathcal{D}_{r,s,t} = \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d^* \left(\left(A \tilde{\mathcal{T}} \left(\tilde{f} \right) \right)_{klm}, \tilde{f} \right) \ge \epsilon \right\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}_{r,s,t;i} = \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : \left\| (A\mathcal{T}(g_i))_{klm} - g_i \right\| \ge \frac{t-\epsilon}{3\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} \right\},\$$

where $i = \overline{0, 4}$ and $(r, s, t) \in \mathbb{N}^3$. Therefore, $\mathcal{D}_{r,s,t} \subseteq \bigcup_{i=0}^4 \mathcal{D}_{r,s,t;i}$. This implies

$$\left| \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d^* \left(\left(A \tilde{\mathcal{T}} \left(\tilde{f} \right), \tilde{f} \right) \right)_{klm} \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| \\ \le \sum_{i=0}^4 \left| \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : \| (A \mathcal{T} \left(g_i \right))_{klm} - g_i \| \ge \frac{t-\epsilon}{3\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} \right\} \right|$$

and using (3.6) for $\zeta > 0$ we get

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} f\left(\left| \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d^* \left(\left(A \tilde{\mathcal{T}} \left(\tilde{f} \right) \right)_{klm}, \tilde{f} \right) \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| \right) \ge \zeta \right\} \quad (3.12)$$

$$\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{f(h_{rst}^{\gamma})} \sum_{i=0}^4 f\left(\left| \left\{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : \| (A\mathcal{T} \left(g_i \right) \right)_{klm} - g_i \| \ge \frac{t-\epsilon}{3\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} \right\} \right| \right) \ge \zeta \right\}$$

belongs to \mathcal{I}_3 . Therefore, we have

$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}}-stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right)-d^{*}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{klm}\left(\tilde{f}\right),\tilde{f}\right)=0,\,\forall\tilde{f}\in C_{\mathcal{F}}\left[a,b\right].$$

Example 3.1. Let (\tilde{y}_{nop}) be a triple fuzzy sequence defined by

$$\tilde{y}_{nop}(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } n, o, p \text{ are squares,} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \quad \forall t \in [0, 1].$$

Also, consider the matrix $A = (a_{nkolpm})$ defined by

$$a_{nkolpm} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } klm = (nop)^2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then

$$(A\tilde{y}(t))_{nop} = \sum_{k=1,l=1,m=1}^{\infty} a_{nkolpm} \tilde{y}_{klm} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } n, o, p \text{ are squares,} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise, } \forall t \in [0,1]. \end{cases}$$

Now, assume f(x) = x, we have for $\varepsilon > 0, \zeta > 0$

$$\left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{h_{rst}^{\alpha}} \left| \{ (k,l,m) \in I_{r,s,t} : d\left((A\tilde{y})_{klm}, 0 \right) \ge \varepsilon \} \right| \ge \zeta \right\}$$
$$\subseteq \left\{ (r,s,t) \in \mathbb{N}^3 : \frac{1}{h_{rst}^{\alpha}} \ge \zeta \right\} \in \mathcal{I}_3.$$

This implies (\tilde{y}_{nop}) is f-lacunary A-statistical convergent to 0 but it is not convergent to 0. Let $\tilde{y} \in C_{\mathcal{F}}([0,1])^3$, $(a,b,c) \in ([0,1])^3$ and consider the fuzzy Bernstein operators

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{nop}\left(\tilde{y};a,b,c\right) = \bigoplus_{i=0,j=0,k=0}^{n,o,p} \binom{n}{i} \binom{o}{j} \binom{p}{k} a^{i} \left(1-a\right)^{n-i} b^{j} \left(1-b\right)^{o-j} c^{k} \left(1-c\right)^{p-k} \odot \tilde{y}\left(\frac{i}{n},\frac{j}{o},\frac{k}{p}\right).$$

222

This implies

$$\begin{split} & \left\{ \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{nop} \left(\tilde{y}; a, b, c \right) \right\}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \\ &= \mathcal{B}_{nop} \left(\tilde{y}_{\alpha}^{\pm}; a, b, c \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=0, j=0, k=0}^{n, o, p} \binom{n}{i} \binom{o}{j} \binom{p}{k} a^{i} \left(1-a \right)^{n-i} b^{j} \left(1-b \right)^{o-j} c^{k} \left(1-c \right)^{p-k} \tilde{y}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \left(\frac{i}{n}, \frac{j}{o}, \frac{k}{p} \right), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{y}^{\pm}_{\alpha} \in C([0,1])^3$ and $\alpha \in [0,1]$. We define the sequence of fuzzy positive linear operators on $C_{\mathcal{F}}([0,1])^3$ as follows:

$$A\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{nop}\left(\tilde{y}\left(x\right);a,b,c\right) = \left(\left(A\tilde{y}\right)_{nop}+1\right)\odot\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{nop}\left(\tilde{y};a,b,c\right),$$

using these polynomials. Currently,

$$A\mathcal{T}_{nop}\left(\tilde{y}_{\alpha}^{\pm};a,b,c\right) = \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1\right) \sum_{i=0,j=0,k=0}^{n,o,p} \binom{n}{i} \binom{o}{j} \binom{p}{k} a^{i} (1-a)^{n-i} b^{j} (1-b)^{o-j} c^{k} (1-c)^{p-k} \tilde{y}_{\alpha}^{\pm} \left(\frac{i}{n},\frac{j}{o},\frac{k}{p}\right).$$
(3.13)

Then, we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} (A\mathcal{T}(g_0; u, y, z))_{nop} &= \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1 \right) g_0(u, y, z) \,, \\ (A\mathcal{T}(g_1; u, y, z))_{nop} &= \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1 \right) g_1(u, y, z) \,, \\ (A\mathcal{T}(g_2; u, y, z))_{nop} &= \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1 \right) g_2(u, y, z) \,, \\ (A\mathcal{T}(g_3; u, y, z))_{nop} &= \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1 \right) g_3(u, y, z) \,, \\ (A\mathcal{T}(g_4; u, y, z))_{nop} &= \left((A\tilde{y})_{nop} + 1 \right) \left(g_4(u, y, z) + u^2 + y^2 + z^2 + \frac{u - u^2}{n} + \frac{y - y^2}{o} + \frac{z - z^2}{p} \right) \,. \\ Since \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_3^f} \cdot stat_{\gamma, \theta_2} \right) - \lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{y}_{nop} = 0, \ we \ conclude \ that where \ g_0 = 1, \ g_1 = u, \ g_2 = u, \ g_3 = u \,. \end{aligned}$$

Since $(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{j}} - stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}})$ -lim_{nop} $\tilde{y}_{nop} = 0$, we conclude that where $g_{0} = 1, g_{1} = u, g_{2} = y, g_{3} = z, g_{4} = u^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2}$.

$$\begin{pmatrix} A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}} \end{pmatrix} - \lim_{nop} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(g_{0}; u, y, z \right) \right)_{nop} = 1, \\ \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}} \right) - \lim_{nop} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(g_{1}; u, y, z \right) \right)_{nop} = u, \\ \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}} \right) - \lim_{nop} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(g_{2}; u, y, z \right) \right)_{nop} = y, \\ \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}} \right) - \lim_{nop} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(g_{3}; u, y, z \right) \right)_{nop} = z, \\ \left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}} \operatorname{-stat}_{\gamma,\theta_{3}} \right) - \lim_{nop} \left(A\mathcal{T} \left(g_{3}; u, y, z \right) \right)_{nop} = u^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2}.$$

So, by using Theorem 3.5, we have

$$\left(A^{\mathcal{I}_{3}^{f}}-stat_{\gamma,\theta_{3}}\right)-\lim_{nop}d^{*}\left(\left(A\tilde{\mathcal{T}}\left(\tilde{y}\right)\right)_{nop},\tilde{y}\right)=0$$

However, since (\tilde{y}_{nop}) is not convergent, Theorem 3.4 does not work for operator defined by (3.13). This demonstrates the superiority of our Theorem 3.5 over Theorem 3.4.

4. CONCLUSION

In this study, we explore the concepts of strongly f-lacunary A-summability of order γ and f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3}$ -statistical convergence of order γ for sequences of fuzzy numbers. We also establish that for $0 < \gamma \leq 1$, the f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3}$ -statistical convergence of order γ is well-defined. Moreover, we investigate the relationships between newly defined spaces and show that, under certain conditions, these spaces are interconnected. As a significant application, we prove a fuzzy Korovkin-type theorem and provide an example that highlights the advantages of our result over the classical version. By utilizing f-lacunary $A^{\mathcal{I}_3}$ -statistical convergence, this paper offers a new perspective on the fuzzy Korovkin-type approximation theorem. Further exploration is needed to fully understand these concepts and the results pertaining to double sequences of fuzzy numbers.

References

- Aizpuru, A., Listán-Garcia, M.C. & Barreno, F.R. (2014). Density by moduli and statistical convergence. Quaest. Math., 37, 525-530.
- [2] Anastassiou, G.A. (2007). Fuzzy random Korovkin theory and inequalities. Math. Inequal. Appl., 10, 63-94.
- [3] Bhardwaj, V.K. & Dhawan, S. (2015). f-Statistical Convergence of order α and strong Cesàro summability of order α with respect to a modulus. J. Inequal. Appl., 2015, 1-14.
- [4] Çolak, R., Altin, Y. & Mursaleen, M. (2010). On some sets of difference sequences of fuzzy numbers. Soft Comput., 15, 787-793.
- [5] Demirci, I.A. & Gürdal, M. (2021). On lacunary generalized statistical convergent complex uncertian triple sequence. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst., 41(1), 1021-1029.
- [6] Demirci, I.A. & Gürdal, M. (2022). On lacunary statistical φ-convergence for triple sequences of sets via ideals. J. Appl. Math. Inform., 40(3-4), 433-444.
- [7] Fast, H. (1951). Sur la convergence statistique. Colloq. Math., 2, 241-244.
- [8] Fridy, J.A. (1985). On statistical convergence. Analysis, 5, 301-313.
- [9] Fridy, J.A. & Orhan, C. (1993). Lacunary statistical convergence. Pacific J. Math., 160(1), 43-51.
- [10] Goetschel, R. & Voxman, W. (1983). Topological properties of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Set Syst., 9, 87-99.
- [11] Gürdal, M. (2004). Some types of convergence. Doktoral Dissertation, Suleyman Demirel University, Isparta.
- [12] Gürdal, M. & Huban, M.B. (2014). On *I*-convergence of double sequences in the topology induced by random 2-norms. Mat. Vesnik, 66, 73-83.

- [13] Gürdal, M. & Şahiner, A. (2008). Extremal *I*-limit points of double sequences. Appl. Math. E-Notes, 8, 131-137.
- [14] Gürdal, M., Şahiner, A. & Açık, I. (2009). Approximation theory in 2-Banach spaces. Nonlinear Anal., 71(5-6), 1654-1661.
- [15] Hazarika, B., Alotaibi, A. & Mohiuddine, S.A. (2020). Statistical convergence in measure for double sequences of fuzzy-valued functions. Soft Comput., 24, 6613-6622.
- [16] Hazarika, B., Subramanian, N. & Mursaleen, M. (2020). Korovkin-type approximation theorem for Bernstein operator of rough statistical convergence of triple sequences. Adv. Oper. Theory, 5, 324–335.
- [17] Huban, M.B. & Gürdal, M. (2021). Wijsman lacunary invariant statistical convergence for triple sequences via Orlicz function. J. Class. Anal., 17(2), 119-128.
- [18] Jasrotia, S., Singh, U. P. & Raj, K. (2021). Applications of statistical convergence of order $(\eta, \delta + \gamma)$ in difference sequence spaces of fuzzy numbers. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst., 40, 4695-4703.
- [19] Kişi, O. (2021). Lacunary ideal convergence in measure for sequences of fuzzy valued functions. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst., 40(3), 5517-5526.
- [20] Kolk, E. (1993). Matrix summability of statistically convergent sequences. Analysis, 13, 77-83.
- [21] Korovkin, P. P. (1959). On convergence of linear positive operators in the space of continuous functions (in Russian., Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 90, 961-964.
- [22] Kostyrko, P., Šalát, T. & Wilczyński, W. (2000). *I*-convergence. Real Anal. Exchange, 26, 669-686.
- [23] Kumar, P., Kumar, V. & S Bhatia, S. (2012). Multiple sequences of fuzzy numbers and their statistical convergence. Math. Sci. 6(2), https://doi.org/10.1186/2251-7456-6-2
- [24] Matloka, M. (1986). Sequence of fuzzy number. Busefal, 28, 28-37.
- [25] Mohiuddine, S. A. & Alamri, B. A. S. (2019). Generalization of equi-statistical convergence via weighted lacunary sequence with associated Korovkin and Voronovskaya type approximation theorems. Rev. Real Acad. Cienc. Exactas Fis. Nat. Ser. A-Mat. RACSAM, 113(3), 1955-1973.
- [26] Mohiuddine, S. A., Asiri, A. & Hazarika, B. (2019). Weighted statistical convergence through difference operator of sequences of fuzzy numbers with application to fuzzy approximation theorems. Int. J. Gen. Syst., 48(5), 492-506.
- [27] Mohiuddine, S. A., Hazarika, B. & Alghamdi, M.A. (2019). Ideal relatively uniform convergence with Korovkin and Voronovskaya types approximation theorems. Filomat, 33, 4549-4560.
- [28] Nabiev, A., Pehlivan, S. & Gürdal, M. (2007). On *I*-Cauchy sequences. Taiwanese J. Math., 11, 569-576.
- [29] Nabiev, A.A., Savaş, E. & Gürdal, M. (2019). Statistically localized sequences in metric spaces. J. Appl. Anal. Comput., 9(2), 739-746.
- [30] Nabiev, A.A., Savaş, E. & Gürdal, M. (2020). *I*-localized sequences in metric spaces. Facta Univ. Ser. Math. Inform., 35, 459-469.
- [31] Nakano, H. (1953). Concave modulars. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 5, 29-49.
- [32] Narrania, D. & Kuldip, R. (2023). On lacunary A-statistical convergence of fuzzy sequences of order γ. Advances in Modern Calculus and Functional Analysis: Interdisciplinary Applications, Springer Nature, accepted.
- [33] Puri, M. L. & Ralescu, D. A. (1983). Differentials of fuzzy functions. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 91(2), 552-558.

- [34] Savaş, E. (2001). On statistically convergent sequences of fuzzy numbers. Inf. Sci., 137, 277-282.
- [35] Savaş, E. & Das, P. (2011). A generalized statistical convergence via ideals. Appl. Math. Letters, 24, 826-830.
- [36] Savaş, E. & Gürdal, M. (2015). *I*-statistical convergence in probabilistic normed spaces. Politehn. Univ. Bucharest Sci. Bull. Ser. A Appl. Math. Phys., 77(4), 195-204.
- [37] Savaş, E. & Gürdal, M. (2016). Ideal convergent function sequences in random 2-normed spaces. Filomat, 30(3), 557-567
- [38] Sharma, S., Singh, U. P. & Raj, K. (2021). Applications of deferred Cesàro statistical convergence of sequences of fuzzy numbers of order (ξ, ω) . J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst., 41, 7363-7372.
- [39] Steinhaus, H. (1951). Sur la convergence ordinaire et la convergence asymptotique. Colloq. Math., 2, 73-74.
- [40] Şahiner, A., Gürdal, M. & Düden, F. K. (2007). Triple sequences and their statistical convergence. Selçuk J. Appl. Math., 8, 49-55.
- [41] Şahiner, A., Gürdal, M., Saltan, S.& Gunawan, H. (2007). Ideal convergence in 2-normed spaces. Taiwanese J. Math., 11, 1477-1484.
- [42] Şahiner, A. & Tripathy, B. C. (2008). Some *I*-related properties of triple sequences. Selçuk J. Appl. Math., 9, 9-18.
- [43] Şengül, H. & Et, M. (2014). On lacunary statistical convergence of order α. Acta Math. Sci. (English Ed.), 34, 473-482.
- [44] Şengül, H. & Et, M. (2018). f-lacunary statistical convergence and strong f-lacunary summability of Order α. Filomat, 32, 4513-4521.
- [45] Yamancı, U. & Gürdal, M. (2014). *I*-statistical convergence in 2-normed space. Arab J. Math. Sci., 20, 41-47.
- [46] Zadeh, L. A. (1965). Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control, 8, 338-353.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BURDUR MEHMET AKIF ERSOY UNIVERSITY, BURDUR, TÜRKIYE

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BARTIN UNIVERSITY, 74100, BARTIN, TÜRKIYE

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, SULEYMAN DEMIREL UNIVERSITY, 32260, ISPARTA, TÜRKIYE



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:227-246

E-ISSN: 2636-7467

www.simadp.com/journalmim

LORENTZIAN β -KENMOTSU MANIFOLD ADMITTING GENERALIZED TANAKA-WEBSTER CONNECTION

ABHISHEK SINGH 0 , RAJENDRA PRASAD 0 , AND LALIT KUMAR 0 *

ABSTRACT. In this manuscript, we investigate Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting generalized Tanaka-Webster connection (GTWC) $\widetilde{\nabla}$. We study curvature tensor and its properties with respect to the above connection. Further, we study the connection on extended generalized φ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold. We also investigate the properties of projectively flat, ζ -projectively flat and η -parallel φ -tensor on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$. Moreover, we study Ricci soliton on the above manifold with respect to the connection (GTWC). Finally, we give an example of 3-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold verifying our results.

Keywords: Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold, generalized Tanaka-Webster connection, generalized η -Einstein manifold, Ricci soliton, projectively flat.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 53C05, 53C20, 53C25, Secondary 53D15.

1. INTRODUCTION

The semi-Riemannian geometry [29] fascinates the researchers because of its abilities to determine the several problems of science, technology, medical and their related areas. A differentiable manifold \mathfrak{M} of dimension (2n + 1) equipped with a semi-Riemannian metric g, whose signature is (p,q), (p+q=2n+1), referred to as (2n+1)-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold. In particular, if we replace p by 1 and q by 2n, then the semi-Riemannian manifold

Received:2024.08.21 Revised:2024.10.19 Accepted:2024.11.20

Abhishek Singh & abhi.rmlau@gmail.com & https://orcid.org/0009-0007-6784-7395

Rajendra Prasad & rp.lucknow@rediffmail.com & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7502-0239

Lalit Kumar https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4968-3685.

^{*} Corresponding author

 \mathfrak{M} reduces into Lorentzian manifold. The basic characterization of the vectors in a Lorentzian manifold were the starting point to study the geometry of it. As a reason, Lorentzian manifold \mathfrak{M} is the finest choice for the researchers to study the general theory of relativity and cosmological models. The material substance of the cosmos is referred to behave like a perfect fluid space-time in standard cosmological models. In describing the gravity of the space-time, the Riemannian curvature \mathfrak{R} , the Ricci tensor \mathcal{S} , and the scalar curvature \mathfrak{r} play an essential role.

In the Gray-Hervella classification of almost Hermitian manifolds [7], there appears a class \mathcal{W}_4 , of Hermitian manifolds which are closely related to locally conformal Kähler manifolds [5]. An almost contact metric structure $(\varphi, \zeta, \eta, g)$ on \mathfrak{M} is referred to as trans-Sasakian structure [15] if $(\mathfrak{M} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathcal{J}, \mathcal{G})$ belongs to the class \mathcal{W}_4 [7], where \mathcal{J} is the almost complex structure on $\mathfrak{M} \times \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\mathcal{J}\left(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\frac{fd}{dt}\right) = \left(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1} - f\zeta,\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\frac{fd}{dt}\right)$$

for all vector fields \mathfrak{U}_1 on \mathfrak{M} , smooth functions f on $\mathfrak{M} \times \mathbb{R}$ and \mathcal{G} is the product metric on $\mathfrak{M} \times \mathbb{R}$. This can be defined by [4]

$$(\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\varphi)\mathfrak{U}_2 = \alpha(g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_1) + \beta(g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1)$$
(1.1)

for some smooth functions α , β on \mathfrak{M} and we say that the trans-Sasakian structure is of type (α, β) .

The concept of α -Sasakian and β -Kenmotsu manifolds was initiated by Janssens and Vanhecke in 1981, where α and β are non-zero real numbers. We know that [11] trans-Sasakian structure of type $(0,0), (0,\beta)$, and $(\alpha,0)$ are cosymplectic [3, 4], β -Kenmotsu, and α -Sasakian, respectively. Marrero [13] proved that a trans-Sasakian manifold of dimension $n \geq 5$ is either cosymplectic or α -Sasakian or β -Kenmotsu manifold.

Tanno [25] studied the generalized Tanaka-Webster connection (GTWC) for contact metric manifolds by using the canonical connection. This connection coincides with the Tanaka-Webster connection if the associated CR-structure is integrable. Using this connection, some characterizations of real hypersurfaces in complex space forms [23] have been studied by few geometers. Recently, many authors [6, 12, 16, 18, 20, 22] studied generalized Tanaka-Webster connection (GTWC) in Kenmotsu manifolds.

Hamilton [8] introduced the theory of Ricci flow to establish a canonical metric on a smooth manifold in 1982. The Ricci flow is an evolution equation for metrics on a Riemannian manifold defined by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{ij}(t) = -2\Re_{ij}$$

A Ricci soliton (g, \mathcal{V}, Θ) on a Riemannian manifold (\mathfrak{M}, g) is a generalization of an Einstein metric such that it satisfies the following condition [9, 10]:

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{V}}g + 2\mathcal{S} + 2\Theta g = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

where S is the Ricci tensor, $\mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{V}}$ is the Lie derivative operator along the vector field \mathcal{V} on (\mathfrak{M}, g) and Θ is a real number. The Ricci soliton (g, \mathcal{V}, Θ) is said to be shrinking, steady, and expanding according to $\Theta < 0, \Theta = 0$, and $\Theta > 0$, respectively.

In this paper, we have taken β as a real constant. Motivated by above studies, the present work is classified as follows: After the introduction, we give a brief account of Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold in section 2. In section 3, we study the expressions for curvature tensor and some results on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold with respect to GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$. In section 4, we also study extended generalized φ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$. In section 5, we investigate the properties of projectively flat, ζ -projectively flat and η -parallel φ -tensor on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold with respect to the GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$. Moreover, in section 6, we study Ricci soliton on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$. In the last section, we give an example of 3-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold with respect to the GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$ varifying our results.

2. Preliminaries

A differentiable manifold of dimension (2n + 1) is referred to as Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold if it admits a (1, 1)-tensor field φ , a contravariant vector field ζ , a covariant vector field η and Lorentzian metric g which satisfy

$$\eta(\zeta) = -1, \quad \varphi\zeta = 0, \quad \eta(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1) = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

$$\varphi^2(\mathfrak{U}_1) = \mathfrak{U}_1 + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\zeta, \quad g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\zeta) = \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1), \tag{2.4}$$

$$g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2), \quad g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2)$$
(2.5)

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$, where $\mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$ is a set of all smooth vector fields on \mathfrak{M} . Then such a quartet $(\varphi, \zeta, \eta, g)$ is known as Lorentzian para-contact quartet and the manifold \mathfrak{M} with a Lorentzian para-contact quartet is referred to as a Lorentzian para-contact manifold [14, 19, 21].

On a Lorentzian para-contact manifold, we also have

$$(\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\varphi)\mathfrak{U}_2 = \beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1]$$
(2.6)

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$, where ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection with respect to the Lorentzian metric g. Therefore a Lorentzian para-contact manifold satisfying (2.6) is referred to as a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold [27].

On a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M} , the following relations hold [1, 2]:

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\zeta = \beta[\mathfrak{U}_1 - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\zeta],\tag{2.7}$$

$$(\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\eta)\mathfrak{U}_2 = \beta[g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)], \qquad (2.8)$$

$$\eta(\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3) = \beta^2 [g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_3)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2) - g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)],$$
(2.9)

$$\Re(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta = \beta^2[\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_1], \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\Re(\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 = \beta^2[\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_1 - g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta], \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\zeta) = -2n\beta^2\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1),\tag{2.12}$$

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2), \tag{2.13}$$

$$\mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{U}_1 = -2n\beta^2\mathfrak{U}_1, \qquad (2.14)$$

$$\mathfrak{Q}\zeta = -2n\beta^2\zeta,\tag{2.15}$$

$$\mathcal{S}(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\mathfrak{Q}\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2). \tag{2.16}$$

Using (2.5), (2.13), (2.14) and $\mathfrak{Q}\varphi = \varphi \mathfrak{Q}$, we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2) = \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) - 2n\beta^2\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2), \qquad (2.17)$$

$$\mathcal{S}(\zeta,\zeta) = 2n\beta^2 \tag{2.18}$$

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$. Where $\mathfrak{R}, \mathcal{S}$, and \mathfrak{Q} denote the curvature tensor of type (1,3), Ricci tensor of type (0,2), and Ricci operator, respectively with respect to the connection ∇ .

Definition 2.1. The projective curvature tensor \mathcal{P} in (2n + 1)-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M} with respect to the connection ∇ is defined by

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 - \frac{1}{2n}[g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{O}\mathfrak{U}_1 - g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{O}\mathfrak{U}_2]$$
(2.19)

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$ The manifold is said to be projectively flat if \mathcal{P} vanishes identically on \mathfrak{M} .

Definition 2.2. A (2n + 1)-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold is said to be ζ -projectively flat with respect to Levi-Civita connection ∇ if

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta = 0 \tag{2.20}$$

231

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$

Definition 2.3. If the (1,1) tensor φ is η -parallel in a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} , then we have

$$g((\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\varphi)\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = 0 \tag{2.21}$$

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$

3. The generalized Tanaka-Webster connection (GTWC) $\widetilde{\nabla}$

Tanno defined the generalized Tanaka-Webster connection (GTWC) $\widetilde{\nabla}$ for contact metric manifolds. It is given by [24]

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2} = \nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2} + (\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\eta)(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\zeta - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2}$$
(3.22)

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$

By virtue of (2.7) and (2.8), equation (3.22) takes the form

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2} = \nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2} + \beta g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta - \beta \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2}.$$
(3.23)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by ζ in (3.23) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.7), we have

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\zeta = 2\beta\mathfrak{U}_1. \tag{3.24}$$

Now

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\varphi)(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2}) - \varphi(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2}).$$
(3.25)

Using (2.6) and (3.23) in (3.25), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\varphi)(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) = \beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\mathfrak{U}_{2} + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta.$$
(3.26)

Now

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\eta)(\mathfrak{U}_2) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2) - \eta(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\mathfrak{U}_2).$$
(3.27)

Using (3.23) in (3.27), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\eta)(\mathfrak{U}_2) = 2\beta g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2).$$
(3.28)

Now

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}g)(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) - g(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) - g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\mathfrak{U}_3).$$
(3.29)

Using (3.23) in (3.29), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}g)(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = 2\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) \neq 0.$$
(3.30)

Thus we can state the following :

Theorem 3.1. The GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ on a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold is a non-metric connection.

Now the torsion tensor $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ of the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is given as:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\mathfrak{U}_2 - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_2}\mathfrak{U}_1 - [\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2].$$
(3.31)

Using (3.23) in (3.31), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = \beta\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 - \beta\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_1 - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2 + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1.$$
(3.32)

Now we have the following:

Theorem 3.2. The GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ on a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold associated to the connection ∇ of \mathfrak{M} is just the only one affine connection, which is non-metric and its torsion has the form (3.32)

Let \mathfrak{R} and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}$ denote the curvature tensors of the connections ∇ and $\widetilde{\nabla}$, respectively. Then

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_2}\mathfrak{U}_3 - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_2}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\mathfrak{U}_3 - \widetilde{\nabla}_{[\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2]}\mathfrak{U}_3.$$
(3.33)

Using (2.3), (2.4), (2.5), (2.6), (2.7) and (3.23) in (3.33), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} + 3\beta^{2}[g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2}] \\ -2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\zeta].$$
(3.34)

Contracting (3.34), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) + 6n\beta^2 g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) - 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3).$$
(3.35)

Using (2.13) in (3.35), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{Q}}\mathfrak{U}_2 = \mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{U}_2 + 6n\beta^2\mathfrak{U}_2 - 2\beta(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2).$$
(3.36)

Contracting (3.35), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{r}} = \mathfrak{r} + 6n(2n+1)\beta^2 - 2\beta\Psi, \qquad (3.37)$$

where $\Psi = trace(\varphi)$.

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_3 by ζ in (3.34) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.10), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta = -2\beta^2[\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_1] = -2\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta.$$
(3.38)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_1 by ζ , \mathfrak{U}_2 by \mathfrak{U}_1 and \mathfrak{U}_3 by \mathfrak{U}_2 in (3.34) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.11), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 = -2[\mathfrak{R}(\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 + \beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta].$$
(3.39)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_3 by ζ in (3.35) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.12), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\zeta) = 4n\beta^2\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2). \tag{3.40}$$

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by ζ in (3.36) and using (2.3), (2.15), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{Q}}\zeta = 4n\beta^2\zeta. \tag{3.41}$$

Taking the cyclic permutation of $\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2$ and \mathfrak{U}_3 in (3.34), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} + 3\beta^{2}[g(\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\mathfrak{U}_{2} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\mathfrak{U}_{3}] -2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{3})\zeta - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta]$$
(3.42)

and

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\mathfrak{U}_{2} = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{1})\mathfrak{U}_{2} + 3\beta^{2}[g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{1}] -2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\zeta - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{3})\zeta].$$
(3.43)

Using Bianchi's first identity in the addition of (3.34), (3.42) and (3.43), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 + \widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_1 + \widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_3,\mathfrak{U}_1)\mathfrak{U}_2 = 0.$$
(3.44)

Hence we give the following:

Theorem 3.3. The curvature tensor of a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ satisfies the equation (3.44).

4. Extended generalized φ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$

Definition 4.1. A Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold is said to be an extended generalized φ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold if its curvature tensor \Re satisfies the relation

$$\varphi^{2}((\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{R})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3}) = \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})\varphi^{2}(\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3}) +\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})\varphi^{2}[g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2}]$$
(4.45)

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3, \mathcal{W} \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$ Where $\mathcal{A}, \mathfrak{B}$ are two non-vanishing 1-forms such that $g(\mathcal{W}, \rho_1) = \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})$ and $g(\mathcal{W}, \rho_2) = \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})$ for all $\mathcal{W} \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$ with ρ_1 and ρ_2 being the vector fields associated 1-forms \mathcal{A} and \mathfrak{B} , respectively [17].

Suppose an extended generalized ϕ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$. Then from definition (4.1), we have

$$\varphi^{2}((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3}) = \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})\varphi^{2}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3}) + \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})\varphi^{2}[g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2}].$$
(4.46)

Using (2.4) in (4.46), we have

$$(\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{R})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} = -\eta((\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{R})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})\zeta + \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})[\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} + \eta(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})\zeta] + \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})[g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2} + g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\zeta - g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta].$$

$$(4.47)$$

Taking inner product in (4.47) with \mathcal{V} and using (2.4), we have

$$g((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathcal{V}) = -\eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathcal{V}) \\ +\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})[g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathcal{V}) \\ +\eta(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathcal{V})] \\ +\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})[g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathcal{V}) \\ -g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{V}) \\ +g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\eta(\mathcal{V}) \\ -g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\eta(\mathcal{V})].$$
(4.48)

Let $\{\varsigma_1, \varsigma_2, \varsigma_3, ..., \varsigma_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis for the tangent space of \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} at a point $p \in \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1}$. Taking $\mathfrak{U}_1 = \mathcal{V} = \varsigma_i$ and summation over $i \in [1, n]$ in (4.48), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3}) = -\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\varsigma_{i}) \\ +\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})+\eta(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3})] \\ +\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})[2ng(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})-g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})-\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{3})].$$
(4.49)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_3 by ζ in (4.49) and using (2.3), (2.4), (3.39), (3.40), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) = -\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta)\eta(\varsigma_{i}) +4n\beta^{2}\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + 2n\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}).$$
(4.50)

Taking second term of (4.50), we can calculate

$$\eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta) = g(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\zeta) - g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\zeta) - g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\zeta,\zeta).$$
(4.51)

Let $p \in \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1}$, since ς_i is an orthonormal basis, therefore $\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\varsigma_i = 0$ at p. Also

$$g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta,\zeta) = -g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\zeta,\zeta)\mathfrak{U}_2,\varsigma_i) = 0.$$
(4.52)

Since $(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}g) = 0$, we have

$$g(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta,\zeta) + g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta,\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\zeta) = 0.$$

$$(4.53)$$

Using (4.53) in (4.51), we have

$$g((\nabla_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{R})(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\zeta)$$

$$= -g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\zeta) - g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\zeta)$$

$$-g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_{i},\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta,\zeta) - g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_{i},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\zeta,\zeta).$$

$$(4.54)$$

We also know that

$$g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i, \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta, \zeta) = 0 = g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\varsigma_i, \mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta, \zeta).$$

$$(4.55)$$

Using (4.55) in (4.54) and using the fact that \Re is skew-symmetric, we obtain

$$\eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\varsigma_i,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta) = 0.$$
(4.56)

Therefore second term of (4.50) is zero, i.e.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2n+1} \eta((\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}})(\varsigma_i,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta)\eta(\varsigma_i) = 0.$$
(4.57)

Using (4.57) in (4.50), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) = 4n\beta^{2}\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + 2n\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}).$$

$$(4.58)$$

Now we know that

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\zeta).$$
(4.59)

Using (3.24), (3.27) and (3.40) in (4.59), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) = 4n\beta^{2}(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\eta)\mathfrak{U}_{2} - 2\beta\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}) -12n\beta^{3}g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}) + 4\beta^{2}g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}).$$
(4.60)

Using (3.28) in (4.60), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathcal{W}}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}})(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\zeta) = -2\beta\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}) - 4n\beta^{3}g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}) + 4\beta^{2}g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{W}).$$
(4.61)

By virtue of (4.58) and (4.61), we have

$$-\beta \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2}, \mathcal{W}) - 2n\beta^{3}g(\mathfrak{U}_{2}, \mathcal{W}) + 2\beta^{2}g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2}, \mathcal{W})$$
$$= 2n\beta^{2}\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + n\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}).$$
(4.62)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by ζ in (4.62) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.12), we have

$$2n\beta^2 \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W}) + n\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W}) = 0.$$
(4.63)

By virtue of (4.62) and (4.63), we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_2, \mathcal{W}) = -2n\beta^2 g(\mathfrak{U}_2, \mathcal{W}) + 2\beta g(\varphi \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathcal{W}). \tag{4.64}$$

237

Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 4.1. An extended generalized φ -recurrent Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is some class of generalized η -Einstein manifold and the 1-forms \mathcal{A} and \mathfrak{B} are related as $[2\beta^2 \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{W}) + \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{W})] = 0.$

5. Certain conditions on Lorentzian $\beta\text{-}{\rm Kenmotsu}$ manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$

The projective curvature tensor [28] $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}$ on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 = \widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 - \frac{1}{2n}[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_1 - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_2].$$
(5.65)

If projective curvature tensor $\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}$ vanishes, then from (5.65), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 = \frac{1}{2n} [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_1 - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_2].$$
(5.66)

Using (3.34) and (3.35) in (5.66), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Re(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} &- 2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\zeta] \\ &= \frac{1}{2n}[\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1} - \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2} + 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2} \\ &- 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1}]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.67)$$

Taking inner product in (5.67) with \mathcal{V} and using (2.4), we have

$$g(\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathcal{V}) - 2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\eta(\mathcal{V}) - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\eta(\mathcal{V})]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2n}[\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathcal{V}) - \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{V}) + 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathcal{V})$$

$$-2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathcal{V})].$$
(5.68)

Replacing \mathcal{V} by ζ in (5.68) and using (2.3), (2.4), we have

$$\eta(\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3}) - 2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1}) - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2n}[\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1}) - \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})$$

$$-2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})].$$
(5.69)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_1 by ζ in (5.69) and using (2.3), (2.11), (2.12), we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = -2n\beta^2 g(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) - 6n\beta^2 \eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_3) - 2\beta(2n-1)g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3).$$
(5.70)

Thus we have the following:

Theorem 5.1. A projectively flat Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is a generalized η -Einstein manifold.

Definition 5.1. A Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is said to be ζ -projectively flat [26] if

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta=0$$

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}) \text{ orthogonal to } \zeta, \text{ where } \widetilde{\mathcal{P}} \text{ is the projective curvature tensor of the } GTWC$ $\widetilde{\nabla}.$

Using (3.34) and (3.35) in (5.66), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} = \mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})\mathfrak{U}_{3} - \frac{\beta}{n}[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{2} - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\mathfrak{U}_{1}] \\ -2\beta[g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2})\zeta - g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1})\zeta], \qquad (5.71)$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\mathfrak{U}_3 - \frac{1}{2n}[\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_1 - \mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_3)\mathfrak{U}_2]$$
(5.72)

is a projective curvature tensor with respect to the connection ∇ . Putting $\mathfrak{U}_3 = \zeta$ in (5.71) and using (2.3), (2.4), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta = \mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta.$$
(5.73)

Now we give the following:

Theorem 5.2. A (2n + 1)-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\tilde{\nabla}$ is ζ -projectively flat iff the manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} is ζ -projectively flat with respect to the connection ∇ .

Now using (2.10), (2.12) and (5.72) in (5.73), we have

$$\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2)\zeta = 0. \tag{5.74}$$

Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 5.3. A (2n + 1)-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is ζ -projectively flat.

Next if the (1, 1)-tensor φ is η -parallel with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$, then we have

$$g((\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\varphi)\mathfrak{U}_2,\mathfrak{U}_3) = 0 \tag{5.75}$$

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M}).$

By virtue of (3.26) and (5.75), we have

$$\beta g(\varphi \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_3) + g(\mathfrak{U}_2, \mathfrak{U}_3)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1) + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_3) = 0.$$
(5.76)

Taking $\mathfrak{U}_3 = \zeta$ in (5.76) and using (2.3), (2.4), we have

$$g(\varphi \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2) = 0. \tag{5.77}$$

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by $\varphi \mathfrak{U}_2$ in (5.77) and using (2.5), we have

$$g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2) = 0.$$
(5.78)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_1 by $\mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{U}_1$ in (5.78) and using (2.13), (2.14), we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = 2n\beta^2\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2). \tag{5.79}$$

Hence we have the following:

Theorem 5.4. If the (1,1)-tensor φ is η -parallel on the Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$, then the manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} is a special type of η -Einstein manifold.

6. Ricci soliton on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold with GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$

Let (g, ζ, Θ) be a Ricci soliton on Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$. Then we have

$$(\widehat{\mathfrak{L}}_{\zeta}g)(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + 2\widehat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + 2\Theta g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = 0.$$
(6.80)

Now

$$(\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}_{\zeta}g)(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_2) + g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_2}\zeta).$$
(6.81)

Using (3.24) in (6.81), we have

$$(\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}_{\zeta}g)(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = 4\beta g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2).$$
(6.82)

Using (3.35) and (6.82) in (6.80), we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = -(\Theta + 2\beta + 6n\beta^2)g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + 2\beta g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2).$$
(6.83)

Now we give the following:

Theorem 6.1. If (g, ζ, Θ) be a Ricci soliton on a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} with the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$, then the manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} is some class of generalized η -Einstein manifold.

Using (6.82) in (6.80), we have

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) = -(2\beta + \Theta)g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2). \tag{6.84}$$

Contracting (6.84), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{r}} = -(2n+1)(2\beta + \Theta). \tag{6.85}$$

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by ζ in (6.83) and using (2.3), (2.4), (2.12), we have

$$\Theta = -2\beta(1+2n\beta). \tag{6.86}$$

Thus we have the following:

Theorem 6.2. A Ricci soliton (g, ζ, Θ) in a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is either steady or shrinking.

Let (g, \mathcal{V}, Θ) be the Ricci soliton in a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ such that \mathcal{V} is pointwise collinear with ζ , i.e., $\mathcal{V} = \mathfrak{b}\zeta$, where \mathfrak{b} is a function. Then (1.2) holds and follows that

$$\mathfrak{b}g(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\zeta,\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + (\mathfrak{U}_{1}\mathfrak{b})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + \mathfrak{b}g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mathfrak{U}_{2}}\zeta) + (\mathfrak{U}_{2}\mathfrak{b})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1}) + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2}) + 2\Theta g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2}) = 0.$$
(6.87)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_2 by ζ in (6.87) and using (2.3), (2.4), (3.24), (3.40), we have

$$(\mathfrak{U}_{1}\mathfrak{b}) = (2\Theta + \zeta\mathfrak{b} + 4\mathfrak{b}\beta + 4\mathfrak{b}\beta + 8n\beta^{2})\eta(\mathfrak{U}_{1}).$$
(6.88)

Replacing \mathfrak{U}_1 by ζ in (6.88) and using (2.3), we have

$$(\zeta \mathfrak{b}) = -(\Theta + 2\mathfrak{b}\beta + 4n\beta^2). \tag{6.89}$$

Equations (6.88) and (6.89), yield

$$(d\mathfrak{b}) = (\Theta + 2\mathfrak{b}\beta + 4n\beta^2)\eta. \tag{6.90}$$

Applying d on (6.90), we have

$$(\Theta + 2\mathfrak{b}\beta + 4n\beta^2)d\eta = 0. \tag{6.91}$$

Since $d\eta \neq 0$, from (6.91), we have

$$\Theta = -2\beta(\mathfrak{b} + 2n\beta). \tag{6.92}$$

Putting (6.92) in (6.90), we obtain $d\mathfrak{b} = 0$, i.e., \mathfrak{b} is a constant. Hence we have the following:

Theorem 6.3. If (g, \mathcal{V}, Θ) be the Ricci soliton in a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^{2n+1} admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ such that $\mathcal{V} = \mathfrak{b}\zeta$, then \mathcal{V} is a constant multiple of ζ and the Ricci soliton is either steady or shrinking.

7. Example of Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold

Example 7.1. Let $\mathfrak{M} = \{(\mathfrak{t}_1, \mathfrak{t}_2, \mathfrak{t}_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \mathfrak{t}_3 > 0\}$ be a 3-dimensional manifold, where $(\mathfrak{t}_1, \mathfrak{t}_2, \mathfrak{t}_3)$ are the standard coordinates of \mathbb{R}^3 . The vector fields [27]

$$\varsigma_1 = e^{\mathfrak{t}_3} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{t}_2}, \quad \varsigma_2 = e^{\mathfrak{t}_3} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{t}_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{t}_2} \right), \quad \varsigma_3 = \beta \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathfrak{t}_3}$$

are linearly independent at each point of \mathfrak{M} , where β is a real constant. Let g be the Lorentzian metric defined by

$$g(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_2) = g(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_3) = g(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_3) = 0,$$

$$g(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_1) = g(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_2) = -g(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_3) = 1.$$
(7.93)

Let η be the 1-form defined by $\eta(\mathfrak{U}_1) = g(\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{s}_3)$ for any $\mathfrak{U}_1 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$ and φ be the (1, 1)-tensor field defined by

$$\varphi(\varsigma_1) = -\varsigma_2, \quad \varphi(\varsigma_2) = -\varsigma_1, \quad \varphi(\varsigma_3) = 0.$$
 (7.94)

Now using the linearity of φ and g, we have

$$\eta(\varsigma_3) = -1, \quad \varphi^2(\mathfrak{U}_1) = \mathfrak{U}_1 + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\varsigma_3 \tag{7.95}$$

and

$$g(\varphi\mathfrak{U}_1,\varphi\mathfrak{U}_2) = g(\mathfrak{U}_1,\mathfrak{U}_2) + \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\eta(\mathfrak{U}_2) \tag{7.96}$$

 $\forall \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{M})$. Therefore for $\varsigma_3 = \zeta$, the structure $(\varphi, \zeta, \eta, g)$ defines a Lorentzian paracontact structure on \mathfrak{M} . Let ∇ be the Levi-Civita connection with respect to the Lorentzian metric g. Then we have

$$[\varsigma_1, \varsigma_2] = 0, \quad [\varsigma_1, \varsigma_3] = -\beta\varsigma_1, \quad [\varsigma_2, \varsigma_3] = -\beta\varsigma_2. \tag{7.97}$$

We recall Koszul's formula as

$$2g(\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_{1}}\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3}) = \mathfrak{U}_{1}g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3}) + \mathfrak{U}_{2}g(\mathfrak{U}_{3},\mathfrak{U}_{1}) - \mathfrak{U}_{3}g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2})$$
$$-g(\mathfrak{U}_{1},[\mathfrak{U}_{2},\mathfrak{U}_{3}]) - g(\mathfrak{U}_{2},[\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{3}])$$
$$+g(\mathfrak{U}_{3},[\mathfrak{U}_{1},\mathfrak{U}_{2}]).$$
(7.98)

By virtue of (7.98), we have

$$\nabla_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_1 = -\beta\varsigma_3, \quad \nabla_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_2 = 0, \qquad \nabla_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_3 = -\beta\varsigma_1,$$

$$\nabla_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_1 = 0, \qquad \nabla_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_2 = -\beta\varsigma_3, \quad \nabla_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_3 = -\beta\varsigma_2,$$

$$\nabla_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_1 = 0, \qquad \nabla_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_2 = 0, \qquad \nabla_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_3 = 0.$$
(7.99)

Now for $\mathfrak{U}_1 = \mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1 + \mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2 + \mathfrak{U}_1^3\varsigma_3$ and $\zeta = \varsigma_3$, we have

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1}\zeta = \nabla_{\mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1 + \mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2 + \mathfrak{U}_1^3\varsigma_3}\varsigma_3 = -\beta(\mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1 + \mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2) \tag{7.100}$$

and

$$\beta[\mathfrak{U}_1 - \eta(\mathfrak{U}_1)\zeta] = \beta[\mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1 + \mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2 + 2\mathfrak{U}_1^3\varsigma_3], \qquad (7.101)$$

where $\mathfrak{U}_1^1,\mathfrak{U}_1^2$ and \mathfrak{U}_1^3 are scalars.

Now using (7.100) and (7.101), we have

$$2\beta(\mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1+\mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2+\mathfrak{U}_1^3\varsigma_3)=0.$$

Since $(\mathfrak{U}_1^1\varsigma_1 + \mathfrak{U}_1^2\varsigma_2 + \mathfrak{U}_1^3\varsigma_3) \neq 0$, therefore we have

$$\beta = 0. \tag{7.102}$$

Hence it can be easily see that the structure $(\mathfrak{M}^3, \varphi, \zeta, \eta, g)$ is a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold.

By using (7.97) and (7.99), we can obtain the components of the curvature tensor \Re with respect to the connection ∇ as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \Re(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_2)\varsigma_3 &= 0, & \Re(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_3)\varsigma_2 &= 0, & \Re(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_3)\varsigma_1 &= 0, \\ \Re(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_3)\varsigma_3 &= -\beta^2\varsigma_2, & \Re(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_3)\varsigma_3 &= -\beta^2\varsigma_1, & \Re(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_2)\varsigma_2 &= \beta^2\varsigma_1, \\ \Re(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_1)\varsigma_1 &= \beta^2\varsigma_3, & \Re(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_1)\varsigma_1 &= \beta^2\varsigma_2, & \Re(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_2)\varsigma_2 &= \beta^2\varsigma_3. \end{aligned}$$
(7.103)

Along with $\Re(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i)\varsigma_i = 0, \forall i = 1, 2, 3$. By using (7.103), we can verify equations (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11).

Now using (3.23), (7.93), (7.94) and (7.99), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_1 &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_2 &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_1}\varsigma_3 &= 0, \\ \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_1 &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_2 &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_2}\varsigma_3 &= 0, \\ \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_1 &= -\varsigma_2, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_2 &= -\varsigma_1, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_3}\varsigma_3 &= 0. \end{split}$$
(7.104)

By using (3.30) and (3.32), we have

$$(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_1}g)(\varsigma_2,\varsigma_3) = 0, \quad (\widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_2}g)(\varsigma_3,\varsigma_1) = 0, \quad (\widetilde{\nabla}_{\varsigma_3}g)(\varsigma_1,\varsigma_2) = 2 \neq 0$$

and also, we have

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\varsigma_1,\varsigma_2) = 0, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\varsigma_1,\varsigma_3) = \beta\varsigma_1 - \varsigma_2, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\varsigma_2,\varsigma_3) = \beta\varsigma_2 + \varsigma_1.$$

Along with $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i) = 0$; $\forall i = 1, 2, 3$. Hence \mathfrak{M}^3 is a 3-dimensional Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ which is a non-metric connection.

Now using (3.33), (7.97) and (7.104), we can easily obtain the components of curvature tensor $\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}$ with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ as follows:

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i,\varsigma_j)\varsigma_k = 0 \tag{7.105}$$

 $\forall i, j, k = 1, 2, 3$. In view of (7.105), we can verify equations (3.34), (3.38), (3.39), (3.42), (3.43) and (3.44). Therefore it is clear that the Theorem (3.3) is well satisfied. The Ricci tensor $S(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_k)$; j, k = 1, 2, 3 of the connection ∇ can be calculated as under:

$$S(\varsigma_j,\varsigma_k) = \sum_{i=1}^3 g(\mathfrak{R}(\varsigma_i,\varsigma_j)\varsigma_k,\varsigma_i)$$

It follows that

$$\mathcal{S}(\varsigma_1,\varsigma_1) = 0, \quad \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_2,\varsigma_2) = 0, \quad \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_3,\varsigma_3) = -2\beta^2.$$
(7.106)

Along with $S(\varsigma_j, \varsigma_k) = 0$; $\forall (j \neq k) = 1, 2, 3$. By virtue of (7.106), we can verify equations (4.64), (5.70) and (5.79).

The Ricci tensor $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_j,\varsigma_k)$; j,k=1,2,3 of the connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ can be calculated as under:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_j,\varsigma_k) = \sum_{i=1}^3 g(\widetilde{\mathfrak{R}}(\varsigma_i,\varsigma_j)\varsigma_k,\varsigma_i)$$

It follows that

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_j,\varsigma_k) = 0 \tag{7.107}$$

 $\forall j, k = 1, 2, 3.$

By virtue of (7.107), we can verify equations (3.35) and (3.40).

The scalar curvature \mathfrak{r} is given by

$$\mathfrak{r} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} g(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i) \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i)$$

= $g(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_1) \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_1) + g(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_2) \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_2) + g(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_3) \mathcal{S}(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_3)$
= $2\beta^2$. (7.108)

Also, the scalar curvature $\widetilde{\mathfrak{r}}$ is given by

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{r}} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} g(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i) \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_i, \varsigma_i)$$

= $g(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_1) \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_1, \varsigma_1) + g(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_2) \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_2, \varsigma_2) + g(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_3) \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}(\varsigma_3, \varsigma_3)$
= 0. (7.109)

If (g, ζ, Θ) be the Ricci soliton on \mathfrak{M}^3 with respect to the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$, then from (7.109) and (6.85), we have

$$-(2n+1)(2\beta+\Theta) = 0,$$

i.e.

$$\Theta = -2\beta. \tag{7.110}$$

Thus the Ricci soliton (g, ζ, Θ) on a Lorentzian β -Kenmotsu manifold \mathfrak{M}^3 admitting the GTWC $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is steady, expanding, and shrinking according to $\beta = 0, \beta < 0, \text{ and } \beta > 0,$ respectively. Hence Theorem (6.2) is verified.

Acknowledgments. This work is supported by Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), India, under Senior Research Fellowship with File No. 09/703(0007)/2020-EMR-I.

References

- Bagewadi, C. S., & Girish Kumar, E. (2004). Note on trans-Sasakian manifolds. Tensor. N. S., (65)1, 80-88.
- [2] Bagewadi, C. S. & Venkatesha. (2007). Some curvature tensors on trans-Sasakian manifolds. Turk. J. Math., 30, 1-11.
- [3] Blair, D. E. (1976). Contact manifolds in Riemannian geometry, Lecture Notes in Math. Springer-Verlag, 509.
- [4] Blair, D. E., & Oubiña, J. A. (1990). Conformal and related changes of metric on the product of two almost contact metric manifolds. Publications Matematiques, 34, 199-207.
- [5] Dragomir, S., & Ornea, L. (1998). Locally conformal Kaehler geometry. Progress in Mathematics, 155, Birkhauser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA.
- [6] Ghosh, G., & De, U. C. (2017). Kenmotsu manifolds with generalized Tanaka-Webster connection. Publications de l'Institut Mathematique-Beograd, 102, 221-230.
- [7] Gray, A., & Hervella, L. M. (1980). The sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds and their linear invariants. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, (123)4, 35-58.
- [8] Hamilton, R. S. (1982). Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature. J. Differential Geometry, (17)2, 255-306.
- [9] Hamilton, R. S. (1988). The Ricci flow on surfaces, mathematics and general relativity. Contemp. Math., 71, 237-262.
- [10] Haseeb, A., & Prasad, R. (2019). η-Ricci solitons on (ε)-LP-Sasakian manifolds with a Quarter-symmetric metric connection. Honam Mathematical Journal, (41)3, 539-558.
- [11] Janssens, D. & Vanhecke, L. (1981). Almost contact structures and curvature tensors. Kodai Math. J., 4, 1-27.
- [12] Kiran Kumar, D. L., Uppara, M., & Savithri, S. (2021). Study on Kenmotsu manifolds admitting generalized Tanaka-webster connection. Italian Journal of pure and applied Mathematics, 46, 1-8.
- [13] Marrero, J. C. (1992). The local structure of trans-Sasakian manifolds. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl., (162)4, 77-86.
- [14] Matsumoto, K. (1989). On a Lorentzian paracontact manifolds. Bull. of Yamagata Univ. Nat. Sci., 12, 151-156.
- [15] Oubiña, J. A. (1985). New classes of contact metric structures. Publ. Math. Debrecen, (32)3 & 4, 187-193.
- [16] Perktas, S. Y., Acet, B. E., & Killic, E. (2013). Kenmotsu manifolds with generalized Tanaka-Webster connection. Adiyaman University Journal of Science, 3, 79-93.
- [17] Prakasha, D. G. (2013). On extended generalized φ-recurrent Sasakian manifolds. J. Egyptian Math. Soc., (21)1, 25-31.

- [18] Prakasha, D. G. & Hadimani, B. S. (2018). On the conharmonic curvature tensor of Kenmotsu manifolds with generalized Tanaka-Webster connection. Miskolc Mathematical Notes, (19)1, 491-503.
- [19] Prasad, R., Haseeb, A., & Gautam, U. K. (2021). On φ-semi-symmetric LP-Kenmotsu manifolds with a QSNM-connection admitting Ricci solitons. Kragujevac Journal of Mathematics, (45)5, 815-827.
- [20] Singh, A., Mishra, C. K., Kumar, L., & Patel, S. (2022). Characterization of the Kenmotsu manifolds admitting a non-symmetric non-metric connection. International Academy of Physical Sciences, (26)3, 265-274.
- [21] Singh, A., Kishor, S., Pankaj, & Kumar, L. (2023). Characterization of the LP-Sasakian manifolds admitting a new type of semi-symmetric non-metric connection. Ganita, (73)2, 149-163.
- [22] Singh, A., Das, L. S., Prasad, R. & Kumar, L. (2024). Some Properties of Kenmotsu manifolds admitting a new type of semi-symmetric non-metric connection. Communications in Mathematics and Applications, (15)1, 145-160.
- [23] Takagi, R. (1975). Real hypersurfaces in complex projective space with constant principal curvatures. J. Math. Soc. Japan, (27), 45-53.
- [24] Tanno, S. (1969). The automorphism groups of almost contact Riemannian manifold. Tohoku Math. J., (21), 21-38.
- [25] Tanno, S. (1989). Variational problems on contact Riemannian manifolds. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, (314), 349-379.
- [26] Thangmawia, L., & Kumar, R. (2020). Semi-symmetric metric connection on Homothetic Kenmotsu manifolds. J. Sci. Res., (12)3, 223-232.
- [27] Yaliniz, A. F., Yildiz, A., & Turan, M. (2009). On three dimensional Lorentzian β-Kenmotsu manifolds. Kuwait J. Sci. Eng., 36, 51-62.
- [28] Yano, K., & Kon, M. (1984). Structures on manifolds. Series in Pure Mathematics, 3.
- [29] Zeren, S., Yildiz, A., & Perktas, S. Y. (2022). Characterizations of Lorentzian para-Sasakian manifolds with respect to the Schouten-Van Kampen connection. Hagia Sophia Journal of Geometry, (4)2, 1-10.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, DR. RAMMANOHAR LOHIA AVADH UNIVERSITY, AYODHYA-224001, U.P., INDIA

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND ASTRONOMY, UNIVERSITY OF LUCKNOW, LUCKNOW-226007, INDIA.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, DR. RAMMANOHAR LOHIA AVADH UNIVERSITY, AYODHYA-224001, U.P., INDIA



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:247-257 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

A CLASS OF INDEFINITE ALMOST PARACONTACT METRIC MANIFOLDS

S. SUNITHA DEVI ⁽⁾ * AND K. L. SAI PRASAD ⁽⁾

ABSTRACT. This research, we develop a new class of indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds, termed (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifolds and we obtain some typical identities for the curvature tensor, scalar curvature and Ricci tensor. Furthermore, in particular, we investigate the curvature features of *three*-dimensional (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifolds. We establish an essential as well as sufficient condition for an (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifold to have an indefinite space form. Furthermore, we classify and demonstrate that (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3manifolds, which are either semi-symmetric, Ricci-semi-symmetric or semi-symmetric type, are η -Einstein. In conclusion, we create a 3-D (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold example. **Keywords**: Indefinite almost paracontact metric manifold, Ricci semi-symmetric manifold, (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold, semi-symmetric and η -Einstein manifolds.

1. INTRODUCTION

With an emphasis on Sasakian manifolds, Takahashi [16] introduced almost contact manifolds equipped with pseudo-Riemannian metrics in 1969. The terms (ϵ)-almost contact metric and (ϵ)-Sasakian have also been used to refer to indefinite almost contact metric manifolds and the indefinite Sasakian manifolds, respectively. The (ϵ)-Kenmotsu manifold which has

Received:2024.07.24

Revised:2024.09.22

Accepted:2024.12.04

* Corresponding author

 $\label{eq:seelam} Seelam Sunitha Devi \diamond sunithamallakula@yahoo.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0398-0556\\ Kothuri Lakshmi Sai Prasad \diamond klsprasad@gvpcew.ac.in \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8447-008X \ .$
been introduced by De and Sarkar [1] is based on a class of almost contact Riemannian manifolds called Kenmotsu manifolds [3]. They proved that the curvatures are influenced by the presence of a new structure with indefinite metrics.

On the other hand, in 1976, Sato [12] defined the notions of an almost paracontact structure, which is similar to the almost contact structure. By replacing the vector field ξ in almost paracontact manifold with $-\xi$, Matsumoto [4] first proposed the concept of Lorentzian almost paracontact in 1989. Lorentzian para-Sasakian (*LP*-Sasakian) manifolds connected to the Lorentzian metric are the outcome of this. While the structural vector field ξ is always timelike, the semi-Riemannian metric in a Lorentzian almost paracontact manifold has only an index of 1. Abdul Haseeb along with Rajendra Prasad [2] defined Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu (also called *LP*-Kenmotsu) manifolds in 2018. Afterward, numerous geometers, including [7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 14, 18], have extensively investigated these manifolds.

Inspired by these studies, Tripathi *et al.*, [17] presented the notion of an indefinite almost paracontact metric structure, also referred to as an (ϵ)-almost paracontact structure, by linking an almost paracontact structure with a semi-Riemannian metric, which need not be Lorentzian. In this instance, $\epsilon = 1$ or $\epsilon = -1$ indicates that the structure vector field ξ is either space-like or time-like. In addition, they introduced and examined the characteristics of (ϵ)-para Sasakian [17] and (ϵ)-para Sasakian 3-manifolds [6].

Inspired by the prior study, the current paper continues the discussion of indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds, introducing the idea of (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifolds based on para-Kenmotsu manifolds, defined by Sinha and Sai Prasad in 1995 [13].

The format of the paper is as follows: We define an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold, investigate some of its fundamental characteristics and derive some typical identities for the Ricci tensor, scalar curvature, and curvature tensor in Section-2. Furthermore, we explore the curvature features of (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu three-dimensional manifolds. We attained an essential as well as sufficient condition for an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu 3-dimensional manifold M_3 to have an indefinite space form. Furthermore, in Sections 3, 4, and 5, we classify and demonstrate that (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu 3-manifolds, which are either semi-symmetric, Ricci-semi-symmetric, or semi-symmetric type, are η -Einstein. In conclusion, we create a 3-D (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold example.

2. (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifolds

A differentiable manifold (M_n, g) of *n*-dimension is regarded as an (ϵ) -almost paracontact metric manifold [17] with the structure tensors $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g, \epsilon)$, where the tensor field (1, 1)is represented by ϕ , the vector field by ξ , the 1-form by η , the semi-Riemannian metric by g(X, Y), not necessarily Lorentzian, such that

$$\eta(\xi) = 1,\tag{2.1}$$

$$\overline{X} = X - \eta(X)\xi, \text{ where } \overline{X} = \phi X,$$
 (2.2)

$$g(\xi, \xi) = \epsilon, \tag{2.3}$$

$$g(X, \xi) = \epsilon \eta(X), \qquad (2.4)$$

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Y); \qquad (2.5)$$

for every $X, Y \in \chi(M_n)$, and $\chi(M_n)$ is a collection of differentiable vector fields on M_n . Since the structure vector field ξ which has been vector field that is either space-like or time-like, and the rank of that tensor filed ϕ is (n-1), in this case, (ϵ) is either 1 or -1. If g(X, Y) is positive definite, that is

$$d\eta(X, Y) = g(X, \phi Y), \tag{2.6}$$

then the manifold M_n is referred as an almost paracontact metric manifold [12]. Evidently, on M_n , we have

$$\phi \xi = 0, \ \eta(\phi X) = 0.$$
 (2.7)

Definition 2.1. An (ϵ) -paracontact metric structure is referred to as an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu structure if

$$(\nabla_X \Phi)Y = g \ (X, \phi Y)\xi - \epsilon \ \eta(Y)\phi X, \tag{2.8}$$

where, for all vector fields X and Y, the Levi-Civita connection is given by ∇ with regard to the indefinite metric g(X, Y). An (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold is a manifold M_n with the (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu structure.

For $\epsilon = 1$ and the Riemannian metric g(X, Y), the manifold M_n is the standard para-Kenmotsu manifold.

An (ϵ)-almost paracontact metric manifold is an (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold if and only if

$$\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon \ \phi^2(X) = \epsilon \ (X - \eta(X)\xi). \tag{2.9}$$

Furthermore, from (2.4), we get

$$(\nabla_X \eta) Y = \epsilon g(\nabla_X \xi, Y).$$

Then by using the above expression and (2.9), we have

$$(\nabla_X \eta) Y = \epsilon g(X, Y) - \eta(X) \eta(Y).$$
(2.10)

Lemma 2.1. Let M_n be an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold. Then, the type (1,3) Riemannian Christoffel curvature tensor R(X,Y) satisfies

$$R (X, Y)\xi = \eta(X) Y - \eta(Y) X.$$
(2.11)

Consequently,

$$R (\xi, X) Y = \epsilon \eta(Y) X - g(X, Y) \xi, \qquad (2.12)$$

$$R (\xi, X)\xi = \epsilon X - \epsilon \eta(X) \xi, \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\eta(R(X,Y) \ Z) = \ \epsilon \ g(X, \ Z) \ \eta(Y) - \epsilon \ \eta(X) \ g(Y, \ Z), \tag{2.14}$$

$$S(Y, \xi) = -(n-1) \eta(Y), \qquad (2.15)$$

for all vector fields X, Y and Z, where S(X, Y) denotes the Ricci tensor and Q is known to be the Ricci operator with regard to ∇ .

Proof. By using the equations (2.9), (2.1), and (2.10) in

$$R(X, Y) \xi = \nabla_X \nabla_Y \xi - \nabla_Y \nabla_X \xi - \nabla_{[X, Y]} \xi,$$

we obtain (2.11). Moreover, we have

$$R(X, Y, Z, W) = g(X, Z) g(Y, W) - g(Y, Z) g(X, W).$$

Then, by using (2.4) and from the above expression, we obtain the results (2.12), (2.13), and (2.14). Further, on the contraction of the above expression with respect to X and W, we get (2.15), and hence it completes the proof. \Box

Furthermore, it is recognized that we have in a semi-Riemannian 3-manifold

$$R (X, Y)Z = g(X, Z) QY - g(Y, Z) QX + S(X, Z)Y - S(Y, Z)X - \frac{r}{2} [g(X, Z)Y - g(Y, Z)X],$$
(2.16)

where r is the manifold's scalar curvature.

By substituting ξ for Z in (2.16) as well as utilizing the equation (2.11) for n = 3, we have

$$\epsilon \left[\eta(Y) \ QX - \eta(X) \ QY\right] = \left[3 + \frac{r\epsilon}{2}\right] \left[\eta(Y) \ X - \eta(X) \ Y\right]. \tag{2.17}$$

Then for $Y = \xi$ in (2.17) and utilizing (2.2) & (2.15), we get

$$QX = \frac{1}{2}(r+6\epsilon) \ X - \frac{1}{2}(r+10\epsilon) \ \eta(X) \ \xi,$$

and hence

$$S(X, Y) = g(QX, Y) = \frac{1}{2} [(r+6\epsilon) g(X, Y) - \epsilon (r+10\epsilon) \eta(X) \eta(Y)].$$
(2.18)

Therefore from (2.16) and (2.18)

$$R(X, Y) Z = [g(X, Z) Y - g(Y, Z) X] [\frac{r}{2} + 6\epsilon] + [g(Y, Z) \eta(X) \xi - g(X, Z) \eta(Y) \xi + \epsilon \eta(Y) \eta(Z) X - \epsilon \eta(X) \eta(Z) Y] [\frac{r}{2} + 5\epsilon].$$
(2.19)

It demonstrates that an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold with constant scalar curvature is an indefinite space form.

Lemma 2.2. If the scalar curvature of an (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold of dimension 3 is -6ϵ , then the manifold has an indefinite space form. Also, the converse.

Proof. Consider a 3-D (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold M_3 which has an indefinite space form. Then

$$R(X, Y) Z = c [g(X, Z) Y - g(Y, Z) X],$$
(2.20)

where c represents the manifold's constant curvature. Using the definition of Ricci curvature as well as equation (2.20), we get

$$S(X, Y) = 2c g(X, Y).$$
(2.21)

Utilizing (2.21) in the scalar curvature definition yields

$$r = 6c. (2.22)$$

Next, it is evident from (2.21) and (2.22) that

$$S(X, Y) = \frac{r}{3} g(X, Y).$$
(2.23)

Using (2.23) and entering $X = Y = \xi$ in (2.18), we get

$$r = -6\epsilon. \tag{2.24}$$

On the other hand, the proof is completed if $r = -6\epsilon$, in which case the manifold is clearly an indefinite space form as shown by equation (2.19).

Theorem 2.1. Each (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold of dimension 3 is η -Einstein.

Proof. The theorem's proof is derived from (2.18) and (2.11).

3. Semi-symmetric (
$$\epsilon$$
)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifolds

Definition 3.1. An (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold of dimension 3 is semi-symmetric [15] if

$$R(X, Y) \cdot R = 0, \tag{3.25}$$

holds for all vector fields X and Y.

Theorem 3.1. M_3 is an η -Einstein manifold, if it is a semi-symmetric (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifold.

Proof. Consider

$$(R(X,Y) \cdot R) (Z,W,U) = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

for all vector fields X, Y, Z, and U.

The above equation implies that

$$(R(X, Y, R (Z, W, U)) - R(R(X, Y, Z), W, U) - R(Z, R(X, Y, W), U) - R(Z, W, R(X, Y)U) = 0.$$
(3.27)

Afterward, specifically for $X = \xi$, we have

$$(R(\xi, Y, R (Z, W, U)) - R(R(\xi, Y, Z), W, U) - R(Z, R(\xi, Y, W), U) - R(Z, W, R(\xi, Y)U) = 0.$$
(3.28)

Using the aforementioned equation along with (2.12) and (2.14), we now obtain

$${}^{\prime}R(Z, W, U, Y)\xi = \epsilon g(Z, U) \eta(W)Y - \epsilon g(W, U) \eta(Z)Y - \epsilon \eta(Z) R(Y, W, U)$$

$$+ g(Y,Z) R(\xi, W, U) - \epsilon \eta(W) R(Z, Y, U) + g(Y, W) R(Z, \xi, U)$$

$$- \epsilon \eta(U) R(Z, W, Y) + g(Y, U) R(Z, W, \xi).$$

$$(3.29)$$

Then by using equations (2.11), (2.12), (2.14), and the inner product with ξ , the above equation is reduced to

$$'R(Z, W, U, Y) = g(Y, W) g(Z, U) - g(Y, Z) g(W, U), \qquad (3.30)$$

which, when contracted with regard to U and W, results in

$$S(Y, Z) = \eta(Y) \eta(Z) - n \epsilon g(Y, Z).$$
 (3.31)

$$S(Y, \xi) = -(n-1) \eta(Y).$$
(3.32)

This concludes the proof of the theorem.

4. Ricci semi-symmetric (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifolds

If a semi-Riemannian manifold, M_n , satisfies the following condition, its Ricci tensor, S, is deemed Ricci-semi-symmetric [5].

$$R(X, Y) \cdot S = 0, \text{ for all } X, Y \in \chi(M_n), \tag{4.33}$$

where R(X, Y) serves as a derivation on S.

Let us suppose that M_3 be a Ricci-semi-symmetric (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu *three*-dimensional manifold. That is

$$(R (X, Y) \cdot S) (Z, U) = 0.$$
(4.34)

The above equation further implies that

$$S(R(X, Y)Z, U) + S(U, R(X, Y)Z) = 0.$$
(4.35)

For $X = \xi$ in (4.35), we have

$$S(R(\xi, Y)Z, U) + S(U, R(\xi, Y)Z) = 0.$$
(4.36)

Now by using (2.12) and (2.15), we have, from the above equation

$$\epsilon \eta(Z) S(Y, U) + (n-1) g(Y, Z) \eta(U) + \epsilon \eta(U) S(Y, Z) + (n-1) g(Y, U) \eta(Z) = 0.$$
(4.37)

Using equations (2.2) and (2.4) and substituting $U = Z = \xi$ in (4.37), we obtain

$$S(Y, \xi) = -(n-1) \eta(Y).$$
(4.38)

Based on this, we could say the following:

Theorem 4.1. M_3 is an η -Einstein manifold, if it is a Ricci-semi-symmetric (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifold.

5. Semi-symmetric type (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifolds

A semi-Riemannian manifold M_n is considered semi-symmetric type if

$$S(X, Y) \cdot R = 0, \tag{5.39}$$

holds for all vector fields X and Y.

Theorem 5.1. The semi-symmetric type (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu 3-manifold is η -Einstein.

Proof. Let M_3 be a semi-symmetric type (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu 3-manifold. Then

$$(S(X, Y) \cdot R)(Z, U, V) = 0, (5.40)$$

for all vector fields X, Y, Z, U, and V.

The above equation implies that

$$S(Y, R(Z, U, V))X - S(X, R(Z, U, V))Y + S(Y, Z) R(X, U, V)$$

- $S(Z, X) R(Y, U, V) + S(Y, U) R(Z, X, V) - S(U, X) R(Z, Y, V)$ (5.41)
+ $S(V, Y) R(Z, U, X) - S(V, X) R(Z, U, Y) = 0.$

For $X = \xi$ in (5.41), we have

$$S(Y, R(Z, U, V))\xi - S(\xi, R(Z, U, V))Y + S(Y, Z) R(\xi, U, V)$$

- $S(Z, \xi) R(Y, U, V) + S(Y, U) R(Z, \xi, V) - S(U, \xi) R(Z, Y, V)$ (5.42)
+ $S(V, Y) R(Z, U, \xi) - S(V, \xi) R(Z, U, Y) = 0.$

Taking the inner product with ξ and using equations (2.22), (2.12), (2.14), (2.15) in (5.42), we get

$$S(Y, R(Z, U, V)) + 2(n - 1)g(Z, V)\eta(U)\eta(Y) - 2(n - 1)g(U, V)\eta(Y)\eta(Z) + \epsilon \eta(V)\eta(U)S(Y, Z) - g(U, V)S(Y, Z) + g(Z, V)S(Y, U)$$
(5.43)
$$- \epsilon S(Y, U)\eta(V)\eta(Z) + (n - 1)g(Z, Y)\eta(U)\eta(V) - (n - 1)g(U, Y)\eta(V)\eta(Z) = 0.$$

If we put ξ in place of V in (5.43) and on using (2.11), we get

$$\epsilon \eta(Z) S(Y, U) - \epsilon \eta(U) S(Y, Z) + (n-1) g(Y, Z) \eta(U) - (n-1) g(U, Y) \eta(Z) = 0.$$
(5.44)

Put $U = Y = \xi$ in (5.44). Then by using (2.2), (2.4), we get

$$S(Z, \xi) = -(n-1) \eta(Z), \qquad (5.45)$$

which proves the theorem.

6. Example of a 3-dimensional (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold

In this section, we create a 3-D (ϵ)-para Kenmotsu manifold example.

Example 6.1. Let $M_3 = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3\}$, where (x, y, z)-represent the standard coordinates in \mathbb{R}^3 , be a 3-D manifold. Let e_1 , e_2 , and e_3 be the vector fields on M_3 , given by

$$e_1 = -x\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \ e_2 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \ e_3 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial z}.$$
 (6.46)

Clearly, at any point in M_3 , $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ represent a set of linearly independent vectors. The Riemannian metric g(X, Y) is explained by

$$g (e_i, e_j) = \begin{cases} \epsilon, & if \ i = j \\ 0, & if \ i \neq j; \ i, \ j = 1, 2, 3 \end{cases}$$

Let η be the 1-form defined by:

$$g(X, e_1) = \epsilon \ \eta(X).$$

Let ϕ be a (1, 1)-tensor field on M_3 explained by:

$$\phi(e_1) = 0, \ \phi(e_2) = -\epsilon \ e_2, \ \phi(e_3) = -\epsilon \ e_3$$

Then the linearity of $\phi \& g(X, Y)$ yields that

$$\eta(e_1) = 1, \ \phi^2(X) = X - \eta(X)e_1;$$

and $g(\phi X, \ \phi Y) = g(X, \ Y) - \epsilon \ \eta(X) \ \eta(Y),$

for all $X, Y, Z \in M_3$.

The structure $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g, \epsilon)$ therefore establishes an (ϵ) -almost paracontact structure on M_3 for $e_1 = \xi$.

Now from (6.46), we also have

$$[e_1, e_2] = -\epsilon e_2, [e_1, e_3] = -\epsilon e_3, [e_2, e_3] = 0.$$

Koszul's formula provides the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of the metric tensor g(X, Y) as follows:

$$2g (\nabla_X Y, Z) = Xg (Y, Z) + Yg (Z, X) - Zg (X, Y) - g (X, [Y, Z]) - g (Y, [X, Z]) + g (Z, [X, Y]).$$
(6.47)

Utilizing the above formula and $e_1 = \xi$ yields the following result:

$$\nabla_{e_1} e_1 = 0, \ \nabla_{e_1} e_2 = 0, \ \nabla_{e_1} e_3 = 0;$$

$$\nabla_{e_2} e_1 = \epsilon \ e_2, \ \nabla_{e_2} \ e_2 = -\epsilon \ e_1, \ \nabla_{e_2} \ e_3 = 0;$$

$$\nabla_{e_3} \ e_1 = \epsilon \ e_2, \ \nabla_{e_3} \ e_2 = 0, \ \nabla_{e_3} \ e_3 = -\epsilon \ e_1.$$

(6.48)

The preceding computations show that the manifold M_3 under consideration meets the conditions $\nabla_X \xi = \epsilon \ (X - \eta(X) \xi)$, for all $e_1 = \xi$.

It can be seen from this that the manifold M_3 , that is being studied is a dimension three (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifold having the structure $(\phi, \xi, \eta, g, \epsilon)$.

7. CONCLUSION

This paper defines a new class of indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds, termed (ϵ) -para Kenmotsu manifolds, using a semi-Riemannian metric. When these manifolds are semi-symmetric or Ricci-semi-symmetric, the metric described by them is both geometrical and physical in nature. The geometrical features of these manifolds are widely applied in a variety of physical and geometrical fields, including the construction of super resolution sensors in electronic and communication systems, in electrical engineering, and in the general theory of relativity.

Acknowledgements. The G. V. P. College of Engineering for Women in Visakhapatnam's Senior Assistant professor, Dr. A. Kameswara Rao, is appreciated by the authors for his insightful advice during the manuscript's preparation. The authors also heartily thank all the reviewers for their valuable suggestions on the paper.

References

- [1] De, U. C., & Sarkar, A. (2009). On (ε)-Kenmotsu manifold. Hardonic J., 32(2), 231-242.
- Haseeb, A., & Rajendra Prasad. (2018). Certain results on LP-Kenmotsu manifolds. Bulletin of Parana's Mathematical Society, DOI.https://doi.org/10.5269/bspm.v39i3.
- [3] Kenmotsu, K. (1972). A class of almost contact Riemannian manifold. Tohoku Math. J., 24, 93-103.
- [4] Matsumoto, K. (1989). On Lorentzian para contact manifolds. Bulletin of Yamagata University, 12(2), 151-156.
- [5] Mirzoyan, V. A. (1992). Structure theorems for Riemannian Ric. semi-symmetric spaces. IZV. Vyssh, Uchebn, Zaved Mat., 6, 80-89.
- [6] Perktas, S. Y., Kılıç, E., Tripathi, M. M., & Keles, S. (2012). On (ε)-para Sasakian 3-manifolds. Int. J. of Pure and Appl. Mathematics, 77(4), 485-499.

- [7] Prasad, R., Pandey, S., & Haseeb, A. (2019). On a Lorentzian Sasakian manifold endowed with a quartersymmetric metric connection. An. Univ. Vest. Timis. Ser. Math-Inform, 57, 61-76.
- [8] Prasad, R., Haseeb, A., & Gautam, U.K. (2021). On φ-semisymmetric LP-Kenmotsu manifolds with a QSNM-connection admitting Ricci solitons. Kragujevac J. of Mathematics, 45(5), 815-827.
- [9] Prasad, R., Haseeb, A., Verma, A., & Yadav, V. S. (2024). A study of φ-Ricci symmetric LP-Kenmotsu manifolds. International Journal of Maps in Mathematics, 7(1), 33-44.
- [10] Sai Prasad, K. L., Sunitha Devi, S., & Deekshitulu, G. V. S. R. (2023). On a class of Lorentzian paracontact metric manifolds. Italian J. of Pure and Appl. Mathematics, 49, 514-527.
- [11] Sai Prasad, K. L., Naveen, P., & Sunitha Devi, S. (2024). On certain classes of conformally flat Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifolds. Reliability Theory and Applications, 19, no.2(78), 446-453.
- [12] Sato, I. (1976). On a structure similar to the almost contact structure. Tensor. (N.S.), 30(3), 219-224.
- [13] Sinha, B. B., & Sai Prasad, K. L. (1995). A class of almost paracontact metric Manifold. Bulletin of the Calcutta Mathematical Society, 87, 307-312.
- [14] Sunitha Devi, S., & Sai Prasad, K. L. (2023). On a class of LP-Kenmotsu manifolds admitting quartersymmetric metric connection. Reliability Theory and Applications, 18, no.4(76), 525-532.
- [15] Szabo, Z. I. (1982). Structure theorem on Riemannian space satisfying $R(X, Y) \cdot R = 0$. I, The local versin, J. Diff. Geom., 17, 531-582.
- [16] Takahashi, T. (1969). Sasakian manifold with pseudo-Riemannian metric. The Tohoku Mathematical Journal, Second Series, 21, 271-290.
- [17] Tripathi, M. M., Kilic, E., Perktas, S. Y., & Keles, S. (2010). Indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds. Int. J. Math. and Math. Sci., Art. id. 846195, 1-19.
- [18] Venkateswara Rao, I. V., Sunitha Devi, S., & Sai Prasad, K. L. (2024). On φ-conharmonically flat Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifolds. Reliability Theory and Applications, 19, no.1(77), 764-769.

Department of Mathematics, Koneru Lakshmaiah Education Foundation, Vijayawada-520002, India

Department of Mathematics, Gayatri Vidya Parishad College of Engineering for Women, Visakhapatnam-530048, India



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics

Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:258-273 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

SOME INEQUALITIES ON SUBMANIFOLDS OF A COMPLEX SPACE FORM EQUIPPED WITH COMPLEX SEMI-SYMMETRIC METRIC CONNECTION

BURÇIN DOĞAN 🖲 *, NERGIZ (ÖNEN) POYRAZ 🖲 , AND EROL YAŞAR 🖲

ABSTRACT. The aim of this study is to introduce geometric inequalities on a complex space form equipped with complex semi-symmetric metric connection (complex s-s.m.c) and to get a formula between intrinsic and extrinsic invariants with the help of these.
Keywords: Submanifold, Chen inequalities, Complex Semi-Symmetric Metric Connection.
2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53B15, 53B30, 53C05, 53C50

1. INTRODUCTION

According to the famous embedding theory of J. F. Nash, any Riemannian manifold can be isometrically immersed in a suitable Euclidean space. Thus, one of the most fundamental problems of Riemannian submanifold theory is to establish relationships between intrinsic and extrinsic invariants. The Riemannian invariants characterizing a Riemannian manifold have been studied by several geometers for a long time. We note that the sectional curvature and the scalar curvature are called *the main intrinsic curvatures* and the squared mean curvature is called *the main extrinsic curvature* of a Riemann manifold. B.Y. Chen introduced some specific submanifolds which have important intrinsic invariants in [4, 6, 7].

Received:2024.09.12

Revised:2024.12.03

Accepted:2024.12.12

* Corresponding author

Burçin Doğan & burcin.dogan@ozal.edu.tr & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8386-213X Nergiz (Önen) Poyraz & nonen@cu.edu.tr & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8110-712X Erol Yaşar & yerol@mersin.edu.tr & https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8716-0901. Let N be a Riemann manifold and $\tau(p)$ is scalar curvature of N. Then $\inf(K)(p)$ is defined as follows

$$\inf(K)(p) = \inf\{K(\Pi)\}\$$

where $K(\Pi)$ is a plane section of $T_p N$. Thus, a new Riemannian invariant δ_N for N was introduced by Chen in [4] as

$$\delta_N = \tau(p) - \inf(K)(p). \tag{1.1}$$

In [4] and [3], Chen established the general optimal inequality and a sharp inequality which named *Chen inequality* for a submanifold N^n of a real space form $R(\tilde{\overline{c}})$, respectively,

$$\delta_N \le \frac{n^2(n-2)}{2(n-2)} \|H\|^2 + \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n-2)\overline{c}$$
(1.2)

and

$$||H||^{2}(p) \geq \frac{4}{n^{2}} \{ Ric(U_{1}) - (n-1)\tilde{c} \}, \quad \forall U_{1} \in T_{p}^{1}N^{n},$$
(1.3)

where $||H||^2$ is the squared mean curvature and $Ric(U_1)$ is Ricci curvature of N^n at U_1 . Using the above last inequality, many authors established similar inequalities for different kind of submanifolds in ambient manifolds which have different kind of structures [3, 12, 13, 16, 17, 22, 23] and so on *Chen-Ricci inequality* was introduced by Hong and Tripathi in [11]. Later, Chen inequalities for submanifolds of real space forms admitting a semi-symmetric metric conection (s-s.m.c.) was studied by Mihai and Özgür in [14]. On the other hand, Yücesan studied totally real submanifolds of an indefinite Kaehler manifold with a complex s-s.m.c. in [21].

The study is organized as follows:

In section 2, we present preliminaries which will be used throughout this paper. We give some basic information about s-s.m.c. and complex s-s.m.c., respectively. In the last section, we study geometric inequalities for submanifold of complex space forms equipped with a complex s-s.m.c. and present important characterization theorems.

2. Preliminaries

Let $(\widetilde{N}, \widetilde{g})$ be a real 2m-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold and J be an almost complex structure such that, for any $U_1, U_2 \in T_p \widetilde{N}$,

$$\widetilde{g}(JU_1, JU_2) = \widetilde{g}(U_1, U_2), \qquad J^2 = -I$$
(2.4)

where $T_p \widetilde{N}$ is the tangent space of \widetilde{N} at p.

If complex structure J is parallel according to Levi-Civita connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ of \widetilde{g} , that is, the following equation is satisfied, then $(\widetilde{N}, \widetilde{g}, J)$ will be called an *indefinite Kaehler manifold*

$$(\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_1}J)U_2 = 0.$$
(2.5)

For a Kaehler manifold, J is integrable and the index of \tilde{g} is even, say 2v, $0 \le v \le m$. Note that if v = 0, then \tilde{N} is a positive definite Kaehler manifold (i.e., a classical Kaehler manifold). Moreover, the opposite $-\tilde{g}$ of an indefinite Kaehler metric \tilde{g} is also Kaehler with index 2(m - v), where 2v is the index of \tilde{g} . The indefinite Kaehler metric with index v = 2 is a complex version of the Lorentzian metric [1].

2.1. Semi-symmetric metric connections. Let \widetilde{N} be a real n-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold with a metric tensor \widetilde{g} of index v, $0 \le v \le n$, and its Levi-Civita connection $\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}$. A linear connection $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ on \widetilde{N} is said to be semi-symmetric if the torsion tensor of the connection $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ satisfies

$$\widetilde{T}(U_1, U_2) = \pi(U_2)U_1 - \pi(U_1)U_2, \quad \forall U_1, U_2 \in T_pN,$$
(2.6)

where π is a 1-form. A semi-symmetric connection $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ is called a semi-symmetric metric connection. [10] if it further satisfies the equation

$$\stackrel{\circ}{\nabla} \widetilde{g} = 0. \tag{2.7}$$

A relation between a s-s.m.c. $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ and the Levi-Civita connection $\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}$ of \widetilde{N} , which has been obtained by Yano [19], is given by

$$\overset{\circ}{\nabla}_{U_1}U_2 = \overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_1}U_2 + \widetilde{\pi}(U_2)U_1 - \widetilde{g}(U_1, U_2)P, \qquad (2.8)$$

where P is the tangent vector on N associated with the 1-form $\tilde{\pi}$ by

$$\widetilde{\pi}(U_1) = \widetilde{g}(U_1, P), \tag{2.9}$$

for any tangent vector U_1 .

2.2. Complex semi-symmetric metric connections. [21] Let \widetilde{N} be a real 2m-dimensional indefinite Kaehler manifold. Now, we consider a linear connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ on \widetilde{N} . When

$$\widetilde{\nabla}\widetilde{g} = 0, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}J = 0 \tag{2.10}$$

and the torsion tensor \widetilde{T} is of the form

$$\widetilde{T}(U_1, U_2) = \widetilde{\pi}(U_2)U_1 - \widetilde{\pi}(U_1)U_2 - 2\widetilde{g}(JU_1, U_2)J\widetilde{P},$$
(2.11)

the connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is called a complex semi-symmetric metric connection (complex s-s.m.c.), where $\widetilde{\pi}$ is a 1-form and \widetilde{P} is the tangent vector defined by

$$\widetilde{\pi}(U_1) = \widetilde{g}(\widetilde{P}, U_1). \tag{2.12}$$

Let $\widetilde{\nabla}$ and $\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}$ be a complex s-s.m.c. and the Levi-Civita connection defined on \widetilde{N} , respectively. Then

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{U_1} U_2 = \widetilde{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_1} U_2 + \widetilde{\pi}(U_2) U_1 - \widetilde{g}(U_1, U_2) \widetilde{P} + \widetilde{\Gamma}(U_2) J U_1 + \widetilde{\Gamma}(U_1) J U_2 - \widetilde{g}(J U_1, U_2) J \widetilde{P},$$
(2.13)

where $\tilde{\pi}$ and $\tilde{\Gamma}$ are 1-forms with (2.12) and

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(U_1) = \widetilde{g}(J\widetilde{P}, U_1), \qquad (2.14)$$

for any tangent vector U_1 .

Let N be a n-dimensional submanifold of a Riemannian manifold \tilde{N} and $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ and ∇ be the Levi-Civita connection and the complex s-s.m.c. on N induced by the Levi-Civita connection $\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}$ and the complex s-s.m.c. $\widetilde{\nabla}$ of \tilde{N} , respectively. Then the *Gauss formulas* with $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ and ∇ , respectively, are as followings:

$$\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_1}U_2 = \overset{\circ}{\nabla}_{U_1}U_2 + \overset{\circ}{h}(U_1, U_2)$$
(2.15)

and

$$\overline{\nabla}_{U_1} U_2 = \nabla_{U_1} U_2 + h \left(U_1, U_2 \right) \tag{2.16}$$

where \tilde{h} is the second fundamental form of N in \tilde{N} and h is a (0, 2)-tensor on N.

We denote by \tilde{R} and $\tilde{\tilde{R}}$ the Riemannian curvature tensors of an indefinite Kaehler manifold \tilde{N} with respect to $\tilde{\nabla}$ and $\overset{\circ}{\tilde{\nabla}}$, respectively. Also, let R and $\overset{\circ}{R}$ be the Riemannian curvature tensors of a submanifold N of \tilde{N} with respect to ∇ and $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$. Then the Gauss equations are with respect to the Levi-Civita connection and the complex s-s.m.c. can be written as

$$\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{R}}(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) = \overset{\circ}{R}(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) + \widetilde{g}(\overset{\circ}{h}(U_1, V_1), \overset{\circ}{h}(U_2, V_2)) - \widetilde{g}(\overset{\circ}{h}(U_2, V_1), \overset{\circ}{h}(U_1, V_2))$$
(2.17)

and

$$\widetilde{R}(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) = R(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) + \widetilde{g}(h(U_1, V_1), h(U_2, V_2)) - \widetilde{g}(h(U_2, V_1), h(U_1, V_2))$$
(2.18)

respectively, [21].

Then, by a straightforward computation, we find

$$\widetilde{R}(U_{1}, U_{2})V_{1} = \widetilde{\widetilde{R}}(U_{1}, U_{2})V_{1} - \widetilde{\alpha}(U_{2}, V_{1})U_{1} + \widetilde{\alpha}(U_{1}, V_{1})U_{2}
- \widetilde{F}(U_{1})\widetilde{g}(U_{2}, V_{1}) + \widetilde{F}(U_{2})\widetilde{g}(U_{1}, V_{1}) - \widetilde{\beta}(U_{2}, V_{1})JU_{1}
+ \widetilde{\beta}(U_{1}, V_{1})JU_{2} - \widetilde{G}(U_{1})\widetilde{g}(JU_{2}, V_{1}) + \widetilde{G}(U_{2})\widetilde{g}(JU_{1}, V_{1})
+ \widetilde{\gamma}(U_{1}, U_{2})JV_{1} - \widetilde{E}(V_{1})\widetilde{g}(JU_{1}, U_{2})$$
(2.19)

where

$$\widetilde{\alpha}(U_2, V_1) = (\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_2} \widetilde{\pi}) V_1 - \widetilde{\pi}(U_2) \widetilde{\pi}(V_1) + \widetilde{\Gamma}(U_2) \widetilde{\Gamma}(V_1) + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{g}(U_2, V_1) \widetilde{\pi}(\widetilde{P}),$$
(2.20)

$$\widetilde{\beta}(U_2, V_1) = (\widetilde{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_2} \widetilde{\Gamma}) V_1 - \widetilde{\pi}(U_2) \widetilde{\Gamma}(V_1) - \widetilde{\Gamma}(U_2) \widetilde{\pi}(V_1) + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{g}(JU_2, V_1) \widetilde{\pi}(\widetilde{P}),$$
(2.21)

$$\overline{\gamma}(U_1, U_2) = (\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_1} \widetilde{\Gamma}) U_2 - (\overset{\circ}{\widetilde{\nabla}}_{U_2} \widetilde{\Gamma}) U_1, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\overline{E}(V_1) = 2(\widetilde{\pi}(V_1)J\widetilde{P} - \widetilde{\Gamma}(V_1)\widetilde{P})$$
(2.23)

and

$$\widetilde{g}(\widetilde{F}(U_1), U_2) = \widetilde{\alpha}(U_1, U_2), \quad \widetilde{g}(\widetilde{G}(U_1), U_2) = \widetilde{\beta}(U_1, U_2).$$
(2.24)

On the other hand, we have

$$\widetilde{\beta}(U_2, V_1) = -\widetilde{\alpha}(U_2, JV_1), \quad \widetilde{\alpha}(U_2, V_1) = \widetilde{\beta}(U_2, JV_1), \quad (2.25)$$

$$\widetilde{\gamma}(U_1, U_2) = \widetilde{\beta}(U_1, U_2) - \widetilde{\beta}(U_2, U_1) - \widetilde{\pi}(\widetilde{P})\widetilde{g}(JU_1, U_2),$$
(2.26)

$$\widetilde{\gamma}(U_1, U_2) = -\widetilde{\gamma}(U_2, U_1), \quad \widetilde{g}(\widetilde{E}(V_1), V_2) = -\widetilde{g}(\widetilde{E}(V_2), V_1).$$
(2.27)

From now on, in this paper, we assume that v = 0, that is, \tilde{N} is a classical Kaehler manifold.

Let $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis of the $T_p N^n$. Then, following equation can be written for the mean curvature vector

$$H(p) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l=1}^{n} h(e_l, e_l).$$
(2.28)

We note that, N is totally geodesic if h = 0; minimal if H = 0 and totally umbilical if $h(U_1, U_2) = g(U_1, U_2)H, \forall U_1, U_2 \in TN.$

If we consider a 2-dimensional non-degenerate plane $\Pi = Span\{e_l, e_s\}$, then we can calculate the sectional curvature of the section Π at $p \in N$ by

$$K_{ls} = \frac{g(R(e_s, e_l)e_l, e_s)}{g(e_l, e_l)g(e_s, e_s) - g(e_l, e_s)^2}.$$
(2.29)

We denote by $K(\pi)$ the sectional curvature of N^n . For $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ orthonormal basis and a k-plane section L of TpN^n , the scalar curvature τ at p and the Ricci curvature (or k-Ricci curvature) of L at U_1 is respectively defined by

$$\tau(p) = \sum_{1 \le l < s \le n} K_{ls},\tag{2.30}$$

$$Ric_L(U_1) = K_{12} + K_{13} + \dots + K_{1k}$$
(2.31)

where $\pi \subset TpN^n$ is a plane section and U_1 be a unit vector in L. We note that for $\{e_1, ..., e_k\}$ is an orthonormal basis of L such that $e_1 = U_1$, K_{ls} is spanned by e_l, e_s [3].

The Riemannian invariant θ_k is defined as:

$$\theta_k(p) = \frac{1}{k-1} \inf_{L,U_1} Ric_L(U_1), \ \ p \in N$$
(2.32)

where k is a integer such that $2 \le k \le n$, L runs over all s-plane sections in TpN^n and U_1 runs over all unit vectors in L.

Let \tilde{N} be a real 2n-dimensional Kaehler manifold and J almost complex structure. The sectional curvature of \tilde{N} in the direction of an invariant 2-plane section by J is called the holomorphic sectional curvature. If the holomorphic sectional curvature is constant $4\bar{c}$ for all plane sections π of $T_p\tilde{N}$ invariant by J for any $p \in \tilde{N}$, then \tilde{N} is called a complex space form and is denoted by $\tilde{N}(4\bar{c})$. The curvature tensor $\overset{\circ}{\tilde{R}}$ with respect to $\overset{\circ}{\tilde{\nabla}}$ on $\tilde{N}(4\bar{c})$ is calculated by

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{R}}(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) = \overline{c} \{ \widetilde{g}(U_1, V_2) \ \widetilde{g}(U_2, V_1) - \ \widetilde{g}(U_2, V_2) \ \widetilde{g}(U_1, V_1) + \widetilde{g}(JU_1, V_2) \ \widetilde{g}(JU_2, V_1) - \ \widetilde{g}(JU_1, V_1) \ \widetilde{g}(JU_2, V_2) - 2 \ \widetilde{g}(U_1, JU_2) \ \widetilde{g}(V_1, JV_2) \}.$$

$$(2.33)$$

3. K-RICCI CURVATURE AND K-SCALAR CURVATURE

Let \widetilde{N} be a Kaehler manifold endowed with a complex s-s.m.c.. Then from (2.19) and (2.33) we get

$$\widetilde{R}(e_l, e_s, e_s, e_l) = \overline{c}(1 + \widetilde{g}^2(Je_l, e_s)) - \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \alpha(e_s, e_s)
- (2\widetilde{\gamma}(e_l, e_s) + \widetilde{g}(\widetilde{E}(e_s), e_l))\widetilde{g}(Je_l, e_s) - \pi(P)\widetilde{g}^2(Je_l, e_s).$$
(3.34)

From (3.34) we derive

$$\widetilde{R}(e_l, e_s, e_s, e_l) = \overline{c}(1 + g^2(Je_l, e_s)) - \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \alpha(e_s, e_s)$$

$$-\widetilde{\pi}(p)\widetilde{g}^2(Je_l, e_s) - N_{ls}.$$
(3.35)

Thus, taking $U_1 = V_2 = e_l$ and $U_2 = V_1 = e_s$ and using (3.35), we have

$$R(e_l, e_s, e_s, e_l) = \overline{c}(1 + g^2(Je_l, e_s)) - \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \alpha(e_s, e_s) - \pi(p)\widetilde{g}^2(Je_l, e_s) - N_{ls} + \sum_{r=n+1}^{2n+2} h^r(e_l, e_l)h^r(e_s, e_s) - h^r(e_l, e_s)h^r(e_s, e_l).$$
(3.36)

Then, we find

$$2\tau(p) = n(n-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c} ||T||^2 - 2(n-1)\lambda - \pi(p) ||T||^2 - \sum_{l,s=1}^m m_{ij} + \sum_{l,s=1}^n \sum_{r=m+1}^{2m} h_{ll}^r h_{ss}^r - (h_{ls}^r)^2.$$
(3.37)

If we write JU_1 with its components as $JU_1 = TU_1 + FU_1$, then we get

$$||T||^2 = \sum_{l,s=1}^n \widetilde{g}^2(Je_l, e_s).$$

Thus, (3.37) can be written by

$$2\tau(p) = n(n-1)\overline{c} - 2(n-1)\lambda - \pi(p) ||T||^{2} + n^{2} ||H||^{2} - \overline{c} ||T||^{2} - \sum_{l,s=1}^{m} m_{ij} - \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} \sum_{r=m+1}^{2m} (h_{ls}^{r})^{2}.$$
(3.38)

Theorem 3.1. Let N^n be a real n-dimensional submanifold of a real 2m-dimensional Kaehler manifold of constant holomorphic sectional curvature is constant $4\overline{c}$ endowed with complex s-s.m.c.. Then, the followings are true.

(i) For each unit vector $U_1 \in T_p^1(N)$, we have

$$Ric(U_{1}) \leq (n-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c}\sum_{s=2}^{n} g^{2}(JU_{1}, e_{s}) - \lambda - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l=1}^{n} N_{ll} - \sum_{s=2}^{n} N_{1s} - \frac{1}{2}\pi(p)\sum_{s=2}^{n} g^{2}(JU_{1}, e_{s}) + \frac{1}{4}n^{2} ||H||^{2} - (n-2)\alpha(U_{1}, U_{1}).$$

$$(3.39)$$

(*ii*) The equality case of (3.39) is satisfied by unit $U_1 \in T_p^1(N)$, if and only if (iff)

$$h(U_1, U_2) = 0, \quad \text{for all } U_2 \in T_p^1(N) \text{ orthogonal to } U_1,$$

$$h(U_1, U_1) = \frac{n}{2}H(p). \tag{3.40}$$

(*iii*) For $\forall U_1 \in T_p^1(N)$, equality of (3.39) is satisfied iff either p is a totally geodesic point or p is a totally umbilical point and n = 2.

Proof. Let $\{e_1, e_2, ..., e_n\}$ and $\{e_{n+1}, ..., e_{2m}\}$ be orthonormal basis of $T_{U_1}N$ and $T_{U_1}^{\perp}N$ at $U_1 \in N$, respectively, where $e_n + 1$ is parallel to the mean curvature vector H. Then, from (3.38) we have

$$\sum_{l,s=1}^{n} \sum_{r=n+1}^{2m} (h_{ls}^{r})^{2} = n(n-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c} ||T||^{2} - 2(n-1)\lambda$$
$$- \pi(p) ||T||^{2} - \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} N_{ls} + n^{2} ||H||^{2} - 2\tau(p).$$
(3.41)

From (3.41) we get

$$\frac{1}{4}n^{2} \|H\|^{2} = \tau(p) - \frac{1}{2}(n(n-1) + \|T\|^{2})\overline{c} + (n-1)\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l,s=1}^{n}N_{ls}
+ \frac{1}{2}\pi(p) \|T\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\sum_{r=n+1}^{2m}(h_{11}^{r} - h_{22}^{r} - \dots - h_{nn}^{r})^{2}
+ \sum_{r=n+1}^{2m}\sum_{s=2}^{n}(h_{1s}^{r})^{2} - \sum_{r=n+1}^{2m}\sum_{2\leq l < s \leq n}(h_{ll}^{r}h_{ss}^{r} - (h_{ls}^{r})^{2}).$$
(3.42)

Then using (3.36), we have

$$\sum_{r=n+1}^{2m} (h_{ll}^r h_{ss}^r - (h_{ls}^r)^2) = \sum_{2 \le l < s \le n} K_{ls} - \frac{(n-1)(n-2)}{2} \overline{c} - \overline{c} \sum_{2 \le l < s \le n} g^2 (Je_l, e_s) + (n-2)(\lambda - \alpha(e_1, e_1)) + \sum_{2 \le l < s \le n} m_{ls} + \pi(p) \sum_{2 \le l < s \le n} g^2 (Je_l, e_s).$$
(3.43)

From (3.42) and (3.43) we derive

$$Ric(e_{1}) = (n-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c}\sum_{s=2}^{n} g^{2}(Je_{1}, e_{s}) - \lambda - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l}^{n} m_{ll} - \sum_{s=2}^{n} N_{1s}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2}\pi(p)\sum_{s=2}^{n} g^{2}(Je_{1}, e_{s}) + \frac{1}{4}n^{2} ||H||^{2}$$

$$- \frac{1}{4}\sum_{r=n+1}^{2m} (h_{11}^{r} - h_{22}^{r} - \dots - h_{nn}^{r})^{2}$$

$$- \sum_{r=n+1}^{2n+2}\sum_{s=2}^{n} (h_{1s}^{r})^{2} - (n-2)\alpha(e_{1}, e_{1}).$$

(3.44)

By choosing $e_1 = U_1$ in equation (3.44), (3.39) is obtained.

When the equality case of (3.39), the followings are satisfied:

$$h_{12}^r = h_{13}^r = \dots = h_{1n}^r = 0 \text{ and } h_{11}^r = h_{22}^r + \dots + h_{nn}^r$$
 (3.45)

where $r \in \{n + 1, ..., 2n + 2\}$. Thus, (3.40) is holded.

Let inequality (3.39) satisfy case of equality for $\forall U_1 \in T_p N^n$. Then, from (3.45), $\forall r \in \{n+1,...,2n+2\}$, we get $i \in \{1,...,n\}$,

$$h_{ls}^r = 0, \quad l \neq s, \tag{3.46}$$

$$2h_{ll}^r = h_{11}^r + h_{22}^r + \dots + h_{nn}^r. aga{3.47}$$

Using (3.47), we derive

$$(n-2)(h_{11}^r + h_{22}^r + \dots + h_{nn}^r) = 0.$$

It is clear that, there are two situations for the last equality. For $h_{11}^r + h_{22}^r + ... + h_{nn}^r = 0$, if we consider (3.47) and (3.46) together, then, we can write $h_{ls}^r = 0$ for all $l, s \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $r \in \{n+1, ..., 2n+2\}$ which gives that p is a totally geodesic point. On the other hand, if n = 2, then from 3.47, $2h_{11}^r = 2h_{22}^r = h_{11}^r + h_{22}^r$, which completes the proof. The converse is clear.

Theorem 3.2. Let N^n be a real n-dimensional submanifold of a real 2m-dimensional Kaehler manifold of constant holomorphic sectional curvature is constant $4\overline{c}$ endowed with complex s-s.m.c. Then, we get

$$\tau(p) \leq \frac{1}{2}(n(n-1) + ||T||^2)\overline{c} - (n-1)\lambda$$

- $\frac{1}{2}\pi(p) ||T||^2 - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l,s=1}^n m_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}n^2 ||H||^2.$ (3.48)

Equality case of 3.48 holds iff N is totally geodesic.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$ be an *m*-dimensional real space form of constant holomorphic sectional curvature $4\overline{c}$ equipped with complex s-s.m.c. $\widetilde{\nabla}$ and N^n be *n*-dimensional Einstein submanifold of $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$. Then,

$$\tau(p) \leq \frac{n(n-1)}{2} (\overline{c} + ||H||^2) + \frac{\overline{c}}{2} ||T||^2 - (n-1)\lambda$$

$$- (n-1)\lambda - \frac{1}{2} \pi(p) ||T||^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l,s=1}^n m_{ij}$$
(3.49)

is satisfied and the equality case of (3.49) holds at $p \in N^n$ iff p is a totally umbilical point. *Proof.* The relation (3.38) at $p \in N^n$ is equivalent with

$$n^{2} ||H||^{2} = 2\tau(p) - n(n-1)\overline{c} - \overline{c} ||T||^{2} + 2(n-1)\lambda + \pi(p) ||T||^{2} + \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} m_{ij} + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} (h_{ls})^{2} + \sum_{l=1}^{n} (h_{ll}^{n+1})^{2} + \sum_{l\neq s} (h_{ls}^{n+1})^{2}.$$
(3.50)

For a choosen orthonormal basis, let $\{e_1, e_2, ..., e_n\}$ diagonalize the shape operator $A_{e_{n+1}}$. Then the shape operators take the forms

$$A_{e_{n+1}} = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & a_2 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & a_n \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.51)

$$A_{e_r} = (h_{ls}^r), \quad l, s = 1, ..., n; \quad r = n+2, ..., n+p, \quad trace A_{e_r} = 0.$$
(3.52)

From (3.50), we get

$$n^{2} ||H||^{2} = 2\tau(p) - n(n-1)\overline{c} - \overline{c} ||T||^{2} + 2(n-1)\lambda$$

$$+ \pi(p) ||T||^{2} + \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} m_{ij} + \sum_{l=1}^{n} (a_{l}^{2}) + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} (h_{ls}^{r})^{2}.$$
(3.53)

On the other hand, since

$$0 \le \sum_{l \le s} (a_l - a_s)^2 = (n - 1) \sum_l a_l^2 - 2 \sum_{l \le s} a_l a_s$$
(3.54)

we obtain

$$n^{2} ||H||^{2} = \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} a_{l}\right)^{2} = \sum_{l=1}^{n} a_{l}^{2} + 2\sum_{l < s} a_{l}a_{s} \le n\sum_{l=1}^{n} a_{l}^{2}$$
(3.55)

which implies

$$\sum_{l=1}^{n} a_l^2 \ge n \, \|H\|^2 \,. \tag{3.56}$$

So from (3.53) and (3.56), we have

$$n^{2} \|H\|^{2} \geq 2\tau(p) - n(n-1)\overline{c} - \overline{c} \|T\|^{2} + 2(n-1)\lambda + \pi(p) \|T\|^{2}$$

$$+ \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} m_{ls} + n \|H\|^{2} + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2n+2} \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} (h_{ls}^{r})^{2}.$$
(3.57)

If (3.49) is case of equality, using (3.54) and (3.57) we obtain

$$a_1 = a_2 = \dots = a_n$$
 and $A_{e_r} = 0, r = n + 2, \dots, m.$ (3.58)

which gives p is a totally umbilical point. The converse is obvious.

Theorem 3.4. Let $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$ be 2m-dimensional real space form of constant holomorphic sectional curvature $4\overline{c}$ equipped with complex s-s.m.c. $\widetilde{\nabla}$ and N^n be n-dimensional submanifold of $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$. Then we have

$$\theta_{k}(p) \leq \overline{c} + \|H\|^{2} + \frac{\overline{c}}{n(n-1)} \|T\|^{2} - \frac{2}{n}\lambda$$

$$- \frac{\lambda}{n(n-1)} \pi(p) \|T\|^{2} - \frac{1}{n(n-1)} \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} m_{ls}.$$
(3.59)

Lemma 3.1. If $n > k \ge 2$ and $a_1, ..., a_n, a$ are real numbers such that

$$\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} a_l\right)^2 = (n-k+1)\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} a_l^2 + a\right)$$
(3.60)

then

$$2\sum_{1\le l< s\le k} a_l a_s \ge a \tag{3.61}$$

with equality holding iff

$$a_1 + a_2 + \dots + a_k = a_{k+1} = \dots = a_n.$$
(3.62)

Theorem 3.5. N^n be n-dimensional submanifold of an 2m-dimensional real space form $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$ of constant holomorphic sectional curvature $4\overline{c}$ endowed with complex s-s.m.c. $\widetilde{\nabla}$. Then, for each k-plane section $(n > k \ge 2)$ and $p \in N^n$, we obtain

$$\tau(p) - \tau(\pi_k) \leq \frac{1}{2}(n+k-1)(n-k)\overline{c} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{c}\sum_{l,s=k+1}^n g^2(Je_l,e_s) - (n-k)\lambda - (k-1)trace(N_{|_{\pi_k^{\perp}}}) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\pi(p)\sum_{l,s=k+1}^n g^2(Je_l,e_s) + \sum_{l,s=k+1}^n m_{ls}\right) + \frac{n^2(n-k)}{2(n-k+1)} ||H||^2.$$
(3.63)

(3.63) is the equation of equality at $p \in N^n$ iff there exist $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ and $\{e_{n+1}, ..., e_{2m}\}$ orthonormal basis of TpN^n and $T_p^{\perp}N^n$, respectively, such that (a) $\Pi_k = Span\{e_1, ..., e_k\}$ and

269

(b) the shape operators A_{e_r} , take the forms

Proof. Let Π_k is a k-plane section and we choose orthonormal basis $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$ and $\{e_{n+1}, ..., e_{2m}\}$ of TpN^n and $T_p^{\perp}N^n$ at p, respectively, such that $\Pi_k = Span\{e_1, ..., e_k\}$. If we consider that the mean curvature vector H is in the direction of the normal vector to e_{n+1} and $e_1, ..., e_n$ diagonalize the shape operator $A_{e_{n+1}}$, then the shape operators take the forms (3.51) and (3.52). So, we can rewrite (3.38) as

$$\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} h_{ll}^{n+1}\right)^2 = (n-k+1) \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \left(h_{ll}^{n+1}\right)^2 + \sum_{l \neq s} \left(h_{ls}^{n+1}\right) + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2n+2} \sum_{l,s=1}^{n} (h_{ls}^r)^2 + \epsilon\right)$$
(3.66)

where

 A_{e_r}

$$\epsilon = 2\tau(p) - n(n-1)\overline{c} - \overline{c} ||T||^2 + 2(n-1)\lambda + \pi(p) ||T||^2 + \sum_{l,s=1}^n m_{ls} - \frac{n^2(n-k)}{(n-k+1)} ||H||^2.$$
(3.67)

Applying Lemma 1 in (3.66), we get

$$2\sum_{1\le l< s\le k} h_{ll}^{n+1} h_{ss}^{n+1} \ge \sum_{l\ne s} \left(h_{ls}^{n+1}\right)^2 + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \sum_{l,s=1}^n (h_{ls}^r)^2 + \epsilon.$$
(3.68)

From equation (3.36) it also follows that

$$2\tau(\pi_k) = k(k-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c} \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) - 2(k-1) \sum_{l=1}^k \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \pi(p) \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) - \sum_{l,s=1}^k m_{ls} + \sum_{l,s=1}^k \sum_{r=n+2}^{2n+2} \left(h_{ll}^r h_{ss}^r - (h_{ls}^r)^2\right) + \sum_{l=1}^k (h_{ll}^{n+1})^2 + 2 \sum_{1 \le l < s \le k} h_{ll}^{n+1} h_{ss}^{n+1} - \sum_{l,s=1}^k (h_{ls}^{n+1})^2.$$
(3.69)

Using (3.68) and (3.69)

$$2\tau(\pi_k) \geq k(k-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c} \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) - \sum_{l,s=1}^k m_{ls}$$

$$-2(k-1) \sum_{l=1}^k \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \pi(p) \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) \qquad (3.70)$$

$$+ \sum_{l,s=1}^k \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \left(h_{ll}^r h_{ss}^r - (h_{ls}^r)^2\right) + \sum_{l=1}^k (h_{ll}^{n+1})^2$$

$$+ \sum_{l\neq s}^n (h_{ls}^{n+1})^2 + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \sum_{l,s=1}^n (h_{ls}^r)^2 + \epsilon - \sum_{l,s=1}^k (h_{ls}^{n+1})^2$$

is obtained. From this, we can write that

$$2\tau(\pi_k) \geq k(k-1)\overline{c} + \overline{c} \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2 (Je_l, e_s) - 2(k-1) \sum_{l=1}^k \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \pi(p) \sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2 (Je_l, e_s) - \sum_{l,s=1}^k m_{ls} + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} (h_{11}^r + h_{22}^r + \dots + \dots h_{kk}^r)^2 + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \sum_{l,s>k} (h_{ls}^r)^2 + \sum_{r=n+2}^{2m} \sum_{s>k} \left((h_{1s}^r)^2 + (h_{2s}^r)^2 + \dots + (h_{ks}^r)^2 \right) + \epsilon,$$
(3.71)

or

$$\tau(\pi_k) \geq \frac{k(k-1)}{2}\overline{c} + \frac{\overline{c}}{2}\sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) - (k-1)\sum_{l=1}^k \alpha(e_l, e_l) - \frac{\pi(p)}{2}\sum_{l,s=1}^k g^2(Je_l, e_s) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l,s=1}^k m_{ls} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon.$$
(3.72)

We remark that

$$\alpha(e_1, e_1) + \alpha(e_2, e_2) + \dots + \alpha(e_k, e_k) = \lambda - trace(\lambda_{|_{\pi_k^{\perp}}}).$$
(3.73)

From (3.67), (3.71) and (3.72), we get

$$2\tau(\pi_k) \geq -(n+k-1)(n+k)\overline{c} - \overline{c} \sum_{l,s=k+1}^n g^2 (Je_l, e_s) + 2(n-k)\lambda$$

+ $(k-1)trace(N_{|_{\pi_k^{\perp}}}) - \pi(p) \sum_{l,s=k+1}^n g^2 (Je_l, e_s) - \sum_{l,s=1}^k m_{ls}$
+ $2\tau(p) + \sum_{l,s=1}^n m_{ls} - \frac{n^2(n-k)}{(n-k+1)} ||H||^2$

which completes the proof.

By Theorem 5 we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1. Let N^n be n-dimensional submanifold of an 2m-dimensional real space form $\widetilde{N}(\overline{c})$ of constant holomorphic sectional curvature $4\overline{c}$ endowed with complex s-s.m.c. $\widetilde{\nabla}$. Then, for each k-plane section and $p \in N^n$, we get

$$\begin{split} \delta_N &\leq \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n-2)\overline{c} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{c}\sum_{l,s=3}^n g^2(Je_l,e_s) \\ &- (n-2)\lambda - trace(N_{|_{\pi_k^\perp}}) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}\left(\pi(p)\sum_{l,s=3}^n g^2(Je_l,e_s) + \sum_{l,s=3}^n m_{ls}\right) \\ &+ \frac{n^2(n-2)}{2(n+1)} \|H\|^2 \,. \end{split}$$

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank the referee for some useful comments and their helpful suggestions that have improved the quality of this paper.

References

- [1] Barros, M. and Romero, A. (1982). Indefinite Kaehler Manifolds, Math. Ann., 261, 55 62.
- [2] Chen, B. Y. (1996). Mean curvature and shape operator of isometric immersion in real space forms, Glasgow Mathematic Journal, 38, 87 – 97.
- [3] Chen, B. Y. (1999). Relation between Ricci curvature and shape operator for submanifolds with arbitrary codimension, Glasgow Mathematic Journal, 41, 33 – 41.
- [4] Chen, B. Y. (1993). Some pinching and classification theorems for minimal submanifolds, Arch. math., (Basel), 60(6), 568 - 578.

- [5] Chen, B. Y. (1994). A Riemannian invariant for submanifolds in space forms and its applications, Geometry and Topology of submanifolds VI, (Leuven, 1993/Brussels, 193), (NJ:Word Scientific Publishing, River Edge), no.6, 568 578.
- [6] Chen, B. Y. (1998). Strings of Riemannian invariants, inequalities, ideal immersions and their applications, The Third Pacific Rim Geometry Conference, Geom. Topol. Monogr., vol. 25. Seoul, (1996), Int. Press, Cambridge, MA (1998), pp. 7 – 60.
- [7] Chen, B. Y. (2000). Riemannian submanifolds, Handbook of Differential Geometry, vol. I, pp. 187-418.
- [8] Chen, B. Y. (2005). A general optimal inequlaity for a Riemannian submanifold, J. Ineq. Pure Appl. Math., 6(3), 1 - 11.
- Chen, B. Y. (2011). Pseudo-Riemannian Geometry, δ-Invariants and Applications, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, p. xxxii + 477.
- [10] Duggal, K. L. and Sharma, R. (1986). Semi-symmetric metric connections in a Semi-Riemannian Manifold, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math., 17(11), 1276 – 1282.
- [11] Hong, S. and Tripathi, M. M. (2005). On Ricci curvature of submanifolds, Int J. Pure Appl. Math. Sci., 2(2005), 227 – 245.
- [12] Liu, X. and Zhou, J. (2006). On Ricci curvature of certain submanifolds in cosympletic space form, Sarajeva J. Math., 2(2006), 95 - 106.
- [13] Matsumoto, K., Mihai, I. and Oiaga, A. (2000). Shape operator for slant submanifolds in complex space forms, Bull. Yamagata Univ. Natur. Sci., 14(4), 169 – 177.
- [14] Mihai, A. and Özgür, C. (2010). Chen inequalities for submanifolds of real space form with a semisymmetric metric connection, Taiwanese Journal of Mathematics, 14(4), pp. 1465 – 1477.
- [15] O'Neill, B. (1983). Semi-Riemannian Geometry with Applications to Relativity, Academic Press, London, 1983.
- [16] Oiaga, A. and Mihai, I. (1999). B. Y. Chen inequalities for slant submanifolds in complex space forms, Demonstratio Math., 32(4), 835 – 846.
- [17] Özgür, C. and Murathan, C. (2010). Chen Inequalities for Submanifolds of a Locally Conformal Almost Cosymplectic Manifold with a semi-symmetric metric connection, An. St. Univ. Ovidius Constanta, 18(1), 239 – 254.
- [18] Tripathi, M. M. (2011). Chen-Ricci inequality for curvature like tensor and its applications, Diff. geom. Appl., 29(5), 685 – 692.
- [19] Yano, K. (1970). On semi-symmetric metric connection, Rev. Roum. Math. Pures Et Appl., 15, 1579 1586.
- [20] Yano, K. and Imai, T. (1975). On Semi-Symmetric Metric F-Connection, Tensor, N. S., 29, 134 138.
- [21] Yücesan, A. (2011). Totally real submanifolds of an indefinite Kaehler manifold with a complex semisymmetric metric connection, The Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering, 1A(33), 114 - 122.
- [22] Zhang, P., Zhang, L. and Song, W. (2014). Chen's Inequalities for Submanifolds of a Riemannian Manifold of Quasi-Constant Curvature with a semi-symmetric metric connection, Taiwanese Journal Of Mathematics, Vol. 18(6), 1841 – 1862.

272

[23] Zhang, P., Zhang, L. and Song, W. (2014). Chen's Inequalities for Totally Real Submanifolds in Complex Space Forms with a semi-symmetric metric connection, Journal of Mathematical Research with Applications, 34(5), 587 – 596.

Malatya Turgut Özal University, Department of Engineering Basic Sciences, Malatya, Türkiye

CUKUROVA UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, ADANA, TÜRKIYE

Mersin University, Department of Mathematics, Mersin, Türkiye



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:274-296 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

SHARP INEQUALITIES FOR QUASI HEMI-SLANT RIEMANNIAN SUBMERSIONS (QHSS)

MEHMET AKIF AKYOL 🕑 *, NERGIZ (ÖNEN) POYRAZ ២, AND RAMAZAN DEMIR ២

ABSTRACT. The purpose of this article, we obtain sharp inequalities involving the Ricci curvature and the scalar curvature on the horizontal and the vertical distributions for quasi-hemi-slant Riemannian submersions (briefly, \mathcal{QHSS})) from complex space forms onto Riemannian manifolds and debate the equivalence posture the acquired inequality. Lastly, we adduce some examples for \mathcal{QHSS} .

Keywords: Riemannian submersion, quasi hemi-slant Riemannian submersion, Chen inequality, complex space form, vertical distribution

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 53C15, 53B20.

1. INTRODUCTION

In 1990, the notion of slant submanifolds of almost Hermitian manifolds was introduced by [8]. It was a natural generalization of both holomorphic and real submanifolds. Inspired by this notion, several geometers have worked on several types of slant submanifolds (see: [1], [5], [6], [7], [27], [32], [33], [34], [35], [36], [38], [44], [45]).

In the 1960s, O'Neills [53] and Gray [20] studied separately Riemannian submersions. In 1976, Watson studied almost complex types of Riemannian submersions [54] and this invention revealed Hermitian submersions between almost Hermitian manifolds. After these

Received:2024.04.19 Revised:2024.06.25

Accepted:2024.12.16

* Corresponding author

 $Mehmet \ Akif \ Akyol \ \diamond \ mehmet.akyol@usak.edu.tr \ \diamond \ https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2334-6955$

Nergiz (Önen) Poyraz \diamond nonen@cu.edu.tr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8110-712X

Ramazan Demir \diamond ramazan.demir@inonu.edu.tr \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9476-3823 .

studies, Sahin [47] introduced the semi-invariant submersions from almost Hermitian manifolds onto Riemannian manifolds that it was a generalization of holomorphic submersions and anti-invariant submersions [46] and slant submersions from almost Hermitian manifolds onto arbitrary Riemannian manifolds in 2013 [48]. Subsequently, different kinds of structures have been studied in several types of Riemannian submersions (see: [3], [16], [18], [22], [23], [25], [49]). Prasad, Shukla, and Kumar, as a natural generalization of hemi-slant submersions, semi-slant submersions, and bi-slant submersions, identified the notion of quasi bi-slant submersions from Kaehler manifold onto a Riemannian manifold [37]. Longwap, Massamba, and Homti [28]. introduced \mathcal{QHSS} as a generalization of slant, semi-slant, and hemi-slant Riemannian submersions in 2019. On the contrary, Chen established Chen inequalities [9], [10], [11], [14] which as a solution "one of the basic problems in submanifold theory finds simple relationships between the extrinsic and intrinsic invariants of a submanifold". According to Chen [13], a generalization of this inequality was proved arbitrary submanifolds of an arbitrary Riemannian manifold in 2005. Subsequently, several authors investigated Chen-Ricci inequality of submersions and submanifolds (see: [2], [4], [15], [17], [19], [21], [24], [29], [30], [31], [39], [40], [41], [42], [43], [50], [51], [52], [55]). The main purpose of this article acquire some inequalities bearing Ricci curvatures and running Chen-Ricci inequality on the horizontal and the vertical distributions for \mathcal{QHSS} from complex space forms onto Riemannian manifolds.

This article is organized as follows; in Section 2, we recall respectively some basic geometric properties of Riemannian submersions, O'Neill tensors, curvature relations, complex space form, and QHSS. In Section 3, we attain Chen-Ricci inequalities on the horizontal the vertical distributions for QHSS from complex space forms onto Riemannian manifolds and dispute the equivalence case of the acquired inequality. Eventually, we ensure some examples for QHSS.

2. Quasi hemi-slant Riemannian submersions (QHSS)

In this working, unless stated otherwise, all concepts such as manifolds, maps and so on, expressed will be considered differentiable. First let's give the following description.

Definition 2.1. Let (M_1, g_1) and (M_2, g_2) be Riemannian manifolds, where $dim(M_1)$ is greater than $dim(M_2)$. A surjective mapping $\varphi : (M_1, g_1) \to (M_2, g_2)$ is called a Riemannian submersion if

- (i) φ has maximal rank, and
- (ii) φ_* , restricted to $\ker \varphi_*^{\perp}$ is a linear isometry [53].

Describe the O'Neill's tensors \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{A} by [53]:

$$\mathcal{T}_{\xi}\eta = \mathcal{V}\nabla_{\mathcal{V}\xi}\mathcal{H}\eta + \mathcal{H}\nabla_{\mathcal{V}\xi}\mathcal{V}\eta, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\xi}\eta = \mathcal{V}\nabla_{\mathcal{H}\xi}\mathcal{H}\eta + \mathcal{H}\nabla_{\mathcal{H}\xi}\mathcal{V}\eta \tag{2.2}$$

for any vector fields $\xi, \eta \in \Gamma(M_1)$, where ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection of g_1 . Moreover, from (2.1) and (2.2), we have

$$\nabla_{V_1} V_2 = \mathcal{T}_{V_1} V_2 + \hat{\nabla}_{V_1} V_2, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\nabla_{V_1} X_1 = \mathcal{T}_{V_1} X_1 + \mathcal{H} \nabla_{V_1} X_1, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\nabla_{X_1} V_1 = \mathcal{A}_{X_1} V_1 + \mathcal{V} \nabla_{X_1} V_1, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\nabla_{X_1} X_2 = \mathcal{H} \nabla_{X_1} X_2 + \mathcal{A}_{X_1} X_2, \qquad (2.6)$$

for $V_1, V_2 \in \Gamma(\ker \varphi_*)$ and $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma((\ker \varphi_*)^{\perp})$ where $\hat{\nabla}_{V_1} V_2 = \mathcal{V} \nabla_{V_1} V_2$. It is not difficult to observe that \mathcal{T} acts on the fibers as the second fundamental form, while \mathcal{A} acts on the horizontal distribution and measures the obstruction to the integrability of this distribution [53].

Specify by R_1 , R_2 , R_3 and R_4 the Riemannian curvature tensor of Riemannian manifolds M_1 , M_2 , the vertical distribution $ker\varphi_*$ and the horizontal distribution $(ker\varphi_*)^{\perp}$, seriatim. Then the Gauss-Codazzi type equivalences are dedicated by

$$R_1(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) = R_3(U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2) + g_1(\mathcal{T}_{U_1}V_2, \mathcal{T}_{U_2}V_1) - g_1(\mathcal{T}_{U_2}V_2, \mathcal{T}_{U_1}V_1)$$
(2.7)

$$R_1(X_1, X_2, Y_1, Y_2) = R_4(X_1, X_2, Y_1, Y_2) - 2g_1(\mathcal{A}_{X_1}X_2, \mathcal{A}_{Y_1}Y_2),$$

+ $g_1(\mathcal{A}_{X_2}Y_1, \mathcal{A}_{X_1}Y_2) - g_1(\mathcal{A}_{X_1}Y_1, \mathcal{A}_{X_2}Y_2),$ (2.8)

$$R_1(X_1, V_1, Y_1, U_1) = g_1((\nabla_{X_1} \mathcal{T})(V_1, U_1), Y_1) + g_1((\nabla_{V_1} \mathcal{A})(X_1, Y_1), U_1),$$

- $g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_1} X_1, \mathcal{T}_{U_1} Y_1) + g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_1} U_1, \mathcal{A}_{X_1} V_1),$ (2.9)

where

$$\varphi_*(R_4(X_1, X_2)Y_1)) = R_2(\varphi_*X_1, \varphi_*X_2)\varphi_*Y_1 \tag{2.10}$$

for all $U_1, U_2, V_1, V_2 \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)$ and $X_1, X_2, Y_1, Y_2 \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)^{\perp}$ [53].

Conversely, the mean curvature vector field \dot{H} of any fibre of Riemannian submersion φ is dedicated by

$$\dot{N} = t\dot{H}, \dot{N} = \sum_{j=1}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{V_j} V_j \tag{2.11}$$

where $\{V_1, ..., V_t\}$ is an orthonormal basis of the vertical distribution \mathcal{V} . Additionally, φ has totally geodesic fibers if \mathcal{T} vanishes on $ker\varphi_*$ and $(ker\varphi_*)^{\perp}$ [53].

Let M_1 be an almost Hermitian manifold with an almost complex structure J_1 and a Hermitian metric g_1 . If J_1 is parallel as far as concerns the Levi-Civita connection ∇ on M_1 , that mean

$$(\nabla_{X_1} J_1) X_2 = 0$$

for all $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma(TM_1)$, then (M_1, J_1, g_1, ∇) is yelepted a Kaehler manifold. A Kaehler manifold M_1 is named a complex space form if it has fixed holomorphic sectional curvature represented by $M_1(c_1)$. The curvature tensor of the complex space form $M_1(c)$ is dedicated by

$$R_{5}(X_{1}, X_{2})Y_{1} = \frac{c_{1}}{4} \{g_{1}(X_{2}, Y_{1})X_{1} - g_{1}(X_{1}, Y_{1})X_{2} + g_{1}(J_{1}X_{2}, Y_{1})J_{1}X_{1} - g_{1}(J_{1}X_{1}, Y_{1})J_{1}X_{2} + 2g_{1}(X_{1}, J_{1}X_{2})J_{1}Y_{1}\}$$
(2.12)

for any $X_1, X_2, Y_1 \in \Gamma(TM_1)$.

Definition 2.2. Let (M_1, g_1, J_1) be an almost Hermitian manifold and (M_2, g_2) be a Riemannian manifold. A Riemannian submersion $\varphi : (M_1, g_1, J_1) \to (M_2, g_2)$ is called a QHSS if there exist three mutually orthogonal distribution $\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}^{\perp}$ and \mathcal{D}^{θ} such that

- $(i)ker\varphi_* = \mathcal{D} \oplus \mathcal{D}^\perp \oplus \mathcal{D}^\theta,$
- $(ii)J_1(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{D}, \ J_1\mathcal{D}^{\perp} \subseteq (ker\varphi_*)^{\perp}$

(iii) for any non-zero vector field $Z_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}_p^{\theta})$, $p \in M_1$ the angle θ between $J_1(Z_1)$ and \mathcal{D}_p^{θ} is constant and independent of the choice of point p and Z_1 in \mathcal{D}_p^{θ} [28].

We name the angle θ a quasi hemi-slant angle. In this article, we will presume all horizontal vector fields as basic vector fields.

Let φ : $(M_1, g_1, J_1) \to (M_2, g_2)$ be a \mathcal{QHSS} , at present. Then [28], we have for all $V \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)$, we get

$$J_1 V_1 = \psi V_1 + \omega V_1 \tag{2.13}$$

where $\psi V \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)$ and $\omega V_1 \in \Gamma(\omega \mathcal{D}^{\theta} \oplus \omega \mathcal{D}^{\perp})$. For any $X_1 \in \Gamma((ker\varphi_*)^{\perp})$, we get

$$J_1 X_1 = \mathcal{B}_1 X_1 + \mathcal{B}_2 X_1 \tag{2.14}$$

where $\mathcal{B}_1 X_1 \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)$ and $\mathcal{B}_2 X_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{V})$.

Theorem 2.1. [28] Let M_1 be a 2*m*-dimensional almost Hermitian manifold with g_1 a Riemannian metric on M_1 and almost complex structure J_1 , and M_2 be a Riemannian manifold with Riemannian metric g_2 . Then there is a Riemannian submersion $\varphi : (M_1, g_1, J_1) \rightarrow$ (M_2, g_2) such that its vertical distribution ker φ_* admits three orthogonal distributions $\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}^{\theta}$ and \mathcal{D}^{\perp} which are invariant, slant and anti-invariant respectively, i.e.

$$\ker \varphi_* = \mathcal{D} \oplus \mathcal{D}^\perp \oplus \mathcal{D}^\theta,$$

with $J_1\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}$, the angle θ between $J_1\mathcal{D}^{\theta}$ and \mathcal{D}^{θ} being constant and $J_1\mathcal{D}^{\perp} \subseteq (\ker \varphi_*)^{\perp}$. If we denote the dimension of $\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}^{\theta}$ and \mathcal{D}^{\perp} by m_1, m_2 and m_3 , respectively, then we easily see the following particular cases:

- (1) If $m_1 = 0$, then M_1 is a hemi-slant submersion.
- (2) If $m_2 = 0$, then M_1 is a semi-invariant submersion.
- (3) If $m_3 = 0$, then M_1 is a semi-slant submersion.

The submersion in Theorem 2.1 will be called QHSS and the angle θ is called the quasi hemi-slant angle of the submersion. This means that a QHSS is a generalization of hemi-slant, semi-invariant and semi-slant submersions.

We say that the $\mathcal{QHSS} \varphi : (M_1, g_1, J_1) \to (M_2, g_2)$ is proper if $\mathcal{D} \neq \{0\}, \mathcal{D}^{\perp} \neq \{0\}$ and $\theta \neq 0, \frac{\pi}{2}$. From the above items, hemi-slant submersions, semi-invariant submersions, and semi-slant submersions are all examples of \mathcal{QHSS} . The undermentioned theorem is a characterization for \mathcal{QHSS} of a complex space form. The proof of it completely identical with slant immersions see:[28]. Hence we omit its substantiation.

Theorem 2.2. [28] Let φ be a Riemannian submersion from a complex manifold (M_1, g_1, J_1) onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . Then, φ is a QHSS if and only if there exists a constant $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ such that

$$\phi^2 U_1 = -\lambda U_1.$$

where $U_1 \in \Gamma(D^{\theta})$. Furthermore, in such a case, if θ is the slant angle of φ , it satisfies that $\lambda = \cos^2 \theta$.

Lemma 2.1. Let $(M_1(c_1), g_1), (M_2, g_2)$ be a complex space form and a Riemannian manifold, seriatim and $\varphi: M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ a QHSS. Then the undermentioned relations are current,

$$g_1(\phi U_1, \phi V_1) = \cos^2 \theta g_1(U_1, V_1),$$

$$g_1(\omega U_1, \omega V_1) = \sin^2 \theta g_1(U_1, V_1),$$

for any $U_1, V_1 \in \Gamma(ker\varphi_*)$ [28].

Lemma 2.2. If φ is a QHSS then we have i) $\phi^2 V = -(\cos^2 \theta)V$, ii) $g_1(\phi V_1, \phi V_2) = \cos^2 \theta g_1(V_1, V_2)$, iii) $g_1(\omega V_1, \omega V_2) = \sin^2 \theta g_1(V_1, V_2)$ for all $V_1, V_2 \in \Gamma(D^{\theta})$ [28].

3. CHEN-RICCI INEQUALITY AND CHEN INEQUALITIES

Let $(M_1(c_1), g_1), (M_2, g_2)$ be a complex space form and a Riemannian manifold, seriatim and $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ a \mathcal{QHSS} . Additionally, let $\{V_1, ..., V_t, Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $T_pM_1(c_1)$ such that $\mathcal{V} = Sp\{V_1, ..., V_t\}, \mathcal{H} = Sp\{Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$ and $t = 2t_1 + 2t_2 + t_3$, where $\dim \mathcal{D} = 2t_1, \dim \mathcal{D}^{\theta} = 2t_2$ and $\dim \mathcal{D}^{\perp} = t_3$. Then we may consider an adapted quasi hemi-slant orthonormal frames as follows:

$$V_1, V_2 = J_1 V_1, \dots, V_{2t_1-1}, V_{2t_1} = J_1 V_{2t_1-1}, V_{2t_1+1},$$

$$V_{2t_1+2} = \sec \theta \psi V_{2t_1+1}, \dots, V_{2t_1+2t_2-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2} = \sec \theta \psi V_{2t_1+2t_2-1},$$

$$V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}, \dots, V_{2t_1+2t_2+t_3}.$$

Obviously, we obtain

$$g_1^2(J_1V_i, V_{i+1}) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } i \in \{1, ..., 2t_1 - 1\}, \\ \cos^2 \theta, & \text{for } i \in \{1, ..., 2t_1 + 2t_2 - 1\}, \\ 0, & \text{for } i \in \{2t_1 + 2t_2 + 1, ..., 2t_1 + 2t_2 + t_3 - 1\}, \end{cases}$$

then

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{t} g_1^2(J_1 V_i, V_j) = 2(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta).$$

Furthermore, let $\{V_1, ..., V_t, Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $T_p M_1(c_1)$ such that $\mathcal{V} = Sp\{V_1, ..., V_t\}, \mathcal{H} = Sp\{Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$. Then Ric_1 and Ric_2 are dedicated by

$$Ric_1(V_1) = \sum_{i=1}^{t} R_3(V_1, V_i, V_i, V_1), \qquad (3.15)$$

M. A. AKYOL, N. (ÖNEN) POYRAZ, AND R. DEMIR

$$Ric_2(Y_1) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} R_2(Y_1, Y_j, Y_j, Y_1).$$
(3.16)

Furthermore, scalar curvature τ_1 and τ_2 are defined

$$\tau_1 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le t} R_3(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i), \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\tau_2 = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} R_4(Y_i, Y_j, Y_j, Y_i).$$
(3.18)

Moreover, utilizing (2.7), (2.8) and (2.12), we get

$$R_{3}(V_{1}, V_{2}, V_{3}, V_{4}) = \frac{c_{1}}{4} \{ g_{1}(V_{2}, V_{3})g_{1}(V_{1}, V_{4}) - g_{1}(V_{1}, V_{3})g_{1}(V_{2}, V_{4}) + g_{1}(J_{1}V_{2}, V_{3})g_{1}(J_{1}V_{1}, V_{4}) - g_{1}(J_{1}V_{1}, V_{3})g_{1}(J_{1}V_{2}, V_{4}) + 2g_{1}(V_{1}, J_{1}V_{2})g_{1}(J_{1}V_{3}, V_{4}) \} - g_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{1}}V_{4}, \mathcal{T}_{V_{2}}V_{3}) + g_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{2}}V_{4}, \mathcal{T}_{V_{1}}V_{3}),$$
(3.19)

$$R_{4}(Y_{1}, Y_{2}, Y_{3}, Y_{4}) = \frac{c_{1}}{4} \{ g_{1}(Y_{2}, Y_{3})g_{1}(Y_{1}, Y_{4}) - g_{1}(Y_{1}, Y_{3})g_{1}(Y_{2}, Y_{4}) + g_{1}(J_{1}Y_{2}, Y_{3})g_{1}(J_{1}Y_{1}, Y_{4}) - g_{1}(J_{1}Y_{1}, Y_{3})g_{1}(J_{1}Y_{2}, Y_{4}) + 2g_{1}(Y_{1}, J_{1}Y_{2})g_{1}(J_{1}Y_{3}, Y_{4}) \} + 2g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{1}}Y_{2}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{3}}Y_{4}) - g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{2}}Y_{3}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{1}}Y_{4}) + g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{1}}Y_{3}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{2}}Y_{4}).$$
(3.20)

Theorem 3.1. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case, the undermentioned expressions are actual.

i) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V_1) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t+2) - tg_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_1}V_1, \acute{H}), \qquad (3.21)$$

In case of (3.21)' equality holds for a unit vertical vector $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$ if and only if each fiber is totally geodesic.

ii) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V_1) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t - 1 + 3\cos^2\theta) - tg_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_1}V_1, \acute{H}), \qquad (3.22)$$

In case of (3.22)'s equality holds for a unit vertical vector $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$ if and only if each fiber is totally geodesic.

iii) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V_1) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t-1) - tg_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_1}V_1, \acute{H}), \qquad (3.23)$$

In case of (3.23)'s equality holds for a unit vertical vector $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$ if and only if each fiber is totally geodesic.

Proof. Using (3.15) and (3.19) we have,

$$Ric_{1}(V_{1}) = \frac{c_{1}}{4}(t - 1 + 3\sum_{i=1}^{t} g_{1}^{2}(J_{1}V_{1}, V_{i})) - tg_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{1}}V_{1}, \dot{H}) + \|\mathcal{T}_{V_{1}}V_{i}\|^{2}.$$
 (3.24)

In that case we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{t} g_1^2(J_1V_1, V_i) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}) \\ \cos^2 \theta, & \text{if } V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta}) \\ 0, & \text{if } V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp}). \end{cases}$$

Using last equivalence in (3.24), we get (3.21), (3.22) and (3.23).

Theorem 3.2. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case

$$2\tau_1 \ge \frac{c_1}{4} \{ t(t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta) \} - t^2 \left\| \acute{H} \right\|^2.$$
(3.25)

The equivalence case of (3.25) holds if and only if each fiber is totally geodesic.

Proof. From (3.17) and (3.19) we have:

$$2\tau_1 = \frac{c_1}{4}(t(t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2\cos^2\theta)) - t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 + \sum_{i,j=1}^t g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_i}V_j, \mathcal{T}_{V_i}V_j).$$
(3.26)

Here we have use \mathcal{T} is a symmetric operator. Hence from (3.26) the proof is completed. \Box

Since φ is QHSS and A is an anti-symmetric operator, from (3.18) and (3.20) we have

$$2\tau_2 = \frac{c_1}{4} (n(n-1) + 3\sum_{i,j=1}^n g_1(\mathcal{B}_2 Y_i, Y_j) g_1(\mathcal{B}_2 Y_i, Y_j)) - 3\sum_{i,j=1}^n g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i} Y_j, \mathcal{A}_{Y_i} Y_j).$$
(3.27)

If we portray

$$\|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n g_1^2(\mathcal{B}_2 Y_i, Y_j), \qquad (3.28)$$

In that case from (3.27) and (3.28) we get

$$2\tau_2 = \frac{c_1}{4}(n(n-1) + 3 \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2) - 3\sum_{i,j=1}^n g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i}Y_j, \mathcal{A}_{Y_i}Y_j).$$
(3.29)

From (3.29) we have:

Theorem 3.3. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case

$$2\tau_2 \le \frac{c_1}{4} (n(n-1) + 3 \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2).$$
(3.30)

In case of (3.30)'s equality holds if and only if $\mathcal{H}(M_1)$ is integrable.

Let $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ be a complex space form and (M_2, g_2) a Riemannian manifold. Assume that $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ is a \mathcal{QHSS} and $\{V_1, ..., V_t, Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$ is an orthonormal basis of $TpM_1(c_1)$ such that $\mathcal{V}p(M_1) = Sp\{V_1, ..., V_t\}, \mathcal{H}p(M_1) = Sp\{Y_1, ..., Y_n\}$. Now, if we denote \mathcal{T}_{ij}^s by

$$\mathcal{T}_{ij}^s = g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_i}V_j, Y_s), \tag{3.31}$$

where $1 \leq i, j \leq t$ and $1 \leq s \leq n$ (see [17]). The same, if we denote $\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{\alpha}$ by

$$\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{\alpha} = g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i}Y_j, V_{\alpha}), \tag{3.32}$$

where $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ and $1 \leq \alpha \leq t$. From [17], we use

$$\delta(\hat{N}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{t} g_1((\nabla_{Y_i} \mathcal{T})_{V_k} V_k, Y_i).$$
(3.33)

$$\sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{i,j=1}^{t} (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{s})^{2} = \frac{1}{2} t^{2} \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{T}_{11}^{s} - \mathcal{T}_{22}^{s} - \dots - \mathcal{T}_{tt}^{s})^{2} + 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{j=2}^{t} (\mathcal{T}_{1j}^{s})^{2} - 2 \sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} (\mathcal{T}_{ii}^{s} \mathcal{T}_{jj}^{s} - (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{s})^{2}).$$
(3.34)

The above equations, the Binomial theorem we have like equivalence between the tensor fields \mathcal{T} :

Theorem 3.4. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case, the undermentioned statements are actual.

i) If $V \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t+2) - \frac{1}{4}t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2.$$
(3.35)

ii) If $V \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t - 1 + 3\cos^2\theta) - \frac{1}{4}t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2.$$
(3.36)

iii) If $V \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$, in that case

$$Ric_1(V) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t-1) - \frac{1}{4}t^2 \left\| \acute{H} \right\|^2.$$
(3.37)

In case of (3.35)'s, (3.36)'s and (3.37)'s equalities hold if and only if

$$\mathcal{T}_{11}^{s} = \mathcal{T}_{22}^{s} + \dots + \mathcal{T}_{tt}^{s},$$

 $\mathcal{T}_{1j}^{s} = 0, \qquad j = 2, \dots, r$

Proof. Let $\{V_1, ..., V_{2t_1}, V_{2t_1+1}, V_{2t_1+2}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3}\}$ be an adapted quasi hemi-slant basis of $\mathcal{V}p(M_1)$.

i) Because in this case one can comprehend the concerted quasi hemi-slant basis such that $V_1 = V$, it suffices to prove (3.35) for $V = V_1$. Using (3.31) in (3.26) and the symmetry of \mathcal{T} , we get

$$2\tau_1 = \frac{c_1}{4}(t(t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2\cos^2\theta)) - t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 + \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{i,j=1}^t (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^s)^2.$$
(3.38)

Thus using (3.34) in (3.38) we have

$$2\tau_{1} = \frac{c_{1}}{4}(t(t-1) + 6(t_{1} + t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}t^{2} \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{T}_{11}^{s} - \mathcal{T}_{22}^{s} - \dots - \mathcal{T}_{tt}^{s})^{2} + 2\sum_{s=1}^{n}\sum_{j=2}^{t}(\mathcal{T}_{1j}^{s})^{2} - 2\sum_{s=1}^{n}\sum_{2\leq i< j\leq t}(\mathcal{T}_{ii}^{s}\mathcal{T}_{jj}^{s} - (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{s})^{2}).$$

$$(3.39)$$

In that case from (3.39) we get

$$2\tau_1 \ge \frac{c_1}{4} (t(t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta))) - \frac{1}{2} t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 - 2 \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} (\mathcal{T}_{is}^s \mathcal{T}_{jj}^s - (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^s)^2).$$
(3.40)

In addition to, letting $V_1 = V_2 = V_i$, $V_3 = V_4 = V_j$ in (3.19) and using (3.31), we have

$$2\sum_{2\leq i< j\leq t} R(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i) = 2\sum_{2\leq i< j\leq t} R_3(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i) + 2\sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{2\leq i< j\leq t} (\mathcal{T}_{ii}^s \mathcal{T}_{jj}^s - (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^s)^2).$$
(3.41)

From (3.41) in (3.40), we have

$$2\tau_{1} \geq \frac{c_{1}}{4}(t(t-1) + 6(t_{1} + t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}t^{2} \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^{2} + 2\sum_{2 \leq i < j \leq t} R_{3}(V_{i}, V_{j}, V_{j}, V_{i}) - 2\sum_{2 \leq i < j \leq t} R(V_{i}, V_{j}, V_{j}, V_{j}).$$
(3.42)

In addition to, we know

$$2\tau_1 = 2\sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} R_3(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i) + 2\sum_{j=1}^t R_3(V_1, V_j, V_j, V_1).$$
(3.43)
Considering (3.43) in (3.42), we obtain

$$2Ric_{1}(V_{1}) \geq \frac{c_{1}}{4}(t(t-1) + 6(t_{1} + t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}t^{2} \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^{2} - 2\sum_{2 \leq i < j \leq t} R(V_{i}, V_{j}, V_{j}, V_{i}).$$
(3.44)

Since M_1 is a complex space form, its curvature tensor R satisfies the equality (2.12), we have

$$\sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} R_1(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left(\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + 3 \sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} g_1^2(J_1V_i, V_j) \right).$$
(3.45)

Taking $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$ in (3.45), we get

$$\sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} R_1(V_i, V_j, V_j, V_i) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left(\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + 3(t_1 - 1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta) \right).$$
(3.46)

Using last equation in (3.44) we have (3.35).

ii) Because in this case one can comprehend the concerted semi-slant basis $\{V_1, ..., V_{2t_1}, V_{2t_1+1}, V_{2t_1+2}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3}\}$ such that $V_{2t_1+1} = V$, it suffices to prove (3.37) for $V = V_{2t_1+1}$.

With like arguments as in case i), we obtain

$$2Ric_1(V_{2t_1+1}) \ge \frac{c_1}{4} (t(t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta)) - \frac{1}{2} t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 -2 \sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1+1} R(V_k, V_s, V_s, V_k).$$
(3.47)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 1} R_1(V_k, V_s, V_s, V_k) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left(\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 1} g_1^2(J_1V_k, V_s)\right).$$
(3.48)

As $V_{2t_1+1} \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$, we acquire immediately

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 1} g_1^2(J_1 V_k, V_s) = t_1 + (t_2 - 1) \cos^2 \theta_2$$

and therefore (3.48) can be written as

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 1} R_1(V_k, V_s, V_s, V_k) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left[\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + 3(t_1 + (t_2 - 1)\cos^2\theta) \right].$$
(3.49)

Considering now the last equation in (3.47), we have

$$Ric_1(V_{2t_1+1}) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t-1+3\cos^2\theta) - \frac{1}{4}t^2 \left\| \acute{H} \right\|^2$$

which implies (3.36).

iii) Because in this case one can comprehend the concerted semi-slant basis $\{V_1, ..., V_{2t_1}, V_{2t_1+1}, V_{2t_1+2}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}, ..., V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3-1}, V_{2t_1+2t_2+2t_3}\}$ such that $V_{2t_1+2t_2+1} = V$, it suffices to prove (3.37) for $V = V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}$.

With similar arguments as in case i), we obtain

$$2Ric_{1}(V_{2t_{1}+2t_{2}+1}) \geq \frac{c_{1}}{4}(t(t-1)+6(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}t^{2} \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^{2}$$
$$-2\sum_{1\leq k< s\leq t; \ k,s\neq 2t_{1}+2t_{2}+1}R_{1}(V_{k},V_{s},V_{s},V_{k})$$
(3.50)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 2t_2 + 1} R_1(V_k, V_s, V_s, V_k) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left(\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 2t_2 + 1} g_1^2(J_1V_k, V_s) \right)$$
(3.51)

As $V_{2t_1+2t_2+1} \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$, we obtain immediately

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 2t_2 + 1} g_1^2(J_1 V_k, V_s) = t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta$$

and therefore (3.51) can be written as

$$\sum_{1 \le k < s \le t; \ k, s \ne 2t_1 + 2t_2 + 1} R_1(V_k, V_s, V_s, V_k) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left[\frac{(t-2)(t-1)}{2} + 3(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta) \right].$$
(3.52)

Thinking now the last equation in (3.50), we get

$$Ric_1(V_{2t_1+2t_2+1}) \ge \frac{c_1}{4}(t-1) - \frac{1}{4}t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2$$

which implies (3.37).

Theorem 3.5. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we have

$$Ric_{2}(Y_{1}) \leq \frac{c_{1}}{4}(n-1+3 \|\mathcal{B}_{2}Y_{1}\|^{2}).$$
(3.53)

In case of (3.53)'s equality holds if and only if

$$\mathcal{A}_{1i}^{\alpha} = 0, \quad j = 2, ..., n.$$

Proof. Considering (3.29) and (3.32), we get

$$2\tau_2 = \frac{c_1}{4} (n(n-1) + 3 \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2) - 3 \sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{i,j=1}^n (\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{\alpha})^2.$$
(3.54)

In that case (3.54) can be written as

$$2\tau_2 = \frac{c_1}{4}(n(n-1) + 3 \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2) - 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{j=2}^n (\mathcal{A}_{1j}^{\alpha})^2 - 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} (\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{\alpha})^2.$$
(3.55)

Besides, letting $X_1 = Y_2 = Y_i$, $X_2 = Y_1 = Y_j$ in (3.20) and considering (3.32), we derive

$$2\sum_{2\leq i< j\leq n} R(Y_i, Y_j, Y_j, Y_j, Y_i) = 2\sum_{2\leq i< j\leq n} R_4(Y_i, Y_j, Y_j, Y_i) + 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{2\leq i< j\leq n} (\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{\alpha})^2.$$
(3.56)

Using (3.56) in (3.55), we get

$$2\tau_{2} = \frac{c_{1}}{4} (n(n-1) + 3 \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2}) - 6 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{t} \sum_{j=2}^{n} (\mathcal{A}_{1j}^{\alpha})^{2} + 2 \sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} R_{4}(Y_{i}, Y_{j}, Y_{j}, Y_{i}) - 2 \sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} R_{1}(Y_{i}, Y_{j}, Y_{j}, Y_{j}).$$
(3.57)

Moreover, using (3.20) we have

$$\sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} R_1(Y_i, Y_j, Y_j, Y_j) = \frac{c_1}{4} \left(\frac{(n-2)(n-1)}{2} + 3 \sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} g_1^2(\mathcal{B}_2 Y_i, Y_j) \right).$$
(3.58)

Taking into account that

$$\|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2 - 2\sum_{2 \le i < j \le n} g_1^2(\mathcal{B}_2 Y_i, Y_j) = 2 \|\mathcal{B}_2 Y_1\|^2.$$
(3.59)

and using (3.57), (3.58) and (3.59), we get

$$2Ric_2(Y_1) = \frac{c_1}{2}(n-1+3\|\mathcal{B}_2Y_1\|^2) - 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{j=2}^n (\mathcal{A}_{1j}^{\alpha})^2.$$
(3.60)

Hence the assertion follows.

Now, we calculate the Chen-Ricci inequality between horizontal and the vertical distributions. For the scalar curvature τ of $M_1(c_1)$, we provide

$$2\tau = \sum_{s=1}^{n} Ric(Y_s, Y_s) + \sum_{k=1}^{t} Ric(V_k, V_k).$$
(3.61)

Additionally, we can write

$$2\tau = \sum_{j,k=1}^{t} R_1(V_j, V_k, V_k, V_j) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{t} R_1(Y_i, V_k, V_k, Y_i) + \sum_{i,s=1}^{n} R_1(Y_i, Y_s, Y_s, Y_i) + \sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{t} R_1(V_j, Y_s, Y_s, V_j).$$
(3.62)

Next, let us denote as usual (see [17]):

$$\left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{t} g_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{k}}Y_{i}, \mathcal{T}_{V_{k}}Y_{i}), \qquad (3.63)$$

$$\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2 = \sum_{k,j=1}^t g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_k}V_j, \mathcal{T}_{V_k}V_j),$$
 (3.64)

$$\left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|^{2} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}Y_{j}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}Y_{j}), \qquad (3.65)$$

$$\left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{t} g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}V_{k}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}V_{k}).$$
(3.66)

Theorem 3.6. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) .

i) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$, in that case

$$\frac{c_1}{4}(nt+n+t+3(1+\|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2+\|\mathcal{B}_2Y_1\|^2)) \le Ric_1(V_1)+Ric_2(Y_1) + \frac{1}{4}t^2\|\dot{H}\|^2 + 3\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{s=2}^n (\mathcal{A}_{1s}^{\alpha})^2 - \delta(\dot{N}) + \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2.$$
(3.67)

ii) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$, in that case

$$\frac{c_1}{4}(nt+n+t+3(\cos^2\theta+\|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2+\|\mathcal{B}_2Y_1\|^2)) \le Ric_1(V_1)+Ric_2(Y_1) + \frac{1}{4}t^2\|\dot{H}\|^2+3\sum_{\alpha=1}^t\sum_{s=2}^n(\mathcal{A}_{1s}^{\alpha})^2-\delta(\dot{N})+\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2-\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2.$$
(3.68)

iii) If $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$, in that case

$$\frac{c_1}{4}(nt+n+t+3(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta+\|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2+\|\mathcal{B}_2Y_1\|^2)) \le Ric_1(V_1)+Ric_2(Y_1) + \frac{1}{4}t^2\|\dot{H}\|^2 + 3\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{s=2}^n (\mathcal{A}_{1s}^{\alpha})^2 - \delta(\dot{N}) + \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2.$$
(3.69)

In case of (3.67)'s, (3.68)'s and (3.69)'s equalties hold if and only if

$$\mathcal{T}_{11}^{s} = \mathcal{T}_{22}^{s} + \dots + \mathcal{T}_{tt}^{s},$$

 $\mathcal{T}_{1j}^{s} = 0, \quad j = 2, \dots, t.$

Proof. Since $M_1(c_1)$ is a complex space form, from (3.62) we have

$$2\tau = \frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 6(t_1 + t_2 \cos^2 \theta)) + 3(\|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2 + 2\sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^t g_1^2(\mathcal{B}_1 Y_i, V_k))]. \quad (3.70)$$

Now, we define

$$\|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^t g^2(\mathcal{B}_1 Y_i, V_k).$$
(3.71)

Moreover, handling the Gauss-Codazzi type equations (2.7)-(2.9), we have

$$2\tau = 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 - \sum_{k,j=1}^t g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_k}V_j, \mathcal{T}_{V_k}V_j) + 3\sum_{i,s=1}^n g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i}X_s, \mathcal{A}_{Y_i}X_s) - \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^t g_1((\nabla_{Y_i}\mathcal{T})_{V_k}V_k, Y_i) + \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^t (g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_k}Y_i, \mathcal{T}_{V_k}Y_i) - g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i}V_k, \mathcal{A}_{Y_i}V_k)) - \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^r g_1((\nabla_{Y_s}\mathcal{T})_{V_j}V_j, Y_s) + \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^t (g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_j}Y_s, \mathcal{T}_{V_j}Y_s) - g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_s}V_j, \mathcal{A}_{Y_s}V_j)).$$
(3.72)

Thus considering (3.34) and (3.72), we get

$$2\tau = 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + \frac{1}{2}t^2 \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{T}_{11}^s - \mathcal{T}_{22}^s - \dots - \mathcal{T}_{tt}^s)^2 - 2\sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{j=2}^t (\mathcal{T}_{1j}^s)^2 + 2\sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{2 \le i < j \le t} (\mathcal{T}_{ii}^s \mathcal{T}_{jj}^s - (\mathcal{T}_{ij}^s)^2) + 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{s=2}^n (\mathcal{A}_{1s}^\alpha)^2 + 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^t \sum_{2 \le i < s \le n} (\mathcal{A}_{is}^\alpha)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^t (g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_k}Y_i, \mathcal{T}_{V_k}Y_i) - g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_i}V_k, \mathcal{A}_{Y_i}V_k)) - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^t (g_1(\mathcal{T}_{V_j}Y_s, \mathcal{T}_{V_j}Y_s) - g_1(\mathcal{A}_{Y_s}V_j, \mathcal{A}_{Y_s}V_j)).$$
(3.73)

Considering (3.41), (3.56), (3.70) and (3.71) in (3.73), we get

$$\frac{c_{1}}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_{1}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2})] = 2Ric_{1}(V_{1})
+ 2Ric_{2}(Y_{1}) + \frac{1}{2}t^{2} \|\dot{H}\|^{2} - \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{T}_{11}^{s} - \mathcal{T}_{22}^{s} - \dots - \mathcal{T}_{tt}^{s})^{2} - 2\sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{j=2}^{t}(\mathcal{T}_{1j}^{s})^{2}
+ 6\sum_{\alpha=1}^{t} \sum_{s=2}^{n} (\mathcal{A}_{1s}^{\alpha})^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{t} (g_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{k}}Y_{i}, \mathcal{T}_{V_{k}}Y_{i}) - g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}V_{k}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{i}}V_{k}))
- 2\delta(\dot{N}) + \sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{r} (g_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{V_{j}}Y_{s}, \mathcal{T}_{V_{j}}Y_{s}) - g_{1}(\mathcal{A}_{Y_{s}}V_{j}, \mathcal{A}_{Y_{s}}V_{j}))
+ \sum_{2\leq i < j \leq t} R_{1}(V_{i}, V_{j}, V_{j}, V_{i}) + \sum_{2\leq i < j \leq n} R_{1}(Y_{i}, Y_{j}, Y_{j}, Y_{i}).$$
(3.74)

If we take $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D})$, considering (3.46), (3.58), (3.59), (3.63) and (3.66) in (3.74) we obtain (3.67). If we take $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\theta})$, considering (3.49), (3.58), (3.59), (3.63) and (3.66) in (3.74) we obtain (3.68). Similarly, if we take $V_1 \in \Gamma(\mathcal{D}^{\perp})$, considering (3.52), (3.58), (3.59), (3.63) and (3.66) in (3.74) we obtain (3.69). This completes the proof.

288

Considering (3.70), (3.71) and (3.72) we have

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)] = 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \|\dot{H}\|^2 - \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2 + 3 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2 \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - 2 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2.$$
(3.75)

Considering (3.75) we get the following theorem.

Theorem 3.7. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we have

$$2\tau_{1} + 2\tau_{2} \leq \frac{c_{1}}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_{1}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2})] - t^{2} \|\dot{H}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2} + 2\delta(\dot{N}) - 2 \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2} + 2 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2}, \qquad (3.76)$$

$$2\tau_{1} + 2\tau_{2} \geq \frac{c_{1}}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta) + 2\|\mathcal{B}_{1}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2})] - t^{2} \|\dot{H}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2} - 3\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2} + 2\delta(\dot{N}) - 2\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2}.$$
(3.77)

In case of (3.76)'s and (3.77)'s equalities hold for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if horizontal distribution \mathcal{H} is integrable.

Considering (3.75) we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.8. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we have

$$2\tau_{1} + 2\tau_{2} \geq \frac{c_{1}}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_{1}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2})] - t^{2} \|\dot{H}\|^{2} + 2\delta(\dot{N}) - 2 \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2} + 2 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2} - 3 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2}, \qquad (3.78)$$

$$2\tau_{1} + 2\tau_{2} \leq \frac{c_{1}}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_{1}+t_{2}\cos^{2}\theta) + 2\|\mathcal{B}_{1}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{B}_{2}\|^{2})] - t^{2} \|\dot{H}\|^{2} + \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2} + 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^{2} - 3\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^{2}.$$
(3.79)

In case of (3.78)'s and (3.79)'s equalities hold for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if the fiber through p of φ is a totally geodesic submanifold of M_1 .

Lemma 3.1. Let k ve l be non-negative real number. In that case

$$\frac{k+l}{2} \ge \sqrt{kl}$$

with equality iff k = l.

Applying Lemma 3.1 in (3.75), we have.

Theorem 3.9. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we have

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)] \le 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 + 2 \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 + 3 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) - 2\sqrt{2} \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\| \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|.$$
(3.80)

In case of (3.80)'s equality hold for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if $\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\| = \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\|$.

Theorem 3.10. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we get

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)] \ge 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 - \left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) - 2 \left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^2 + 2\sqrt{6} \left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\| \left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|.$$
(3.81)

In case of (3.81)'s equality hold for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if $\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\| = \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|$.

Lemma 3.2. [50] Let k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_n , be *n*-real number (n > 1), In that case

$$\frac{1}{n} (\sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i)^2 \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i^2$$

with equality iff $k_1 = k_2 = \dots = k_n$.

Theorem 3.11. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we get

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)] \le 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t(t-1) \left\| \dot{H} \right\|^2 + 3 \left\| \mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}} \right\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2 \left\| \mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}} \right\|^2 - 2 \left\| \mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}} \right\|^2.$$
(3.82)

In case of (3.82)'s equality holds for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if we get statements:

i) φ is a Riemannian submersion that has a totally umbilical fiber.

ii) $\mathcal{T}_{ij} = 0$, for $i \neq j \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$.

Proof. Using (3.75) we get

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)]$$

= $2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 - \sum_{j=1}^t (\mathcal{T}_{jj}^s)^2 - \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j\neq k}^t (\mathcal{T}_{jk}^s)^2$
+ $3 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2 \|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\|^2 - 2 \|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\|^2.$ (3.83)

Applying Lemma 3.2 in (3.83), we have

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)]$$

$$\leq 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 - \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{j=1}^t \mathcal{T}_{jj}^s)^2 - \sum_{s=1}^n \sum_{j\neq k}^t (\mathcal{T}_{jk}^s)^2$$

$$+ 3 \left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2 \left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|^2 - 2 \left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^2.$$
(3.84)

From this we have (3.82). In case of (3.82)'s equality holds for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if

$$\mathcal{T}_{11} = \mathcal{T}_{22} = \dots = \mathcal{T}_{tt} \text{ and } \sum_{s=1}^{n} \sum_{j \neq k}^{t} (\mathcal{T}_{jk}^{s})^{2} = 0.$$

This completes proof of the theorem.

By compairing the proof of Theorem 3.11, we have

Theorem 3.12. Let $\varphi : M_1(c_1) \to M_2$ be a QHSS from a complex space form $(M_1(c_1), g_1)$ onto a Riemannian manifold (M_2, g_2) . In that case we have

$$\frac{c_1}{4} [(n+t)(n+t-1) + 3(2(t_1+t_2\cos^2\theta) + 2 \|\mathcal{B}_1\|^2 + \|\mathcal{B}_2\|^2)] \ge 2\tau_1 + 2\tau_2 + t^2 \left\|\dot{H}\right\|^2 - \left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^2 + \frac{3}{n}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{V}})^2 - 2\delta(\dot{N}) + 2 \left\|\mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{V}}\right\|^2 - 2 \left\|\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{H}}\right\|^2.$$
(3.85)

Equality case of (3.85) holds for all $p \in M_1$ if and only if $\mathcal{A}_{11} = \mathcal{A}_{22} = ... = \mathcal{A}_{nn}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{ij} = 0$, for $i \neq j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$.

4. Examples

In this section, we provide examples of QHSS, illustrating the main results stated above and the examples of QHSS satisfying the equality case of all inequalities established in the above section.

Example 4.1. Let $(\mathbb{R}^8, g_{\mathbb{R}^8}, J_1)$ be an almost Hermitian manifold which

 $J_1(x_1,...,x_8) = (-x_6, x_5, -x_7, x_8, -x_2, x_1, x_3, -x_4)$ be a complex structure and $(\mathbb{R}^3, g_{\mathbb{R}^3})$ be a Riemanniann manifold.

 $\varphi: (\mathbb{R}^8, g_{\mathbb{R}^8}, J_1) \to (\mathbb{R}^3, g_{\mathbb{R}^3})$ be a map defined by

$$\varphi(x_1, x_2, ..., x_8) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_5, x_2, x_3 \cos\alpha - x_7 \sin\alpha\right)$$

where $\theta \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. In that case φ is a QHSS (where rank $\varphi_* = 3$) such that

$$V_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_5}, V_2 = \sin\alpha\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} + \cos\alpha\frac{\partial}{\partial x_7}, V_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_4}, V_4 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_6}, V_5 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_8$$

 $ker \varphi_* = \mathcal{D} \oplus \mathcal{D}^{\perp} \oplus \mathcal{D}^{\theta}, where$

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\langle V_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_4}, V_5 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_8} \right\rangle$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\perp} = \left\langle V_2 = \sin\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} + \cos\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_7} \right\rangle$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\theta} = \left\langle V_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_5}, V_4 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_6} \right\rangle$$

and

$$(\ker\varphi_*)^{\perp} = \left\langle H_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial x_5}, H_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}H_3 = \cos\alpha\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} - \sin\alpha\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}\right\rangle$$

which $\mathcal{D} = \langle V_3, V_5 \rangle$ is invariant, $\mathcal{D}^{\perp} = \langle V_2 \rangle$ is anti-invariant and $\mathcal{D}^{\theta} = \langle V_1, V_7 \rangle$ slant with slant angle $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$.

Example 4.2. Let $(\mathbb{R}^{10}, g_{\mathbb{R}^{10}}, J_1)$ be an almost Hermitian manifold which

$$F(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{10}) = (\cos\alpha x_1 - \sin\alpha x_{10}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_2 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_6, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_3 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}x_9, x_4, \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}x_5 - \frac{1}{2}x_8)$$

where $\theta \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$. In that case F is a QHSS (where rank $F_* = 5$) such that

$$V_{1} = -\sin\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{1}} + \cos\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{10}}, V_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{2}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{6}}, V_{3} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{3}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{9}},$$
$$V_{4} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{5}} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{8}}, V_{5} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{7}},$$

 $ker F_* = \mathcal{D} \oplus \mathcal{D}^{\perp} \oplus \mathcal{D}^{\theta}, where$

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\langle V_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_6}, V_3 = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_9} \right\rangle$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\perp} = \left\langle V_4 = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_5} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_8} \right\rangle$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\theta} = \left\langle V_1 = -\sin\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \cos\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{10}}, V_5 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_7} \right\rangle$$

and

$$(kerF_*)^{\perp} = \langle H_1 = -\cos\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \sin\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{10}}, H_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_6}, H_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_9}, H_4 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_5} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_8}, H_5 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_4} \rangle$$

which $\mathcal{D} = \langle V_2, V_3 \rangle$ is invariant, $\mathcal{D}^{\perp} = \langle V_4 \rangle$ is anti-invariant and $\mathcal{D}^{\theta} = \langle V_1, V_5 \rangle$ slant with slant angle $\theta = \arccos(\sin \alpha)$.

References

- Akyol, M. A. & Beyendi, S.(2020). A note on quasi bi-slant submanifolds of cosymplectic manifolds, Commun. Fac. Sci. Univ. Ank. Ser. A1 Math. Stat. 69(2), 1508-1521.
- [2] Akyol, M. A., Demir, R., Poyraz, N. Ö., & Vîlcu, G. E.(2022). Optimal inequalities for hemi-slant Riemannian submersions. Mathematics, 10(21),3993.
- [3] Akyol, M. A. & Gündüzalp, Y.(2016). Hemi-slant submersions from almost product Riemannian manifolds, Gulf Journal of Mathematics, 4(3), 15-27.
- [4] Alegre, P., Chen, B. Y. & Munteanu, M. I.(2012). Riemannian submersions, δ-invariants, and optimal inequality, Annals of Global Analysis and Geometry, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 317–331.
- [5] Cabrerizo, J. L., Carriazo, A., Fernandez, L. M. & Fernandez (1999). M. Semi-slant submanifolds of a Sasakian manifold. Geometriae Dedicata, 78, 183-199.
- [6] Cabrerizo, J. L., Carriazo, A. & Fernandez, L. M.(2000). Slant submanifolds in Sasakian manifolds, Glasg. Math. J., 42, 125-138.
- [7] Carriazo, A. (2002). New developments in slant submanifolds theory, Narasa Publishing Hause New Delhi, India.
- [8] Chen, B. Y.(1990). Geometry of slant submanifolds, Katholieke Universiteit, Leuven.
- [9] Chen, B. Y.(1993). Some pinching and classification theorems for minimal submanifolds, Arch. Math. (Basel), 60(6), 568-578.
- [10] Chen, B. Y.(1998). Strings of Riemannian invariants, inequalities, ideal immersions and their applications, The Third Pacific Rim Geometry Conference (Seoul, 1996), 7-60, Monogr. Geom. Topology, 25, Int. Press, Cambridge, MA.
- [11] Chen, B. Y.(1999). Relations between Ricci curvature and shape operator for submanifolds with arbitrary codimensions, Glasg. Math. J. 41, 33–41.
- Chen, B. Y. (2005). Examples and classification of Riemannian submersions satisfying a basic equality. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 72, 391–402.
- [13] Chen, B. Y.(2005). Riemannian submersions, minimal immersions and cohomology class, Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A. 81, 162–167.
- [14] Chen, B. Y. (2008). δ-invariants, Inequalities of Submanifolds and Their Applications, in Topics in Differential Geometry, Eds. A. Mihai, I. Mihai, R. Miron, Editura Academiei Romane, Bucuresti, 29-156.
- [15] Deng, S.(2009), An improved Chen-Ricci inequality, Int. Electron. J. of Geom. 2, 39–45.
- [16] Erken, I. K. & Murathan, C.(2014). On Slant Riemannian Submersions for Cosymplectic Manifolds, Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 51, 1749-1771.
- [17] Gülbahar, M., Meriç, S. & Kılıç, E. (2017). Sharp inequalities involving the Ricci curvature for Riemannian submersions. Kragujevac Journal of Mathematics, 41(2).
- [18] Gündüzalp, Y.(2016). Semi-slant submersions from almost product Riemannian manifolds, Demonstratio Mathematica, 49(3), 345-356.
- [19] Gündüzalp, Y. & Polat (2022). M., Some inequalities of anti-invariant Riemannian submersions in complex space forms. Miskolc Mathematical Notes, 23(2), 703-714.

- [20] Gray, A.(1967). Pseudo-Riemannian almost product manifolds and submersions, Journal of Mathematics and Mechanics, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 715–737.
- [21] Hong, S., Matsumoto, K. & Tripathi, M .M.(2005). Certain basic inequalities for submanifolds of locally conformal Kähler space forms, SUT J. Math. 41(1), 75–94.
- [22] Ianus, S., Ionescu, A. M., Mocanu, R. & Vilcu, G.E. (2011). Riemannian submersions from almost contact metric manifolds, Abh. Math. Semin. Univ. Hamb., doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.1102.1570.
- [23] Ianus, S., Mazzocco, R. & Vilcu, G. E.(2008). Riemannian submersions from quaternionic manifolds, Acta Applicandae Mathematicae, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 83–89.
- [24] Kim, J. S., Tripathi, M. M. & Choi, J.(2004). Ricci curvature of submanifolds in locally conformal almost cosyplectic manifolds, Indian J. Pure App. Math. 35, 259–271.
- [25] Lee, J. W.(2013). Anti-Invariant ξ[⊥]-Riemannian Submersions fromAlmost Contact Manifolds. Hacettepe Journal of Mathematics and Statistics, 42(3), 231-241.
- [26] Lee, J. W., Lee, C.W., Şahin, B. & Vilcu, G. E. (2022). Chen-Ricci inequalities for Riemannian maps and their applications. Differential Geometry And Global Analysis: In Honor Of Tadashi Nagano.
- [27] Lotta, A.(1996), Slant submanifold in contact geometry, Bull. Math. Soc. Romanie, 39, 183-198.
- [28] Longwap, S., Massamba, F. & Homti, N. E.(2019). On quasi hemi-slant Riemannian submersion. Journal of Advances in Mathematics and Computer Science, 34(1), 1-14.
- [29] Meriç, S. E., Gülbahar, M. & Kılıç, E.(2017). Some inequalities for Riemannian submersions. An. Ştiinţ. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iaşi. Mat.(NS), 63(3), 471-482.
- [30] Mihai, A.(2015). Inequalities on the Ricci curvature, J. of Math. Ineq. 9, 811-822.
- [31] Özgür, C. & Murathan, C. (2012). Chen inequalities for submanifolds of a cosymplectic space form with a semi-symmetric metric connection, An. Stiint. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iaşi. Math. (N.S.) 2, 395–408.
- [32] Papaghuic, N.(1994). Semi-slant submanifold of Kählerian manifold, An. St. Univ. AI. I. Cuza. Iasi. Math.(N.S.), 9, 55-61.
- [33] Perktaş, S. Y., Blaga, A. M. & Kılıç, E.(2021). Almost bi-slant submanifolds of an almost contact metric manifold, J. Geom., 112(2)1–23.
- [34] Prasad, R., Verma, S. K. & Kumar, S. (2020). Quasi hemi-slant submanifolds of Sasakian manifolds, Journal of Mathematical and Computational Science, 10(2), 418-435.
- [35] Prasad, R., Akyol, M. A., Verma, S. K. & Kumar, S.(2022). Quasi Bi-Slant Submanifolds of Kaehler Manifolds. International Electronic Journal of Geometry, 15(1), 57-68.
- [36] Prasad, R., Verma, S. K., Kumar, S. & Chaubey, S. K.(2020). Quasi hemi-slant submanifolds of cosymplectic manifolds, Korean J. Math. 28(2), 257-273.
- [37] Prasad, R., Shukla, S. S. & Kumar, S.(2019). On quasi bi-slant submersions, Mediterr. J. Math., 16(6), 1-18.
- [38] Prasad, R., Shukla, S. S., Haseeb, A. & Kumar, S.(2020). Quasi hemi-slant submanifolds of Kaehler manifolds. Honam Mathematical Journal, 42(4), 795-809.
- [39] Poyraz, N. O., Akyol, M. A., & Demir, R.(2023). Ricci and scalar curvature inequalities for semi-slant Riemannian submersions in complex space forms. International Journal of Geometric Methods in Modern Physics, 20(08), 2350133.

- [40] Poyraz, N. Ö. & Akyol, M. A.(2023). Chen inequalities for slant Riemannian submersions from cosymplectic space forms. Filomat, 37(11), 3615-3629.
- [41] Siddiqui, A. N., Chen, B. Y., Siddiqi, M. D.(2021). Chen inequalities for statistical submersions between statistical manifolds. International Journal of Geometric Methods in Modern Physics, 18(04), 2150049.
- [42] Siddiqi, M., Siddiqui, A. N., Hakami, A. H., Hasan, M.(2023). Estimation of sharp geometric inequality in D_α-homothetically deformed Kenmotsu manifolds. Cubo (Temuco), 25(3), 349-361.
- [43] Siddiqi, M., Siddiqui, A. N., Chen, B. Y. (2023). Sharp inequalities and solitons for statistical submersions. arXiv:2302.05714.
- [44] Şahin, B. (2006). Slant submanifolds of an almost product Riemannian manifold. J. Korean Math. Soc, 43(4), 717-732.
- [45] Şahin, B.(2006). Non-existence of warped product semi-slant submanifolds of Kaehler manifolds, Geom. Dedicata, 117, 195–202.
- [46] Şahin, B.(2010). Anti-invariant Riemannian submersions from almost Hermitian manifolds, Central European Journal of Mathematics, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 437–447.
- [47] Şahin, B.(2011). Semi-invariant Riemannian submersions from almost Hermitian manifolds, Can. Math. Bull., 56, 173-183.
- [48] Şahin, B. (2011). Slant submersions from almost Hermitian manifolds. Bulletin Mathematique de La Societe Des Sciences Mathtematiques de Roumanie, vol. 54 (102)(1), p. 93–105.
- [49] Taştan, H. M., Şahin, B. & Yanan, Ş.(2016). Hemi-slant submersions. Mediterr. J. Math., 13(4), 2171-2184.
- [50] Tripathi, M.M.(2011). Chen-Ricci inequality for curvature like tensor and its applications, Dif. geom. Appl. 29(5), 685-692.
- [51] Tripathi, M. M.(2008). Chen-Ricci inequality for submanifolds of contact metric manifolds, J. Adv. Math. Stud. 1, 111–134.
- [52] Vilcu, G. E. & Chen, B. Y.(2010). Inequalities for slant submanifolds in quaternionic space forms. Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 34(1), 115-128.
- [53] O'Neill, B. (1966). The fundamental equations of a submersion. Michigan Mathematical Journal, vol. 13, no. 4.
- [54] Watson, B.(1976). Almost Hermitian submersions. Journal of Differential Geometry, Lehigh University, vol. 11(1) 147–165.
- [55] Yoon, D. W.(2006). Inequality for Ricci curvature of slant submanifolds in cosymplectic space forms, Turkish. J. Math. 30, 43–56.

Uşak University, Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Department of Mathematics, 64000, Uşak, Türkiye

Çukurova University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Mathematics, 01330, Adana, Türkiye

INÖNÜ UNIVERSITY, FACULTY OF ARTS AND SCIENCES, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, 44000, MALATYA, TÜRKIYE



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:297-308 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

MORPHISMS AND ALGEBRAIC POINTS ON THE QUOTIENTS OF FERMAT CURVES AND HURWITZ CURVES

MOUSSA FALL D * AND MOUSTAPHA CAMARA

ABSTRACT. In this paper we determine rational morphisms between the Hurwitz curves of affine equation : $u^n v^l + v^n + u^l = 0$ and the quotients of Fermat curves of affine equation $v^m = u^{\lambda}(u-1)$ where the integers $n > l \ge 1$ are coprime and $m = n^2 - ln + l^2$ and $\lambda \ge 1$. We also give a parametrization of the algebraic points of low degree on the quotient of Fermat curve : $v^7 = u(u-1)^2$. Using these morphisms, we explicitly determine the algebraic points of degree at most 3 on the Hurwitz curve $u^3v^2 + v^3 + u^2 = 0$ birationally isomorphic to the quotient of Fermat curve $v^7 = u^2(u-1)$.

Keywords: Hurwitz curve, Quotient of Fermat curve, Morphism, Degree of algebraic point2010 Mathematics Subject Classification:14H40, 14L40.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let \mathcal{C} be an algebraic curve defined over the rational number field \mathbb{Q} and K an extension field of \mathbb{Q} . We denote by $\mathcal{C}(K)$ the set of rational points of \mathcal{C} witch coordinates area in K. A point $P \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ is said to be of degree d over \mathbb{Q} if its field of definition L is an extension of \mathbb{Q} of degree d. We denote by $\mathcal{C}^{(d)}(\mathbb{Q})$ the set of algebraic points of degree at most d on the curve \mathcal{C} over \mathbb{Q} . A famous theorem of Faltings states that the number of rational points on an algebraic curve defined over a number field K is finite if the genus g of the curve is greater than 1. Currently, for a curve \mathcal{C} of genus $g \geq 2$ defined over a number field K, there is no general method for computing the set $\mathcal{C}(K)$ or showing that $\mathcal{C}(K)$ is empty. But there are

Revised:2024.12.12

Accepted:2024.12.19

Moustapha Camara

m.camara5367@zig.univ.sn

https://orcid.org/0009-0009-8917-0711.

Received:2024.03.31

^{*} Corresponding author

Moussa Fall \diamond m.fall@univ-zig.sn \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3880-7603

several methods for finding $\mathcal{C}(K)$ in special cases. These methods include the local method, the Chabauty elliptic method [4], the descent method [10], the Mordell-Weil Sieves method [3], the Sall-Fall method [9]. These methods are only applicable if the Mordell-Weil group $J_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathbb{Q})$ is known and is of a finite type. If $J_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathbb{Q})$ is finite, it is possible to determine $\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{Q})$ and to generalize to all number fields K and thus deduce $\mathcal{C}^{(d)}(\mathbb{Q})$ [7]. If we don't know the structure of the Mordell-Weil group, then we need to find a way to working around of it. The purpose of this paper is to describe explicitly the morphisms between Hurwitz curves of affine equation $u^n v^l + v^n + u^l = 0$ and the Fermat quotient curves of affine equation $v^m = u^{\lambda}(u-1)$ where $n > l \ge 1$, $\gcd(n,l) = 1$, $\lambda \ge 1$ and $m = n^2 - ln + l^2$. Using these morphisms, we explicitly determine the algebraic points of degree at most 3 on the Hurwitz curves of affine equation $u^3v^2 + v^3 + u^2 = 0$, birationally isomorphic to the Fermat quotient curve of affine equation $v^7 = u^2(u-1)$. Our main results are Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 4.1.

2. Morphisms on Fermat curves and Hurwitz curves

2.1. Fermat curves and quotients of Fermat curves.

Let p be positive integer and K be an number field.

Definition 2.1. The Fermat curve of degree p over a number field K is given by the projective equation

$$F_p: U^p + V^p + W^p = 0.$$

The affine equation of F_p is

$$F_p: u^p + v^p + 1 = 0.$$

The Fermat curve F_p is smooth when the characteristic car(K) of K does not divide p and has genus

$$g = \frac{(p-1)(p-2)}{2}.$$

For a pair (r, s) of positive integers such that $1 \leq r, s, r + s < p$ and gcd(r, s, p) = 1, we denote by $C_{r,s}(p)$ the quotient of F_p defined by the equation

$$v^p = u^r (u-1)^s$$

where the projection $F_p \longrightarrow C_{r,s}(p)$ is defined by

$$\begin{split} \phi: \quad F_p & \longrightarrow \quad C_{r,s}(p) \\ (u,v) & \longmapsto \quad (-u^p, \ (-u)^r v^s) \end{split}$$

Lemma 2.1. Let $C_{r,s}(p)$ and $C_{r',s'}(p)$ be two quotients of Fermat curve F_P . If it exists three integers k, i and j such that :

$$(r,s) = k(r',s') + p(i,j)$$
 and $gcd(k,p) = 1$,

then we have the birational equivalences

- (1) $C_{r,s}(p) \cong C_{r',s'}(p)$,
- (2) $C_{r,s}(p) \cong C_{s,r}(p),$
- (3) $C_{r,s}(p) \cong C_{p-s-r,s}(p).$

Proof.

(1) Consider the following covering map:

$$f_{rs}: \quad C_{r',s'}(p) \quad \longrightarrow \quad C_{r,s}(p)$$
$$(u,v) \quad \longmapsto \quad \left(u, v^k u^i (u-1)^j\right).$$

We have the following successive equivalences :

$$(u, v^{k}u^{i}(u-1)^{j}) \in C_{r,s}(p) \quad \Leftrightarrow (v^{k}u^{i}(u-1)^{j})^{p} - u^{r}(u-1)^{s} = 0 \Leftrightarrow v^{pk}u^{pi}(u-1)^{pj} - u^{r}(u-1)^{s} = 0 \Leftrightarrow u^{pi}(u-1)^{pj} (v^{pk} - u^{r-pi}(u-1)^{s-pj}) = 0 \Leftrightarrow u^{pi}(u-1)^{pj} (v^{pk} - u^{kr'}(u-1)^{ks'}) = 0 \Leftrightarrow u^{pi}(u-1)^{pj} (v^{p} - u^{r'}(u-1)^{s'}) (v^{p(k-1)} + \cdots) = 0$$

 So

$$(u, v) \in C_{r', s'}(p) : v^p - u^{r'}(u-1)^{s'} = 0,$$

then $C_{r,s}(p)$ is isomorphic to $C_{r',s'}(p)$.

(2) Consider the following covering map:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} f_{rs}: & C_{r,s}(p) & \longrightarrow & C_{s,r}(p) \\ & & (u,v) & \longmapsto & (1-u,(-1)^{s+r}v). \end{array}$$

We have

$$(1 - u, (-1)^{s+r}v) \in C_{s,r}(p) \iff ((-1)^{s+r}v)^p = (1 - u)^s ((1 - u) - 1)^r \\ \iff (-1)^{r+s}v^p = (-1)^{r+s}u^r (u - 1)^s \\ \iff (u, v) \in C_{r,s}(p).$$

(3) Consider the following covering map:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} f_{rs}: & C_{r,s}(p) & \longrightarrow & C_{p-r-s,s}(p) \\ & (u,v) & \longmapsto & \left(\frac{1}{u}, \frac{(-1)^s v}{u}\right). \end{array}$$

We have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{u}, \frac{(-1)^{s_v}}{u} \end{pmatrix} \in C_{p-r-s,s}(p) \iff \left(\frac{(-1)^{s_v}}{u}\right)^p = \left(\frac{1}{u}\right)^{p-r-s} \left(\frac{1}{u}-1\right)^s$$
$$\iff (-1)^{s_p} v^p = (-1)^s u^r (u-1)^s$$
$$\iff (u,v) \in C_{r,s}(p).$$

The following corollary is the consequence of the lemma 2.1.

Corollary 2.1. Let $C_{r,s}(p)$ be the quotient curve of Fermat. We have

- (i) $C_{1,s}(p) \cong C_{s,1}(p) \cong C_{p-s-1,1}(p) \cong C_{1,p-s-1}(p).$
- (ii) For $2s \le p 1$, the curves $C_{1,1}(p)$, $C_{1,2}(p)$, $C_{1,3}(p,) \ldots, C_{1,\frac{p-1}{2}}(p)$ form a complete list (with repetition).
- (iii) Any curve $C_{r,s}(7)$ is birationally isomorphic either to the hyperelliptic curve $C_{1,1}(7)$, or to the non-hyperelliptic curve $C_{1,2}(7)$ which is itself isomorphic to the Klein curve.

2.2. Hurwitz curves.

Let n and l be positive integers $n > l \ge 1$ and K be an number field.

Definition 2.2. The Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ over K is given by the projective equation

$$H_{n\,l}: U^n V^l + V^n W^l + U^l W^n = 0.$$

The affine equation of $H_{n,l}$ is

$$H_{n,l}: u^n v^l + v^n + u^l = 0.$$

Let $m = n^2 - nl + l^2$. The Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ has the following genus

$$g = \frac{m+2-3\gcd(n,l)}{2}.$$

The curve $H_{n,l}$ is smooth when the characteristic car(K) of K is relatively prime to m.

Lemma 2.2. Let n, l be two positive integers such that gcd(n, l) = 1. An integer m > 3 of the form $m = n^2 - nl + l^2$ is prime if and only if $m \equiv 1 \pmod{6}$.

Proof. See Bennama and Carbonne [2].

Lemma 2.3. Let n and l be integers satisfying $1 \le l < n$. The Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ is covered by the Fermat curve F_m of degree m where $m = n^2 - nl + l^2$.

Proof. Consider the following covering map is provided by [1]

$$\begin{array}{rcccc} \phi_{n,l}: & F_m & \longrightarrow & H_{n,l} \\ & & (u,v) & \longmapsto & \left(u^n v^{-l}, \, u^l v^{n-l}\right) \end{array}$$

The image of the Fermat curve of affine equation $F_{n^2-ln+l^2}$ by the morphism $\phi_{n,l}$ include in $H_{n,l}$.

$$\begin{split} \left(u^n v^{-l}, \, u^l v^{n-l} \right) &\in H_{n,l} \implies (u^n v^{-l})^n (u^l v^{n-l})^l + (u^l v^{n-l})^n + (u^n v^{-l})^l = 0 \\ \implies (u^l v^{n-l})^n (u^{n^2 - ln + l^2} + v^{n^2 - ln + l^2} + 1) = 0 \\ \implies (u, v) \in F_{n^2 - ln + l^2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore the Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ is covered by the Fermat curve $F_{n^2-ln+l^2}$.

In the Table 2.1 we have the following correspondence with Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ and Fermat curve F_m where $m = n^2 - nl + l^2$.

n	l	m	Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$	Fermat curve F_m	Covering map	
3	1	7	$H_{3,1}$	F_7	$\left(u^3v^{-1},uv^2\right)$	
3	2	7	$H_{3,2}$	F_7	$\left(u^3v^{-2},u^2v\right)$	
4	1	13	$H_{4,1}$	F_{13}	(u^4v^{-1}, uv^3)	
4	3	13	$H_{4,3}$	F_{13}	(u^4v^{-3}, u^3v)	
5	2	19	$H_{5,2}$	F_{19}	(u^5v^{-2}, u^2v^3)	
5	3	19	$H_{5,3}$	F_{19}	(u^5v^{-3}, u^3v^2)	
6	1	31	$H_{6,1}$	F ₃₁	$\left(u^{6}v^{-1},uv^{5} ight)$	
6	5	31	$H_{6,5}$	F_{31}	$\left(u^{6}v^{-5},u^{5}v ight)$	

TABLE 2.1. Covering map $\phi_{n,l}: F_m \to H_{n,l}$

2.3. Birational maps.

Suppose that $1 \leq l < n$ and gcd(n, l) = 1. Then there exist integers δ and σ verifying

$$1 \le \delta \le l$$
, $1 \le \sigma \le n-1$ and $n\delta - \sigma l = 1$.

Put $\lambda = \sigma n - \delta(n-l) = \sigma(n-l) + \delta l - 1$. We have $1 \le \lambda \le m - 2$.

In [2], Bennama and Carbonne show the following proposition :

Proposition 2.1. The Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$: $x^n y^l + y^n + x^l = 0$ is isomorphic to Fermat quotient curve $C_{\lambda,1}(m)$: $v^m = u^{\lambda} (u-1)$.

Proof. The birational transformation is as follows

$$f_{n,l}: C_{\lambda,1}(m) \longrightarrow H_{n,l}$$

$$(u,v) \longmapsto \left(\frac{\left((-1)^{\lambda}v\right)^{n}}{(-u)^{\sigma}}, \frac{\left((-1)^{\lambda}v\right)^{l}}{(-u)^{\delta}}\right)$$

and

$$g_{n,l}: \quad H_{n,l} \quad \longrightarrow \quad C_{\lambda,1}(m)$$
$$(x,y) \quad \longmapsto \quad \left(\frac{-x^l}{y^n}, \frac{(-1)^{\lambda} x^{\delta}}{y^{\sigma}}\right).$$

The composition of applications gives $(g_{n,l} \circ f_{n,l})(u, v) = (u, v)$ and $(f_{n,l} \circ g_{n,l})(x, y) = (x, y)$.

The following Table 2.2 shows the correspondence between Hurwitz curve $H_{n,l}$ and Fermat quotient curve $C_{\lambda,1}(m)$ where $m = n^2 - nl + l^2$ and $\lambda = \sigma n - \delta(n - l)$.

n	l	m	$H_{n,l}$	σ	δ	λ	$C_{\lambda,1}(m)$	$f_{n,l}(u,v)$
3	1	7	$H_{3,1}$	2	1	4	$C_{4,1}(7)$	$\left(\frac{v^3}{u^2}, -\frac{v}{u}\right)$
3	2	7	$H_{3,2}$	1	1	2	$C_{2,1}(7)$	$\left(-\frac{v^3}{u}, -\frac{v^2}{u}\right)$
4	1	13	$H_{4,1}$	3	1	9	$C_{9,1}(13)$	$\left(-\frac{v^4}{u^3}, \frac{v}{u}\right)$
4	3	13	$H_{4,3}$	1	1	3	$C_{3,1}(13)$	$\left(-\frac{v^4}{u}, \frac{v^3}{u}\right)$
5	2	19	$H_{5,2}$	2	1	7	$C_{7,1}(19)$	$\left(-\frac{v^5}{u^2}, -\frac{v^2}{u}\right)$
5	3	19	$H_{5,3}$	2	3	9	$C_{4,1}(19)$	$\left(-\frac{v^5}{u^2}, \frac{v^3}{u^3}\right)$

TABLE 2.2. Birational map $f_{n,l}: \mathcal{C}_{\lambda,1}(m) \longrightarrow H_{n,l}$

Remark 2.1. By combining the Lemma 2.1 and Proposition 2.1, we have

$$C_{2,1}(7) \cong C_{4,1}(7) \Longrightarrow H_{3,2} \cong H_{3,1}$$

3. Algebraic points on the curves $C_{1,2}(7)$

3.1. Auxiliary results.

For a divisor D on $\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)$, let $\mathcal{L}(D)$ denote the $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -vector space of all rational functions fon $\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)$ such that f = 0 or div $(f) \geq -D$. Let l(D) be the $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -dimension of $\mathcal{L}(D)$, u and vdenote the rational functions on $\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)$ given by

$$u(U, V, W) = \frac{U}{W}$$
 and $v(U, V, W) = \frac{V}{W}$.

The projective equation of the curve $C_{1,2}(7)$ is

Ĵ

$$C_{1,2}(7): V^7 = W^4 U (U - W)^2.$$

Let $Q_0 = (0, 0, 1)$, $Q_1 = (1, 0, 1)$, $Q_{\eta} = (\eta, \overline{\eta}, 1)$, $\overline{Q_{\eta}} = (\overline{\eta}, \eta, 1)$, $Q_{\infty} = (1, 0, 0)$ and $R_0 = -Q_{\eta} - \overline{Q_{\eta}} + 2Q_{\infty}$ where η is a primitive 6-th root of unity in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $\overline{\eta}$ is the complex conjugate of η . The Abel-Jacobi map associated to Q_{∞} is the embedding

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & P & & \longmapsto & \left[P - Q_{\infty}\right] \end{array}$$

where $[P - Q_{\infty}]$ denotes the class of the divisor $P - Q_{\infty}$. The map j extends by linearity to the divisors of degree 0 : $Div^{0}(\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7))$ to $J_{\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)}(\mathbb{Q})$ where

$$Div^{0}(\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} n_{i} P_{i} \mid \sum_{i=1}^{n} n_{i} = 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N}^{*}, \ n_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}, \ P_{i} \in \mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7) \right\}.$$

The Abel Jacobi theorem is an important result. A simple version is the following.

Theorem 3.1. (Abel-Jacobi) The application j is surjective and its kernel is formed by the divisors of functions on C. In other words, for a divisor $D \in Div^0(C)$, there exists $f \in K^*(C)$ such that div(f) = D.

Proof. See Griffiths [6]

Lemma 3.1. Let $C_{1,2}(7)$ be the curve of affine equation $v^7 = u(u-1)^2$. We have

(1) $J_{\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)}(\mathbb{Q}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/7\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}.$ (2) $J_{\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)}(\mathbb{Q}) = \{ mj(Q_0) + pR_0 \mid 0 \le m \le 6 \text{ and } 0 \le p \le 1 \}.$ (3) $div(u) = 7Q_0 - 7Q_\infty, \ div(u-1) = 7Q_1 - 7Q_\infty \ and \ div(v) = Q_0 + 2Q_1 - 3Q_\infty.$ (4) $7j(Q_0) = 7j(Q_1) = 0, \quad j(Q_0) + 2j(Q_1) = 0, \quad 2j(R_0) = 0.$

Proof. See Sall [7]

Lemma 3.2. The $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -basis of the $\mathcal{L}(mQ_{\infty})$ on the curve $\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7)$ for $1 \leq m \leq 11$ are

 $\begin{array}{ll} \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(Q_{\infty}) = \mathcal{L}(2Q_{\infty}) = <1>, & \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(3Q_{\infty}) = \mathcal{L}(4Q_{\infty}) = <1, v>, \\ \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(5Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}>, & \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(6Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}, v^2>, \\ \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(7Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}v^2, u>, & \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(8Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}, v^2, u, \frac{v^5}{u-1}>, \\ \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(9Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}, v^2, u, \frac{v^5}{u-1}, v^3>, \\ \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(10Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}, v^2, u, \frac{v^5}{u-1}, v^3, uv>, \\ \bullet \ \mathcal{L}(11Q_{\infty}) = <1, v, \frac{v^4}{u-1}, v^2, u, \frac{v^5}{u-1}, v^3, uv, \frac{v^6}{u-1}>. \end{array}$

Proof. See Sall [7]

3.2. The Main result on $C_{1,2}(7)$.

The main result in the curve $C_{1,2}(7)$ is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2. The set of algebraic points of degree at most 3 on the quotient of Fermat curve $C_{1,2}(7)$ over \mathbb{Q} is $C_{1,2}(7)^{(3)}(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathcal{M}_1 \cup \mathcal{M}_2 \cup \mathcal{M}_3$ where

- (1) The set of rational points is $\mathcal{M}_1 = \{Q_0, Q_1, Q_\infty\}.$
- (2) The set of quadratic points is $\mathcal{M}_2 = \{Q_\eta, \overline{Q_\eta}\}.$
- (3) The set of cubic points is $\mathcal{M}_3 = \mathcal{P}_1 \cup \mathcal{P}_2 \cup \mathcal{P}_3 \cup \mathcal{P}_4$ with

$$\mathcal{P}_{1} = \left\{ (u,\theta) \mid u^{3} - 2u^{2} + u - \theta^{7} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*} \right\},$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{2} = \left\{ \left(1 + \theta v^{2+\alpha}, v \right) \mid v^{3-2\alpha} - \theta^{3} v^{2+\alpha} - \theta^{2} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\},$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{3} = \left\{ \left(1 + \alpha v^{4} + (\alpha - 1)v, v \right) \mid v^{3} + v^{2} - 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\},$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{4} = \left\{ \left(\alpha v^{3} - v^{2} + \alpha, v \right) \mid v^{3} + (-1)^{\alpha} (2v^{2} + v) + 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}.$$

Proof. Let P be an algebraic point on $C_{1,2}(7)$ of degree $d \leq 3$ over \mathbb{Q} ; if $d \leq 2$ these points are described by Faddeev ([5]) and Sall ([7]), so we can assume that d = 3. Let P_1 , P_2 , P_3 be the Galois conjugates of P. Then none of the points P_i is equal to the algebraic points on $C_{1,2}(7)$ of degree ≤ 2 over \mathbb{Q} . We have

$$[P_1 + P_2 + P_3 - 3Q_{\infty}] \in J(\mathcal{C}_{1,2}(7))(\mathbb{Q})$$

and Lemma 3.1 gives

$$[P_1 + P_2 + P_3 - 3Q_{\infty}] = mj(Q_0) + pj(R_0) \text{ with } 0 \le m \le 6 \text{ and } 0 \le p \le 1.$$
(3.1)

The possible combinations for m and p are given in the Table 3.3

TABLE 3.3. combinations for m and p

m	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
р	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

We distinguish 14 cases to study.

Case 1 : m = 0 and p = 0.

The formula (3.1) becomes $[P_1 + P_2 + P_3 - 3Q_{\infty}] = 0$. The Abel-Jacobi Theorem 3.1 implies the existence of a rational function f defined over \mathbb{Q} such that

$$\operatorname{div}(f) = P_1 + P_2 + P_3 - 3Q_{\infty}.$$

So $f \in \mathcal{L}(3P_{\infty})$, hence $f = a_0 + a_1 v$ with $a_i \neq 0$. At points P_i , we have $a_0 + a_1 v = 0$ so $v = -\frac{a_0}{a_1} \in \mathbb{Q}^*$. By putting $v = \theta$ in the equation $v^7 = u(u-1)^2$ we have

$$u^3 - 2u^2 + u - \theta^7 = 0.$$

So we have the set of family cubic points

$$\mathcal{P}_1 = \{(u,\theta) \mid u^3 - 2u^2 + u - \theta^7 = 0, \, \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^*\}.$$

Case 2 : m = 1 and p = 0 :

The relation (3.1) becomes $[P_1 + P_2 + P_3 - 3Q_\infty] = [Q_0 - Q_\infty] = -6[Q_0 - Q_\infty]$. This means

$$[P_1 + P_2 + P_3 + 6Q_0 - 9Q_\infty] = 0.$$

There exists a function f such that

$$\operatorname{div}(f) = P_1 + P_2 + P_3 + 6Q_0 - 9Q_{\infty}.$$

Therefore $f \in \mathcal{L}(9Q_{\infty})$, hence

$$f = a_0 + a_1 v + a_2 \frac{v^4}{u - 1} + a_3 v^2 + a_4 u + a_5 \frac{v^5}{u - 1} + a_6 v^3.$$

The function f is of order 6 at the point Q_0 , so $a_0 = a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = a_5 = a_6 = 0$, thus $f = a_4 u$. At points P_i , $a_4 u = 0$, hence $a_4 = 0$ or u = 0 which is absurd.

Cases 1 to 14: By similar reasoning to the two previous cases, the results obtained can be summarized in the Table 3.4.

TABLE 3.4. Summary of solutions for all cases

m	p	Set of cubic points	m	р	Set of cubic points
0	0	\mathcal{P}_1	0	1	\mathcal{P}_3 with $\alpha = 0$
1	0	Absurd	1	1	\mathcal{P}_3 with $\alpha = 1$
2	0	\mathcal{P}_2 with $\alpha = 0$	2	1	\mathcal{P}_4 with $\alpha = 0$
3	0	\mathcal{P}_2 with $\alpha = 1$	3	1	Absurd
4	0	Absurd	4	1	Absurd
5	0	absurd	5	1	\mathcal{P}_4 with $\alpha = 1$
6	0	Absurd	6	1	Absurd

4. Algebraic points of low degree on Hurwitz curve

In this section we use birational maps to give algebraic points of low degree on $H_{3,2}$.

4.1. Preliminary results.

Lemma 4.1. If two curves \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} defined over a number field K are birationally equivalent then \mathcal{X} is isomorphic to \mathcal{Y} and $\mathcal{X}(K) \cong \mathcal{Y}(K)$.

Proof. See Perrin [8].

4.2. Main result on the Hurwitz curve $H_{3,2}$.

Let $P_0 = (0,0), \infty_- = (1,0)$ and $\infty_+ = (0,1)$. The main result is the following theorem :

Theorem 4.1. Let $H_{3,2}^{(3)}(\mathbb{Q})$ be the set of algebraic points of degree at most 3 on the Hurwitz curves $H_{3,2}$ over \mathbb{Q} , then $H_{3,2}^{(3)}(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathcal{L}_1 \cup \mathcal{L}_2 \cup \mathcal{L}_3$ where

- (1) The set of rational points is $\mathcal{L}_1 = \{P_0, \infty_-, \infty_+\}$
- (2) The set of quadratic points is $\mathcal{L}_2 = \{(-\eta, -\overline{\eta}), (-\overline{\eta}, -\eta)\}$
- (3) The set of cubic points is $\mathcal{L}_3 = \mathcal{G}_1 \cup \mathcal{G}_2 \cup \mathcal{G}_3 \cup \mathcal{G}_4$ with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{1} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{\theta^{3}}{1-u}, \frac{\theta^{2}}{u-1} \right) \mid u^{3} - 2u^{2} + u - \theta^{7} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{2} &= \left\{ \left(-\frac{v^{1-\alpha}}{\theta}, \frac{v^{-\alpha}}{\theta} \right) \mid v^{3-2\alpha} - \theta^{3}v^{2+\alpha} - \theta^{2} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{3} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{v^{2}}{1-\alpha-\alpha v^{3}}, -\frac{v}{1-\alpha-\alpha v^{3}} \right) \mid v^{3} + v^{2} - 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{4} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{v^{3}}{1-\alpha+v^{2}-\alpha v^{3}}, -\frac{v^{2}}{1-\alpha+v^{2}-\alpha v^{3}} \right) \mid v^{3} + (-1)^{\alpha}(2v^{2} + v) + 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof.

The Remark 2.1 gives H_{3,2} ≅ C_{2,1}(7) and by using theorem 3.2, we have #H_{3,2}(Q) =
3. An elementary search give us the set

$$\mathcal{L}_1 = \{P_0, \, \infty_-, \, \infty_+\}.$$

• We use birational maps to determine the quadratic and cubic points on the curve $H_{3,2}$. Let

$$\varphi: \quad C_{1,2}(7) \quad \longrightarrow \quad C_{2,1}(7)$$

$$(u,v) \quad \longmapsto \quad (1-u,-v)$$

and

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \psi: & C_{2,1}(7) & \longrightarrow & H_{3,2} \\ & (u,v) & \longmapsto & \left(-\frac{v^3}{u}, -\frac{v^2}{u}\right) \end{array}$$

Thus, we have

$$\psi \circ \varphi : \quad C_{1,2}(7) \longrightarrow H_{3,2}$$
$$(u,v) \longmapsto (\frac{v^3}{1-u}, -\frac{v^2}{1-u}).$$

(a) The set of quadratic points on $H_{3,2}$ are given by

$$\mathcal{L}_2 = (\psi \circ \varphi) (\mathcal{M}_2).$$

We obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{2} = \left\{ (\psi \circ \varphi)(\eta, \overline{\eta}), \ (\psi \circ \varphi)(\overline{\eta}, \eta) \right\} = \left\{ (-\eta, -\overline{\eta}), \ (-\overline{\eta}, -\eta) \right\}.$$

(b) The set of cubic points on $H_{3,2}$ are given by $\mathcal{G}_1 \cup \mathcal{G}_2 \cup \mathcal{G}_3 \cup \mathcal{G}_4$ with

$$\mathcal{G}_i = (\psi \circ \varphi) (\mathcal{P}_i), \quad \text{for } i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}.$$

We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{1} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{\theta^{3}}{1-u}, \frac{\theta^{2}}{u-1} \right) \mid u^{3} - 2u^{2} + u - \theta^{7} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*} \right\}; \\ \mathcal{G}_{2} &= \left\{ \left(-\frac{v^{1-\alpha}}{\theta}, \frac{v^{-\alpha}}{\theta} \right) \mid v^{3-2\alpha} - \theta^{3}v^{2+\alpha} - \theta^{2} = 0, \ \theta \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}; \\ \mathcal{G}_{3} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{v^{2}}{1-\alpha - \alpha v^{3}}, -\frac{v}{1-\alpha - \alpha v^{3}} \right) \mid v^{3} + v^{2} - 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}; \\ \mathcal{G}_{4} &= \left\{ \left(\frac{v^{3}}{1-\alpha + v^{2} - \alpha v^{3}}, -\frac{v^{2}}{1-\alpha + v^{2} - \alpha v^{3}} \right) \mid v^{3} + (-1)^{\alpha} (2v^{2} + v) + 1 = 0, \ \alpha \in \{0,1\} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

References

- [1] Aguglia, A., Korchmaros, G. & Torres, F. (2001). Plane maximal curves. Acta Arith., 98(2), 165-179.
- [2] Bennama, H. & Carbonne, P. (1996). Courbes xⁿy^m + yⁿ + x^m = 0 et décomposition de la jacobienne.
 J. Algebra, 188(2), 409-417.
- [3] Bruin, N. & Stoll, M. (2010). The Mordell-Weil sieve: proving the nonexistence of Rational points on curves. LMS Journal of Computing Mathematics, 13, 272-306.
- [4] Coleman, R. F. (1985). Effective Chabauty. Duke Math. J. 52, no. 3, 765-770.
- [5] Faddeev, D.(1961). On the divisor class groups of some algebraic curves. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 136, 296–298. English translation: Soviet Math. Dokl. 2 (1), 67–69.
- [6] Griffiths, P. A. (1989). Introduction to algebraic curves. In : Translations of mathematical monographs, vol. 76. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI
- [7] Sall, O. (2003). Points algébriques sur certains quotients de courbes de Fermat. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser I, 336, 117-120.
- [8] Perrin, D. (1995). Géométrie algébrique, une introduction. Interéditions, Paris.

- [9] Sall, O., Fall, M. & Top, T. (2015). Points algébriques de petits degrés sur les courbes C_n d'équation affine $y^{3n} = x(x-1)(x-2)(x-3)$. Annales Mathématiques Africaines, Volume 5 pp. 25 28
- [10] Siksek, S. & Stoll, M. (2012). Partial descent on hyper elliptic curves and the generalized Fermat equation $x^3 + y^4 + z^5 = 0$. Bul. London Math. Soc. 44, 151-166.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, ASSANE SECK UNIVERSITY, ZIGUINCHOR, SENEGAL

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, ASSANE SECK UNIVERSITY, ZIGUINCHOR, SENEGAL

308



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:309-325 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

RIEMANNIAN CR MANIFOLDS AND $\rho\text{-}\textsc{einstein}$ solitons: A Geometric analysis and applications

PRABHAKARAN SWAPNA SANGEETHA D and Mallannara S. Siddesha D *

ABSTRACT. In this article, we investigate ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds. Specifically, we explore the properties of ρ -Einstein solitons in the presence of cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensors on Riemannian CR manifolds. We also examine these solitons with respect to Torse-forming vector fields. Additionally, we study ρ -Einstein solitons satisfying Ricci semi-symmetric condition on Riemannian CR manifolds. Furthermore, we examine the properties of conharmonic and conformal curvature tensors on Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons. Finally, we discuss the applications of ρ -Einstein solitons and their potential uses in various fields. Keywords: ρ -Einstein soliton, Einstein manifolds, Riemannian CR manifolds. 2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53C25, 32V20, 53C21, 53D10, 58D17.

1. INTRODUCTION

Over the last twenty years, the study of geometric flow has become the main focus of many mathematicians as it helps in understanding the geometric structures of manifolds in Riemannian geometry. In order to better comprehend these structures on Riemannian manifolds (M, g), Hamilton [15] developed the 'Ricci flow' in 1982, which is described by

$$q_t = -2S_t$$

Accepted:2024.12.19

Received:2024.09.23

 $Mallannara Siddalingappa Siddesha \diamond mssiddesha@gmail.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2367-0544 \ .$

Revised:2024.11.11

^{*} Corresponding author

Swapna Sangeetha P. \diamond swapnamath 4@gmail.com \diamond https://orcid.org/0009-0003-5581-2786

where S denotes the Ricci tensor and g is the Riemannian metric on M that satisfies the Ricci soliton equation

$$\pounds_V g + 2S + 2\lambda g = 0,$$

where \pounds_V denotes the Lie derivative along the vector field V on M, and λ is a constant. The manifolds admitting such type of structures are called Ricci solitons. The nature of these solitons depends on λ , i.e. $\lambda = 0$ is steady, $\lambda > 0$ is shrinking and $\lambda < 0$ is expanding. Bourguignon [3] gave the generalization of the Ricci flow in 1980s by introducing the notion of Ricci-Bourguignon flow, which is described by

$$g_t = -2S + 2\rho r g, \ g(0) = g_0, \tag{1.1}$$

where r represents the scalar curvature and $\rho \neq 0$ is a real constant. For specific values of ρ , we get certain tensors associated to equation(1.1):

- 1. $\rho = \frac{1}{2}$, Einstein tensor $S \frac{r}{2}g$.
- 2. $\rho = \frac{1}{n}$, traceless Ricci tensor $S \frac{r}{n}g$.
- 3. $\rho = \frac{1}{2(n-1)}$, Schouten tensor $S \frac{r}{2(n-1)}g$.
- 4. $\rho = 0$, Ricci tensor S.

The self-similar solution to the Ricci-Bourguignon flow is the Ricci-Bourguignon soliton (also called as ' ρ -Einstein soliton') whose equation is

$$\pounds_V g + 2S + 2(\lambda - \rho r)g = 0. \tag{1.2}$$

The ρ -Einstein soliton is steady if $\lambda = 0$, shrinking if $\lambda < 0$ and expanding if $\lambda > 0$.

Recent mathematical research focuses on classifying Ricci solitons in Riemannian manifolds under particular geometric conditions. Chen and Deshmukh [5] investigated potential fields as concurrent fields and provided a classification of Ricci solitons. Sharma [29] studied gradient Ricci solitons with scalar curvature which is constant and non-homothetic conformal vector fields on Riemannian manifolds, yielding significant findings. Naik [22] characterized Ricci solitons and gradient Ricci almost solitons on Riemannian manifolds, specifically those admitting concurrent recurrent vector fields, known as Riemannian CR manifolds. For further studies on Ricci solitons across various classes of Riemannian manifolds, we suggest [7, 24, 36].

Now, let's recall some concepts on vector fields in Riemannian manifolds. A smooth vector field ξ , on M is said to be conformal if \exists a smooth function ψ (referred to as 'conformal coefficient') on M such as

$$\pounds_{\mathcal{E}}g = 2\psi g. \tag{1.3}$$

In specific, ξ is said to be homothetic (Killing) vector field if ψ is constant, i.e. $d\psi = 0$. If the dual 1-form η is closed, i.e. ξ is closed, then (1.3) becomes

$$\nabla_{Z_2}\xi = \psi Z_2 \tag{1.4}$$

for all Z_2 , a vector field and ∇ , the Levi-Civita connection on M. From (1.4), we observe that ξ is a closed homothetic vector field (parallel) if ψ is constant, i.e. $d\psi = 0$ satisfies. In particular, ξ is said to be concurrent when $\psi = 1$ in (1.4). For additional information, we suggest [4, 8, 35]. In contrast, ξ is called a recurrent vector field when

$$\nabla \xi = \eta \otimes \xi.$$

We recommend [6, 13] for results on Riemannian manifolds admitting recurrent vector field. A vector field Z_2 that satisfies the expression

$$\nabla_{Z_2}\xi = \alpha Z_2 + \beta \eta(Z_2)\xi, \quad \alpha, \ \beta \in \mathbb{R},$$

generalizes both closed homothetic (concurrent), as well as recurrent vector fields. Thus, we observe that $\pounds_{\xi}g = 2\alpha i d + 2\beta \eta \otimes \eta$. If ξ is a unit vector field, then $(\pounds_{\xi}g)(\xi,\xi) = 0 = 2(\alpha + \beta)$, which implies

$$\nabla_{Z_2}\xi = \alpha[Z_2 - \eta(Z_2)\xi] \tag{1.5}$$

for any $Z_2 \in \chi(M)$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is a constant. Here, we regard a unit vector field ξ , which is non-parallel and satisfies (1.5), as a concurrent-recurrent vector field.

The existence of certain vector fields within a Riemannian manifold is a key element of differential geometry. These vector fields are classified into two types: Killing and conformal vector fields [9, 10]. This article highlights Killing vector fields because of their significant prospects for future applications. Drawing on the works of Ahmad et al [1] on ρ -Einstein solitons in Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifolds, and inspired by the works of [8, 12, 17, 20, 22, 27, 37], it is essential to explore the geometry of ρ -Einstein solitons in Riemannian CR manifolds.

The current paper investigates ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds. The paper is structured as follows: Section 2 describes the preliminary concepts. Section 3 centers on the analysis of Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons. Section 4 examines ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds with cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor. Section 5 delves into ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds with a torse-forming vector field. Section 6 addresses Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons that satisfy $R(\xi, Z_1) \cdot S = 0$. Section 7 highlights Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons concerning the conharmonic curvature tensor. Section 8 focuses on Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons with respect to the conformal curvature tensor. Section 9 gives some applications of ρ -Einstein solitons on various fields. The final section, section 10, draws the concluding remarks based on the obtained results.

2. Preliminaries

Let M be a Riemannian manifold of dimension n, admitting a concurrent recurrent vector field ξ , a 1-form η and a Riemannian metric g that satisfies the following relations:

$$\eta(\xi) = 1, \tag{2.6}$$

$$g(Z_1,\xi) = \eta(Z_1), \ g(Z_2,\xi) = \eta(Z_2),$$
 (2.7)

$$\nabla_{Z_1} \xi = \alpha [Z_1 - \eta(Z_1)\xi], \qquad (2.8)$$

$$(\nabla_{Z_1}\eta)(Z_2) = \alpha[g(Z_2, Z_1) - \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)]$$
(2.9)

for all $Z_1, Z_2 \in \chi(M)$, ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection on M, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is a constant. A Riemannian CR manifold satisfies the following relations [22]:

$$g(R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3, \xi) = \eta(R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3) = -\alpha^2 [g(Z_2, Z_3)\eta(Z_1) - g(Z_1, Z_3)\eta(Z_2)], (2.10)$$

$$R(\xi, Z_1)Z_2 = -\alpha^2 [g(Z_1, Z_2)\xi - \eta(Z_2)Z_1], \qquad (2.11)$$

$$R(Z_1, Z_2)\xi = -\alpha^2 [\eta(Z_2)Z_1 - \eta(Z_1)Z_2], \qquad (2.12)$$

$$R(\xi, Z_1)\xi = -\alpha^2 [\eta(Z_1)\xi - Z_1], \qquad (2.13)$$

$$S(Z_1,\xi) = -(n-1)\alpha^2 \eta(Z_1), \ S(\xi,\xi) = -(n-1)\alpha^2,$$
(2.14)

$$Q\xi = -(n-1)\alpha^2\xi, (2.15)$$

where R denotes the Riemannian curvature, S represents the Ricci tensor and Q indicates the Ricci operator which is given as $S(Z_1, Z_2) = g(QZ_1, Z_2), \forall Z_1, Z_2 \in \chi(M).$

Definition 2.1. [33] A Riemannian CR manifold is said to be an η -Einstein manifold when its Ricci tensor S satisfies the following relation

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = ag(Z_1, Z_2) + b\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2),$$

for smooth functions a and b. If b = 0, then the Riemannian CR manifold reduces to an Einstein manifold.

Remark 2.1. [23] In a Riemannian CR manifold, we have

$$\xi(r) = -2\alpha(r + n(n-1)\alpha^2).$$
(2.16)

Remark 2.2. From (2.16), if an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold is of constant curvature, then

$$r = -\alpha^2 n(n-1). (2.17)$$

3. Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons

In this section, we examine ρ -Einstein solitons on a Riemannian CR manifold and we explore the nature of solitons for various values of ρ .

Let an *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold M admit ρ -Einstein soliton. Then (1.2) holds. So we have

$$(\pounds_{\xi}g)(Z_1, Z_2) + 2S(Z_1, Z_2) + 2(\lambda - \rho r)g(Z_1, Z_2) = 0$$
(3.18)

for all $Z_1, Z_2 \in \chi(M)$.

We know that

$$(\pounds_{\xi}g)(Z_1, Z_2) = g(\nabla_{Z_1}\xi, Z_2) + g(Z_1, \nabla_{Z_2}\xi) = 2\alpha[g(Z_1, Z_2) - \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)].$$
(3.19)

Hence, (3.18) leads to

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = -(\lambda - \rho r + \alpha)g(Z_1, Z_2) + \alpha \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$
(3.20)

Substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (3.20) and making use of (2.6) and (2.7), we get

$$S(Z_1,\xi) = -(\lambda - \rho r)\eta(Z_1), \qquad (3.21)$$

which implies

$$Q\xi = -(\lambda - \rho r)\xi. \tag{3.22}$$

From (2.14) and (3.21), we obtain

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1) + \rho r. \tag{3.23}$$

Now, if r is constant, then by Remark (2.2), (3.23) becomes

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n).$$
(3.24)

Therefore, we state:

Theorem 3.1. If a Riemannian CR manifold of dimension n admits ρ -Einstein soliton then it is an η -Einstein manifold with the soliton constant $\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n)$.

Now from the above theorem we obtain the following corollary:

Corollary 3.1. Let an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold admit a ρ -Einstein soliton, then we have:

Values of ρ	Soliton type	Soliton constant	Nature of soliton
$\rho = \frac{1}{2}$	Einstein soliton	$\lambda = -\frac{\alpha^2 (n-1)(n-2)}{2}$	Shrinking
$\rho = \frac{1}{n}$	Traceless Ricci soliton	$\lambda = 0$	Steady
$\rho = \frac{1}{2(n-1)}$	Schouten soliton	$\lambda = \frac{\alpha^2(n-2)}{2}$	Expanding
$\rho = 0$	Ricci soliton	$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)$	Expanding

Lemma 3.1. Let an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold admit a ρ -Einstein soliton $\ni V = b\xi$, where b is a function. Then, V is a constant multiple of ξ and an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold is an η -Einstein manifold of the type

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = -(b\alpha + (\lambda - \rho r))g(Z_1, Z_2) + b\alpha\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$

Proof. Let (g, V, λ, ρ) be a ρ -Einstein soliton on an *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold, $\exists V$ is pointwise collinear with ξ i.e. $V = b\xi$. Then (1.2) holds. Hence, we have

$$bg(\nabla_{Z_1}\xi, Z_2) + Z_1(b)\eta(Z_2) + bg(Z_1, \nabla_{Z_2}\xi)$$
$$+Z_2(b)\eta(Z_1) + 2S(Z_1, Z_2) + 2(\lambda - \rho r)g(Z_1, Z_2) = 0,$$

which from (2.8) implies

$$2b\alpha g(Z_1, Z_2) - 2b\alpha \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2) + Z_1(b)\eta(Z_2) +\eta(Z_1)Z_2(b) + 2S(Z_1, Z_2) + 2(\lambda - \rho r)g(Z_1, Z_2) = 0.$$
(3.25)

Substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (3.25) and making use of (2.6), (2.7) and (2.14), we have

$$Z_1(b) + \xi(b)\eta(Z_1) - 2[\alpha^2\eta(Z_1)(n-1) - (\lambda - \rho r)\eta(Z_1)] = 0.$$
(3.26)

Now putting $Z_1 = \xi$ in (3.26) and making use of (2.6), we get

$$\xi(b) - \alpha^2(n-1) + (\lambda - \rho r) = 0. \tag{3.27}$$

Using (3.27) in (3.26), we have

$$db = [\alpha^{2}(n-1) - (\lambda - \rho r)]\eta.$$
(3.28)

Applying d on both sides of (3.28), we obtain

$$[\alpha^2(n-1) - (\lambda - \rho r)]d\eta = 0 \implies \lambda = \alpha^2(n-1) + \rho r, \ d\eta \neq 0.$$
(3.29)

Therefore, by (3.28) and (3.29) db = 0, i.e. b is constant. Thus, (3.25) becomes

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = -[b\alpha + (\lambda - \rho r)]g(Z_1, Z_2) + b\alpha \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$

4. ρ -Einstein solitons on *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifolds with respect to cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor

In this section, we discuss the characteristic of ρ -Einstein soliton on a Riemannian CR manifold with respect to cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor and explore the nature of solitons for various values of ρ .

Definition 4.1. [34] A Riemannian CR manifold M of dimension n is said to have cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor if

$$(\nabla_{Z_1}S)(Z_2, Z_3) + (\nabla_{Z_2}S)(Z_3, Z_1) + (\nabla_{Z_3}S)(Z_1, Z_2)$$

= $\eta(Z_1)S(Z_2, Z_3) + \eta(Z_2)S(Z_3, Z_1) + \eta(Z_3)S(Z_1, Z_2),$ (4.30)

for any $Z_1, Z_2, Z_3 \in \chi(M)$.

Now, considering an *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold M admitting a ρ -Einstein soliton with cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor, then equation (4.30) holds. Applying covariant derivative on (3.20) with respect to Z_1 yields

$$(\nabla_{Z_1}S)(Z_2, Z_3) = \rho Z_1(r)g(Z_2, Z_3) + \alpha^2 g(Z_1, Z_2)\eta(Z_3) + \alpha^2 g(Z_1, Z_3)\eta(Z_2) - 2\alpha^2 \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)\eta(Z_3).$$
(4.31)

Similarly, we get

$$(\nabla_{Z_2}S)(Z_3, Z_1) = \rho Z_2(r)g(Z_3, Z_1) + \alpha^2 g(Z_2, Z_3)\eta(Z_1) + \alpha^2 g(Z_1, Z_2)\eta(Z_3) - 2\alpha^2 \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)\eta(Z_3),$$
(4.32)

and

$$(\nabla_{Z_3}S)(Z_1, Z_2) = \rho Z_3(r)g(Z_1, Z_2) + \alpha^2 g(Z_3, Z_1)\eta(Z_2) + \alpha^2 g(Z_3, Z_2)\eta(Z_1) - 2\alpha^2 \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)\eta(Z_3).$$
(4.33)

Making use of (4.31)-(4.33) in (4.30) we get

$$\rho[Z_1(r)g(Z_2, Z_3) + Z_2(r)g(Z_3, Z_1) + Z_3(r)g(Z_1, Z_2)] = 3\alpha(1 + 2\alpha)\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)\eta(Z_3)$$
$$-(\lambda - \rho r + \alpha(1 + 2\alpha))[g(Z_2, Z_3)\eta(Z_1) + g(Z_1, Z_3)\eta(Z_2) + g(Z_1, Z_2)\eta(Z_3)],$$

which on substitution of $Z_2 = Z_3 = \xi$ and utilization of (2.6) and (2.7) gives

$$\rho[Z_1(r) + \xi(r)\eta(Z_1) + \xi(r)\eta(Z_1)] = 3\alpha(1+2\alpha)\eta(Z_1) - 3(\lambda - \rho r + \alpha(1+2\alpha))\eta(Z_1).$$
(4.34)

Now taking $Z_1 = \xi$ and making use of (2.6) gives

$$3\rho\xi(r) = 3\alpha(1+2\alpha) - 3(\lambda - \rho r + \alpha(1+2\alpha)).$$
(4.35)

Let r be a constant. Then $\xi(r) = 0$. Hence by (2.16) and (2.17), equation (4.35) implies

$$\lambda = -\alpha^2 \rho n(n-1).$$

Thus, we state the following result:

Theorem 4.1. If an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold with constant scalar curvature admitting ρ -Einstein solitons has cyclic η -recurrent Ricci tensor, then the soliton constant is given by $\lambda = -\alpha^2 \rho n(n-1)$.

Now we have the following corollary:

Corollary 4.1. Let the metric of n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold with constant scalar curvature be a ρ -Einstein soliton. Then we have:

Values of ρ	Soliton type	Soliton constant	Nature of soliton
$\rho = \frac{1}{2}$	Einstein soliton	$\lambda = -\frac{\alpha^2 n(n-1)}{2}$	Shrinking
$\rho = \frac{1}{n}$	Traceless Ricci soliton	$\lambda = -\alpha^2(n-1)$	Shrinking
$\rho = \frac{1}{2(n-1)}$	Schouten soliton	$\lambda = -\frac{\alpha^2 n}{2}$	Shrinking
$\rho = 0$	Ricci soliton	$\lambda = 0$	Steady

316

5. ρ -Einstein solitons on n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifolds with respect to Torse-forming vector field

In this section, we examine the nature of ρ -Einstein soliton on a Riemannian CR manifold with a torse-forming vector field and discuss the nature of solitons for various values of ρ .

Definition 5.1. [32] On a Riemannian manifold (M, g), a vector field V is said to be torseforming if

$$\nabla_{Z_1} V = f Z_1 + \omega(Z_1) V, \tag{5.36}$$

where f is a smooth function, ω is a 1-form and ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection of g.

Considering an *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold admitting a ρ -Einstien soliton and ξ , the Reeb vector field to be a torse-forming vector field, then (5.36) implies

$$\nabla_{Z_1}\xi = fZ_1 + \omega(Z_1)\xi \tag{5.37}$$

for any $Z_1 \in \chi(M)$. Taking the inner product on (5.37) with ξ gives

$$\eta(\nabla_{Z_1}\xi) = f\eta(Z_1) + \omega(Z_1).$$
(5.38)

Using (2.8) in (5.38), we get

$$\omega(Z_1) = -f\eta(Z_1). \tag{5.39}$$

It follows from (5.39), equation (5.37) becomes

$$\nabla_{Z_1}\xi = f(Z_1 - \eta(Z_1)\xi). \tag{5.40}$$

By virtue of (5.40), we have

$$(\pounds_{\xi}g)(Z_1, Z_2) = 2f[g(Z_1, Z_2) - \eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2)].$$
(5.41)

In view of (5.41), equation (3.18) leads to

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = -(f + \lambda - \rho r)g(Z_1, Z_2) + f\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$
(5.42)

Substituting $Z_1 = Z_2 = \xi$ in (5.42) then utilizing (2.6), (2.14) and (2.17) we obtain

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n).$$

Thus, we have:

Theorem 5.1. If an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold of constant scalar curvature admit a ρ -Einstien soliton with torse-forming vector field ξ , then it is an η -Einstein manifold with the soliton constant $\lambda = \alpha^2(n-1)(1-\rho n)$. Further, for particular values of ρ , the nature of solitons can be discussed which is same as Corollary 3.1.

6. ρ -EINSTEIN SOLITONS ON *n*-DIMENSIONAL RIEMANNIAN CR MANIFOLDS SATISFYING $R(\xi, Z_1) \cdot S = 0$

In this section, we investigate the nature of ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds that satisfies Ricci semi-symmetric condition.

Let an *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold admit a ρ -Einstein soliton that satisfy the condition $R(\xi, Z_1) \cdot S = 0$. Then, we have

$$S(R(\xi, Z_1)Z_2, Z_3) + S(Z_2, R(\xi, Z_1)Z_3) = 0,$$

which by using (2.11) yields

$$-\alpha^2 g(Z_2, Z_1) S(\xi, Z_3) + \alpha^2 \eta(Z_2) S(Z_1, Z_3) - \alpha^2 g(Z_3, Z_1) S(Z_2, \xi) + \alpha^2 \eta(Z_3) S(Z_2, Z_1) = 0.$$

Substituting $Z_3 = \xi$ in the above equation and utilizing (2.6) and (3.21), we obtain

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = -(\lambda - \rho r)g(Z_1, Z_2).$$
(6.43)

Now substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (6.43) and utilizing (2.14) and (2.17) we get

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n).$$

Now we state:

Theorem 6.1. If an n-dimensional Riemannian CR manifold of constant scalar curvature tensor admit a ρ -Einstein soliton and satisfies the condition $R(\xi, Z_1) \cdot S = 0$, then it is an Einstein manifold with the soliton constant $\lambda = \alpha^2(n-1)(1-\rho n)$. Further, for particular values of ρ , the nature of solitons can be discussed which is same as Corollary 3.1.

7. Conharmonic curvature tensor on *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons

In this section, we inspect the nature of ρ -Einstein soliton on Riemannian CR manifolds with respect to conharmonic curvature tensor. On a Riemannian manifold M of dimension n, the conharmonic curvature tensor K is defined by [18]

$$K(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 + \frac{1}{n-2} \bigg[S(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 - S(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 + g(Z_1, Z_3)QZ_2 - g(Z_2, Z_3)QZ_1 \bigg],$$
(7.44)

for all $Z_1, Z_2, Z_3 \in \chi(M)$.

Now, considering a conharmonically flat Riemannian CR manifold of dimension n admitting a ρ -Einstein soliton i.e. $K(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = 0$. Then from (7.44), we have

$$R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = -\frac{1}{n-2} \bigg[S(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 - S(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 + g(Z_1, Z_3)QZ_2 - g(Z_2, Z_3)QZ_1 \bigg].$$

Putting $Z_3 = \xi$ and making use of (2.12), (3.21) and (3.22), the above equation yields

$$-\alpha^{2}[\eta(Z_{2})Z_{1} - \eta(Z_{1})Z_{2}] = -\frac{1}{n-2} \bigg[(\lambda - \rho r)(\eta(Z_{2})Z_{1} - \eta(Z_{1})Z_{2}) + \eta(Z_{1})QZ_{2} - \eta(Z_{2})QZ_{1} \bigg].$$
(7.45)

Now substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (7.45), equation (7.45) yields

$$QZ_1 = [\lambda - \rho r - \alpha^2 (n-2)]Z_1 - [2\lambda - 2\rho r - \alpha^2 (n-2)]\eta(Z_1)\xi.$$
(7.46)

Applying the inner product on (7.46) with Z_2 leads to

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = [\lambda - \rho r - \alpha^2 (n-2)]g(Z_1, Z_2) - [2\lambda - 2\rho r - \alpha^2 (n-2)]\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$
(7.47)

Now substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (7.47) and utilizing (2.6), (2.7) and (2.14), we get

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1) + \rho r. \tag{7.48}$$

Let r be a constant. Then by (2.17), equation (7.48) turns to

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n).$$

Thus, we state:

Theorem 7.1. If the metric of a conharmonically flat Riemannian CR manifold of dimension n with constant scalar curvature r is a ρ -Einstein soliton, then it is η -Einstein with the soliton constant $\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n)$.
8. Conformal curvature tensor on *n*-dimensional Riemannian CR manifolds admitting ρ -Einstein solitons

In this section, we examine the nature of ρ -Einstein soliton on Riemannian CR manifolds with respect to conformal curvature tensor.

On a Riemannian manifold M of dimension n, the conformal curvature tensor C is defined by [21]

$$C(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 + \frac{1}{n-2} \left[S(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 - S(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 + g(Z_1, Z_3)QZ_2 - g(Z_2, Z_3)QZ_1 \right] + \frac{r}{(n-1)(n-2)} \left[g(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 - g(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 \right]$$
(8.49)

for all $Z_1, Z_2, Z_3 \in \chi(M)$.

Now, considering a conformally flat Riemannian CR manifold of dimension n admitting a ρ -Einstein soliton i.e. $C(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = 0$. Then from (8.49), we have

$$R(Z_1, Z_2)Z_3 = -\frac{1}{n-2} \left[S(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 - S(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 + g(Z_1, Z_3)QZ_2 - g(Z_2, Z_3)QZ_1 \right] \\ -\frac{r}{(n-1)(n-2)} \left[g(Z_2, Z_3)Z_1 - g(Z_1, Z_3)Z_2 \right].$$

Substituting $Z_3 = \xi$ in the above equation and making use of (2.12), (3.21) and (3.22), the above equation yields

$$-\alpha^{2}[\eta(Z_{2})Z_{1} - \eta(Z_{1})Z_{2}] = -\frac{1}{n-2} \left[(\lambda - \rho r)(\eta(Z_{2})Z_{1} - \eta(Z_{1})Z_{2}) + \eta(Z_{1})QZ_{2} - \eta(Z_{2})QZ_{1} \right] - \frac{r}{(n-1)(n-2)} \left[\eta(Z_{2})Z_{1} - \eta(Z_{1})Z_{2} \right].$$
(8.50)

Now putting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (8.50), equation (8.50) yields

$$QZ_1 = [\lambda - \rho r - 2\alpha^2(n-1)]Z_1 - [2\lambda - 2\rho r - 2\alpha^2(n-1)]\eta(Z_1)\xi.$$
(8.51)

Applying the inner product on (8.51) with Z_2 leads to

$$S(Z_1, Z_2) = [\lambda - \rho r - 2\alpha^2(n-1)]g(Z_1, Z_2) - [2\lambda - 2\rho r - 2\alpha^2(n-1)]\eta(Z_1)\eta(Z_2).$$
(8.52)

Now substituting $Z_2 = \xi$ in (8.52) and utilizing (2.6), (2.7) and (2.14), we get

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1) + \rho r. \tag{8.53}$$

Let r be a constant. Then, by (2.17), equation (8.53) turns to

$$\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n).$$

Thus, we state:

Theorem 8.1. If the metric of a conformally flat Riemannian CR manifold of dimension nwith constant scalar curvature r is a ρ -Einstein soliton, then it is η -Einstein with the soliton constant $\lambda = \alpha^2 (n-1)(1-\rho n)$.

9. Applications

As generalized fixed points of Hamilton's Ricci flow $g_t = -2S$ [16], Ricci solitons are a natural generalization of Einstein metrics on a Riemannian manifold. This evolution equation permits a metric to smooth out irregularities based on the Ricci curvature of the manifold, i.e. expands for negative Ricci curvature and shrinks in positive case. It is a nonlinear diffusion equation comparable to the heat equation for metrics. For ρ -Einstein solitons, we have obtained the steady, expanding, and shrinking conditions.

Ricci solitons, known as quasi-Einstein metrics in physics literature, are of great interest to physicists as they have wide applications in the fields of physics [14], biology, chemistry, [19] and economics [28]. As Ricci solitons are self-similar solutions to the Ricci flow, they were instrumental in resolving the century-old Poincaré conjecture [25, 26]. Additionally, Ricci flow and Ricci solitons play a major role in medical imaging for brain surfaces [31], illustrating their wide-ranging impact.

The study of ρ -Einstein solitons aids in comprehending the geometry and topology of Riemannian manifolds. In general relativity, ρ -Einstein solitons provide models for spacetime metrics with specific properties, helping to understand solutions to the Einstein field equations and contributing to cosmological models and the study of gravitational waves [30]. With respect to Ricci flow, ρ -Einstein solitons model the formation of singularities and provides insights on the nature of singularities that form during the flow, leading to a better understanding of the long-term behaviors in cosmology and the potential fate of the universe.

Further, Dey and Roy [11] discussed some applications of η -Ricci-Bourguignon solitons to general relativity. According to them, symmetry is a fascinating feature of our universe, governed by the laws of nature and applicable to various physical phenomena, including general relativity. Early in the 1800s, Albert Einstein made the discovery of the "Theory of General Relativity." In this theory, the gravitational field is defined by the curvature of space-time, and its source is the energy-momentum tensor. The most effective tools for comprehending general relativity in mathematics are differential geometry and relativistic models. A connected 4-dimensional Lorentzian manifold, a particular subclass of pseudo-Riemannian manifolds with Lorentzian metric g with signature (-,+,+,+), can be used to model the spacetime of general relativity and cosmology. The matter content of spacetime is represented by the energy-momentum tensor and is believed to behave as a fluid with properties such as pressure, density, dynamical and kinematic quantities like acceleration, velocity, vorticity, shear, and expansion [2]. These properties can be better understood by studying the nature of solitons. In this paper, we have examined the soliton constants in various cases and also have discussed on soliton constants for different values of ρ .

Moreover, ρ -Einstein solitons are also useful in classifying compact Riemannian manifolds with prescribed curvature conditions. The conformal curvature tensor (Weyl tensor in four dimensions) quantifies the deviation of a manifold from being conformally flat and remains invariant under conformal transformations of the metric. Studying these solitons in the context of conformal curvature involves examining how they affect the conformal geometry of the manifold. In this article, we have obtained the soliton constants of ρ -Einstein solitons with respect to conformal and conharmonic curvature tensors on Riemannian CR manifold.

In summary, ρ -Einstein solitons are fundamental in understanding manifold geometry, contributing to the study of geometric flows, singularity formation, manifold classification, and various interdisciplinary applications. Their study bridges theoretical mathematics and practical applications, highlighting their significance in both realms.

10. Conclusion

In this paper, we have systematically explored the behavior of ρ -Einstein solitons on Riemannian CR manifolds under various geometric conditions. Our analysis demonstrates that such solitons consistently reveal deep connections to η -Einstein and Einstein manifolds structures. Key findings from the Theorems 3.1, 4.1, 5.1, 6.1, 7.1, and 8.1 highlights that, regardless of the specific geometric conditions-whether involving torse-forming vector fields, or conditions like conharmonic or conformal flatness-these solitons share a common characteristic. They are invariably associated with η -Einstein manifolds, and their soliton constant takes the form $\lambda = \alpha^2(n-1)(1-\rho n)$, emphasizing the uniformity of their geometric structure. Moreover, when additional curvature conditions are imposed, such as the Ricci semisymmetric condition $R(\xi, Z_1) \cdot S = 0$, the manifold transforms into an Einstein manifold, reinforcing the broader geometric significance of ρ -Einstein solitons.

This study highlights the rich interplay between ρ -Einstein solitons and the curvature properties of Riemannian CR manifolds, contributing to a deeper understanding of their geometry. Through these results, we gain valuable insights into the solitons behavior across various curvature contexts, providing a foundation for future investigations in both theoretical mathematics and practical applications in physics and cosmology.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank the referees for their comments and suggestions to improve the quality of this article.

References

- Ahmad, M., Mohd. Bilal, & Gazala. (2024). ρ-Einstein solitons in Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifolds. Results in Nonlinear Analysis, 7(2), 53–63.
- [2] Blaga, A. M., & Taştan, H. M. (2021). Some results on almost η-Ricci-Bourguignon solitons. Journal of geometry and physics, 168, 104316.
- Bourguignon, J. P. (1981). Ricci curvature and Einstein metrics. Global differential geometry and global analysis. Lecture notes in Math, 838, 42-63.
- [4] Brickell, F., & Yano, K. (1974). Concurrent vector fields and Minkowski structures. In Kodai Mathematical Seminar Reports, 26(1), 22-28.
- [5] Chen, B. Y., & Deshmukh, S. (2014). Ricci solitons and concurrent vector fields. Balkan J. Geom. Appl, 20(1), 14-25.
- [6] Collinson, C. D., & Vaz, E. G. L. R. (1995). Killing pairs constructed from a recurrent vector field. General Relativity and Gravitation, 27, 751-759.
- [7] Deshmukh, S., Alodan, H., & Al-Sodais, H. (2011). A note on Ricci solitons. Balkan J. Geom. Appl, 16(1), 48-55.
- [8] Deshmukh, S., & Al-Solamy, F. R. (2014). Conformal vector fields on a Riemannian manifold. Balkan J. Geom. Appl, 19(2), 86-93.
- [9] Deshmukh, S., & Khan, V. A. (2019). Geodesic vector fields and Eikonal equation on a Riemannian manifold. *Indagationes Mathematicae*, 30(4), 542-552.
- [10] Deshmukh, S., Peska, P., & Bin Turki, N. (2020). Geodesic vector fields on a Riemannian manifold. Mathematics, 8(1), 137.
- [11] Dey, S., & Roy, S. (2022). Characterization of general relativistic spacetime equipped with η-Ricci-Bourguignon soliton. Journal of Geometry and Physics, 178, 104578.
- [12] Dutta, T., Basu, N., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2016). Conformal Ricci soliton in Lorentzian α-Sasakian manifolds. Acta Universitatis Palackianae Olomucensis. Facultas Rerum Naturalium. Mathematica, 55(2), 57-70.

- [13] Ghanam, R., & Thompson, G. (2001). Two special metrics with R₁₄-type holonomy. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 18(11), 2007-2014.
- [14] Graf, W. (2007). Ricci flow gravity. PMC Physics A, 1, 1-13.
- [15] Hamilton, R. S. (1982). Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature. Journal of Differential geometry, 17(2), 255-306.
- [16] Hamilton, R. S. (1988). The Ricci Flow on Surfaces. Contemporary Mathematics, 71, 237-261.
- [17] Haseeb, A., & Prasad, R. (2020). Some results on Lorentzian para-Kenmotsu manifolds. Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Brasov. Series III: Mathematics and Computer Science, 185-198.
- [18] Ishii, Y. (1957). On conharmonic transformations. Tensor, NS, 11, 73-80.
- [19] Ivancevic, V. G., & Ivancevic, T. T. (2011). Ricci flow and nonlinear reaction-diffusion systems in biology, chemistry, and physics. *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 65, 35-54.
- [20] Li, Y., Kumara, H. A., Siddesha, M. S., & Naik, D. M. (2023). Characterization of Ricci Almost Soliton on Lorentzian Manifolds. Symmetry, 15(6), 1175.
- [21] Mishra, R. S. (1984). Structures on a differentiable manifold and their applications. Chandrama Prakashan, Allahabad.
- [22] Naik, D. M. (2021). Ricci solitons on Riemannian manifolds admitting certain vector field. Ricerche di Matematica, 73(1), 1-16.
- [23] Naik, D. M., Fasihi-Ramandi, G., Kumara, H. A., & Venkatesha, V. (2023). Yamabe Solitons and τ-Quasi Yamabe Gradient Solitons on Riemannian Manifolds Admitting Concurrent-Recurrent Vector Fields. *Mathematica Slovaca*, 73(2), 501-510.
- [24] Naik, D. M., Venkatesha, V., & Prakasha, D. G. (2019). Certain results on Kenmotsu pseudo-metric manifolds. *Miskolc Mathematical Notes*, 20, 1083-1099.
- [25] Perelman, G. (2002). The entropy formula for the Ricci flow and its geometric applications. http://arXiv.org/abs/math/0211159. 1-39.
- [26] Perelman, G. (2003). Ricci flow with surgery on three manifolds. http://arXiv.org/abs/math/0303109.
 1-22.
- [27] Praveena, M. M., Siddesha, M. S., & Bagewadi, C. S. (2022). Certain results of Ricci solitons on (LCS) manifolds. International Journal of Maps in Mathematics, 5(2), 101–111.
- [28] Sandhu, R. S., Georgiou, T. T., & Tannenbaum, A. R. (2016). Ricci curvature: An economic indicator for market fragility and systemic risk. *Science advances*, 2(5), e1501495.
- [29] Sharma, R. (2018). Gradient Ricci soliton with a conformal vector field. Journal of Geometry, 109, 01-07.
- [30] Siddiqui, A. N., & Siddiqi, M. D. (2021). Almost Ricci-Bourguignon solitons and geometrical structure in a relativistic perfect fluid spacetime. *Balkan J. Geom. Appl*, 26(2), 126-138.
- [31] Wang, Y., Shi, J., Yin, X., Gu, X., Chan, T. F., Yau, S. T., ... & Thompson, P. M. (2011). Brain surface conformal parameterization with the Ricci flow. *IEEE transactions on medical imaging*, 31(2), 251-264.
- [32] Yano, K. (1944). 72. On the Torse-forming Directions in Riemannian Spaces. Proceedings of the Imperial Academy, 20(6), 340-345.
- [33] Yano, K. (1970). Integral Formulas in Riemannian Geometry. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- [34] Yano, K., & Kon, M. (1985). Structures on manifolds. World scientific.

324

- [35] Yoldaş, H. İ. (2020). Certain Results on N(k)-Contact Metric Manifolds and Torse-Forming Vector Fields. Journal of Mathematical Extension, 15.
- [36] Yoldaş, H. İ. (2021). Some soliton types on Riemannian manifolds. Rom. J. Math. Comput. Sci, 11(2), 13-20.
- [37] Yoldaş, H. İ. (2022). Remarks on some soliton types with certain vector fields. Fundamentals of Contemporary Mathematical Sciences, 3(2), 146-159.

DEPARTMENT OF DATA ANALYTICS AND MATHEMATICAL SCIENCE, FACULTY OF ENGINEERING AND TECH-NOLOGY, JAIN (DEEMED-TO-BE UNIVERSITY), GLOBAL CAMPUS-562112, KARNATAKA, INDIA.

^{1,2}Department of Data Analytics and Mathematical Science, Faculty of Engineering and Technology, Jain (Deemed-to-be University), Global Campus-562112, Karnataka, INDIA.



International Journal of Maps in Mathematics Volume 8, Issue 1, 2025, Pages:326-333 E-ISSN: 2636-7467 www.simadp.com/journalmim

UNIT TANGENT SPHERE BUNDLES WITH THE KALUZA-KLEIN METRIC SATISFYING SOME COMMUTATIVE CONDITIONS

MURAT ALTUNBAŞ 🕩 *

ABSTRACT. Let (M, g) be an *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifold and T_1M its tangent sphere bundle with the contact metric structure $(\tilde{G}, \eta, \phi, \xi)$, where \tilde{G} is the Kaluza-Klein metric. Let \tilde{S} be the Ricci operator and *h* be the structural operator on T_1M . In this paper, we find some conditions for the relations $\tilde{S}h = h\tilde{S}$ and $\tilde{S}\phi h = \phi h\tilde{S}$ to be satisfied. **Keywords**: Tangent sphere bundle, Kaluza-Klein metric, Ricci operator, contact metric

structure.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 53C25, 53D10.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold and T_1M its tangent sphere bundle. There can be defined a lot of metrics on T_1M such as the Sasaki metric [9], the Kaluza-Klein metric [10], the Kaluza-Klein type metric [1] and a general natural metric ([5],[12]). All of these metrics are sub-classes of the g-natural metric introduced in [2]. These metrics are restrictions of the metrics on the tangent bundle TM to T_1M . Remark that the restrictions of the two wellknown metrics on TM, say the Cheeger-Gromoll metric [15] and a metric with two parameter ([6], [13]), yield nothing new thank to isometries to the Sasaki metric (see [8] and [14]).

In [11], Cho and Chun studied the commutativity of the Ricci operator with the structural operator in (T_1M, g^s) by considering the base manifold M is conformally flat. Here, g^s denotes the Sasaki metric.

Murat Altunbaş & maltunbas@erzincan.edu.tr & https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0371-9913.

Received:2024.10.17 Accepted:2024.12.31

^{*} Corresponding author

In this paper, we endow the unit tangent sphere bundle T_1M with the Kaluza-Klein metric \tilde{G} and give a contact metric structure (η, ϕ, ξ) associated to the metric \tilde{G} . We investigate the commutative properties of the Ricci operator \tilde{S} with h and ϕh , where h is the structural operator on T_1M .

2. Preliminaries

The aim of this section is to report some fundamental facts about contact metric manifolds. Every manifolds are supposed to be smooth and connected. We can refer to [7] for a survey about contact metric geometry.

Given a (2n-1) dimensional differentiable manifold \overline{M} . If \overline{M} acknowledges a global 1-form η such that $\eta \wedge (d\eta)^n \neq 0$, then it is called a contact manifold. When η is given, there is a vector field ξ (so called characteristic vector field) such that $\eta(\xi) = 1$ and $d\eta(\xi, \overline{A}) = 0$ for all vector fields \overline{A} on \overline{M} . Moreover, a Riemannian metric \overline{g} is called an associated metric if there exists a (1, 1)-tensor such that

$$\eta(\bar{A}) = g(\bar{A},\xi), \ d\eta(\bar{A},\bar{B}) = \bar{g}(\bar{X},\phi\bar{B}), \ \phi^2\bar{A} = -\bar{A} + \eta(\bar{A})\xi, \tag{2.1}$$

for all vector fields $\overline{A}, \overline{B}$ on \overline{M} . It follows that

$$\phi\xi = 0, \ \eta \circ \phi = 0, \ \bar{g}(\phi\bar{A},\phi\bar{B}) = \bar{g}(\bar{A},\bar{B}) - \eta(\bar{A})\eta(\bar{B}).$$

The quartet $(\eta, \bar{g}, \phi, \xi)$ satisfying (2.1) is called a contact metric structure and the quintet $(\bar{M}, \eta, \bar{g}, \phi, \xi)$ a contact metric manifold.

Let \overline{M} be a contact metric manifold. The structural operator h is defined by $h = \frac{1}{2}L_{\xi}\phi$, where L is the Lie derivative operator. The operator h is self-adjoint and it satisfies the following relations:

$$h\xi = 0, \ h\phi = -\phi h, \ \overline{\nabla}_{\overline{A}}\xi = -\phi\overline{A} - \phi h\overline{A}, \ (\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}h)\phi = -\phi(\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}h),$$

where $\overline{\nabla}$ is the Levi-Civita connection of \overline{g} .

Let (M, g) be an *n*-Riemannian manifold with the Levi-Civita connection ∇ . The tangent bundle TM of M is a 2*n*-dimensional manifold with the projection map $\pi : TM \to M$, $\pi(p, u) = u$. The *g*-natural metric G on TM is defined by, [4]

$$\begin{cases} G(A^h, B^h) = (\alpha_1 + \alpha_3)(r^2)g(A, B) + (\beta_1 + \beta_3)(r^2)g(A, u)g(B, u) \\ G(A^h, B^v) = \alpha_2(r^2)g(A, B) + \beta_2(r^2)g(A, u)g(B, u), \\ G(A^v, B^v) = \alpha_1(r^2)g(A, B) + \beta_1(r^2)g(A, u)g(B, u), \end{cases}$$

M. ALTUNBAŞ

for all vector fields A, B on M, where $\alpha_i, \beta_i : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2, 3$ are smooth functions, $r^2 = g(u, u)$ and A^h, A^v denote the horizontal lift and the vertical lift of A, respectively.

The unit tangent sphere bundle T_1M is a hypersurface of TM defined by $T_1M = \{(x, u) \in TM : g(u, u) = 1\}$. By definition, the *g*-natural metric on T_1M is the restriction of the *g*-natural metric of TM to its hypersurface T_1M . The *g*-natural metric on T_1M is defined by

$$\begin{cases} G(A^h, B^h) = (a+c)g(A, B) + \beta(r^2)g(A, u)g(B, u) \\ G(A^h, B^v) = bg(A, B), \\ G(A^v, B^v) = ag(A, B), \end{cases}$$

where $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\beta : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$. The vector field $N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(a+c+d)\varphi}} [-bu^h + (a+c+d)u^v]$ is the unit normal vector field, where $d = \beta(1)$ and $\varphi = a(a+c+d) - b^2$. The tangential lift A^t is given by $A^t = A^v - \sqrt{\frac{\varphi}{a+c+d}}g(A, u)N$. Inasmuch as the tangent space $(T_1M)_{(x,u)}$ of T_1M at (x, u) is produced by vectors of the form A^h and B^t , the Riemannian metric g on T_1M , induced from G, is established by

$$\begin{cases} G(A^{h}, B^{h}) = (a+c)g(A, B) + dg(A, u)g(B, u), \\ G(A^{h}, B^{t}) = bg(A, B), \\ G(A^{t}, B^{t}) = ag(A, B) - \frac{\varphi}{a+c+d}g(A, u)g(B, u), \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

for all vector fields A, B on M. The particular cases of the metric G are listed below:

- i) The Sasaki metric if a = 1, b = c = d = 0,
- ii) The Cheeger-Gromoll type metric if b = d = 0, $a = 1/2^m$, c = 1 a,
- iii) The Kaluza-Klein type metric if b = 0 (and a, a + c > 0, a + c + d > 0).
- iv) The Kaluza-Klein metric if b = d = 0 (and a, a + c > 0).

In this paper, we deal with the Kaluza-Klein metric. From (2.2), the Kaluza-Klein metric \tilde{G} is defined by

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{G}(A^{h}, B^{h}) = (a+c)g(A, B), \\ \tilde{G}(A^{h}, B^{t}) = 0, \\ \tilde{G}(A^{t}, B^{t}) = a(g(A, B) - g(A, u)g(B, u)). \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

The Levi-Civita connection $\tilde{\nabla}$ of \tilde{G} is given by, [10]

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\nabla}_{A^h} B^h &= (\nabla_A B)^h - \frac{1}{2} (R(A, B)u)^t, \quad (2.4) \\ \tilde{\nabla}_{A^h} B^t &= (\nabla_A B)^t + \frac{a}{2(a+c)} (R(u, A)B)^h, \\ \tilde{\nabla}_{A^t} B^h &= \frac{a}{2(a+c)} (R(u, A)B)^h, \\ \tilde{\nabla}_{A^t} B^t &= -g(B, u)A^t. \end{split}$$

For an orthonormal basis $e_1, e_2, ..., e_n = u$, the Ricci tensor \widetilde{Ric} of \tilde{G} is computed as, [3]

$$\widetilde{Ric}(A^{h}, B^{h}) = Ric(A, B) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u, e_{i})A, R(u, e_{i})B), \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, B^{h}) = \frac{a}{2(a+c)} ((\nabla_{u}Ric)(A, B) - (\nabla_{A}Ric)(u, B)), \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, B^{t}) = (n-2)(g(A, B) - g(A, u)g(B, u)) + \frac{a^{2}}{4(a+c)^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u, A)e_{i}, R(u, B)e_{i}), \qquad (2.5)$$

where Ric denotes the Ricci tensor of g.

From [2], we have a contact metric structure $(\tilde{G}, \eta, \phi, \xi)$ on T_1M satisfying

$$\xi = 2u^{h}, \ \phi A^{t} = \frac{1}{4(a+c)} (-A^{h} + \frac{1}{2}g(A,u)\xi), \ \phi A^{h} = \frac{1}{4a}A^{t},$$

$$\eta(A^{h}) = \frac{1}{2}g(A,u), \ \eta(A^{t}) = 0.$$
(2.6)

We also have

$$hA^{t} = \frac{1}{4a}A^{t} - \frac{1}{4(a+c)}(R_{u}A)^{t}, \qquad (2.7)$$
$$hA^{h} = -\frac{1}{4a}A^{h} + \frac{1}{8a}g(A,u)\xi + \frac{1}{4(a+c)}(R_{u}A)^{h},$$

where $R_u = R(\cdot, u)u$ is the Jacobi operator related with the unit vector u.

3. T_1M satisfying some commutative conditions

Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold and T_1M be its unit tangent sphere bundle with the Kaluza-Klein metric \tilde{G} (2.2). Denote the Ricci operator of \tilde{G} by \tilde{S} . First, we suppose that $\tilde{S}h = h\tilde{S}$. Then, using (2.5), (2.7) and self-adjoint property of the Jacobi operator R_u , we occur

$$0 = \tilde{G}(\tilde{S}hA^{t} - h\tilde{S}A^{t}, B^{t})$$

= $\widetilde{Ric}(hA^{t}, B^{t}) - \widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, hB^{t})$ (3.8)
= $\frac{a^{2}}{16(a+c)^{3}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} [g(R(u, A)e_{i}, R(u, R_{u}B)e_{i}) - g(R(u, B)e_{i}, R(u, R_{u}A)e_{i})],$

M. ALTUNBAŞ

$$0 = \tilde{G}(\tilde{S}hA^{t} - h\tilde{S}A^{t}, B^{h})$$

$$= \widetilde{Ric}(hA^{t}, B^{h}) - \widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, hB^{h})$$

$$= \frac{1}{4(a+c)}[(\nabla_{u}Ric)(A, B) - (\nabla_{A}Ric)(u, B)]$$

$$-\frac{a}{8(a+c)^{2}}[(\nabla_{u}Ric)(R_{u}A, B) - (\nabla_{R_{u}A}Ric)(u, B)]$$

$$-\frac{a}{8(a+c)^{2}}[(\nabla_{u}Ric)(A, R_{u}B) - (\nabla_{A}Ric)(u, R_{u}B)]$$

$$-\frac{1}{8(a+c)}g(B, u)[(\nabla_{u}Ric)(A, u) - (\nabla_{u}Ric)(u, u)],$$
(3.9)

$$0 = \tilde{G}(\tilde{S}hA^{h} - h\tilde{S}A^{h}, B^{h})$$

$$= \widetilde{Ric}(hA^{h}, B^{h}) - \widetilde{Ric}(A^{h}, hB^{h}) \qquad (3.10)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4a}g(A, u)[Ric(B, u) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)}\sum_{i=1}^{n}g(R(u, e_{i})u, R(u, e_{i})B)]$$

$$-\frac{1}{4a}g(B, u)[Ric(A, u) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)}\sum_{i=1}^{n}g(R(u, e_{i})A, R(u, e_{i})u)]$$

$$+\frac{1}{4(a+c)}[Ric(R_{u}A, B) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)}\sum_{i=1}^{n}g(R(u, e_{i})R_{u}A, R(u, e_{i})B)]$$

$$-\frac{1}{4(a+c)}[Ric(A, R_{u}B) - \sum_{i=1}^{n}g(R(u, e_{i})A, R(u, e_{i})R_{u}B)].$$

Thus, T_1M fulfills $\tilde{S}h = h\tilde{S}$ if and only if M fulfills (3.8)-(3.10).

Let M be a space with constant curvature k. In this case, we observe that it fulfills (3.8)-(3.10). Therefore, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1. Let M be a space with constant curvature k. Then T_1M fulfills the relation $\tilde{S}h = h\tilde{S}$.

If we consider M as a surface (i.e., 2-dimensional manifold), we obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1. Let M be a 2-dimensional Riemannian manifold. Then T_1M fulfills the relation $\tilde{S}h = h\tilde{S}$ if and only if M is a space with constant Gaussian curvature.

Proof. The curvature tensor of a 2-dimensional Riemannian manifold is expressed by the relation $R(A, B)C = \kappa(g(B, C)A - g(A, C)B)$, where κ is a smooth function on M. This relation gives us $R_uA = R(A, u)u = \kappa(A - g(A, u)u)$ and $Ric(A, B) = (n-1)\kappa g(A, B)$. Using

these formulas, we see that (3.8) and (3.10) are valid. From (3.9), we deduce

$$\frac{a(1-\kappa)+c}{8(a+c)^2}\{(u\kappa)[2g(A,B)-g(A,u)g(B,u)]-(A\kappa)g(B,u)\}=0.$$
(3.11)

Taking $A = B \perp u$ and ||B|| = 1 in (3.11), we get $\frac{a(1-\kappa)+c}{4(a+c)^2}(u\kappa) = 0$. This shows that the Gaussian curvature κ is constant. The converse is true from Proposition 3.1.

Now, we suppose that the relation $\tilde{S}\phi h = \phi h \tilde{S}$ holds for (T_1M, \tilde{g}) . From (2.5)-(2.7), we obtain

$$0 = \tilde{G}(\tilde{S}\phi hA^{t} - \phi h\tilde{S}A^{t}, B^{t})$$

$$= \widetilde{Ric}(\phi hA^{t}, B^{t}) + \widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, h\phi B^{t})$$

$$= \frac{a}{2(a+c)} [(\nabla_{B}Ric)(u, A) - (\nabla_{X}Ric)(u, B) - (\nabla_{u}Ric)(A, R_{u}B) + (\nabla_{u}Ric)(R_{u}A, B) + (\nabla_{A}Ric)(u, R_{u}B) - (\nabla_{B}Ric)(u, R_{u}A) + g(A, u)((\nabla_{u}Ric)(u, B) - (\nabla_{B}Ric)(u, u) - g(B, u)((\nabla_{u}Ric)(u, A) - (\nabla_{A}Ric)(u, u)))\},$$
(3.12)

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \tilde{G}(\tilde{S}\phi hA^{t} - \phi h\tilde{S}A^{t}, B^{h}) \\ &= \widetilde{Ric}(\phi hA^{t}, B^{h}) + \widetilde{Ric}(A^{t}, h\phi B^{h}) \end{aligned} \tag{3.13} \\ &= (n-2)(g(A,B) - g(A,u)g(B,u)) + \frac{a^{2}}{4(a+c)^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u,A)e_{i}, R(u,B)e_{i}) \\ &- (n-2)g(A, R_{u}B) - \frac{a^{2}}{4(a+c)^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u,A)e_{i}, R(u, R_{u}B)e_{i}) \\ &- Ric(A,B) + \frac{a}{2(a+c)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u,e_{i})A, R(u,e_{i})B) \\ &+ g(A,u)[Ric(B,u) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u,e_{i})u, R(u,e_{i})B)] \\ &+ Ric(R_{u}A,B) - \frac{a}{2(a+c)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} g(R(u,e_{i})R_{u}A, R(u,e_{i})B), \end{aligned} \tag{3.14} \\ &= \widetilde{Ric}(\phi hA^{h}, B^{h}) + \widetilde{Ric}(A^{h}, h\phi B^{h}) \\ &= \frac{a}{2(a+c)} [\nabla_{A}Ric(u,B) - (\nabla_{B}Ric)(u,A) + (\nabla_{u}Ric)(R_{u}A,B) \end{aligned}$$

 $-(\nabla_u Ric)(A, R_u B) - (\nabla_{R_u A} Ric)(u, B) + (\nabla_{R_u B} Ric)(u, A)\}.$

M. ALTUNBAŞ

Let's assume that M is a space with constant curvature k. Then, using the relations $R(A, B)C = k(g(B, C)A - g(A, C)B), R_uA = R(A, u)u = k(A - g(A, u)u)$ and Ric(A, B) = (n-1)kg(A, B) in (3.13), we get

$$\frac{2a^2 + ac}{2(a+c)^2}k^3 + \frac{2c^2 + 3ac - 2n(a+c)^2}{2(a+c)^2}k^2 + (2n-3)k - n + 2 = 0.$$

So, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2. Let (M,g) be an n-dimensional space with constant curvature k. Then T_1M fulfills the relation $\tilde{S}\phi h = \phi h \tilde{S}$ if and only if the following relation holds:

$$\frac{2a^2 + ac}{2(a+c)^2}k^3 + \frac{2c^2 + 3ac - 2n(a+c)^2}{2(a+c)^2}k^2 + (2n-3)k - n + 2 = 0.$$

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank the referee for some useful comments and their helpful suggestions that have improved the quality of this paper.

References

- Abbassi, M.T.K., Amri, N. & Calvaruso, G. (2018). Kaluza–Klein type Ricci solitons on unit tangent sphere bundles, Differ. Geom. Appl., 59, 184-203.
- [2] Abbassi, M.T.K. & Calvaruso, G. (2007). g-Natural contact metrics on unit tangent sphere bundles, Monatshefte f
 ür Mathematik, 151, 89-109.
- [3] Abbassi, M.T.K. & Kowalski, O. (2005). On g-natural metrics with constant scalar curvature on unit tangent sphere bundles, Topics in Almost Hermitian Geometry and related fields, 1-29.
- [4] Abbassi, M.T.K. & Sarih, M. (2005). On natural metrics on tangent bundles of Riemannian manifolds, Arch Math (Brno) 41, 71-92.
- [5] Altunbaş, M. (2022). Some special curves in the unit tangent bundles of surfaces, Journal of Science and Arts, 59(2), 257-264.
- [6] Anastasiei, M. (1999). Locally conformal Kaehler structures on tangent bundle of a space form, Libertas Math., 19, 71-76.
- [7] Blair, D.E. (2010). Riemannian geometry of contact and symplectic manifolds, 203, Birkhauser, Boston.
- [8] Boeckx, E. (2003). When are the tangent sphere bundles of a Riemannian manifold reducible?, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 355(7), 2885-2903.
- Boeckx, E. & Vanhecke, L. (1997). Characteristic reflections on unit tangent sphere bundles, Houston Journal of Mathematics, (23)(3), 427-448.
- [10] Calvaruso, G. & Perrone, D. (2013). Geometry of Kaluza–Klein metrics on the sphere S³, Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, 192, 879-900.
- [11] Cho, J.T. & Chun, S.H. (2021). Unit tangent sphere bundles of conformally flat manifolds, Kodai Mathematical Journal, (44)(2), 307-316.
- [12] Druta-Romaniuc, S.L. & Opriou, V. (2010). Tangent sphere bundles of natural diagonal type, Balkan J. Geo. Its Appl., 15(1), 53-67.

- [13] Gezer, A. & Altunbaş, M. (2012). Some notes concerning Riemannian metrics of Cheeger Gromoll type, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 396, 119-132.
- [14] Munteanu, M.I. (2008). Some aspects on the geometry of the tangent bundles and tangent sphere bundles of a Riemannian manifold, Mediterr. J. Math. 5, 43-59.
- [15] Sekizawa, M. (1991). Curvatures of tangent bundles with Kaluza-Klein metric, Tokyo J. Math., 14, 407-417.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF ARTS AND SCIENCES, ERZINCAN BINALI YILDIRIM UNIVER-SITY, ERZINCAN, TURKIYE

Contents

1. <u>Shape stability of a quadrature surface problem in infinite Riemannian manifold</u> Ababacar Sadikhe Djite, Diaraf Seck	<u>ls</u> 2-34	
2. On I-concurrent class of sequences Debjani Rakshit, Prasenjit Bal	35-42	
3. <u>Properties of divisor prime graph</u> Sanjoy Kalita, Mridul Dutta	43-54	
4. <u>Study of bi-f-harmonic curves and helices along Riemannian map</u> Buddhadev Pal, Mahendra Kumar, Santosh Kumar	55-73	
5. <u>Principal normal indicatrix (N) of curves according to their alternative frames in</u> Hüseyin Kocayiğit, Canan Adsoy, Mehmet Aydınalp	Euclidean 3-space 74-84	
6. <u>Null hypersurface normalized by the structure vector field in a para-Sasakian ma</u> Theophile Kemajou Mbiakop, Ferdinand Ngakeu	anifold 85-105	
7. Investigation of \$\ast\$-Yamabe conformal soliton on LP-Kenmotsu manifolds Shashikant Pandey, Priyanka Almia, Jaya Upreti	106-124	
8. <u>Stability of a microtemperatures damped porous-elastic system with nonlinear</u> ear distributed delay	dissipation and nonlin-	
Mohamed Houasni, Abdelkarim Kelleche	125-149	
9. Inextensible flows of curves with quasi-frame in G3 Murat Turan, Hülya Gün Bozok, Mahmut Ergüt	150-159	
10. <u>Study of some harmonicity problems concerning the rescaled Sasaki metric</u> Abderrahim Zagane, Fethi Latti	160-176	
11. Exploring the reciprocal functional equations: Approximations in diverse spaces Idir Sadani	177-191	
12. On ultrametric pseudospectra of direct sum of linear operator pencils Jawad Ettayb	192-207	
13. On lacunary A^{I}-statistical convergence of fuzzy triple sequences of order y Işıl Açık Demirci, Ömer Kişi, Mehmet Gürdal	208-226	
14. Lorentzian \$\beta\$-Kenmotsu manifold admitting generalized Tanaka-Webster Abhishek Singh, Rajendra Prasad, Lalit Kumar	connection 227-246	
15. <u>A class of indefinite almost paracontact metric manifolds</u> Sunitha Devi, Kothuri Lakshmi Sai Prasad	247-257	
16. <u>Some inequalities on submanifold of a complex space forms endowed with complex semi-symmetric</u>		
Burçin Doğan, Nergiz Poyraz, Erol Yaşar	258-273	

17. Sharp inequalities for quasi hemi-slant Riemannian submersions (\$\mathcal{QHSS}\$)	
Mehmet Akif Akyol, Nergiz (Önen) Poyraz, Ramazan Demir	274-296
18. <u>Morphisms and algebraic points on the quotients of Fermat curves and Hurwitz curves</u> Moussa Fall, Moustapha Camara	297-308
 19. <u>Riemannian CR manifolds and ρ-Einstein solitons: a geometric analysis and applications</u> M S Siddesha, Swapna Sangeetha P 	309-325
20. Unit tangent sphere bundles with the Kaluza-Klein metric satisfying some commutative con	ditions

Journal of Maps

Murat Altunbaş

nditions 326-333